
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Audit and Risk Management Committee 

 
Date: MONDAY, 24 JULY 2017 

Time: 2.00 pm 

Venue: COMMITTEE ROOMS, 2ND FLOOR, WEST WING, GUILDHALL 

  

Members: Alderman Ian Luder (Chairman) 
Alderman Nick Anstee (Deputy 
Chairman) 
Randall Anderson 
Alderman Nick Anstee (Deputy 
Chairman) 
Chris Boden 
Alderman Charles Bowman 
Henry Colthurst 
Hilary Daniels (External Member) 
Sheriff & Alderman Peter Estlin 
 

Deputy Jamie Ingham Clark (Ex-Officio 
Member) 
Alderman Ian Luder (Chairman) 
Kenneth Ludlam (External Member) 
Paul Martinelli 
Caroline Mawhood (External Member) 
Jeremy Mayhew (Ex-Officio Member) 
Hugh Morris (Ex-Officio Member) 
 

 
 
 
Enquiries: Julie Mayer 

  tel. no.: 020 7332 1410 
julie.mayer@cityoflondon.gov.uk 

 
 

 
Lunch will be served in Guildhall Club at 1PM  

NB: Part of this meeting could be the subject of audio or video recording  
 

 
John Barradell 

Town Clerk and Chief Executive 

Public Document Pack



Part 1 - Public Agenda 
1. APOLOGIES 
 
2. MEMBERS' DECLARATIONS UNDER THE CODE OF CONDUCT IN RESPECT OF 

ITEMS ON THE AGENDA 
 
3. MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING 
 To agree the public minutes and non-public summary of the meeting held on 23rd May 

2017. 
 For Decision 
 (Pages 1 - 8) 
4. OUTSTANDING ACTIONS OF THE COMMITTEE 
 Report of the Town Clerk. 
 For Information 
 (Pages 9 - 12) 
5. DEEP DIVE: CR01 RESILIENCE - EVENT OR SITUATION RELATED TO 

TERRORISM OR OTHER SERIOUS EVENT/MAJOR INCIDENT 
 Report of the Town Clerk. 
 For Information 
 (Pages 13 - 20) 
6. FIRE SAFETY IN THE CITY'S RESIDENTIAL BLOCKS 
 Report of the Director of Community and Children’s Services. 
 For Information 
 (Pages 21 - 28) 

 
7. ANNUAL GOVERNANCE STATEMENT 2016/17 
 Report of the Town Clerk and the Chamberlain. 
 For Decision 
 (Pages 29 - 48) 
8. CITY FUND AND PENSION FUNDS FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 2016/17 
 Report of the Chamberlain.  

This report and financial statements will be presented to the Finance Committee on 
25th July and the Court of Common Council on 12th October 2017. 
 
Please note:  BDO’s summary report will follow shortly. 

 For Decision 
 (Pages 49 - 216) 

 
9. EXTERNAL RISK REVIEW - RISK APPETITE 
 Report of the Chamberlain. 
 For Information 
 (Pages 217 - 220) 
10. INTERNAL AUDIT UPDATE 
 Report of the Head of Internal Audit and Risk Management. 
 For Information 
 (Pages 221 - 236) 
11. INTERNAL AUDIT RECOMMENDATIONS FOLLOW-UP REPORT 
 Report of the Head of Internal Audit and Risk Management. 
 For Information 
 (Pages 237 - 244) 

 
 



3 
 

12. COMMITTEE WORK PROGRAMME 
 Report of the Town Clerk. 
 For Information 
 (Pages 245 - 246) 

 
13. QUESTIONS ON MATTERS RELATING TO THE WORK OF THE COMMITTEE 
 

 
14. ANY OTHER BUSINESS THAT THE CHAIRMAN CONSIDERS URGENT 
 

 
15. EXCLUSION OF THE PUBLIC 
  

RESOLVED: That under Section 100(A) of the Local Government Act 1972, the 
public be excluded from the meeting for the following items on the grounds that they 
involve the likely disclosure of exempt information as defined in Part I of the Schedule 
12A of the Local Government Act.      
 

 For Decision 
Part 2 - Non-Public Agenda 

 
16. NON-PUBLIC MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING 
 To agree the Non-Public minutes of the meeting held on 23 May 2017. 
 For Decision 
 (Pages 247 - 248) 

 
17. NON-PUBLIC QUESTIONS ON MATTERS RELATING TO THE WORK OF THE 

COMMITTEE 
 
18. ANY OTHER BUSINESS THAT THE CHAIRMAN CONSIDERS URGENT AND 

WHICH THE COMMITTEE AGREE SHOULD BE CONSIDERED WHILST THE 
PUBLIC ARE EXCLUDED 

 



This page is intentionally left blank



AUDIT AND RISK MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE 
 

Tuesday, 23 May 2017  
 

Minutes of the meeting of the Audit and Risk Management Committee held at 
Guildhall, EC2 on Tuesday, 23 May 2017 at 2.00 pm 

 
Present 
 
Members: 
Randall Anderson 
Alderman Nick Anstee  
Hilary Daniels (External Member) 
Sheriff & Alderman Peter Estlin 
Alderman Ian Luder (in the Chair) 
Kenneth Ludlam (External Member) 
Paul Martinelli 
Caroline Mawhood (External Member) 
Jeremy Mayhew (Ex-Officio Member) 
 
Officers:  
Peter Kane 
Michael Cogher 

 
- Chamberlain 
- Comptroller and City Solicitor 

Neil Davies - Town Clerk's Department 

Julie Mayer - Town Clerk's Department 

Pat Stothard - Head of Internal Audit and Risk Management 
 

External Auditors: 
Kerry Barnes 
Tharshiha Thayabaran 

 
- BDO 
- Moore Stephens 

 
1. APOLOGIES  

Apologies were received from Alderman Charles Bowman, Christopher Boden, 
Henry Colthurst and Deputy Jamie Ingham Clark. 
 

2. MEMBERS' DECLARATIONS UNDER THE CODE OF CONDUCT IN 
RESPECT OF ITEMS ON THE AGENDA  
There were no declarations. 
 

3. ORDER OF THE COURT  
Members received the Order of the Court for the Audit and Risk Management 
Committee, dated 27 April 2017.  Members suggested that, at the Committee’s 
Annual Review of its Terms of Reference, later in the calendar year, 
consideration be given to making an ex-officio appointment to the Finance  
Committee. 
 

4. ELECTION OF CHAIRMAN  
Being the only Member willing to serve and in accordance with Standing Order 
29, Alderman Ian Luder was elected as Chairman for the 2017/18. 
 

Page 1

Agenda Item 3



5. ELECTION OF DEPUTY CHAIRMAN  
In accordance with Standing Order 30, Alderman Nick Anstee exercised his 
right to be Deputy Chairman for 2017/18. 
 
Vote of Thanks  
 
It was Proposed by Alderman Ian Luder, Seconded by Randall Anderson and 
unanimously RESOLVED, that: 
 
Members of the Audit and Risk Management Committee wish to place on 
record their sincere appreciation to: 
 
ALDERMAN NICK ANSTEE 

 
for the energetic, good humoured and tenacious manner in which he has 
chaired their Committee since 2014. 
  

 UNDER NICK’S CHAIRMANSHIP, The Committee has exercised a key 
oversight role in ensuring that the City of London Corporation’s risk 
management framework and policies are operating effectively.  They have 
strengthened considerably under the establishment of a new Chief Officer 
Risk Management Group, which was championed by the Audit and Risk 
Management Committee.    

 TO ENSURE ROBUST SCRUTINY OF RISK MANGEMENT, Nick 
introduced Chief Officer ‘Risk Challenge’ sessions and continued with the 
Committee’s ‘Deep Dive’ reviews of individual corporate risks.  The 
Committee have considered and debated a number of key corporate risks 
including air quality and road safety.  In order to provide external 
challenge, an independent review of the City Corporation’s risk 
management arrangements was commissioned in July 2016. The review 
received positive feedback from the Town Clerk, Chief Officers and 
Committee Members alike. A programme of improvements is now 
underway.   

 THE AUDIT AND RISK MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE also scrutinises the 
City Corporation’s various financial statements, seeking assurances on 
significant financial  reporting issues, estimates and judgements.  Nick has 
actively encouraged attendance at Member briefing sessions and widened 
invitations to the entire court, to ensure that briefings on the City 
Corporation’s Financial Statements are captured by the Member 
Development Programme.  

  

 DURING NICK’S TERM AS CHAIRMAN, the Committee supported a 
reshaping of the Internal Audit function; to meet service based review 
savings targets and ensure that audits focused on key objectives identified 
in business plans and key risks identified through the risk management 
system.  

 
 

Page 2



FINALLY, THE COMMITTEE WISHES TO PLACE ON RECORD its recognition 
of Nick’s commitment to tackling housing and cyber fraud and raising 
awareness of data protection, striving for mandatory training for all staff.  His 
Chairmanship has overseen several high profile fraud prosecutions, which have 
been widely publicised.   
 
The Committee would like to thank Nick for significantly raising the profile of 
Audit and Risk Management in the City of London Corporation and wish him 
well in the future. 
 

6. MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING  
The public minutes and non-public summary of the meeting held on 7 February 
2017 were approved. 
 

7. POLICE PERFORMANCE AND RESOURCES MANAGEMENT SUB 
COMMITTEE  
Being the only Members willing to serve, Kenneth Ludlam and Caroline 
Mawhood were co-opted to the Police Performance and Resource 
Management Sub Committee.  
 

8. COMMITTEE WORK PROGRAMME  
Members received the latest update to the Committee’s workplan. 
 

9. HMIC - CITY OF LONDON POLICE INSPECTION -UPDATE  
Members received a report of the Commissioner, City of London Police, in 
respect of the recent HMIC Inspection.  Members noted that all areas of 
adverse comment had been addressed, a robust action plan was in place and 
there would be a further effectiveness inspection in the autumn this year. 
 
During the discussion, the following points were raised/noted: 
 

 The Police Performance and Resource Management Sub Committee 
was due to meet next week.  The Sub Committee had received several 
drafts of the work force plan and was pleased to see it evolving.  One of 
the Members of the subcommittee had accompanied officers on the beat 
this week and commended their work. 

 

 The Chamberlain advised that Deloitte had been commissioned to 
review economy, effectiveness and the workforce plan and the results of 
this review would be provided to the Audit and Risk Management 
Committee in the Autumn.   

 

 The Detective Chief Inspector, presenting the report, advised that all 
police workforces had resource implications but this was being 
addressed and good practices being shared. 

 
RESOLVED, that – the report be noted. 
 
 
 

Page 3



10. CARE QUALITY COMMISSION INSPECTION -  REABLEMENT SERVICES  
Members received a report of the Director of Community and Children’s 
Services in respect of the recent short notice reablement inspection, which had 
received a ‘good’ rating.  Members commended a ‘good’ report and during the 
discussion, the following points were raised/noted: 
 

 The last inspection, 2 years ago, had also received a good rating and 

Members suggested that previous results be included in future reports. 

 It was very difficult to receive an ‘outstanding’ rating for such a small 

service and low number of service users. 

 Whilst reablement co-ordinators dealt with all discharges, only a small 

percentage were assessed for reablement services and these service 

users were likely to be elderly, vulnerable and/or have mental health or 

physical disabilities. 

RESOLVED, that – the report be noted. 
 

11. EXTERNAL QUALITY ASSESSMENT - AN EXTERNAL REVIEW OF 
INTERNAL AUDIT IN THE CITY OF LONDON CORPORATION  
Members considered a report of the Head of Internal Audit and Risk 
Management in respect of the recent External Quality Assessment of Internal 
Audit at the City of London Corporation. 
 
In response to questions, Members noted that, whilst the current Head of 
Internal Audit and Risk Management is a member of Mazars, the Review was 
commissioned when he first came to work at the City of London Corporation 
and therefore he had a facilitator role.  The Head of Internal Audit and Risk 
Management felt that the independence of the review had not been 
compromised and this view was shared by one of the External Members who 
had been interviewed.  
  
During the discussion, the following points were noted: 
 

 Members suggested that the action plan should distinguish low, medium 

and high priority risks and be more outward focussed. 

 The in-house team were generally long serving officers and the review 

presented an opportunity to develop and work beyond compliance; 

directing resources toward key and long-term corporate and business 

plan objectives.  Some changes within the team would be confirmed 

shortly and they were likely to include more support across risk 

management and anti-fraud work. 

 There would be a large cohort of apprentices next year and they would 

be used widely in finance and business support roles.  The Chamberlain 

was committed to ensuring they would be given balanced and fulfilling 

roles. 

 The work of the team in encouraging departments to meet audit 

recommendations on time was recognised. 

Page 4



RESOLVED, that - the report and action plan be approved, with a further report 
back to the Audit and Risk Management Committee in 6 months’ time on the 
delivery of  the action points. 
 
 

12. INTERNAL AUDIT CHARTER - UPDATE 2017  
Members considered a report of the Head of Internal Audit in respect of the 
Internal Audit Charter. 
 
Members asked for cyber awareness to be more visible in all internal audit 
reviews and suggested that this be more explicit in the Charter.  Members 
noted that item 17 on today’s agenda presented a deep dive review Information 
Security. 
 
RESOLVED, that – the revised City of London Internal Audit Charter for 2017 
be approved. 
 

13. HEAD OF INTERNAL AUDIT OPINION AND ANNUAL REPORT 2016/17  
Members received the Head of Internal Audit’s Annual Opinion and Report and 
noted 3 areas of limited assurance in IT and the volume of work in response to 
this, as set out in item 16 on today’s agenda.  Members also noted 5 red risks 
but there were no significant issues and officers advised that they would 
receive an update at the July meeting of the Audit and Risk Management 
Committee. 
 
During the discussion, the following points were noted: 
 

 Members suggested that providing the numbers of greens, ambers and 
reds would give greater assurance than just stating the number of reds. 

 

 The team was lighter than in previous years but was striving to become 
more efficient within current resources. The External Quality Assurance 
Review had sought more assurance on the direction of travel within 
current resources.  Members noted that the team was still more 
resourced than other local authorities and the Head of Internal Audit and 
Risk Management’s opinion was based on the current level of resources.  
Furthermore, 95% of the Audit Plan had been completed, despite some 
resourcing issues, and extra support had been provided by Mazars. 

 

 Members suggested that future opinion reports include the quality of 
internal audit and coverage. 

 
RESOLVED, That – the Head of Internal Opinion and Annual Report for 
2016/17 be noted, with the comments as set out above.   
 

14. INTERNAL AUDIT PLAN 2017/18  
Members considered a report of the Head of Internal Audit and Risk 
Management, which set out the Internal Audit Plan.  During the discussion, the 
following points were noted: 
 

Page 5



 Whilst noting Members’ preference for 3-year audit plans, the Head of 
Internal Audit and Risk Management explained that very few teams 
would be able to predict a 3-year cycle.  Members asked if there could 
be a review of significant areas every 3 years and for an indication of the 
type of work which would be covered over the course of the year.   

 

 Members asked if future reviews could include an analysis of efficiency 
and include resources and training. 

 

 In respect of Multi Academy Trusts and Academies, a governance 
review was underway and, once this had concluded, the Audit and Risk 
Management Committee would be asked to give an opinion as to 
whether further audits would be required.  Members noted that there had 
been an Education Risk Challenge Session in February 2017. 

 
RESOLVED, that – the lnternal Audit Plan for 2017-18 be approved, 
incorporating the suggestions set out above. 
 
 

15. RISK UPDATE  
Members considered a report of the Chamberlain, which provided an update on 
Risk Management. 
 
During the discussion, the following points were raised/noted: 
 

 Members were reminded of the business rate premium last year which 
had been used to fund the new security arrangements at Guildhall.  The 
Chairman of the Finance Committee expressed some frustration that 
internal processes had initially delayed this work. 

 

 Members were reminded that the Managing Director of the Barbican Arts 
Centre had attended a Risk Challenge Session earlier in the day.  This 
had been very timely in view of last night’s terrorist attack on a cultural 
venue in Manchester.  Members had been very satisfied with the 
Managing Director’s candid responses and noted the Art Centre’s 
heightened security installations and procedures.   

 
In light of the recent cyber-attack on the NHS, Members urged all officers to 
remain vigilant. 
 
RESOLVED, that: 
 
CR23 – City of London Police Funding be added to the Risk Register. 
 
The changes to both the corporate and top end departmental risk registers be 
noted.  
 
 
 
 

Page 6



16. DEEP DIVE RISK REVIEW: CR09 - CORPORATE HEALTH AND SAFETY  
Members received a report of the Director of HR, which provided a Deep Dive 
review of Health and Safety.  Members noted that, at the callover for this 
Committee, the Chairman had raised concerns about the operation of some 
road cleaning vehicles, which resulted in pedestrians having to step into the 
road to avoid them.  Officers had reported this concern to the relevant 
department and, whist street cleansing was carried out by a contractor, the 
Director fully accepted the City of London Corporation’s responsibility for 
ensuring the safe and responsible operation of its contractors.  Members asked 
for an update on this matter at the next meeting of the Committee. 
 
In respect of the recent British Safety Council rating, officers explained that it 
was very difficult to achieve 5 stars and there had only been a couple of minor 
shortcomings reported by the Inspectors; i.e. the need to demonstrate a 
commitment by all Chief Officers.  Members noted that the Town Clerk had 
included health and safety objectives in all Chief Officer appraisals. 
 
Finally, Members noted that the City of London Corporation had not received 
any formal improvement or enforcement notices over the past 2 years and 
Members suggested that this be included in future reports. 
 
RESOLVED, that – the report be noted. 
 

17. DEEP DIVE RISK REVIEW: CR16 - INFORMATION SECURITY  
Members received a report of the Chamberlain which provided a ‘deep dive’ 
risk review in respect of CR16 Information Security and commended a very 
good, detailed report. 
 
Members agreed to exclude the public at this point, as the discussion was likely 
to include Exempt information as defined by Section 100 (A) Paragraph 4, of 
the Local Government Act 1972. Members then agreed to return to public 
session 
 
Members asked for the percentages of officers trained in each department and 
for officers to be mindful of those staff with limited or less frequent IT access.  
In concluding, Members asked for the next deep dive review to cover resilience. 
 
Resolved, that – the report be noted. 
 

18. EXTERNAL AUDIT PLANS FOR THE CITY FUND AND PENSION FUND 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 2017  
Members noted this year’s internal audit plans for the City and Pension Funds.  
The External Auditors advised that the key changes this year would be to 
materiality.  Members also noted that certain conditions had to be met before 
the Crossrail commitment was paid and the Auditors would be checking for this.  
The Chamberlain advised that he was confident that they conditions would be. 
 
RESOLVED, that – the report be noted. 
 

Page 7



19. DECISIONS TAKEN UNDER DELEGATED AUTHORITY SINCE THE LAST 
MEETING OF THE COMMITTEE  
Members received a report of the Town Clerk in respect of a decision taken 
under delegated authority since the last meeting of the Committee, which 
appointed independent members to the Independent Auditor Appointment 
Panel.  
 

20. QUESTIONS ON MATTERS RELATING TO THE WORK OF THE 
COMMITTEE  
There were no questions. 
 

21. ANY OTHER BUSINESS THAT THE CHAIRMAN CONSIDERS URGENT  
There were no items. 
 

22. EXCLUSION OF THE PUBLIC  
RESOLVED: That under Section 100(A) of the Local Government Act 1972, the 
public be excluded from the meeting for the following items on the grounds that 
they involve the likely disclosure of exempt information as defined in Part of the 
Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act. 
 

23. NON-PUBLIC MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING  
The non-public minutes of the meeting held on 7 February 2017 were 
approved. 
 

24. WAIVER REPORT - NON-LOCAL AUTHORITY FUNDS EXTERNAL AUDIT 
SERVICES.  
Members received a report of the Town Clerk in respect of a waiver request, 
which had been approved by the Finance Committee on 2 May 2017. 
 

25. NON-PUBLIC QUESTIONS ON MATTERS RELATING TO THE WORK OF 
THE COMMITTEE  
There were no questions. 
 

26. ANY OTHER BUSINESS THAT THE CHAIRMAN CONSIDERS URGENT 
AND WHICH THE COMMITTEE AGREE SHOULD BE CONSIDERED 
WHILST THE PUBLIC ARE EXCLUDED  
There were no items. 

 
The meeting ended at 3.40pm 
 
There was a closed session at the end of the meeting to enable Members to speak 
to the External Auditors in private. 
 

 
Chairman 
 
Contact Officer: Julie Mayer 
tel. no.: 020 7332 1410 
julie.mayer@cityoflondon.gov.uk 
 

Page 8



AUDIT AND RISK MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE - Outstanding Actions- May 2017 update 

 

 

 
Date Added ITEM Action Officer responsible and 

target date 

23.5.2017 HMIC - CITY OF LONDON POLICE 
INSPECTION -UPDATE  

Deloitte review of economy, effectiveness and 
the workforce plan - results to be provided to 
the Audit and Risk Management Committee in 
the Autumn. 

Commissioner, City of 
London Police 
 
October/November 2017 

23.5.2017 EXTERNAL REVIEW OF INTERNAL 
AUDIT IN THE CITY OF LONDON 
CORPORATION 

Members suggested that the action plan 
distinguish low, medium and high priority risks 
and be more outward focussed. 
 

Head of Internal Audit and 
Risk Management 
 
November 2017 

23.5.2017 INTERNAL AUDIT CHARTER Members asked for cyber awareness to be 
more visible in all internal audit reviews and 
suggested that this be more explicit in the 
Charter. 

Head of Internal Audit and 
Risk Management 
 
This will be actioned for all 
audits going forward.  A 
section will be added to the 
Charter for the next review 
by the ARMC. 

23.5.2017 13. HEAD OF INTERNAL AUDIT 
OPINION AND ANNUAL REPORT 
2016/17  
 

Members requested: 
1. An update on the 5 red risks. 
2. The numbers of greens, ambers and 

reds would give greater assurance 
than just stating the number of reds. 

3. Future opinion reports include the 
quality of internal audit and coverage. 

 

Head of Internal Audit and 
Risk Management  
 
1.  To be included in the 
Follow up report on the 
agenda for 24 July.  
 
2 & 3 – To be included in the 
next HoIA Opinion in May 
2018 

23.5.2017  INTERNAL AUDIT PLAN 2017/18  
 

Members requested: 
1. Could there be a review of significant 

areas every 3 years and an indication 
of the type of work which would be 
covered over the course of the year.  

 

Head of Internal Audit and 
Risk Management  
 
1.  This will be actioned for 
the next Audit Plan. 
 

P
age 9

A
genda Item

 4



AUDIT AND RISK MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE - Outstanding Actions- May 2017 update 

 

 

  
2. Whether future reviews could include 

an analysis of efficiency and include 
resources and training. 

 
2.  This will be considered as 
part of the forthcoming 
planning process. 
 

23.5.2017 16. DEEP DIVE RISK REVIEW: CR09 - 
CORPORATE HEALTH AND 
SAFETY – STREET CLEANING 
VEHICLES 
 

Operation of street cleaning vehicles Health and Safety Manager  
 
An update is appended to 
this outstanding actions list. 

 

P
age 10



AUDIT AND RISK MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE - Outstanding Actions- May 2017 update 

 

 

 
APPENDIX 

DEEP DIVE RISK REVIEW: CR09 - CORPORATE HEALTH AND SAFETY – STREET CLEANING VEHICLES 
 
It is common national practice to operate both ride on and pedestrian mechanical sweeping equipment on public footpaths and other accessible public space 
as the area that can be covered by a mechanised device is more than manual operations. However it is recognised that the use of mechanised equipment in 
close proximity to members of the public can also have an increased risk. 
 
Amey, the contractor providing the cleansing service, have, as far as reasonably practicable, reduced the risk by ensuring that the vehicles are fit for purpose, 
the operatives are trained and competent to use the equipment and they regularly monitor the operation to ensure safety compliance and good practice. 
 
All vehicles used as part of these operations are inspected before each shift to ensure they are fully functional to be able to undertake their designated role. 
Part of this check is the operation of the horn and warning beacons to ensure that anyone in the vicinity of the vehicle is aware of its presence. 
 
Any failure of the safety equipment such as beacons, audible alarms, horn etc. would prohibit the vehicle being used as this would breach Amey’s Safe 
Systems of Work as this would increase the potential for human and vehicle contact and therefore the potential for injury, due to a failure to alert persons in 
the locality of the presence of equipment. 
 
All staff are given mandated corporate inductions and specific equipment training (including mechanical sweeper driving and operations) as well as local 
account inductions that explain the contract, the people involved and the outcomes required to deliver an exemplar service to the client and visitors to the City 
of London.  
 
As part of Amey’s on-going management of the service they actively review the risk assessment and the deployment times of the crews to ensure, as far as 
reasonably practicable, they don’t coincide with the busiest times for pedestrian footfall such as morning and evening commute, pub and club closing times 
etc. 
 
Because you cannot always predict what members of the public on foot, on bikes, scooters and in cars do when confronted by a vehicle Amey empower and 
train the operatives to give way and stop the operation until it is safe to continue, and report any issues so we can advise and deal accordingly. 
 
Having reviewed the safety statistics back to 2013 for all near miss incidents and property damage we cannot find any reported issues whereby any person 
has been in contact with a mechanical sweeper on the pavement.  However, we are grateful to the Chairman of the Audit and Risk Management Committee 
for bringing to our attention a concern involving a cleaning vehicle operated by Amey our contractor.  As a client we take our health and safety responsibilities 
seriously.  This has been reported back to Amey’s management, and through the toolbox talks the safe system of work has reinforced with operatives.  Amey 
are currently rolling out a series of improvements to the fleet by the fitting of CCTV recording devices that will act as a source of information to benefit Amey, 
the City of London and the public. 
 

Update provided by Assistant Director of Operations/Cleaning / Health, Safety and Wellbeing Manager (People). 
 

P
age 11



T
his page is intentionally left blank

P
age 12



 

Committee Dated: 

Audit and Risk Management 
 

24 July 2017 

Subject: 
Deep Dive: CR01 Resilience – Event or situation related 
to terrorism or other serious event/major incident 
 

Public 
 

Report of: 
Town Clerk  
 

For Information 
 

Report author: 
Gary Locker, Head of Resilience 

 
Summary 

 
This strategic risk (CR01 Resilience) identifies issues for which the City of 
London Corporation has primary responsibility and control. This review 
has concentrated on the preparedness of the City of London Corporation 
and its departments to respond effectively to an emergency situation 
related to terrorism or other serious event/major incident.   

For the purpose of clarity the current definition of a ‘major incident’ is an 
event or situation requiring the implementation of special arrangements by 
one or more of the emergency services following an incident:  

 Involving either directly or indirectly large numbers of people 

 The rescue and transportation of a potentially large number of 
casualties 

 The large scale combined resources of Police, London Fire 
Brigade, London Ambulance Service 

 The mobilisation and organisation of the emergency services and 
support services, for example a Local authority to cater for the 
threat of death , serious injury or homelessness via set up of rest 
centres , humanitarian support through volunteer local authority 
employees crisis support teams   

 The handling of a large number of media enquiries likely to be 
generated both from the public and news media. 

 Acts of terrorism   

This review has also examined the effectiveness of our engagement with 
key partners involved in responding to incidents of this nature, as well as 
our work with the Square Mile business and residential communities. The 
risk is owned and managed by the Town Clerk. 

 

Recommendation:  Members are asked to note the report. 

Page 13

Agenda Item 5



 

Main Report 

Introduction 

1. This deep dive report on CR01 Resilience risk has been prepared at the request 
of the Audit and Risk Management Committee and updates the Committee from 
the report in September 2016. The risk has a number of components for the City 
of London Corporation resulting from its roles as an employer, a provider of local 
government services and as the Police Authority for the Square Mile. The risks 
from a policing perspective (operational policing) are managed by the 
Commissioner of Police. The remaining elements cover a range of operational 
areas e.g. disaster recovery/business continuity, building management, 
employee and community safety. Under the Civil Contingencies Act 2004, the 
City of London Corporation (defined by the Act as a Category 1 responder) also 
has a responsibility to support its businesses and residential communities in the 
aftermath of a major incident 

Context  

2. The UK faces a serious and challenging threat from international terrorism. The 
UK threat level, determined by the Joint Threat Analysis Centre (JTAC) for 
international terrorism, is currently at SEVERE, meaning an attack is highly 
likely. The threat to the mainland UK excluding Northern Ireland from Northern 
Irish Related Terrorism is currently assessed as SUBSTANTIAL meaning an 
attack is a strong possibility.  

3. The threat level after the recent Manchester attacks was raised to CRITICAL for 
a period of five days. The City of London reacted by increasing the security 
posture of its buildings and during this time mobilised extra resources. The 
recent London Bridge attacks did not cause the threat level to be raised but the 
City of London reacted rapidly to the local incident. Due to the proximity of the 
terrorist event the level of security was heightened in the following days.  

4. There are currently cross-cutting projects across four City sites (Mansion House, 
Barbican Centre, Guildhall and the Central Criminal Court) aimed at improving 
security at these locations. These projects have been initiated due to the 
surveys, reviews and recommendations carried out by Counter-Terrorism 
Security Advisors (CTSA) and City of London Security Consultant, Directors and 
Counter Terrorism Advisor. To support the City of London improvement works 
and drive an enhanced security culture, the City of London have also appointed 
a new Strategic Security Director and Counter-Terrorism Advisor who will be 
starting in August 2017.  

5. A separate corporate risk for security has been developed focusing on the 
specific threat to the assets of the City of London Corporation from terrorist 
related event or other major incident. This has been approved by the Senior 
Security Board and was approved by the Chief Officer Risk Management Group. 
This will now be considered by Summit Group before coming to Audit and Risk 
Management Committee in October 2017.  

Page 14



 

6. In the context of the City of London, the City Police has the lead responsibility for 
disrupting and preventing a terrorist attack as well as leading the initial response 
should an attack occur. They are supported in this task by the Metropolitan 
Police Service, the Security Services and other partners, including the City 
Corporation. 

7. The City of London Corporation must also plan to respond to a number of other 
foreseeable risks. The City of London Risk Register, which is a publicly 
available document on the City Corporation’s website and is available through 
this link (https://www.cityoflondon.gov.uk/business/support-promotion-and-
advice/business-continuity/Documents/risk-register-revised-2016-v3.pdf). This 
focuses on the most impactful emergencies that could happen in the square 
mile or elsewhere in the UK but with significant impacts on the square mile, 
using the National Risk Assessment and the Greater London Risk Register as 
the starting point. This assessment includes details of how likely they are to 
happen and the impacts if they do. This includes the impacts to people, their 
property, the environment and local businesses. This document is designed to 
inform the square mile community about the risks that could occur that could 
impact their daily activities. It is intended as a tool for driving better 
preparedness across the whole community.  

8. The risk register is regularly reviewed by the Local Resilience Forum as well as 
the Strategic Resilience Forum, who approved the latest version on 13 June 
2017.   

Statutory Requirements 

9. The Civil Contingencies Act 2004 places the City of London Corporation under a 
statutory duty to ensure that it is prepared to respond to an emergency, including 
public order incidents. Under this Act, the City of London Corporation has a 
number of specific duties: 

i. assess the risk of emergencies occurring and use this to inform 
contingency planning 

ii. put in place emergency plans 
iii. put in place business continuity management arrangements 
iv. put in place arrangements to make information available to the public 

about civil protection matters and maintain arrangements to warn, inform 
and advise the public in the event of an emergency 

v. provide advice and assistance to businesses and voluntary 
organisations about business continuity management  
 

10. Two further duties are prescribed in the Regulations for all emergency 
responding organisations: 

i. share information with other local responders to enhance co-ordination 
ii. co-operate with other local responders to enhance co-ordination and 

efficiency 

Page 15

https://www.cityoflondon.gov.uk/business/support-promotion-and-advice/business-continuity/Documents/risk-register-revised-2016-v3.pdf
https://www.cityoflondon.gov.uk/business/support-promotion-and-advice/business-continuity/Documents/risk-register-revised-2016-v3.pdf


 

Current Position 

Common consequences and mitigating actions / risk controls 

11. The issues for the City Corporation to manage would include:  

i. Dealing with damage to specific areas and buildings, for example 
Guildhall 

ii. Employee and community welfare 
iii. Public and business confidence 
iv. Coordination of the services of the City of London Corporation and other 

public services 
 

12. For responding to these specific issues the City Corporation has a range of 
mitigating controls, these include; 

i. Business continuity plans. These are currently being reviewed and 
updated. At the last review in 2015/16 the City Corporation’s increased 
dependence on IT for business delivery and hence the importance in 
business continuity planning was highlighted.  

a. Following an unsuccessful test of Disaster recovery readiness of the core 
Datacentre in the Guildhall Justice Rooms in October 2016, a number of 
improvements to IT provision were made. A subsequent DR test in 
February 2017 proved to be more successful for internal and remote 
working, however weaknesses were still identified with email and calendar 
provision to mobile devices. Although GOOD is no longer sited in the 
Data-centre, the network routes that deliver services to it are part of the in-
train Network Transformation Programme includes the staged exit from the 
GJR data-centre - a recognised Single Point of Failure (SPoF), in addition 
to a new Local and Wide area Network (LAN and WAN). As such, it was 
agreed to not perform a DR test again until the core components delivering 
mobile email and calendar were migrated away to mitigate this risk. 
 
The GJR Exit project is on schedule to move the connectivity away from 
GJR. Once complete, a follow up DR test will be performed. In addition, 
another project is also in progress which will deliver greater long term 
resiliency and improved mobility services to customers, which is operating 
to a similar timeline.  
 
Office365, delivered as part of the Desktop Transformation Programme 
allows for a cloud-based, resilient email and calendar service for PCs and 
mobile devices. This, in conjunction with Microsoft InTune to provide 
secure Mobile Device Management will replace and update the services 
currently provided by GOOD, which will be an unsupported product in 
September 2017. 
 
Although the timeline for organisation-wide deployment of O365 and 
InTune is longer, the core components needed to mitigate the immediate 
resilience risk to mobile email and calendar will be in place by the end of 
August, as the pilot for the new O365/Intune provision gets underway. 

Page 16



 

Once the pilot is successful and suitable approvals are obtained, the 
solution will be deployed across the COL estate. 
 
 

b. A SharePoint site has been set-up for departments to maintain their 
business continuity plans in a centralised location which can be accessed 
remotely. Also the format used for capturing departmental information via 
the Business Impact Analysis (BIA) has been standardised. 

 
 

ii. The City Corporation has plans in place to support employees following 
an incident including the availability of a Freephone advice line. We also 
have arrangements to care for the residential community should they 
become displaced by an incident through the establishment of rest 
Centres. Support is also available for the business community, for 
example, through the establishment of a Business Information Centre at 
which briefings will be provided by service departments and the 
emergency services.  
 

iii. The work of the City of London Resilience Forum was instrumental in 
generating the City Risk Register.  The Forum recently conducted a 
series of thematic workshops exploring how businesses need to prepare 
to respond to the key risks (including terrorism and public order). These 
workshops have led to the production of a comprehensive guidance 
document. The document (available of the City Corporation website) 
contains a detailed description of the potential impacts on business 
associated with each set of risks identified in the City Risk Register. The 
document also contains a compilation of simple measures that 
businesses of all sizes can implement to help them be  better prepared to 
deal with the impacts identified  
 

iv. The City Corporation has a comprehensive Major Incident plan that is 
regularly reviewed and exercised. These exercises include the ‘blue light 
services’, the voluntary sector, the military, the utilities, City Corporation 
service departments and the business community. This plan fits into the 
wider Pan-London arrangements and the interaction between both levels 
is also subject to regular exercises. 
 

v. In October 2016 rest Centre arrangements were exercised at the Artizan 
Street Library and the following exercises are planned over the next 6 
months: 

 

Fuel Workshop at 
London Fire Brigade 
(LFB) HQ - July 2017 

London Fire Brigade’s quarterly exercise 
looking at how each Sub-Regional 
Resilience Area (SRRF) would work 
together to respond to an incident affecting 
their area. The work stream this quarter will 
focus on Fuel Disruption in London. 
 

Page 17



 

 

Exercise Connects – 
Sept 2017 

An exercise to test communications 
equipment for the Borough Emergency 
Command Centre (BECC) via London Local 
Authority Coordination Centre. 

Lord Mayor’s Show 
Exercise - Sept 2017 

Annual preparation exercise for the Lord 
Mayor’s show. 

Exercise Preparer – 
October 2017 

Multi borough exercise hosted at LFB HQ to 
testing preparation and communication 
between boroughs based on fictional major 
incident scenario. 

LFB event – Guildhall 
Yard –Oct 2017 

London Fire Brigade (Dowgate station) use 
the Guildhall yard to test their equipment 
and demonstrate to public and businesses 
their capabilities 

LM Show and Fireworks’ 
Event Liaison Team – 
Nov 2017 

Lord Mayor’s show. Full BECC set up and 
Event Liaison Team (ELT) made up of 
multiple CAT 1 & 2 responding 
organisations on site within Committee 
Room 3/4 with Crisis Support Team on 
standby. 

 
 

vi. The City of London Corporation along with the 32 London Boroughs is 
subject to a set of Minimum Standards for London (MSL). This 
comprises of a set of standards aligned to resilience and emergency 
planning arrangements locally and Pan London. The MSL for each local 
authority is subject to peer review. The peer review for 2016 will focused 
on eight key areas of resilience planning work (the next review will take 
place towards the end of 2017): 
 

 Local Emergency plan 

 Community Shelter plans  

 Evacuation 

 Identification of vulnerable persons 

 Warning, informing, alerting arrangements 

 Excess death plans 

 Pandemic Influenza 

 Severe weather 
  

 

Page 18



 

13. In addition to a regular programme of simulations there have been exercises 
involving several partners from the private and public sector. This tests the 
effectiveness of our plans and coordination arrangements through London Local 
Authority Gold arrangements. The Centre for the Protection for National 
Infrastructure and the Security Services continually develop guidance on how to 
deal with the type of terrorist attacks that have happened around the world. 
Following on from this guidance, iconic sites within the City have been assessed 
by the Security Services and plans concerning these are regularly reviewed 
using simulations of real incidents and role plays. 

Response to Recent Events 

14. In reaction to the London Bridge, Manchester and Westminster attacks, debriefs 
are being held to understand what lessons can be learned for general security 
practice. 

15. Following the London Bridge attack a survivor reception centre was set up within 
an hour and staffed by City of London Police and City of London Crisis Support 
volunteers. The rapid response with the emergency services has received 
widespread positive coverage. The location of the centre was at one of a number 
of pre-planned locations agreed with the City of London Police. 

16. Several crisis support volunteers and local authority liaison officers (LALOs) 
have been deployed to Kensington and Chelsea, Camden and Southwark to 
respond to recent major events. This has coincided with a concerted effort to 
train up more volunteers and LALOs in the past year.  

17. The City currently has 43 active staff who have been trained in crisis support by 
the Red Cross and a specialist in humanitarian assistance. There are 11 active 
LALOs who have been trained by the London Fire Brigade.  

18. The Town Clerk has been the lead for the Grenfell Fire Response Team and this 
experience will only be beneficial to the organisation in the future.  

19. The City of London Corporation is also working closely with other business 
districts in London (such as Canary Wharf and the London Bridge Quarter) to 
help them become better prepared to respond to potential terrorist attacks. This 
includes regular communication during major events through the Cross-Sector 
Safety and Security Communications (CSSC).  

20. As a result of lessons learned from the disorder experienced in London in 2011, 
we have strengthened the support network for residents of our housing estates 
both inside and outside the Square Mile – including reassurance measures via 
staff on site. Support is also available for the business community, for example, 
through the establishment of a Business Information Centre at which briefings 
will be provided by service departments and the emergency services. 

Page 19



 

 

Conclusion & Assessment of the existing controls 

21. The City of London has comprehensive plans that cover emergency response, 
business continuity and disaster recovery. These plans meet the requirements 
established by Central Government through the Cabinet Office and have been 
benchmarked against those of all London local authorities. 

 
 

Page 20



Committees: Dates: 

Housing Management & Alms 
houses Sub-Committee 

Community & Children’s Services 
Committee  

Audit & Risk Management 
Committee 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

03 July 2017 

 

14 July 2017 

 

24 July 2017 

Subject:  

Fire Safety in the City’s Residential Blocks 

Public 

 

Report of: 

Director of Community & Children’s Services  

For Information 

 

 
Summary 

The purpose of this report is to update Members following the tragic fire at 
Grenfell Tower.  The report outlines: 

 Fire safety measures in place prior to the fire 

 Our immediate response to the fire 

 The next phase of work to be undertaken  

 Issues for consideration for possible future inclusion in programmes of 
work 

 
Recommendation 

Members are asked to note and comment upon the report.  
 

 
Main Report 

 
Background 

1. Following the tragic fire at Grenfell Tower in West London, concerns have, 
understandably, been raised by City Corporation Members and residents 
about the safety of our homes and the possibility of a similar incident in one of 
our tower blocks.  

2. Although the cause of the fire and how it appeared to spread so quickly are 
still being investigated and are unlikely to be formally confirmed for some 
time, government has already been in contact with local authorities and 
housing associations collating information relating to their housing stock and 
the number and type of residential blocks of flats with six or more floors. 
Further figures have been requested for blocks of four or more floors.  It is 
highly likely, in the aftermath of the Grenfell Tower tragedy, that new 
legislation will be introduced to improve fire safety in residential blocks of flats. 

Page 21

Agenda Item 6



3. The City of London currently has 44 residential blocks of flats with four or 
more floors, of which 37 have six or more floors.  A list of those blocks is 
attached at Appendix A to this report.  

 

Existing fire safety measures 

4. All our residential blocks have a comprehensive fire risk assessment (FRA), 
carried out by a specialist company.  The most recent assessments were 
completed between July and November 2016 by Frankham Risk Management 
Services Ltd.   

5. The risk assessments do not highlight any areas of high risk.  They make a 
number of medium and low risk recommendations, which were already being 
addressed through day to day repairs, the major works programme and estate 
inspections. 

6. Our approach to fire safety is not restricted to FRAs. We have robust 
procedures in place to ensure, as far as possible, that our residents remain 
safe in their homes.  These procedures include: 

a. Carrying out regular reviews of the FRAs to ensure they remain valid, 
compliant and fit-for-purpose;   

b. Carrying out inspections of fire doors and other related fire safety 
measures; 

c. Carrying out regular estate inspections to ensure that any potential fire 
and other safety hazards are identified and removed.  

d. All Estate Managers and Estate Officers have fire risk assessment 
training and carry out weekly and monthly checks, dealing with hazards 
as part of their normal work.  Our cleaners also receive fire training so 
that they can identify hazards as they go about their day to day work; 

e. Updating the design of our Fire Log Books and the information collated 
in them; 

f. Producing guidance notes on fire management plans and fire 
compartmentation that are applied to all refurbishment works carried 
out in our homes; 

g. Fitting hard-wired smoke alarms in our tenants’ homes as part of the 
Decent Homes programme; 

h. Maintaining up to date and detailed plans of our estates in fire safety 
boxes, attached to the outside of buildings and accessible only to fire 
services. This includes the details of people with mobility issues where 
these are known to us; 

i. Educating our residents and raising awareness of fire safety issues.  
We recently published a new fire safety leaflet for social estate 
residents, giving advice which includes evacuation issues, knowing fire 
escape routes and keeping walkways and balconies clear.  A series of 
posters accompany this and we also publish frequent reminders of fire 
safety in newsletters. 

Page 22



j. Working with residents who do not comply with fire safety guidelines 
and persist in blocking exits and walkways.  This can be a sensitive 
issue and we have always tried to balance the risk against the personal 
impact, when a resident is reluctant to comply or has mental health 
issues. 

 

Immediate response to the incident 

7. As soon as we became aware of the fire, a number of measures were taken: 

a. Estate staff carried out immediate checks on fire escapes, emergency 
lighting and fire boxes; 

b. A review of our fire risk assessments took place and the addressing of 
the medium and low risks was reassessed; 

c. Technical data on all blocks of six or more floors was reviewed and 
produced in response to requests from the Department for 
Communities & Local Government (DCLG).  This focused on a range 
of issues, including the construction of the buildings and the nature of 
any cladding.  Our returns confirmed that only Great Arthur House and 
Twelve Acres House (the new block at Avondale Square Estate) 
include cladding. The cladding at Twelve Acres House is a small area 
of rainscreen, which poses no risk. 

d. A statement was issued to all residents, reassuring them that none of 
our blocks was of a similar construction to Grenfell Tower and 
reminding them of fire safety advice; 

e. A detailed assessment of the works being undertaken at Great Arthur 
House was carried out to ensure that they remained compliant with our 
specification, which stipulated that all materials used in the construction 
must be non-combustible; 

f. Void properties in our stock were identified, in case these were to be 
required for families evacuated from Grenfell Tower.  Staff also initiated 
a collection of essential items for the survivors; 

g. The recent fire safety leaflet was reprinted, so that this could be 
distributed to every home on our social housing estates again, with a 
letter offering home visits for anyone wishing a fire safety check or to 
be shown escape routes.  A new version was produced with 
information specifically for Barbican residents, so that the leaflet could 
also be delivered to homes there. 

 

Great Arthur House 

8. Immediate assurance was sought, and given, that the main cladding panels at 
Great Arthur House comprised only non-combustible material.  However, a 
subsequent re-inspection revealed that a 300mm wide section of insulated 
aluminium cladding did not meet the requirements of our specification.  This 
was removed immediately as a precautionary measure. 

Page 23



9. A letter was delivered to Great Arthur House residents to advise them of the 
steps that we were taking to ensure their safety.  At a subsequent resident 
meeting organised by Members on 26 June, a number of further issues were 
raised and these are now being worked through so that a full Q&A sheet can 
be produced for all residents.  

 

Works to be carried out next 

10. A number of actions have now been identified for officers to work on during 
the coming weeks. 

11. Previously, our policy has been to commission independent fire risk 
assessments every three years, and to have these reviewed annually, by 
trained staff.  This was entirely consistent with best practice.  However, we 
have now decided to have new fire risk assessments done by independent 
specialists every year.  Frankham Risk Management Services Ltd have been 
commissioned to carry out new risk assessments on all our blocks, starting in 
July.  In the light of recent events, we anticipate that some of the previously 
medium and low risk recommendations will be revised. 

12. We will be holding drop-in sessions for residents to talk to senior managers 
about fire safety and our plans for improvements on all our estates over the 
next few weeks. 

13. The majority of entrance doors to individual flats in our blocks are original and, 
in general, give fire resistance of 15-20 minutes.  There is no legal 
requirement to replace these with more fire resistant doors.  We have 
replaced doors with more fire-resistant models as they required repair or were 
due for replacement, and had intended to continue with this programme.  
However, we will now be embarking on an enhanced front door replacement 
programme to bring all front doors up to a 60 minute fire resistance standard, 
starting with our tower blocks. The cost of this is estimated at £3-5m, 
depending on the level of specification and coverage required.  Consideration 
will need to be given to a number of factors, including planning guidelines (for 
buildings with listed status or in conservation areas) and possible objections 
from leaseholders to having this work imposed upon them. 

14. Estate staff are responding to any requests for home visits and are actively 
door-knocking to reassure residents, show them fire safety escapes and to 
pro-actively identify any vulnerable residents that we are unaware of, so that 
records can be kept up to date. 

15. Where there are residents who are not complying with guidance on keeping 
walkways and fire escapes clear, we are now be taking a much firmer line and 
decisive action.  We will still endeavour to address issues sensitively, giving 
adequate notice and using mediation where appropriate to try and achieve co-
operation, but we will not be able to compromise on this matter. 

 

 

 

 

Page 24



Items for future consideration 

16. We will clearly continue to monitor progress with the investigation into the 
Grenfell Tower fire to understand what caused it and any implications this 
may have for the City in relation to the safety and integrity of its homes.  Due 
consideration will also need to be given to any resulting legislation or 
recommendations from government. 

17. In anticipation of this, we have already commenced a feasibility study to 
evaluate the potential for retro-fitting sprinkler systems and fire alarms into our 
tower blocks. 

18. If the City were to decide to fit sprinkler systems in its high rise blocks, it 
would need to budget for a likely cost of £15-20m, depending on the level of 
specification required. 

19. Other issues to be taken into consideration would include: 

a. The level of disruption to residents for what would be extensive work; 

b. Planning requirements; 

c. The need to install water tanks on and in buildings.  This will require 
significant additional space that may result in the loss of residential 
space or the extension of buildings; 

d. Future maintenance costs, which, given the legionella risk of storing 
water and the potential for misuse of the system, could be 
considerable. 

20. There is no legal requirement to retro-fit fire detection and alarm systems in 
buildings.  In the past, fire services have expressed firm opposition to the 
fitting of fire alarm systems in communal areas, due to the level of abortive or 
nuisance calls they receive where this is the case, and the high cost of 
responding to these.  Apart from in a limited number of hazardous areas such 
as plant rooms, and in our sheltered schemes, there are no fire alarms fitted 
in our blocks. 

21. If the City were to decide to fit fire alarms to common parts in its blocks, the 
likely cost would be in the region of £3-5m, depending on the level of 
specification and coverage.   

22. Other factors to consider would be how to reduce misuse of alarms through 
vandalism and accidental activation. 

 

Corporate & Strategic Implications 

23. Clearly, there are serious financial implications of carrying out these 
improvements, and there will be an impact on the Five Year Major Works 
Programme and/or the programme for building 700 new homes on our social 
housing estates.  There will also be a financial impact on homeowners, as the 
Housing Revenue Account cannot subsidise works to privately owned homes. 
However, this must be weighed against the safety of our residents, which 
must be paramount.   

 

Page 25



24. The reputation of the City would also be at serious risk if reasonable 
measures are not taken.  The key issue for Members will be to decide what 
action and expenditure is reasonable and proportionate to the risk. 

 
Appendices 
 
Appendix 1 – Table of City of London residential blocks with four or more floors. 
 
 

Background Papers: 

Paul Murtagh, Assistant Director, Barbican & Property Services 
T: 020 7332 3015 E: paul.murtagh@cityoflondon.gov.uk 
 
Jacquie Campbell, Assistant Director, Housing & Neighbourhoods 
T: 020 7332 3785  E: jacquie.campbell@cityoflondon.gov.uk  

 

Page 26

mailto:paul.murtagh@cityoflondon.gov.uk
mailto:jacquie.campbell@cityoflondon.gov.uk


Appendix A  
City of London Residential Blocks with Four or More Floors 
 
 

NAME OF BLOCK NUMBER 
OF 
STOREYS 

NUMBER 
OF FLATS 

Centre Point, Avondale Square Estate, Old Kent Road, 
London SE1 

19 75 

Colechurch House, Avondale Square Estate, Old Kent 
Road, London SE1 

10 44 

East Point, Avondale Square Estate, Old Kent Road, 
London SE1 

19 74 

Eric Wilkins House, Avondale Square Estate, Old Kent 
Road, London SE1 

4 20 

George Elliston House, Avondale Square Estate, Old Kent 
Road, London SE1 

4 45 

Proctor House, Avondale Square Estate, Old Kent Road, 
London SE1 

10 52 

Tovy House, Avondale Square Estate, Old Kent Road, 
London SE1 

10 52 

Twelve Acres House, Avondale Square Estate, Old Kent 
Road, London SE1 

6 18 

West Point, Avondale Square Estate, Old Kent Road, 
London SE1   

19 74 

Dron House, Adelina Grove, London E1 4 80 

Basterfield House, Golden Lane Estate, London EC1Y 6 22 

Bayer House, Golden Lane Estate, London EC1Y 6 14 

Bowater House, Golden Lane Estate, London EC1Y 6 14 

Cullum Welch House, Golden Lane Estate, London EC1Y 6 72 

Great Arthur House, Golden Lane Estate, London EC1Y 15 120 

Hatfield House, Golden Lane Estate, London EC1Y 7 22 

Petticoat Square, Middlesex Street Estate, London E1 7BS 6 120 

Petticoat Tower, Middlesex Street Estate, London E1 7BS 23 81 

Collinson Court, Great Suffolk Street, London SE1 1NZ 7 72 

Horace Jones House, Duchess Walk, London SE1 2RF 7 43 

Stopher House, Webber Street, London SE1 4 60 

Sumner Buildings, Sumner Street, London SE1 4 100 

Lynton Mansions, William Blake Estate, Herculaes Road, 
London SE1 

4 20 

Windsor House Wenlock Road, London SE1 4 104 

Kinefold House, York Way Estate, London N7 9QD 7 78 

Lambfold House, York Way Estate, London N7 9PY 7 80 

Penfields House, York Way Estate, London N7 9QA 7 89 

 
 
 
 
 

  

Page 27



Barbican Estate 

Andrews House 11 192 

Ben Johnson House 11 204 

Breton House 11 111 

Bryer Court 11 56 

Bunyan Court 11 69 

Cromwell Tower 42 112 

Defoe House 11 178 

Frobisher Crescent 9 69 

Gilbert House 11 88 

John Trundle Court 11 133 

Lauderdale Tower 45 117 

Mountjoy House 11 64 

Seddon House 11 76 

Shakespeare Tower 45 116 

Speed House  11 114 

Thomas More House 11 166 

Willoughby House  11 148 

 

Page 28



Committee 
 

Dated: 
 

Audit and Risk Management Committee 
 

24 July 2017 

Subject: 
Annual Governance Statement 2016/17 
 

Public 
 

Report of: 
The Town Clerk and the Chamberlain 

 
 
For Decision Report author: 

Neil Davies, Corporate Performance Manager 

 
Summary 

 
This report presents the annual summary and update of the City Corporation‟s 
governance and internal control framework in the format agreed by this Committee in 
February 2017. Appendix 1 sets out the City Corporation‟s Annual Governance 
Statement (AGS) as required by the Accounts and Audit (England) Regulations 
2015. Appendix 2 contains a schedule of assurances in support of the statement. 
 
The AGS is prepared in accordance with proper practice guidance –“ Delivering 
Good Governance in Local Government” – issued jointly by the Society of Local 
Authority Chief Executives and Senior Managers and the Chartered Institute of 
Public Finance and Accountancy 
 

Recommendation(s) 
 
Members are asked to: 
 

1. approve the AGS set out in Appendix 1 for signing by the Chairman of 
the Policy and Resources Committee and the Town Clerk and Chief 
Executive; 

2. note that the AGS will be published alongside the 2016/17 City Fund and 
Pension Funds Statement of Accounts; 

3. note the future developments in paragraph 74 of the AGS to improve the 
governance framework; and  

4. delegate authority to the Town Clerk and Chief Executive, in consultation with 
the Chairman and Deputy Chairman of this Committee, to amend the AGS for 
any significant events or developments relating to the governance 
arrangements that occur prior to the date on which the Statement of Accounts 
is signed by the Chamberlain. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 29

Agenda Item 7



Main Report 
 

Background 
 
1. This report presents the annual update of the City Corporation‟s governance and 

internal control framework. The Accounts and Audit (England) Regulations 2015, 
which apply to the City of London‟s City Fund activities, require an audited body 
to conduct a review, each financial year, of the effectiveness of its system of 
internal control and publish an Annual Governance Statement (AGS) each year, 
alongside the authority‟s Statement of Accounts. The AGS is set out in Appendix 
1 with all additions, deletions and other changes since last year shown as tracked 
changes 
 

2. The Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy (CIPFA), in 
association with the Society of Local Authority Chief Executives and Senior 
Managers (SOLACE), publishes a Delivering Good Governance in Local 
Government: Framework and an accompanying guidance note, which represents 
the proper practice guidance in relation to internal control. 
 

3. In 2010, CIPFA issued its Statement on the Role of the Chief Financial Officer in 
Local Government. The governance requirements in this document are that the 
Chief Financial Officer should be professionally qualified, report directly to the 
Chief Executive and be a member of the leadership team, with a status at least 
equivalent to other members. The Statement requires that, if different 
arrangements are adopted, the reasons should be explained in the organisation‟s 
AGS, together with how these deliver the same impact. The role of the 
Chamberlain conforms to the requirements of the Statement on the Role of the 
Chief Financial Officer. 

 
Approval 
 
4. The AGS must be signed by the most senior officer (Chief Executive or 

equivalent) and the most senior member (Leader or equivalent). Following a 
resolution of this Committee in March 2012, the Policy and Resources Committee 
approved a report on the process for producing the AGS, and approved the 
practice whereby the AGS is approved by this Committee and signed by the 
Chairman of the Policy and Resources Committee. 

5. There is a requirement that any significant events or developments relating to the 
governance arrangements that occur between the Balance Sheet date (31 March 
2017) and the date on which the Statement of Accounts is signed by the 
Chamberlain are reported within the AGS. Delegated authority is, therefore, 
sought for the Town Clerk, in consultation with the Chairman and Deputy 
Chairman of this Committee, to amend the AGS if necessary. 

 
Ownership 
 
 
6. As a corporate document, the AGS should be owned by all senior officers and 

members of the authority. The draft AGS was considered and approved at the 
Chief Officers Summit Group of Chief Officers on 28 June. 

Page 30



 
7. The signatories need to ensure that the AGS accurately reflects the governance 

framework for which they are responsible. To achieve this, reliance may be 
placed on many sources of assurance, such as: 

 Chief Officers and Senior Managers; 

 the Chief Financial Officer responsible for the accounting control 
systems and records and the preparation of the statement of accounts; 

 the Monitoring Officer in meeting his/her statutory responsibilities; 

 members (e.g. through audit or scrutiny committees); 

 the Head of Internal Audit; 

 performance and risk management; and 

 external audit and other review agencies. 
 

8. The Audit and Risk Management Committee has a key role within the „review of 
effectiveness‟ of the City‟s governance framework, including the system of 
internal control. One of its prime responsibilities is to review the work of the 
internal auditors, consider the risk management framework, and consider 
comments made by the external auditors and other review agencies and 
inspectorates 
 

External Audit 
 

9. The AGS is required to be published with an authority‟s Statement of Accounts, 
but is not part of the accounts. This is an important distinction, as the statement is 
not then covered directly by the Chief Financial Officer‟s certification.  The 
external auditors review whether the AGS reflects compliance with “Delivering 
Good Governance in Local Government” and report if the AGS does not comply 
with proper practices or if it is misleading or inconsistent with other information 
the auditor is aware of from the audit of the Statement of Accounts.  

 
Appendices 
 

 Appendix 1 – Draft Annual Governance Statement 2016/17 – all changes 
tracked 

 Appendix 2 - Schedule of reporting to Members 
 
Background Papers 
 

 Report to Audit and Risk Management Committee, 7 February 2017: Annual 
Governance Statement - Methodology 

 

 CIPFA/SOLACE publications: 

 Delivering good governance in Local Government: Framework (2016) 

 Delivering good governance in Local Government:– Guidance Note for 
English Authorities (2016) 

 
Neil Davies 
Corporate Performance Manager 
T: 020 7332 3327 
E: neil.davies@cityoflondon.gov.uk  

Page 31

mailto:neil.davies@cityoflondon.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank

Page 32



ANNUAL GOVERNANCE STATEMENT 2016/17 
 
Scope of Responsibility 

1. The City of London Corporation is a diverse organisation with three main aims: to support and 
promote the City as the world leader in international finance and business services; to provide 
modern, efficient and high quality local services, including policing, within the Square Mile for 
workers, residents and visitors; and to provide valued services, such as education, 
employment, culture and leisure to London and the nation. Its unique franchise arrangements 
support the achievement of these aims. 

2. Although this statement has been prepared to reflect the City of London Corporation in its 
capacity as a local authority and police authority, the governance arrangements are applied 
equally to its other funds – City’s Cash and Bridge House Estates. 

3. The City of London Corporation (“the City”) is responsible for ensuring that its business is 
conducted in accordance with the law and proper standards; that public money is safeguarded 
and properly accounted for, and used economically, efficiently and effectively; and that 
arrangements are made to secure continuous improvement in the way its functions are 
operated.  

4. In discharging this overall responsibility, the City is responsible for putting in place proper 
arrangements for the governance of its affairs and facilitating the effective exercise of its 
functions, which includes arrangements for the management of risk. 

5. The City has approved and adopted a code of corporate governance which is consistent with 
the principles of the CIPFA/SOLACE 1Framework Delivering Good Governance in Local 
Government.  A copy of the code is on the City’s website at www.cityoflondon.gov.uk.  This 
statement explains how the City has complied with the code and also meets the requirements 
of regulation 6(1) of the Accounts and Audit (England) Regulations 2015 which requires all 
relevant bodies to prepare an annual governance statement. 

The Purpose of the Governance Framework 
6. The governance framework comprises the systems and processes by which the City is 

directed and controlled and its activities through which it accounts to, engages with and leads 
its communities.  It enables the City to monitor the achievement of its strategic objectives and 
to consider whether those objectives have led to the delivery of appropriate, cost-effective 
services. 

7. The system of internal control is a significant part of that framework and is designed to 
manage all risk to a reasonable level.  It cannot eliminate all risk of failure to achieve policies, 
aims and objectives and can therefore only provide reasonable rather than absolute assurance 
of effectiveness.  The City’s system of internal control is based on an ongoing process 
designed to identify and prioritise the risks to the achievement of the City’s policies, aims and 
objectives, to evaluate the likelihood of those risks being realised and the impact should they 
be realised, and to manage them efficiently, effectively and economically. 

8. The governance framework has been in place at the City for the year ended 31 March 2017 
and up to the date of approval of the statement of accounts. 

Key Elements of the Governance Framework 
Code of Corporate Governance  

9. The principles of good governance are embedded within a comprehensive published Code of 
Corporate Governance. This code covers both the local authority and police authority roles, 
and links together a framework of policies and procedures, including: 

                         
1 CIPFA is the Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy 
  SOLACE is the Society of Local Authority Chief Executives 

 

Deleted: 5

Deleted: 6

Deleted: 6

Page 33



• Standing Orders, which govern the conduct of the City’s affairs, particularly the operation of 
Committees and the relationship between Members and officers; 

• Financial Regulations, which lay down rules that aim to ensure the proper management and 
safeguarding of the City’s financial and other resources; 

• Terms of reference for each Committee; 

• A Scheme of Delegations, which defines the responsibility for decision-making and the 
exercise of authority; 

• A Members’ Code of Conduct, which defines standards of personal behaviour; 

• A Standards Committee whose role is to promote high standards of member behaviour and 
to deal with complaints made against Members, and register of interests, gifts and 
hospitality; 

• A Code of Conduct for employees; 

• A corporate complaints procedure, operated through the Town Clerk’s Department, with a 
separate procedure in Community and Children’s Services, to comply with the relevant 
regulations; 

• A corporate Project Toolkit and other detailed guidance for officers, including procedures 
and manuals for business critical systems; 

• An anti-fraud and corruption strategy, including: anti-bribery arrangements; a social housing 
tenancy fraud, anti-fraud and prosecution policy; and a whistleblowing policy; 

• A Risk Management Strategy; 

• Job and person specifications for senior elected Members and the Court of Aldermen; and 

• A protocol for Member/officer relations. 

10. The City’s main decision making body is the Court of Common Council, which brings together 
all of the City’s elected members. Members sit on a variety of committees which manage the 
organisation’s different functions, and report to the Court of Common Council on progress and 
issues as appropriate. The Town Clerk and Chief Executive is the City’s statutory head of paid 
service, and chairs the Chief Officers’ Group, and the Summit Group, which is the primary 
officer decision-making body. In 2015/16 a new officer governance framework was introduced, 
now comprising four Chief Officer Strategic Steering Groups, reporting to the Summit Group. 
The Comptroller and City Solicitor discharges the role of monitoring officer under the Local 
Government and Housing Act 1989. 

11. The Court of Common Council is defined as the police authority for the City of London Police 
area in accordance with the provisions of the City of London Police Act 1839 and the Police 
Act 1996.  

12. The role of police authority is to ensure that the City of London Police runs an effective and 
efficient service by holding the Commissioner to account; to ensure value for money in the way 
the police is run; and set policing priorities taking into account the views of the community. 
These, and other key duties, are specifically delegated to the Police Committee. The Police 
Committee has the following Sub Committees and Boards to provide enhanced oversight in 
specific areas of police work: 

• The Professional Standards and Integrity Sub Committee has responsibility for providing 
detailed oversight over professional standards and integrity within the Force, and examines 
the casework of every single complaint recorded by the Force; 

• The Performance and Resource Management Sub Committee monitors performance 
against the Policing Plan and oversees management of risk, human and financial 
resources; and 

• The Economic Crime Board considers matters relating to the Force’s national 
responsibilities for economic crime and fraud investigation. 

Deleted:  a

Deleted: m

Deleted: three 

Deleted:  and two Chief Officer 
Delivery Groups

Deleted: two 

Deleted: a 

Page 34



• The Police Pensions Board assists the City of London Police in securing compliance with 
pension scheme regulations and other legislation relating to the governance and 
administration of the scheme. 

13. Under the Localism Act 2011, the City is under a duty to promote and maintain high standards 
of conduct by Members and co-opted Members. In particular, the Court of Common Council 
must adopt and publicise a code dealing with the conduct that is expected of Members when 
they are acting in that capacity, and have in place a mechanism for the making and 
investigation of complaints. The Court approved the current Code of Conduct in October 2014, 
following a review by the Standards Committee. 

14. The City has appropriate arrangements in place under which written allegations of a breach of 
the Member Code of Conduct can be investigated and decisions on those allegations taken. 
The Standards Committee has approved a Complaints Procedure. A Dispensations Sub 
Committee exists for the purposes of considering requests from Members for a dispensation to 
speak or vote on certain matters (where they have a disclosable pecuniary interest and are 
otherwise prevented from participation) being considered at Committee meetings. Elected and 
co-opted Members are invited to review and update their Member Declarations on an annual 
basis (although there is no statutory requirement to do so).  

15. Under section 28 of the Localism Act, the City is required to appoint at least one Independent 
Person to support the new standards arrangements. In June 2012, the Court of Common 
Council gave support to three appointments to the position of Independent Person, and also 
agreed a revised constitution and terms of reference for the Standards Committee, to be 
adopted under section 28 of the Act. 

16. The Localism Act also requires the City to prepare and publish a Pay Policy Statement each 
year, setting out its approach to pay for the most senior and junior members of staff. The Pay 
Policy Statement for 2016/17 was agreed by the Court of Common Council in March 2016 and 
published on the City’s website. 

17. To assist in meeting the City’s obligations under the Bribery Act 2010, officers with decision-
making powers in relation to higher risk activities are required to make an annual declaration 
to confirm that they have met the requirements relating to potential conflicts of interest, as set 
out in the Employee Code of Conduct, and to confirm that they have not engaged in any 
conduct which might give rise to an offence under the Act. 

18. As a result of the Protection of Freedoms Act 2011-12, revisions were agreed to the City’s 
policy and procedures in respect of the Regulation of Investigatory Powers Act 2000 (RIPA), 
which regulates surveillance carried out by public authorities in the conduct of their business. 
A report is made six monthly to the Policy and Resources Committee on the City’s use of RIPA 
powers. In September 2015, the Office of the Surveillance Commissioners conducted an 
inspection of the City’s arrangements. The inspector concluded that the City is keen to set and 
maintain standards and has a sound RIPA structure, with good policies and procedures. 

Standards Committee 
 
19. The Standards Committee oversees the conduct of Members in all areas of the City of London 

Corporation's activities be it local authority, police authority or non-local authority functions. Its 
main responsibility is to promote and maintain high standards of conduct by elected Members 
and Members co-opted on to City of London Committees. 

 
20. Its functions include: 

• monitoring and regularly reviewing the operation of the Code of Conduct for Members and 
related procedures; 

• considering any alleged breaches of the Code; 
• monitoring Members’ declarations to ensure compliance with both the statutory and local 

registration requirements; 
• regularly reviewing the complaints procedure and dispensations arrangements, and 
• submitting an annual report to the Court of Common Council. 

Deleted: 5

Deleted: 6

Deleted: 5

Page 35



 
21. During 2016/17 the Standards Committee commissioned an independent, broadly-based 

review of the arrangements in place for addressing matters connected with the conduct of 
Members (including co-opted Members) under the Localism Act 2011, with particular focus on 
the Complaints Procedure (relating to alleged breaches of the Members’ Code of Conduct). A 
Member Working Party has been formed to review the resulting report and how the 
recommendations in the report might be progressed and implemented. In October 2016, the 
Committee undertook its annual review of the Protocol on Member/Officer Relations, and 
approved changes including the inclusion of specific reference to equality, diversity and 
inclusion, and appending the Protocol to both the Employee Code of Conduct and the 
guidance to Members on the Members’ Code of Conduct. No allegations of breaches of the 
Members’ Code of Conduct were made to the Committee during 2016/17. 

 

Business Strategy and Planning Process 

 
 

22. The City has a clear hierarchy of plans, setting out its ambitions and priorities: 

• The Corporate Plan shows how the City Corporation will fulfil its role as a provider of 
services both inside and outside of the City boundaries. The current Corporate Plan (2015-
19) includes a statement of the City’s Vision, Strategic Aims, Key Policy Priorities, Core 
Values and Behaviours. 

• The City of London Policing Plan details the policing priorities and shows how these will be 
delivered over the coming year. It also contains all the measures and targets against which 
the Police Committee hold the City of London Police to account. 

• Other corporate plans and strategies are mentioned elsewhere in this document.  

23. Plans and strategies are informed by a range of consultation arrangements, such as City-wide 
residents’ meetings, representative user groups and surveys of stakeholders. The City has a 
unique franchise, giving businesses (our key constituency) a direct say in the running of the 
City, and a range of engagement activities, including through the Lord Mayor, Chairman of 

Deleted: 5

Deleted: 6,

Deleted: endorsed a proposal for the 
adoption and implementation of a 
consistent approach to the 
management and publication of 
declarations of interest by the City 
Corporation’s elected Members, each 
of its Co-opted members, and the 
Independent Persons on the Standards 
Committee. Amongst the other matters 
considered by the Committee were a 
revised complaints procedure and form 

Deleted: ; revised guidance to 
Members regarding the Code of 
Conduct, and an 

Deleted: including a review of the 
Employee Code of Conduct.

Deleted: <#>The Communications 
Strategy sets out the City’s plan of 
action over the short to medium-term 
for communicating its activities and 
managing its reputation. ¶
<#>The Cultural Strategy presents a 
coherent view of the City’s important 
cultural and heritage-related 
contributions to the life of London and 
the nation.¶

Page 36



Policy and Resources Committee and the Economic Development Office. An annual 
consultation meeting is held for business rates and council tax payers.  

24. The Health and Social Care Act 2012 transferred responsibility for health improvement of local 
populations to local authorities in England, with effect from 1st April 2013. The new duties 
included the establishment of a Health and Wellbeing Board, which provides collective 
leadership to improve health and wellbeing for the local area.  

Information Management Strategy 

25. The Information Management Strategy (approved October 2009) sets out the headline 
approach to information management in the City. It summarises the current position, gives a 
vision of where we want to be and proposes a set of actions to start us on the path to that 
vision. The Strategy defines our approach to the other key elements for information 
management, in particular data security and data sharing.  

26. Overall responsibility for Information Management Governance is vested in the Information 
Technology (IT) Sub Committee. The Information Management Governance Steering Group 
reports to the Strategic Resources Group and the IT Steering Group, both chaired by the 
Chamberlain. Both groups report to the Summit Group and the IT Sub Committee. The 
Comptroller and City Solicitor is now the Senior Information Risk Owner (SIRO) and work 
continues to identify Information Asset Owners (IAO) within departments and build an 
information asset register. 

Financial Management Arrangements 

27. The Chamberlain of London is the officer with statutory responsibility for the proper 
administration of the City’s financial affairs. In 2010 CIPFA issued a “Statement on the Role of 
the Chief Financial Officer in Local Government”2 which codifies the key responsibilities of this 
role and sets out how the requirements of legislation and professional standards should be 
met. The City’s financial management arrangements conform to the governance requirements 
of the Statement. The Chamberlain also fulfils the role of Treasurer of the Police Authority. 

28. The system of internal control is based on a framework of regular management information, 
financial regulations, administrative procedures (including segregation of duties), management 
supervision, a system of delegation and accountability, and independent scrutiny. In particular 
the system includes: 

• a rolling in depth survey of the City’s forecast position over a five year period; 

• comprehensive budget setting processes; 

• monthly, quarterly and annual financial reports which indicate performance against budgets 
and forecasts; 

• access by all departmental and central finance staff to systems providing a suite of 
enquiries and reports to facilitate effective financial management on an ongoing basis; 

• ongoing contact and communication between central finance officers and departmental 
finance officers; 

• clearly defined capital expenditure guidelines; 

• formal project management disciplines; 

• the provision of high quality advice across the organisation; 

• an internal audit service combining in-house staff with external knowledge and expertise; 

• insuring against specific risks;  

• scrutiny by Members, OFSTED, CQC, HMIC, other inspectorates, External Audit and other 
stakeholders, and 

                         
2 Updated in 2016 

Deleted: hamberlain 

Page 37



• requests for Members and Chief Officers to disclose related party transactions including 
instances where their close family have completed transactions with the City of London 
Corporation. 

29. The City has a long-standing and in-built culture of maximising returns from its resources and 
seeking value for money. It assesses the scope for improvements in efficiency /value for 
money at a corporate and service level by a variety of means, including improvement priorities 
set by the Policy and Resources Committee through the annual resource allocation process, 
and internal examination and review by the Efficiency and Performance Sub Committee. 

30. For non-Police services, the local government settlement in autumn 2016 was challenging but 
fell within the prudent assumptions included with the City’s financial forecast. Agreed actions 
from a service based review will deliver efficiencies, savings and opportunities for additional 
income totalling some £11m a year by 2018/19. Subject to there being no significant adverse 
changes in financial planning assumptions across the period, forecasts indicate a surplus 
across the period to 2020/21. However, the economic outlook and public finances remain 
uncertain following ‘Brexit’ and the national election and there is no guarantee that government 
funding will be not be revised further downwards in future years. The position is being 
monitored on an ongoing basis.  

31. Following approval by the Court of Common Council in October 2016, an Efficiency and 
Sustainability Plan for the City was submitted to and accepted by the Department for 
Communities and Local Government. This establishes a framework for continuous efficiency 
improvement beyond 2017/18 when the current service based review programme will be 
substantially complete, including a 2% per annum budget reduction target that will deliver 
sufficient efficiencies across the City’s funds from 2018/19 to sustain these budgets over the 
medium term and allow for planned investment in services. In addition, further corporate 
efficiency and effectiveness reviews are planned for when the current cross-cutting 
programmes are completed. 

32. The Efficiency and Performance Sub Committee has responsibility for monitoring and 
oversight of the delivery of the service based review savings and increased income, and the 
cross-cutting efficiency reviews, and continues to challenge the achievement of value for 
money, helping to embed further a value for money culture within the City’s business and 
planning processes. 

33. The City of London Police manages its budget on a ring-fenced basis. The Court of Common 
Council agreed to increase the Business Rates Premium from April 2016 with the additional 
income, estimated at £1.6m a year, being allocated to the Police to cover emerging cost 
pressures relating to security. Nevertheless, the underlying financial position remains 
challenging with deficits forecast across the period and reserves exhausted during 2017/18. 
This is despite implementing a challenging savings plan and previous budget reductions. 

34. The Force has a robust financial strategy in place to balance the budget over the period to 
2018/19, which includes provision for a minimum general reserve balance for unforeseen or 
exceptional operational requirements. The Force and the City Corporation are also 
investigating areas for greater collaboration, including the development of a Joint Contact and 
Control Room as part of the Secure City programme.  

35. The Police Performance and Resource Management Sub Committee’s responsibilities include 
overseeing the Force’s resource management in order to maximise the efficient and effective 
use of resources to deliver its strategic priorities; monitoring government and other external 
agencies’ policies and actions relating to police performance; overseeing the Force’s risk 
management arrangements, and ensuring that the Force delivers value for money. The Sub 
Committee also receives regular updates on the work of internal audit in relation to the Force. 

36. The Policy and Resources Committee determines the level of the City's own resources to be 
made available to finance capital projects on the basis of a recommendation from the 
Resource Allocation Sub Committee. Ordinarily, such projects are financed from capital rather 
than revenue resources, and major projects from provisions set aside in financial forecasts. 

Deleted: 5

Deleted: small 

Deleted: in each of the next financial 
years moving close to breakeven by 
2019/20

Deleted: have deteriorated since the 
announcement of the local government 
settlement

Deleted: S

Deleted: B

Deleted: R

Deleted: has 

Deleted: (the first increase for ten 
years) 

Deleted:  resulting in a 14% decrease 
in the number of police officers and 
£16m removed from the budget

Deleted: One 

Deleted: Safe 

Page 38



37. The City has a number of procedures in place to ensure that its policies and the principles that 
underpin them are implemented economically, efficiently and effectively. This framework 
includes: 

• Financial Strategy. This provides a common base for guiding the City’s approach to 
managing financial resources and includes the pursuit of budget policies that seek to 
achieve a sustainable level of revenue spending and create headroom for capital 
investment and policy initiatives;  

• Budget policy. The key policy is to balance current expenditure and current income over the 
medium term. Both blanket pressure and targeted reviews are applied to encourage Chief 
Officers to continuously seek improved efficiency; 

• Annual resource allocation process. This is the framework within which the City makes 
judgements on adjustments to resource levels and ensures that these are properly 
implemented;  

• Corporate Property Asset Management Strategy. This aims to ensure that the City’s 
operational assets are managed effectively, efficiently and sustainably, in support of the 
organisation’s strategic priorities and business needs;  

• Capital project evaluation, management and monitoring. The City has a comprehensive 
system of controls covering the entire life cycle of capital and major revenue projects; and 

• Treasury Management and Investment Strategies.  Setting out the arrangements for the 
management of the City’s investments, cash flows, banking and money market 
transactions; the effective control of risks associated with those activities; and the pursuit of 
optimum performance consistent with those risks. 

38. Consideration is given to efficiency during the development and approval stages of all major 
projects, with expected efficiency gains quantified within reports to Members. 

39. The performance of the City’s financial and property investments are monitored and 
benchmarked regularly, both in-house and independently, through experts in the field. 

40. The City’s project management and procurement arrangements provide a consistent approach 
to project management and co-ordination of the portfolio of projects across the organisation. 
The Projects Sub Committee meets monthly to ensure that projects align with corporate 
objectives and strategy, and provide value for money.  

Risk Management  

41. In May 2014, the Audit and Risk Management Committee approved a new Risk Management 
Strategy which set out a new policy statement and a revised framework, which aligns with the 
key principles of ISO 31000: Risk Management Principles and Guidelines, and BS 31100: Risk 
Management Code of Practice, and defines clearly the roles and responsibilities of officers, 
senior management and Members. The Strategy emphasises risk management as a key 
element within the City’s systems of corporate governance and establishes a clear system for 
the evaluation of risk and escalation of emerging issues to the appropriate scrutiny level. The 
Strategy assists in ensuring that risk management continues to be integrated by Chief Officers 
within their business and service planning and aligned to departmental objectives. 

42. The Risk Management Group, consisting of senior managers representing all departments, 
including the City of London Police, meets twice annually.  The group is a considerable driver 
in promoting the application of consistent, systematic risk management practices across the 
organisation. Strategic decisions on risk management are made by the Summit Group on a 
quarterly basis. Oversight of corporate risk is provided by the Chief Officers’ Group and the 
Audit and Risk Management Committee. These arrangements have been strengthened with 
the establishment of a Chief Officer Risk Management Group. This meets quarterly to review, 
in depth, the corporate risk register and report their findings to the Summit Group when they 
consider the quarterly risk update report. In addition to receiving quarterly risk update reports, 
the Audit and Risk Management Committee has adopted a cycle of regular departmental risk 
challenge sessions, with Chief Officers and their respective Committee Chairmen, which take 

Deleted: Chief Officers 

Page 39



place prior to their meetings. The Committee has also introduced the regular reporting of top 
departmental risks to every Service Committee. 

43. The corporate risk register contains eleven risks, including two new risks which have been 
added during the last year. 

44. During 2016/17 an external review was undertaken of the City’s risk management 
arrangements. The report’s key finding was that systems and processes that support the risk 
management framework had significantly improved over the last two years and six areas that 
should be considered for improvement were suggested. An improvement plan is now being 
implemented. 

45. The external risk management review also provided evidence to support a risk maturity 
assessment of the City as a strong “working” (level 3 out of 5) based upon the National 
Performance Model for Risk Management in the Public Services (used by CIPFA/Alarm for 
benchmarking purposes). 

Health & Safety 

46. The Health & Safety at Work Act 1974 (the Act) requires the City as an employer to ensure 
that it implements systems for the protection of its staff and visitors. The City’s health and 
safety management system is aligned to HSG65, the Health and Safety Executive’s guidance 
document on the essential philosophy of good health and safety. The City’s systems will 
remain aligned with this guidance, to ensure that safety becomes part of normal business by 
applying a practical, sensible and common sense approach.  

47. Corporate Risk 9 concerns the City’s Health and Safety Management System and its 
application. Effective health and safety management enables innovation, growth and 
enhances productivity, as well as helping the City Corporation to achieve its strategic 
objectives. 

48. Driving is the one of the most hazardous work activities, contributing to far more accidental 
deaths and serious injuries than all other work-related tasks. The City has introduced a 
Corporate Transport Policy along with associated procedures and guidance to manage 
occupational road risk. Embedding of the policy continues, with a focus during 2017 on 
assuring compliance across the organisation.  

49. There is an established annual inspection and audit programme for property and people health 
and safety - for example audit, inspections and compliance checks have focused on water 
hygiene (legionella), fire safety, asbestos management, workplace transport and lone 
working/preventing violence. These are currently considered to be the City’s areas of higher 
risk profile. 

50. Like many large organisations the City may become aware of credible risk information through 
external contact, such as liaison with clients and service users. At present the majority of this 
type of risk information resides at the departmental level. The Personal Safety Visiting Tool 
(PSVT) is a new initiative being rolled out in 2017 by Corporate Health and Safety (People). It 
aims to provide departments’ access to a corporate register of issues they and other visiting 
officers have encountered at various residential properties. The PSVT should enable all 
necessary departments to appropriately share their data, creating a seamless source of 
information to aid in the safety of all staff, recognising the interconnectedness of risk. 

51. The Covalent Risk Management Information System is used to manage significant health and 
safety risks. Covalent enables departments to highlight their safety risks as a ‘Top X’ risk, 
emphasising any activities with considerable implications that are un-mitigated, or where there 
is a lack of clarity. 

52. The City has established key performance indicators for health and safety including 
accident/incident reporting and investigation. The health and safety professionals have 
supported departments with their more challenging and/or significant health and safety 
investigations. This has helped to ensure that lessons are learned and are fed back into the 
development of the health and safety management system. 

Deleted: <#>¶
<#>The corporate risk register contains 
eleven risks, including two new risks 
which have been added during the last 
year.¶

Deleted: are 

Deleted: ¶
<#>A critical component of the City’s 
management system is monitoring and 
review. The management system and 
policy were modified slightly in 
response to the introduction of the new 
officer governance framework in 
January 2016.¶
<#>The compliance audits that were 
introduced last year have continued, 
and have proven useful in allowing the 
Health & Safety Team to drive local and 
corporate improvements in compliance. 
They have also assisted the Health & 
Safety Committee to monitor safety 
performance through the use of Key 
Performance Indicators.¶
<#>An independent external audit of 
the Safety Management System was 
undertaken by the British Safety 
Council in November. The City 
Corporation was awarded a four star 
(out of five) rating which equates to a 
ranking of ‘very good’. The audit 
evidenced that “very good” safety 
mechanisms and structures were in 
place corporately, and that these were 
being applied in the departments 
sampled. The auditors were 
complimentary about the leadership 
being shown at the top of the 
organisation.¶
Top X (the City’s Health & Safety risk 
management system) continues to be 
an effective safety risk management 
tool. Work was started in early 2015 to 
align this process to the City’s broader 
risk management process. Risk 
assessments used for Health & Safety 
were successfully modified to the 
corporate risk matrix. This alignment 
has now been completed and Top X 
reports are being reported through the 
corporate risk management system. 
Some departments are yet to fully move 
onto this system, but the expectation is 
for this to be fully implemented by 
November 2016. Top X continues to 
support health and safety compliance 
and protect the organisation against 
any potential Corporate Manslaughter 
Act 2007 offences. Top X provides the 
Summit Group and Chief Officers’ 
Group with a corporate strategic 
oversight of any safety risks by way of a 
regular report.

Page 40



Business Continuity 

53. The Civil Contingencies Act 2004 requires the City, as a Category 1 responder, to maintain 
plans to ensure that it can continue to exercise its functions in the event of an emergency. The 
City is required to train its staff responsible for business continuity, to exercise and test its 
plans, and to review these plans on a regular basis. 

54. The City has an overarching Business Continuity Strategy and Framework and each 
department has their own business continuity arrangements. Both corporate and departmental 
arrangements are regularly reviewed to ensure they align with the relevant risk registers and 
business objectives. Officers from the different departments share best practice and validate 
their arrangements through the Emergency Planning and Business Continuity Steering Group, 
which sits on a quarterly basis. New arrangements that seek to increase the resilience of the 
City’s technology infrastructure have been introduced and technical tests are being carried out 
to ensure their robustness. These arrangements seek to replace the Guildhall as a single point 
of failure for the City’s IT provision. The move to a more resilient backbone should enhance 
the continuity of service for remote workers, and at other sites, even if the Guildhall is affected. 

55. Programme management of the City’s business continuity management system (BCMS) lies 
with the Resilience Planning Team, and all departments play a role in it. In 2014, the City’s 
resilience arrangements (including its BCMS) were reviewed by peers from other Central 
London local authorities. This review was part of a regular assurance process linked to the 
Minimum Standards for London (which set out London’s core resilience capabilities). The 
Team continues its on-going work with the IT service provider Agilisys to ensure robust 
business continuity plans dovetail between IT functions and critical services.  

56. The City continues to experience an array of protest and demonstration, as it is a desirable 
location for protest groups to maximise publicity both nationally and globally. However, by 
working with business and emergency service partners to ensure robust Business Continuity 
and emergency response plans are in place, the City maintains ‘business as usual’, and thus 
its reputation of working with and supporting local communities. 

Role of Internal Audit  

57. Internal Audit plays a central role in providing the required assurance on internal controls 
through its comprehensive risk-based audit programme, with key risk areas being reviewed 
annually. This is reinforced by consultation with Chief Officers and departmental heads on 
perceived risk and by a rigorous follow-up audit and spot checks regime. 

58. The internal audit process is supported, monitored and managed by the Audit and Risk 
Management Committee in accordance with the Public Sector Internal Audit Standards. An 
Audit Charter established in 2013 was updated and agreed by the Audit and Risk 
Management Committee in May 2017. This defines the role of internal audit, and codifies 
accountability, reporting lines and relationships that internal audit has with the Audit and Risk 
Management Committee, Town Clerk and Chief Executive, Chamberlain and Chief Officers. 

59. The Internal Audit Section operates under the requirements of the Public Sector Internal Audit 
Standards (PSIAS). The City of London’s internal audit function was subject to an External 
Quality Assessment by Mazars LLP in February 2017, and assessed as “generally conforms” 
to the new standard. A number of recommendations identified during the review are currently 
being addressed to ensure that the Internal Audit Section fully conforms to the new Standards. 

60. The anti-fraud and investigation function continues to be effective in identifying and 
investigating allegations of fraud and corruption, with mature processes in place to tackle fraud 
across the City’s social housing estates; along with conducting a wide range of risk based anti-
fraud and awareness activities. The Audit and Risk Management Committee is provided with 
six-monthly anti-fraud and investigation up-date reports which detail the anti-fraud and 
investigation activity undertaken by the Anti-Fraud Team and provides progress against the 
strategic pro-active anti-fraud plan. 

Performance Management 

Deleted: November 

Deleted: 4

Deleted: peer reviewed by the Head of 
Governance from the London Borough 
of Croydon in February 2014

Deleted: Following 

Deleted: a

Deleted: of minor changes 

Deleted: were made in response to 
observations made in the peer review, 

Deleted: , particularly 

Deleted: , whilst 

Deleted: <#>The Audit and Risk 
Management Committee received an 
update on the mandatory fraud 
awareness e-learning course for all City 
of London employees in April 2015, 
with overall staff completion reported as 
exceeding 95%. The fraud awareness 
e-learning package was refreshed and 
up-dated by the Anti-Fraud Team in 
November 2015.¶

Page 41



61. The corporate business planning framework sets out the planning cycle with clear linkages 
between the different levels of policy, strategy, target setting, planning and action (the “Golden 
Thread”). 

• All departments are required to produce annual departmental business plans for approval 
by the relevant service committee(s). These are all clearly linked to the overall Corporate 
Plan and show key objectives aligned with financial and staffing resources. 

• All departmental business plans are reviewed for compliance with the corporate business 
planning framework, and regular meetings are held between the Corporate Strategy and 
Performance Team and business planners. 

• All departments are required to report regularly to their service committees with progress 
against their business plan objectives and with financial monitoring information. 

• Performance and Development Appraisals are carried out for all staff, using a standard set 
of core behaviours. The appraisals are used to set individual objectives and targets and to 
identify learning and development needs that are linked to business needs. Pay 
progression is linked to performance assessments under the appraisal process. 

62. Performance is communicated to Council Tax and Business Rate payers through the City-wide 
residents’ meetings, the annual business ratepayers’ consultation meeting and regular 
electronic and written publications, including an annual overview of the accounts. 

63. During 2016/17 a review of the existing business planning process was undertaken, as a 
precursor to a broader review of corporate and departmental planning and performance 
management, to be completed during 2017/18. 

Audit and Risk Management Committee 

64. The Audit and Risk Management Committee is an enhanced source of scrutiny and assurance 
over the City’s governance arrangements. It considers and approves internal and external 
audit plans, receives reports from the Head of Audit and Risk Management, external audit and 
other relevant external inspectorates, including HMIC, as to the extent that the City can rely on 
its system of internal control. The Committee reviews the financial statements of the City prior 
to recommending approval by the Finance Committee and considers the formal reports, letters 
and recommendations of the City’s external auditors. The Committee also monitors and 
oversees the City’s Risk Management Strategy. The Committee undertakes a systematic 
programme of detailed reviews of each of the risks on the City’s Strategic Risk Register. 

65. During 2016/17, the Committee continued its schedule of departmental risk challenge 
sessions. The Committee reviews the risks and risk management process for each 
department, on a rota basis, with one or two departments being invited to each meeting. 
These reviews are attended by the relevant Chairman and Chief Officer, with support and 
challenge applied so that risks are fully understood, and clear mitigation plans are in place. 
The Committee has also actively promoted a process for the regular reporting of top 
departmental risks to Service Committees, to encourage all Members to engage with the 
management of risk. 

66. The Committee has strongly supported the internal audit function by setting clear performance 
expectations for Chief Officers in the timely implementation of audit recommendations, as well 
as ensuring internal audit’s independence is fully recognised. It has reviewed the outcome of 
the Service Based Review of the internal audit function, and is overseeing the adoption of a 
more efficient approach to the targeting of internal audit resources. 

67. The Committee has supported the management of the Information Security corporate risk, 
highlighting the mandatory awareness training for all staff, resulting in a significant increase in 
the percentage of staff fully completing this training. 

68. The Committee has taken a keen interest in cyber-security risks and remains committed to 
supporting the continuous development of cyber security across the City of London 
Corporation.  

Deleted: Quality Assurance

Deleted: with 

Deleted: and Development 

Deleted: <#>Regular performance 
monitoring meetings are held by the 
Deputy Town Clerk with selected Chief 
Officers.¶

Deleted: performance, which contains 
a summary of 

Deleted: <#>The Business Planning 
framework has been updated to ensure 
consistency, transparency and best 
practice, including guidance on the 
inclusion of an annual assurance 
statement on data quality within year-
end performance reports.¶

Deleted: 5

Deleted: 6

Deleted: , having received a report in 
April 2015 and periodic updates. The 
Committee

Page 42



Review of Effectiveness 
69. The City has responsibility for conducting, at least annually, a review of the effectiveness of its 

governance framework including the system of internal control. The review of effectiveness is 
informed by the work of the internal auditors and managers within the authority who have 
responsibility for the development and maintenance of the governance environment and also 
by comments made by the external auditors and other review agencies and inspectorates. 

70. Processes that have applied in maintaining and reviewing the effectiveness of the governance 
framework include scrutiny primarily by the Policy and Resources, Finance, Police, Audit and 
Risk Management, Investment, and Standards Committees; and the Resource Allocation, 
Police Performance and Resource Management, and Efficiency and Performance Sub 
Committees. 

71. This review of the main elements of the City’s governance framework has not identified any 
significant issues for reporting to senior management. 

Head of Internal Audit’s Opinion 
72. The Public Sector Internal Audit Standards require the Head of Internal Audit to deliver an 

annual internal audit opinion and report that can be used by the City of London Corporation to 
inform its Annual Governance Statement. The Head of Internal Audit is satisfied that sufficient 
quantity and coverage of internal audit work and other independent assurance work has been 
undertaken to allow him to draw a reasonable conclusion as to the adequacy and 
effectiveness of the City’s risk management, control and governance processes. In his opinion, 
the City has adequate and effective systems of internal control in place to manage the 
achievement of its objectives. In giving this opinion he has noted that assurance can never be 
absolute and, therefore, only reasonable assurance can be provided that there are no major 
weaknesses in these processes. 
 

73. Notwithstanding this overall opinion, internal audit’s work identified a number of opportunities 
for improving controls and procedures, which management has accepted and are documented 
in each individual audit report. Four areas reviewed in 2016/17 resulted in ‘red’ (limited) 
assurance opinions. These relate to internal audit reviews undertaken of: the City of London 
Police use of fuel cards; IT asset management; IT network infrastructure; and IT Wi-fi security 
and operations. All reports and recommendations have been accepted and are being 
addressed by management. 

Future Developments 
74. The governance framework is constantly evolving due to service and regulatory developments 

and assessments. Improvement plans have been compiled in response to the reports and 
assessments summarised above. Controls to manage principal risks are constantly monitored, 
in particular for services with statutory responsibilities for the safety of vulnerable people. The 
City proposes over the coming year to take the following steps to maintain, develop and 
strengthen the existing governance framework:  

• Review the City Corporation’s governance arrangements against the requirements of the 
CIPFA/Solace framework Delivering Good Governance in Local Government. 

• Develop a refreshed Corporate Plan, for the period 2018-23, setting out a set of 
overarching goals for the organisation which will prioritise activity over the medium term 
and thereby achieve more in the context of reducing budgets. 

• Review the framework for departmental business planning and performance management 
to ensure that all work carried out contributes to delivery of the outcomes in the refreshed 
Corporate Plan. 

• Introduce a programme of Chief Officer peer reviews, to assist in developing a culture of 
innovation, agility, collaboration and continuous improvement. 

• Undertake an annual update for the registration and publication of declarations of interest 
by the City’s Members and Co-opted Members following the March 2017 Ward elections. 

Deleted: overall 

Deleted: Three 

Deleted: 5

Deleted: 6

Deleted: all 

Deleted: d

Deleted: in respect 

Deleted: : 

Deleted: C

Deleted: resilience and disaster 
recovery arrangements, invoices on 
hold, and supplies and services

Deleted: The weaknesses identified in 
these areas are being addressed 

Deleted: <#>Reviewing the 
Complaints Procedure (in respect of 
complaints against Members) and the 
Dispensations arrangements.¶

Deleted: ing

Deleted: D

Deleted: I

Page 43



• Deliver the benefits from the programme of cross-cutting efficiency and effectiveness 
reviews resulting from the service based review. 

• Complete the review of information security and management, leading to: the identification 
of Information Asset Owners; the production of an information asset register; the 
development of an Information Management Policy, and the implementation of an 
appropriate Data Classification Scheme. 

• Develop a risk appetite for the City Corporation, linked to the City’s objectives and the 
external environment, which reflects the City’s capacity to manage risk and willingness to 
take risk in order to meet the strategic objectives. 

• Review project and programme governance arrangements, to improve the handling of 
corporate and departmental projects, including reviewing the terms of reference of relevant 
governance groups and a process for escalating risks to the appropriate levels. 

 

This annual governance statement was approved by the City’s Audit and Risk Management 
Committee on 24 July 2017. 

 
 
 
 
John Barradell 
Town Clerk and Chief Executive 
 
Date:  

 
 
 

Catherine McGuinness 
Chairman, Policy and Resources 
Committee 
Date:  

Deleted: ing

Deleted: ing

Deleted: a

Deleted: <#>Reviewing the corporate 
Business Planning and Performance 
Management processes and 
framework.¶
<#>Developing an Efficiency Plan in 
response to the Government’s offer of a 
four-year funding settlement to 2019-
20.¶
<#>Reviewing the implications of the 
Government’s proposals on devolution 
to London, including the devolution of 
business rates.¶
Reviewing the Internal Audit Charter.

Deleted: 1

Deleted: ne

Deleted: 6

Deleted: 22 September 2016

Deleted: Mark Boleat

Deleted: 22 September 2016

Page 44



Appendix 2 
 

ANNUAL GOVERNANCE STATEMENT 2016/17 
 

SUPPORTING SCHEDULE 

Key Element Item Reporting to Members 

Code of Corporate 
Governance 

Committee terms of 
reference (para 9) 

Terms of reference are reviewed by each 
Committee annually. 
 

A composite report of all Committee terms 
of reference is submitted annually to the 
Court of Common Council.  

 Scheme of Delegations 
(para 9) 

Changes to the Scheme of Delegations in 
respect of the Director of the Built 
Environment and the District Surveyor 
were approved by the Court of Common 
Council on 8th December 2016, following 
minor modifications to relevant legislation. 

 Scheme of Delegations 
(para 9) 

Changes to the Scheme of Delegations to 
move the responsibility for licensing 
marriage premises to the Director of 
Community and Children’s Services were 
approved by the Court of Common Council 
on 9th March 2017. 

 Standing Orders (para 9) The Court of Common Council agreed the 
following amendments to Standing Orders 
(SO): 
 

 21st April 2016: to SO 29(3) and 30(4a) 
to remove the prohibition on residents 
or tenants of any property owned by the 
City of London Corporation to serving 
as Chairman or Deputy Chairman of 
the Community and Children’s Services 
Committee; 

 

 23rd June 2016: to SO 63 regarding the 
statutory dismissal procedures for the 
Head of Paid Service, Monitoring 
Officer, and Chief Financial Officer, and 
the creation of a Statutory Officer 
Review Panel, required following 
amendments to the Local Authorities 
(Standing Orders) (England) 
(Amendments) Regulations 2015; 

 

 8th September 2016 (under urgency 
powers): to SO29 to include the 
Statutory Officer Review Panel on the 
list of Committees where a Member is 
eligible to become Chairman alongside 
the Chairmanship of another Grand 
Committee, and to SO63 clarifying the 
details about the disciplinary procedure 
to be followed;  

 

 12th January 2017: to SO29(3) to 
enable the Chairman of the Local 

Page 45



Appendix 2 
 

Government Pensions Board to also be 
the Chairman of another Grand 
Committee at the same time; and 

 

 9th March 2017: to SO56 and SO57 to 
clarify the governance arrangements 
for the disposal of property and enable 
the Corporate Asset Sub-Committee to 
be part of the decision-making process 
for the disposal of operational property 
which has been declared surplus to 
requirements. 

 Protocol on 
Member/officer relations 
(para 9) 

Changes to the protocol were approved by 
the Court of Common Council on 8th 
December 2016, to align the protocol with 
the corporate commitment to equality, 
diversity and inclusion, for the inclusion of 
the protocol as part of the induction 
programme for all employees, and for the 
protocol to be appended to the Employee 
Code of Conduct. 

 Localism Act: Standards 
regime (paras 13-15) 

The Annual report of the Standards 
Committee for 2016/17 was presented to 
the Court of Common Council on 22nd June 
2017. 

 Localism Act: Pay Policy 
Statement (para 16) 

The draft Pay Policy Statement for 2016/17 
was agreed by the Policy and Resources 
Committee on 18th February 2016 and the 
Court of Common Council on 3rd March 
2016 

 Bribery Act (para 17) Procedures for staff declaration were 
approved by the Audit and Risk 
Management Committee on 12th December 
2012. 

 Regulation of 
Investigatory Powers 
(RIPA) (para 18) 

A report on the September 2015 inspection 
by the Office of the Surveillance 
Commissioner was presented to the Policy 
and Resources Committee on 21st January 
2016 and the Audit and Risk Management 
Committee on 26th January 2016. 

Standards 
Committee 

Review of arrangements 
(para 21) 

The independent review of the City’s 
standards regime was presented to the 
Court of Common Council on 12th January 
2017. The Court agreed that a panel be 
established to appoint a working party to 
report back to the Court on how the 
report’s recommendations might be 
progressed and implemented as 
appropriate. 

 Protocol on 
Member/Officer 
Relations (para 21) 

The Committee received the annual review 
of the Protocol on Member/Officer 
Relations, including a review of the 
Employee Code of Conduct on 7th October 
2016. 
 

Page 46



Appendix 2 
 

Business Strategy 
and Planning 
Process 

Corporate Plan (para 22) The Corporate Plan for 2015-19 was 
approved by the Policy and Resources 
Committee on 26th March 2015. 

 Policing Plan (para 22) The Policing Plan for 2016-19 was agreed 
by the Police Committee on 21st January 
2016. 

 Annual City-wide 
residents’ meeting (para 
23) 

The annual City-wide residents’ meeting 
was held on 23rd May 2016. 

Financial 
Management 
Arrangements 

HMIC Inspections (para 
28) 

An update on HMIC inspections for 
2016/17 was presented to the Audit and 
Risk Management Committee on 23rd May 
2017. 

 Efficiency and 
Sustainability Plan (para 
31) 

The City’s Efficiency and Sustainability 
Plan was approved by the Policy and 
Resources Committee on 6th October 2016 
and the Court of Common Council on 13th 
October 2016; and submitted to the 
Department for Communities and Local 
Government. 

 Efficiency and 
Performance sub-
Committee (para 32) 

During 2016/17, the sub-Committee met on 
five occasions, considering reports on, inter 
alia: 

 Corporate and Departmental Business 
Planning 

 The City’s Efficiency and Sustainability 
Plan 

 CIPFA Value for Money indicators 
2015/16 

 Service Based Review: 
o Roadmap and Financial Monitoring 
o Departmental monitoring 
o Cross-cutting projects 

 Review of Energy Targets 2015/16 

 City Procurement: 
o Accounts payable review 
o Establishment of an Invest to Save 

fund 
o Implementation of new contract 

management interventions 

 City of London Police 
Risk Management (para 
35) 

The Police Performance and Resource 
Management Sub Committee received an 
update report on the City of London Police 
Risk Register on 31st May 2016. 

 City of London Police 
Medium Term Financial 
Plan (paras 33/34) 

On 12th January 2017 the Court of 
Common Council approved a relaxation of 
the reserve threshold for the City of London 
Police. 

 Financial Strategy and 
Budget Policy (para 37) 

The 2016/17 budget and revised Medium 
Term Financial Strategy for the City Fund 
were agreed by the Court of Common 
Council on 3rd March 2016. 

Risk Management Risk Management 
Strategy (para 40) 

An updated Risk Management Strategy 
was approved by the Audit and Risk 

Page 47



Appendix 2 
 

Management Committee on 13th May 
2014. 

 Updates to Audit and 
Risk Management 
Committee (para 42) 

The Audit and Risk Management 
Committee receives regular updates on 
risk management. 
During 2016/17, the following risk areas 
were reviewed in depth: 

 Resilience (CR01) 

 Loss of business support for the City 
(CR02) 

 IT service provision (CR19) 

 Air quality (CR21) 

 Department of Culture, Heritage and 
Libraries 

 External review of risk 
management (para 44) 

The key findings from the external review 
of risk management at the City Corporation 
were reported to the Audit and Risk 
Management Committee on 8th November 
2016. 

Role of Internal 
Audit 

General updates to Audit 
and Risk Management 
Committee (para 58) 

Internal audit update reports were 
presented to the Audit and Risk 
Management Committee on 13th 
September 2016 and 7th February 2017. 

 Audit Charter (para 58) Updates to the Audit Charter were agreed 
by the Audit and Risk Management 
Committee on 23rd May 2017. 

 Reports re fraud 
investigation function 
(para 60) 

Anti-Fraud and Investigation updates were 
presented to the Audit and Risk 
Management Committee on 13th 
September 2016 and 7th February 2017. 

Performance 
Management 

Departmental reporting 
(para 61) 

Departmental Business Plans are normally 
approved by the relevant service 
committee(s) between February and April 
each year. 
Chief Officers produce regular monitoring 
reports for their service committee(s), 
combining information on service and 
financial performance. 

 City Fund Overview 
(para 62) 

The annual City Fund Overview for 
2015/16 is available on the City of London 
website. 
The City Fund Overview for 2016/17 will be 
produced later in 2017. 

 Annual business 
ratepayers’ meeting 
(para 62) 

The annual business ratepayers’ meeting 
was held on 3rd February 2016 and 10th 
February 2017. 

Head of Internal 
Audit’s Opinion 

(paras 72-73) The annual opinion from the Head of Audit 
and Risk Management for the year 2016/17 
was reported to the Audit and Risk 
Management Committee on 23rd May 2017. 

 

Page 48



 

Committees:  

Audit and Risk Management – for decision 

Finance – for decision 

Date:  

24 July 2017 

25 July 2017 

Subject:  

City Fund and Pension Funds Financial Statements 2016/17 

Public 

 

Report of: The Chamberlain For Decision  

 Report author:  

Philip Gregory, Chamberlain’s Department 

 

Summary  

 

Attached to this report are the City Fund and Pension Funds Financial 

Statements for the year ended 31 March 2017.   

The key points are: 

 An overall better than budget position of £9.3m. 

 Total net assets of £1,252.0m, a decrease of £303.4m since last year.  

 The City Fund’s £200m contribution to Crossrail was made in March 

2017.   

 The net asset position of £1,252.0m is after having deducted total pension 

funds liabilities of £1,220.3m (an increase in liabilities of £201.4m on the 

previous year).   

 The net asset position is reflected in usable reserves of £160.1m and 

unusable reserves of £1,019.9m.   

 Usable reserves have decreased by £98.1m from a year earlier.  These are 

relatively liquid reserves that can be applied to fund expenditure or 

reduce local taxation.    

 Unusable reserves have decreased by £205.3m from a year earlier.  These 

reserves hold unrealised gains and losses and differences between the 

accounting basis and statutory requirements for local authorities. 

 BDO commenced its audit on 14 June.  At the time of writing this report 

the audit was still underway.  To date no significant issues have been 

raised and it is anticipated that the audit will be concluded satisfactorily 

to enable BDO to issue unqualified opinions.  Representatives of the 

auditors will be in attendance at the Audit and Risk Management 

Committee to present their progress reports. 

 

 

 Page 49

Agenda Item 8



Recommendations 

The Audit and Risk Management Committee is requested to:- 

 consider the contents of BDO’s reports (to follow); 

 recommend approval of the City Fund and Pension Funds Financial 

Statements for the year ended 31 March 2017 to the Finance 

Committee; and 

 delegate to the Town Clerk, in consultation with the Chairman and 

Deputy Chairman of the Audit and Risk Management Committee, 

approval of any material changes to the financial statements required 

before the signing of the audit opinion by BDO - which is expected to 

be by the end of August or early September. 

The Finance Committee is requested to:- 

 consider the resolution from the Audit and Risk Management 

Committee and, if appropriate, approve the City Fund and Pension 

Funds Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2017; and 

 delegate to the Town Clerk, in consultation with the Chairman and 

Deputy Chairman of the Finance Committee, approval of any material 

changes to the financial statements required before the signing of the 

audit opinion by BDO - which is expected to be by the end of August 

or early September. 

 

 

  

Page 50



Main Report 

Introduction 

1. The City Fund and Pension Funds Financial Statements for 2016/17 are 

set out in Annex 1.   

2. The Accounts and Audit Regulations 2015 require the approval and 

publication of the City Fund and Pension Funds Financial Statements for 

the year to 31 March 2017 to take place as soon as reasonably practicable, 

and in any event by 30 September 2017.  Approval of each year’s 

financial statements has been delegated by the Court of Common Council 

to the Finance Committee.  

Revenue 

3. There is no change to the provisional net expenditure outturn position of 

£9.3m better than budget which was reported to Finance Committee in 

June.  More detailed analyses of the outturn compared to budget are 

currently being submitted to spending committees. 

4. In accordance with the City’s budget management arrangements, requests 

for the carry forward of City Fund resources totalling £2.5m are being 

considered by the Chamberlain, in consultation with the Chairman and 

Deputy Chairman of the Resource Allocation Sub-Committee.  The extent 

to which these carry forwards are agreed, will increase the call on the City 

Fund General Reserve in 2017/18.  In addition, £1.7m of projects and 

works programmes have slipped and/or been rephased to 2017/18. 

Balance Sheet  

5. The Consolidated Balance Sheet indicates that the City Fund’s total net 

assets decreased by £303.4m (or 19.5%) to £1,252m from £1,555.4m a 

year earlier.   

6. The decrease in net assets of £303.4m is reflected in reductions in usable 

reserves of £98.1m and unusable reserves of £205.3m.   

7. Usable reserves are those relatively liquid reserves that can be applied to 

fund expenditure or reduce local taxation.  They are required over the 

medium term for the funding of the capital programme and also include 

sums earmarked, either by statute or as agreed by Members, for specific 

purposes such as Highways, the Housing Revenue Account and the 

Police.   

8. The £98.1m year on year reduction in usable reserves from £258.2m to 

£160.1m mainly relates to the utilisation during 2016/17 of £160m in 

funds set aside to contribute to the City Fund’s £200m payment towards 

the Crossrail project which was made in March 2017.  This was partly Page 51



offset by other net contributions to reserves of £61.9m mainly for capital 

purposes. The year on year movement in usable reserves is summarised in 

the chart below. 

 

 
 

9. Unusable reserves hold unrealised gains and losses and differences 

between the accounting basis and statutory basis for preparing local 

authority financial statements. The £205.3m year on year reduction in 

unusable reserves from £1,297.2m to £1,091.9m is analysed further in 

note 29 to the City Fund financial statements. The most significant item 

contributing to this reduction is an increase of £201.4m in the negative 

pension reserve to match the increase in estimated pension liabilities.  

Pension Liabilities 

10. The City Fund’s total net assets of £1,252m are after having deducted net 

pension liabilities totalling £1220.3m.  The comparator for 31 March 2016 

is £1,018.9m.  The liabilities arise from applying the requirements of 

International Accounting Standard (IAS) 19.  This accounting standard is 

complex, but is based on the principle that an organisation should 

recognise liabilities for pension benefits as they are earned, even if the 

payment of such benefits will be many years into the future.  The 

estimated net liabilities are calculated by independent actuaries, Barnett 

Waddingham.  

  

133.5 

57.1 

53.7 

50.9 

54.7 

37.5 

16.3 

14.6 

0

50

100

150

200

250

31/03/2016 31/03/17

Usable Reserves 

Housing Revenue Account
(HRA) including Major
Repairs

Earmarked Revenue
Reserves

City Fund General

Capital Receipts and
Capital Grants

£m 

Page 52



11. The liabilities are mainly in relation to the City Fund share of the City of 

London Pension Scheme and the Police Pension Schemes (see chart 

below).   

  

City of London Pension Scheme 

12. City of London staff, excluding police officers, teachers and judges are 

eligible to join the Local Government Pension Scheme – a statutory 

scheme administered in accordance with Government regulations. 

13. Although the Pension Fund net deficit cannot be attributed precisely 

between the City Fund, City’s Cash and Bridge House Estates, an 

apportionment of that deficit and inclusion in the respective balance 

sheets presents a fairer view of the funds’ financial positions than if the 

deficit were excluded.  Accordingly an apportionment has been made 

which is based on employer’s annual contributions to the fund. 

14. The total net deficit in the City of London Pension Fund was £597.9m at 

31 March 2017 (31 March 2016: £481m).  The City Fund’s estimated 

proportion of this deficit is £304.9m or 51% (31 March 2016:  £240.6m or 

50%).  

15. Pension fund deficits (or surpluses) are relatively sensitive to movements 

in the underlying assumptions.  The main reason for the net increase of 

£116.9m (City Fund share £64.3m) in the City of London Pension Fund 

deficit is a decrease in the discount rate used for calculating the present 

day value of future payments from the fund - with an decrease in the rate 

resulting in increased liabilities and vice-versa - partly offset by an 

increase in the fund’s assets. The discount rate is required by regulations 

to be based on market yields on high quality corporate bonds.  For the 31 

March 2017, a discount rate of 2.7% has been used, compared to 3.6% a 

year earlier. 

  

240.6 304.9 

776.3 

912.9 

0

200

400

600

800

1000

1200

1400

31/03/16 31/03/17

Pension Liabilities  

Police Pension Schemes

City Fund share of City of
London Pension Scheme

£m 

Page 53



16. The employer’s pension contribution rate is a separate issue from the 

IAS19 calculations.  It is considered and determined by the Finance 

Committee following each triennial valuation (updated by any subsequent 

interim valuations).  The triennial valuation considers the period over 

which the pension deficit should be recovered through employer’s 

contributions and the City Corporation is consulted on the assumptions 

used by the actuary for these valuations.  Following the triennial valuation 

as at 31 March 2016 the Finance Committee agreed to increase the 

employer’s contribution rate from 17.5% to 21% for the years 2017/18 to 

2019/20 in order to recover the pension fund deficit over a period of 17 

years. 

City Police Pension Schemes 

17. The Police Pension Scheme is a statutory scheme as specified by police 

regulations.  The scheme is unfunded (i.e. the scheme has no assets - 

unlike the Local Government Pension Fund which has both assets and 

liabilities).  Again, the main reasons for the increase in the deficit is the 

decrease in the discount rate used to value liabilities. 

18. The City of London Corporation in its capacity as Police Authority pays 

an employer’s contribution of 21.3% of pensionable pay for all serving 

police officers into the Police Pension Fund Account.  If there is 

insufficient money in the Police Pension Fund Account to meet all 

expenditure commitments in any particular year, the Home Office will 

fund the deficit.  In practice therefore the significant balance sheet liability 

of £912.9m relating to benefits earned but to be paid in the future, will be 

covered by future contributions (employees’ and employer’s) and receipt 

of Home Office grant monies. 

Audit Opinion and Letter 

19. BDO commenced its audit on 14 June.   At the time of writing this report 

the audit was still underway.  To date no significant issues have been 

raised and it is anticipated that the audit will be concluded satisfactorily to 

enable BDO to issue unqualified opinions.  Representatives from BDO 

will be in attendance at the Audit and Risk Management Committee to 

present their reports and to clarify any points or issues. 

Subsequent Adjustments to the Accounts 

20. BDO is expecting to sign its audit opinion by the end of August or early 

September.  Should any material adjustments to the financial statements 

be required before that position is reached, it is recommended that 

authority to approve such amendments should be delegated to the Town 

Clerk in consultation with the Chairmen and Deputy Chairmen of the 

Audit and Risk Management and Finance Committees.   Page 54



Publication of the Statement of Accounts 

21. As soon as reasonably possible after the conclusion of the audit, and in 

any event by 30 September 2017, the City is required to publish the 

2016/17 City Fund and Pension Fund Financial Statements including the 

Audit Opinion on its website.  Copies of the published statements will be 

placed in the Members’ Reading Room.  The final management letters 

from BDO on its audit will be presented to the Court of Common Council 

for information. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Contact: 

Philip Gregory, Deputy Financial Services Director  

020 7332 1284 philip.gregory@cityoflondon.gov.uk 

 

 

 

Annex 1: Statement of Accounts for the City Fund and the Pension Funds 

Annex 2: BDO’s City Fund Report (to follow) 

Annex 3: BDO’s Pension Fund Report (to follow) 

Page 55

mailto:philip.gregory@cityoflondon.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank

Page 56



  

 

 

 

THE CITY OF LONDON CORPORATION 

STATEMENT OF ACCOUNTS FOR THE CITY FUND  

YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2017 

 

P
age 57



 

  

Contents 
 

Narrative Report .................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................. 1 
 
Statement of Responsibilities for the Statement of Accounts ......................................................................................................................................................................... 11 
Core Financial Statements and Explanatory Notes 

Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement ........................................................................................................................................................................... 12 
Movement in Reserves Statement ....................................................................................................................................................................................................... 13 
Balance Sheet ....................................................................................................................................................................................................................................... 14 
Cash Flow Statement ............................................................................................................................................................................................................................ 15 
Explanatory Notes to the Financial Statements ................................................................................................................................................................................... 16 

Supplementary Financial Statements and Explanatory  Notes 
Housing Revenue Account ..................................................................................................................................................................................................................... 99 
Collection Fund Statement ................................................................................................................................................................................................................... 106 
Police Pension Fund Account .............................................................................................................................................................................................................. 111 
City of London Corporation Pension Fund Account .............................................................................................................................................................................. 114 

 
Annual Governance Statement ........................................................................................................................................................................................................................ 135 
Glossary of Terms ............................................................................................................................................................................................................................................. 148 
Acronyms .......................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................... 153 
Index to Explanatory Notes ............................................................................................................................................................................................................................. 154 

P
age 58



City Fund Statement of Accounts 2016/17  Narrative Report Page 1  

  

AN INTRODUCTION TO THE CITY OF LONDON CORPORATION 

1. Although little more than one mile square in size, the City of London is densely developed with 17,9801 businesses providing employment for 454,7002 
people, this represents 9.0% of Greater London’s employment and 1.5% of the UK’s total employment, meaning over 1 in 100 of the UK’s workforce is 
employed in the City.  By contrast the residential population of around 8,3003 is relatively small.  In addition, it is estimated that the City attracts some 10.34 
million visitors each year. 

2. As the local authority for the “Square Mile” the City of London Corporation is the oldest continuous municipal democracy in the world and predates 
Parliament.  While the City Corporation has a long history, with many traditions and ceremonies continuing to this day, it has a modern outlook that matches 
that of the City it serves. 

3. A unique organisation with a diverse range of roles and responsibilities the City Corporation has a role and remit that goes beyond that of an ordinary local 
authority.  In addition to the functions of a local and police authority, a range of specialist services are provided for the business City and to its residents, 
workers and visitors.  Many of the City Corporation’s services are of wider regional and national importance including the Barbican Centre, the Old Bailey, 
Spitalfields Market and the Animal Reception Centre at Heathrow. 

4. Recognising that the Square Mile cannot work in isolation, the City Corporation is committed to working in partnership to improve the quality of life of, and 
increase the opportunities for the wider London community.  This work ranges from encouraging corporate responsibility in City firms to assisting in 
education, promoting employability, jobs and growth. 

5. The City Corporation plays a leading role in supporting and promoting the City as the world’s leading international financial and business centre and in 
promoting the interests of the financial services sector in the City and the UK.  This includes providing essential infrastructure maintenance, strategic 
economic development and encouraging inward investment.  The City of London Police is a dedicated police force for the Square Mile and the national lead 
force for economic crime. 

6. The City Fund covers the City Corporation’s activities in its capacity as a local authority, police authority and port health authority.  The other funds are Bridge 
House Estates and City’s Cash.  Bridge House Estates funds the maintenance of Tower, London, Southwark, Millennium and Blackfriars Bridges and the work of 
City Bridge Trust (London’s largest independent grant-giving charity).  City’s Cash allows us to provide services that are of importance to Greater London as 
well as to the City at little or no cost to the public.  More information on the role and ongoing work of the City Corporation, including the Corporate Plan (the 

                     
1 Source: UK Business: Activity, Size and Location, 2016 
2 Source: Business Register and Employment Survey, Office for National Statistics, 2015 data (released autumn 2016) 
3 Source: GLA 2015 round SHLAA-based population projections: DCLG-Based Model 
4 Source: City of London estimates for 2015 

P
age 59



City Fund Statement of Accounts 2016/17  Narrative Report Page 2  

  

City Corporation’s main strategic planning document providing a framework for the delivery of services) can be found on City’s website at 
www.cityoflondon.gov.uk1.   

7. The Corporate Plan 2015-19 sets out our Vision and Strategic Aims, as follows: 

Our Vision: 

The City of London Corporation will support, promote and enhance the City of London as the world leader in international finance and business services, and 
will maintain high quality, accessible and responsive services benefiting its communities, neighbours, London and the nation. 

Our strategic aims: 

• To support and promote The City as the world leader in international financial and business services;  
• To provide modern, efficient and high quality local services, including policing, within the Square Mile for workers, residents and visitors; 
• To provide valued services, such as education, employment, culture and leisure, to London and the nation. 

8. The rest of this publication only covers services provided by the City Fund unless otherwise stated. 

  

                     
1 The City of London Corporation is responsible for the maintenance and integrity of the corporate and financial information included on its website.  Legislation in the United 
Kingdom governing the preparation and dissemination of financial information differs from legislation in other jurisdictions 

P
age 60



City Fund Statement of Accounts 2016/17  Narrative Report Page 3  

  

FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE OF THE CITY FUND 2016/17 
Reserves 

9. Total reserves of £1,252m, a decrease of £303.4m since last year. This is after the City Corporation’s £200m contribution from the City Fund to Crossrail which 
was made in March 2017.   

 
10. Reserves are analysed between usable, those relatively liquid reserves that can be applied to fund expenditure or reduce local taxation, and unusable, those 

reserves which cannot be used to provide services and which hold unrealised gains and losses and differences between the accounting basis and funding basis 
under regulations. 

  

1,297.2 
1,091.9 

118.5 

96.5 

139.7 

63.6 

0

200

400

600

800

1,000

1,200

1,400

1,600
2015/16 2016/17

Total Reserves £m 

Usable Reserves - Capital

Usable Reserves - Revenue

Unusable Reserves

P
age 61



City Fund Statement of Accounts 2016/17  Narrative Report Page 4  

  

11. The following table is an extract from the financial statements and shows that after taking into account those items which the City Corporation, as a local 
authority, is required by statute and non-statutory proper practices to debit or credit to the City Fund the movement on usable revenue reserves for 
2016/17was a reduction of £22m compared to a reduction of £13.9m in 2015/16. 

2015/16 2016/17
£m £m

Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement
0.0  Crossrail payment 200.0  

151.0  Other services 160.0  
151.0  Cost of services 360.0  
(16.6) Other operating income - net gain on disposal of fixed assets (9.5) 

1.1  Other operating expenditure 1.1  

(180.3) 
Financing and investment income - gain on revaluation of investment 
properties (54.9) 

(10.6) Financing and investment income - other (10.5) 
(122.1) Taxation and non-specific revenue grant income (109.1) 

(20.7) Capital grants, contributions and donations (30.9) 
(198.2) (Surplus)/deficit on the provision of services 146.2  

Movement in Reserves Statement

212.1  
Adjustments between accounting basis and funding basis under 
regulation (124.2) 

13.9  Decrease in Usable Revenue Reserves 22.0   
 
* The £200m City Fund contribution to Crossrail is classed as revenue expenditure in the financial statements as it does not result in the creation of a City Fund 
asset.  However, under statutory provisions the City is able to capitalise this expenditure and this is included as one of the adjustments between the accounting 
basis and funding basis.     

  

P
age 62



City Fund Statement of Accounts 2016/17  Narrative Report Page 5  

  

2016/17 Revenue Outturn compared to Budget 
12. Set out below is a summary by Committee comparing actual revenue expenditure for the year to budget and indicating that outturn for the year was £9.3m 

better than budget.  The summary is in the format used to report the overall City Fund budget requirement to the City of London Corporation’s Finance 
Committee and includes transfers to and from earmarked revenue reserves.   

13. This better than budget position of £9.3m is summarised in the City Fund’s management accounts as follows: 

  
14. The Finance Committee holds contingency budgets to meet unforeseen and/or exceptional items that may be identified across the City Corporation’s range of 

activities.  The Finance Committee’s outturn position has also benefitted from significantly reduced insurance premiums, lower operational building running 
costs and increased investment income.     

0.0 
(0.5) 

0.0 (0.3) 
(1.0) 

0.0 

(6.3) 

(0.2) (0.2) 0.0 
(0.5) 

(0.1) (0.2) 

(7.0)

(6.0)

(5.0)

(4.0)

(3.0)

(2.0)

(1.0)

0.0

1.0

(Better)/  
Worse than 

 Budget 

Budget v Outturn £m 

P
age 63



City Fund Statement of Accounts 2016/17  Narrative Report Page 6  

  

2016/17 Capital Outturn compared to Budget 

15. The approved capital budget for 2016/17 totalled £71.3m. Actual expenditure during the year was £59.5m, an underspend of £11.8m compared with the 
budget.  This reduction was mainly due to re-phasing of expenditure on highways, public realm and police projects. 

16. Capital expenditure included: 

• £31.6m on the acquisition and redevelopment of investment properties 
• £10.2m on highways and streetscene schemes, including £4.2m on the Aldgate highway, public realm improvement and new pavilion project  
• £8.8m on construction and refurbishment of Housing Revenue Account Properties. 

Capital Borrowing 

17. The City Fund has not had loan debt for many years as it has been able to finance its full capital spending from its own resources or external contributions.  
However, the ‘borrowing option’ is kept under review. 

Pension Liabilities 

18. Pension liabilities have increased from £1,018.9m to £1,220.3m.  The liabilities arise from applying the requirements of International Accounting Standard 
(IAS) 19: Employee Benefits.  This accounting standard is complex, but is based on the principle that an organisation should recognise liabilities for pension 
benefits as they are earned, even if the payment of such benefits will be many years into the future.  The liability relates primarily to the historic deficit in the 
unfunded Police Pension Schemes (£913m – An increase of £137m from 31 March 2016) and the City Fund’s share (£305m – an increase of £64m from 31 
March 2016) of the City of London scheme.   

19. Although the liabilities have a substantial impact on the net worth of the City Fund statutory arrangements for funding the schemes mean that the financial 
position of the City Fund remains sound. The Police Schemes are funded on a pay as you go basis, with the employer contributing a percentage of police pay 
into the Pension Fund and the Home Office meeting the balance.  For the City of London Scheme the fund is revalued every three years to set future employer 
contribution rates and to recover the deficit over an agreed period (currently 17 years). 

20. Pension fund deficits (or surpluses) are sensitive to movements in the underlying assumptions and the main reason for the increase in the Police pension 
deficit is a decrease in the discount rate used for calculating the present day value of future payments from the fund - with a decrease in the rate resulting in 
higher liabilities and vice-versa.  The decrease in the discount rate has also increased the deficit on the City of London Pension Fund.   However, as the City of 
London Scheme is funded (i.e. it has assets) the value of the Scheme’s investments have to be taken into account when assessing the net deficit.  In 
2016/17 there was an increase in the value of the Scheme’s investments which partly offset the increase in liabilities. 

  

P
age 64



City Fund Statement of Accounts 2016/17  Narrative Report Page 7  

  

Impact of Economic Climate 

21. The outlook for local government and police forces remains particularly challenging due to the continuing pressures on public finances and the level of 
uncertainty following Brexit and the election of a new Government.   

Local Government Services 

22. Low interest rates continue to depress interest earnings but rental incomes from investment properties remain strong with little impact from Brexit yet.  As 
investment properties continue to generate yields which are significantly better than interest on cash balances, the City will continue to review these 
investments in light of other demands on the City Fund. 

23. A Service Based Review began in 2014/15 to identify a range of options to deliver efficiencies, budget reductions, and income generation opportunities.  The 
package of measures agreed by the Policy and Resources Committee is being implemented over the four year period to 2018/19 and, subject to there being 
no significant adverse changes in financial planning assumptions across the period, the savings/increased incomes will produce some headroom in the 
revenue budget.  This will allow consideration of options for sustained investment in service priorities, IT infrastructure and improving the condition of 
operational properties.  

24. Whilst the medium-term financial forecasts indicate that the City Fund is in a stable position there are risks due to continued uncertainty from Brexit.  In 
particular, the future levels of demand for office accommodation and the level of development in the City will have consequential impacts on rent yields, 
business rates income and the community infrastructure levy which are directly related to funding City Fund services.   

25. A close watching brief will be kept on these and other implications as events unfold during the coming months. There are proposals to reform business rates 
resulting in a change to the amount retained by local government to fund services. As the picture becomes clearer on Brexit, business rates retention and the 
direction of the new Government financial forecasts will be refreshed.  

City Police 

26. The City of London Police manages its budget on a ring-fenced basis and financial forecasts indicate annual deficits if action is not taken to stabilise the budget 
position of the force over the medium term.  A financial strategy to balance the budget has been prepared.   

27. The strategy includes maximising opportunities to increase income, exploring potential additional funding streams, and reviewing expenditure on the basis of 
demand and delivering value for money.  

Capital and Major Revenue Projects 

28. Spending on capital and major revenue projects is limited to the highest corporate priorities with funding being maximised from external sources and surplus 
operational properties, thus minimising requirements for the sale of income generating investment properties and/or the depletion of reserves.  

29. There are a number of major schemes that the City is considering which will require significant investment from the City Fund. A funding strategy will be 
developed as these plans mature to ensure that these remain within the means of the City Fund, including seeking funding from partners where appropriate. 

P
age 65



City Fund Statement of Accounts 2016/17  Narrative Report Page 8  

  

NON-FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE OF THE CITY FUND 2016/17 
30. Illustrative key performance information from City Fund services, including the City of London Police, during 2016/17: 

External Inspections 
• Adult Skills and Education Service was rated as “good” in all areas by Ofsted 
• Reablement Service was rated as “good” overall and “good” in all five key areas (safe, effective, caring, responsive, well-led) by the Care Quality Commission 
• Ofsted gave an overall “good” rating for the quality and effectiveness of the City Corporation’s services for children in need of help and protection; children 

looked after and care leavers. Two “outstanding” judgements were received for Leadership, Management and Governance and the City and Hackney 
Safeguarding Children Board 

Performance Indicators 
• 85% of residents were 'very satisfied' or 'satisfied' with the overall service the City Corporation provides as their landlord 
• 48% of participants in smoking cessation programme quit smoking compared to 46% in previous year 
• Over 98% of Freedom of Information requests received were responded to within 20 working days of receipt 
• 96% (against a 90% target) of justifiable noise complaints investigated by the Pollution Team resulted in a satisfactory outcome 
• The Trading Standards Team responded to all victims of investment fraud, of whom it was notified, within 5 working days  
• Notifiable crimes increased by 4.6% (from 5,227 to 5,465), this mirrors the national position (the national increase has averaged 10%).  No force has recorded 

a decrease.  City of London Police’s increase was the 8th lowest nationally. 
• Almost 85% of victims satisfied with the service received, placing City of London Police third nationally compared to other police forces 

Other Achievements 
• Work commenced on the establishment of a Low Emission Neighbourhood in the Barbican and Golden Lane area.  
• The Environmental Health Service was a finalist in the 2016 Association for Public Service Excellence service awards, in the category “Best Service Team: 

Environmental Health Service” 
• The Guildhall Art Gallery achieved its second highest annual footfall since it opened and received the Visit England Quality Rose Marque 
• International Association of Music Libraries, Archives and Documentation Centres - “Excellence” award for the Barbican Music Library  
• John Connell Soundscape Award to the City Corporation’s Pollution Team for its Noise and Soundscape Strategy. 
• Chartered Institute of Highways and Transportation - the Holborn Circus Area Enhancement project achieved “Highly Commended” 
• Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy – Outstanding Procurement Initiative for the design, strategy and procurement of the City’s Corporate 

Cleaning Contract 

 

  

P
age 66



City Fund Statement of Accounts 2016/17  Narrative Report Page 9  

  

ANNUAL GOVERNANCE STATEMENT 

31. The Annual Governance Statement is reviewed and updated annually, and is considered and approved by the Audit and Risk Management Committee, based 
on its evaluation of the effectiveness of the risk and governance framework.  The Annual Governance Statement for the year ended 31 March 2017 is set out 
on pages 135 to 147. 

RISK MANAGEMENT 

32. The City Corporation has a comprehensive Risk Management Strategy in place.  The Audit and Risk Management Committee monitors and oversees the 
strategy on a regular basis and undertakes a systematic programme of detailed reviews of each of the risks on the Corporate Risk Register. The Chief Officer 
Risk Management Group has a remit to ensure that risk management policies are applied, that there is an ongoing review of risk management activity and 
that appropriate advice and support is provided to Members and officers. 

33. The Risk Management Strategy captures the following key objectives: 
• Enables corporate, departmental and programme objectives to be achieved in the optimum way and to control risks and maximise opportunities 

which may impact on the City Corporation’s success 
• The City Corporation recognises its responsibility to manage risks and support a structured and focused approach that includes risk taking in support 

of innovation to add value to service delivery 
• Risk Management is seen as an internal element of the City Corporation’s culture. 

34. The Corporate Risk Register codifies key strategic risks and assigns responsibility for taking action to mitigate each risk to a named Chief Officer.  It includes 
risk in the following areas: 

• Information Technology Service Provision 
• Road Safety 
• Air Quality 
• Resilience (emergency planning) 
• Health and Safety 
• Information Security (including cyber security) 
• Loss of business support for the City 
• Safeguarding 
• Funding Reduction (City Police). 

  

P
age 67



City Fund Statement of Accounts 2016/17  Narrative Report Page 10  

  

THE CITY FUND FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
35. The format and content of the financial statements set out in this publication is prescribed by the Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy Code 

of Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the United Kingdom 2016/17.   They comprise core and supplementary statements together with supporting 
disclosure notes.   

CORE STATEMENTS 

Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement or CIES 
(page 12) - the cost of providing services in accordance with generally accepted 
accounting practices  (GAAP) rather than the statutory amount to be funded from 
business rates, council tax and general government grants.  The statutory position is 
shown in both the Expenditure and Funding Analysis and the Movement in Reserves 
Statement. 

Movement in Reserves Statement 
(page 13) –sets out the change in the City Fund’s “net worth” over the year and analyses the 
movement between “usable reserves” and “unusable reserves”. 

Balance Sheet 
(page 14) – a “snapshot” at 31 March of the City Fund’s assets and liabilities matched 
by the reserves held.  Reserves are categorised as usable (available to provide services 
subject to maintaining a prudent level and in some instances statutory limitations) and 
unusable which are mainly used to hold unrealised gains and losses. 

Cash Flow Statement 
(page 15) - shows the change in cash and cash equivalents during the year and whether that 
change is due to operating, investing and financing activities.  The net cash flow from operating 
activities is a key indicator of the extent to which services are funded by way of taxation and grant 
income or from the recipients of services provided.  Investing activities represent the extent to 
which cash outflows have been made for resources which are intended to contribute to future 
service delivery. 

Explanatory Notes to the Core Financial Statements are on pages 16 to 98.  They include the Expenditure and Funding Analysis (Note 3, page 30) which shows how annual 
expenditure is used and funded from resources (government grants, rents, council tax and business rates) in comparison with those resources consumed or earned in accordance with 
generally accepted accounting practices. It also shows how this expenditure is allocated for decision making purposes between the City Corporation’s Committees. Income and expenditure 
accounted for under generally accepted accounting practices is presented more fully in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement. 

Supplementary Financial Statements 
Housing Revenue Account (HRA) (pages 99 to 105) –reflects a statutory obligation to maintain a separate revenue account for social housing. 
Collection Fund (pages 106 to 110) –a separate account setting out income collected from taxpayers and its distribution between the Government, the Greater London Authority and the 
City Corporation. 
Police Pension Fund (pages 111 and 112)  and City of London Corporation Pension Fund (pages 113 to 134)  

P
age 68



City Fund Statement of Accounts 2016/17  Statement of Responsibilities  Page 11 

  

The City of London's Responsibilities 

The City of London is required to: 

• make arrangements for the proper administration of its financial affairs and to ensure that one of its officers has the responsibility for the 
administration of those affairs.  This officer is the Chamberlain; 

• manage its affairs to secure economic, efficient and effective use of resources and safeguard its assets; and 
• approve the Statement of Accounts. 

The Chamberlain's Responsibilities 

The Chamberlain is responsible for the preparation of the Authority's Statement of Accounts in accordance with proper practices as set out in the CIPFA/LASAAC 
Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the United Kingdom 2016/17 ("the Code"). 

In preparing this Statement of Accounts, the Chamberlain has: 

• selected suitable accounting policies and then applied them consistently; 
• made judgments and estimates that were reasonable and prudent; and 
•  complied with the local authority Code. 

The Chamberlain has also: 

• kept proper accounting records which were up to date; and 
• taken reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities. 

Chamberlain’s Certificate 

I certify that the Statement of Accounts gives a true and fair view of the financial position of the City Fund and the Pension Funds of the City of London at the 
reporting date and of its expenditure and income for the year ended 31 March 2017. 

 
 
 
 
Dr Peter Kane 
Chamberlain                                                                                             Date:     

P
age 69



City Fund Statement of Accounts 2016/17 Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement Page 12  

  

.

Gross 
Expenditure Gross Income

Net 
Expenditure   

(Income)
Gross 

Expenditure Gross Income

Net 
Expenditure   

(Income)
£m £m £m £m £m £m

Services 
118.8 (56.5) 62.3 Police 117.7 (58.9) 58.8

50.4 (25.6) 24.8 Barbican Centre 52.4 (25.2) 27.2
27.9 (14.8) 13.1 Community & Children's Services 28.9 (15.2) 13.7
10.5 (15.7) (5.2) Housing Revenue Account (HRA) 18.7 (15.1) 3.6
33.4 (24.5) 8.9 Planning & Transportation 34.7 (25.7) 9.0
25.4 (13.0) 12.4 Port Health & Environmental Services 24.9 (13.9) 11.0
23.1 (2.4) 20.7 Culture, Heritage and Libraries 23.0 (2.1) 20.9
17.9 (9.1) 8.8 Finance 21.6 (11.5) 10.1
11.6 (13.3) (1.7) Barbican Residential 12.3 (14.3) (2.0)

9.1 (4.7) 4.4 Policy & Resources 11.0 (5.9) 5.1
2.0 (0.4) 1.6 Open Spaces and City Gardens 2.2 (0.4) 1.8
1.2 (0.4) 0.8 Property Investment Board 1.5 (0.7) 0.8
0.7 (0.6) 0.1 Licensing 0.7 (0.7) 0.0
0.0 0.0 0.0 Crossrail 12 200.0 0.0 200.0

332.0 (181.0) 151.0 Cost of Services 549.6 (189.6) 360.0
(15.5) Other Operating Income 13 (8.4)

(190.9) Financing & Investment Income & Expenditure 14 (65.4)
(142.8) Taxation & Non-Specific Grant Income 15 (140.0)
(198.2) (Surplus)/Deficit on the Provision of Services 146.2

(100.3)
Surplus on the Revaluation of Property, Plant & 
Equipment

29A (16.5)

(75.9) Remeasurements of the Pensions Liability 50 173.7
(176.2) Other Comprehensive (Income) & Expenditure 157.2

(374.4)
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE (INCOME) & 
EXPENDITURE

303.4

2016/172015/16 Restated

No
te

s

P
age 70



City Fund Statement of Accounts 2016/17  Movement In Reserves Statement Page 13 

  

. 

No
te

s City Fund 
Balance

Housing 
Revenue 
Account

Capital 
Receipts 
Reserve

Capital Grants 
Unapplied

Major Repairs 
Reserve

Total Usable 
Reserves

Unusable 
Reserves

Total 
Reserves

£m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m

Balance at 31 March 2016* (108.4) (10.1) (129.9) (3.6) (6.2) (258.2) (1,297.2) (1,555.4)
Movement in reserves during 2016/17

Total Comprehensive Income & Expenditure 145.4 0.8 0.0 0.0 0.0 146.2 157.2 303.4

Adjustments between accounting basis & 
funding basis under regulations

10 (125.4) 1.2 96.2 (19.8) (0.3) (48.1) 48.1 0.0

(Increase) or decrease in 2016/17 20.0 2.0 96.2 (19.8) (0.3) 98.1 205.3 303.4

Balance at 31 March 2017 carried forward* (88.4) (8.1) (33.7) (23.4) (6.5) (160.1) (1,091.9) (1,252.0)
 

 
* The City Fund balance of £88.4m comprises unallocated revenue funds of £50.9m and earmarked revenue reserves of £37.5m (see note 11)  
 

No
te

s City Fund 
Balance

Housing 
Revenue 
Account

Capital 
Receipts 
Reserve

Capital Grants 
Unapplied

Major Repairs 
Reserve

Total Usable 
Reserves

Unusable 
Reserves

Total 
Reserves

£m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m

Balance at 31 March 2015 (124.3) (8.1) (96.0) (0.7) (7.1) (236.2) (944.8) (1,181.0)
Movement in reserves during 2015/16
Total Comprehensive Income & Expenditure (191.4) (6.8) 0.0 0.0 0.0 (198.2) (176.2) (374.4)
Adjustments between accounting basis & 
funding basis under regulations

10 207.3 4.8 (33.9) (2.9) 0.9 176.2 (176.2) 0.0

(Increase) or decrease in 2015/16 15.9 (2.0) (33.9) (2.9) 0.9 (22.0) (352.4) (374.4)
Balance at 31 March 2016 carried forward (108.4) (10.1) (129.9) (3.6) (6.2) (258.2) (1,297.2) (1,555.4)  

* The City Fund balance of £108.4m comprises unallocated revenue funds of £53.7m and earmarked revenue reserves of £54.7m (see note 11) 

P
age 71



City Fund Statement of Accounts 2016/17  Balance Sheet Page 14 

  

. 
31 March 2016 Notes 31 March 2017

        £m         £m
885.9 Property, Plant and Equipment 16 888.2

8.9 Heritage Assets 17 8.9
1,366.7 Investment Property 18 1,444.8

0.1 Intangible Assets 0.1
0.2 Investments 20 0.2

36.6 Long-Term Debtors 22 16.1
2,298.4 Long-Term Assets 2,358.3

712.4 Short-Term Investments 20 697.9
0.0 Assets Held for Sale 0.3
0.5 Inventories 0.5
0.4 Intangible Current Assets 0.4

68.0 Short-Term Debtors 23 89.4
57.7 Cash and Cash Equivalents 24 52.3

839.0 Current Assets 840.8

(271.9) Short-Term Creditors 25 (376.4)
(46.3) Provisions 26 (82.6)

(318.2) Current Liabilities (459.0)

(1,018.9) Pensions Liability 50 (1,220.3)
(90.8) Capital Grants and Contributions Received in Advance 41 (111.3)

(151.7) Deferred Credits 42 (152.4)
(2.4) Other Long-Term Liabilities 44 (4.1)

(1,263.8) Long-Term Liabilities (1,488.1)
1,555.4 NET ASSETS 1,252.0

(258.2) Usable Reserves 10,11 (160.1)
(1,297.2) Unusable Reserves 10,29 (1,091.9)
(1,555.4) TOTAL RESERVES (1,252.0)  

P
age 72



City Fund Statement of Accounts 2016/17  Cash Flow Page 15 

  

 
 

 .

2015/16 Notes 2016/17
£m £m

(198.2) Net (surplus)/deficit on the provision of services 146.2
51.1 Adjustments for non-cash movements 30 (89.1)

66.8
Adjustments for items that are investing and financing 
activities

30 75.8

(80.3) Net cash inflows from operating activities 132.9
144.3 Investing activities 31 (59.6)
(54.6) Financing activities 32 (67.9)

9.4 Net (increase)/decrease in cash and cash equivalents 5.4

(67.1)
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the 
reporting period

24 (57.7)

(57.7)
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the reporting 
period

24 (52.3)
 

 
 

 
 

P
age 73



City Fund Statement of Accounts 2016/17 Explanatory Notes Page 16 

  

1. Accounting Policies 

The accounting policies set out the specific principles, bases, conventions, rules and practices applied in preparing and presenting the financial statements. 

1.1. General Principles 

The Statement of Accounts summarises the City Fund transactions for the 2016/17 financial year and its position at the year end of 31 March 2017.  The 
City of London Corporation is required to prepare the City Fund annual Statement of Accounts in accordance with proper accounting practices by the 
Accounts and Audit Regulations 2015.  These practices primarily comprise the Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the United Kingdom 
2016/17 (the Code) and the Service Reporting Code of Practice for Local Authorities 2016/17 (SeRCOP), both of which are issued by the Chartered 
Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy (CIPFA), supported by International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS). The accounting convention 
adopted in the Statement of Accounts is principally historical cost, modified by the revaluation of certain categories of non-current assets.  

1.2. Accruals of Expenditure and Income 

The accounts of the City Fund are maintained on an accruals basis.  Consequently, activity is accounted for in the year that it takes place, not simply 
when cash payments are made or received. In particular: 

• Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised when the significant risks and rewards of ownership are transferred to the purchaser and it is 
probable that economic benefits or service potential associated with the transaction will flow to the City Fund. 

• Revenue from the provision of services is recognised when the percentage of completion of the transaction can be measured reliably and it is 
probable that economic benefits or service potential associated with the transaction will flow to the City Fund. 

• Supplies are recorded as expenditure when they are consumed – where there is a gap between the date supplies are received and their 
consumption, they are carried as inventories on the Balance Sheet. 

• Expenses in relation to services received (including services provided by employees) are recorded as expenditure when the services are received 
rather than when payments are made. 

• Interest receivable on investments and payable on borrowings is accounted for respectively as income and expenditure on the basis of the 
effective interest rate for the relevant financial instrument rather than the cash flows fixed or determined by the contract. 

• Where revenue and expenditure have been recognised but cash has not been received or paid, a debtor or creditor for the relevant amount is 
recorded in the Balance Sheet. Where it is subsequently identified that debts may not be settled, the balance of debtors is written down and a 
charge made to revenue for the income that might not be collected. 

1.3. Cash and Cash Equivalents  

Cash and Cash Equivalents comprise funds repayable to the City Fund without penalty on notice within 24 hours, less cheques and BACS payments 
issued but not presented.   

P
age 74



City Fund Statement of Accounts 2016/17 Explanatory Notes Page 17 

  

1.4. Prior Period Adjustments, Changes in Accounting Policies and Estimates and Errors 

Prior period adjustments may arise as a result of a change in accounting policies or to correct a material error.  Changes in accounting estimates are 
accounted for prospectively, i.e. in the current and future years affected by the change and do not give rise to a prior period adjustment. 
Changes in accounting policies are only made when required by proper accounting practices or the change provides more reliable or relevant 
information about the effect of transactions, other events and conditions on the City Fund’s financial position or financial performance. Where a change 
is made, it is applied retrospectively (unless stated otherwise) by adjusting opening balances and comparative amounts for the prior period as if the new 
policy had always been applied.   
Material errors discovered in prior period figures are corrected retrospectively by amending opening balances and comparative amounts for the prior 
period. 

1.5. Charges to Revenue for Non-current Assets 

Services are debited with the following amounts to record the cost of holding non-current assets during the year: 

• depreciation attributable to the assets used by the relevant service; 
• revaluation and impairment losses on assets used by the service where there are no accumulated gains in the Revaluation Reserve against which 

the losses can be written off; and 
• amortisation of intangible assets attributable to the service. 

The City Fund is not required to raise council tax to fund depreciation, revaluation and impairment losses or amortisation. However, if it had a borrowing 
requirement it would be required to make an annual contribution from revenue towards the reduction in its overall borrowing requirement equal to an 
amount, the Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP), calculated on a prudent basis determined in accordance with statutory guidance.  Depreciation, 
revaluation and impairment losses and amortisation would then be replaced by the MRP by way of an adjusting transaction with the Capital Adjustment 
Account in the Movement in Reserves. 

1.6. Employee Benefits 

(a) Short-term employee benefits 
Short-term benefits are those due to be settled within 12 months of the year end.  They include such benefits as salaries, wages, paid annual leave and 
paid sick leave, bonuses and non-monetary benefits for current employees and are recognised as an expense for services in the year in which employees 
render service. 
The cost of leave earned but not taken by employees at the end of the period is recognised within the Surplus or Deficit on the Provision of Services to 
the extent that employees are permitted to carry forward leave into the following period.  However, statutory regulations require this cost to be 
reversed out of the accounts and this is achieved by crediting the revenue account for ‘adjustments between accounting basis and funding basis under 
regulations’ within the Movement in Reserves and debiting the ‘statutory adjustments account’ on the balance sheet. 

  

P
age 75



City Fund Statement of Accounts 2016/17 Explanatory Notes Page 18 

  

(b) Termination benefits 
Termination benefits are amounts payable as a result of a decision to terminate an officer’s employment before the normal retirement date or an 
officer’s decision to accept voluntary redundancy in exchange for those benefits and are charged on an accruals basis to the appropriate service in the 
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement at the earlier of when the authority can no longer withdraw the offer of those benefits or when the 
authority recognises costs for a restructuring.  Where termination benefits involve the enhancement of pensions, statutory provisions require the City 
Fund Balance to be charged with the amount payable by the employer to the pension fund or pensioner in the year, not the amount calculated 
according to the relevant accounting standards. In the Movement in Reserves Statement, appropriations are required to and from the Pensions Reserve 
to remove the notional debits and credits for pension enhancement termination benefits and replace them with debits for the cash paid to the pension 
fund and pensioners and any such amounts payable but unpaid at the year-end. 

(c) Retirement benefit costs 
(i) Pension Costs – City of London Staff 

With the exception of serving police officers and teachers, City of London staff are eligible to contribute to the City of London Pension Fund, which 
is a funded defined benefits scheme.  The estimated net deficit on the Fund is the responsibility of the City of London as a whole, as one 
employer, rather than the specific responsibility of any of its three funds (City Fund, City’s Cash and Bridge House Estates).  Although the Pension 
Fund net deficit cannot be attributed precisely between the three funds, an apportionment of that deficit and inclusion in the respective balance 
sheets presents a fairer view of the funds’ financial positions than if the deficit were to be excluded.  Accordingly an apportionment has been 
made which is based on employer’s annual contributions from the funds to the Pension Fund. 

• The liabilities attributable to the City Fund are included on the balance sheet on an actuarial basis using the projected unit method – i.e. 
an assessment of the future payments that will be made in relation to retirement benefits earned to date by employees, based on 
assumptions including mortality rates, employee turnover rates and projections of earning for current employees 

• Liabilities are discounted to their value at current prices 
• The assets attributable to the City Fund are included in the balance sheet at their fair value using estimated bid values where necessary. 

The change in the net pensions liability is analysed into the following components: 
• Service cost comprising: 

- current service cost, the increase in liabilities as a result of years of service earned this year, allocated in the comprehensive 
income and expenditure statement to the services for which the employees worked; 

- past service cost, the increase in liabilities as a result of a scheme amendment or curtailment whose effect relates to years of 
service earned in earlier years – debited to the surplus or deficit on the provision of services in the comprehensive income and 
expenditure statement as part of non-distributed costs; and 

- net interest on the net defined benefit liability is charged to the financing and investment income and expenditure line of the 
comprehensive income and expenditure statement.  The interest is calculated by applying the discount rate used to measure the 
defined benefit obligation at the beginning of the period to the net defined benefit liability at the beginning of the period taking 
into account any changes in the net defined benefit liability during the period as a result of contribution and benefit payments. 

P
age 76



City Fund Statement of Accounts 2016/17 Explanatory Notes Page 19 

  

• Remeasurements comprising: 
- the return on plan assets, excluding amounts included in the net interest on the net defined benefit liability, charged to the 

pensions reserve as other comprehensive income and expenditure; and 
-  actuarial gains and losses, changes in the net pensions liability that arise because events have not coincided with assumptions 

made at the last actuarial valuation or because the actuaries have updated their assumptions, charged to the pensions reserve as 
other comprehensive income and expenditure. 

• Contributions paid to the Pension Fund, cash paid as employer’s contributions to the pension fund in settlement of liabilities, not 
accounted for as an expense. 

In relation to retirement benefits, statutory provisions require the City Fund unallocated reserve to be charged with the amount payable to the 
pension fund or directly to pensioners in the year, not the amount calculated according to the relevant accounting standards.  In the movement in 
reserves statement, this means that there are transfers to and from the pension reserve to remove the notional debits and credits for retirement 
benefits and replace them with debits for cash paid to the pension fund and pensioners and any such amounts payable but unpaid at the year 
end.  The negative balance that arises on the pension reserve thereby measures the beneficial impact to the City Fund unallocated reserve of 
being required to account for retirement benefits on the basis of cash flows rather than as benefits are earned by employees. 

(ii) Pension Costs – Police Officers and Judges 

The Police Pension Scheme is unfunded.  Prior to 1 April 2006 each police authority was responsible for paying the pensions of its own former 
employees on a “pay as you go” basis.  Under the current arrangements the City Fund no longer meets pension costs directly; instead it 
contributes a percentage of police pay into the Police Pension Fund.  At the year end the Police Pension Fund is balanced to zero by either 
receiving a contribution from the City Fund equal to the amount by which the amounts payable from the Pension Fund for the year exceed the 
amounts receivable or, by paying to the City Fund the amount by which sums receivable by the Pension Fund for the year exceed the amounts 
payable.  Where the City Fund makes a transfer to the Pension Fund, the Home Office will pay an equivalent top-up grant to the City Fund.  Where 
a transfer is made out of the Pension Fund, the City Fund must pay the amount to the Home Office. 
The payment of pensions to former judges is the responsibility of the Treasury with the City of London reimbursing the Treasury for the City 
Fund’s share of the liability. The City Fund’s estimated liability has been determined by independent actuaries in accordance with IAS19.   
The accounting treatment for the estimated liabilities on the Police and Judges schemes are similar to that outlined above for the City of London 
Pension Scheme. 

(iii) Pension Costs - Teachers 

The payment of pensions to former teachers under the Teachers’ Pension Scheme is administered by Capita Teachers’ Pensions on behalf of the 
Department for Education (DfE).  The scheme provides defined benefits to members (retirement lump sums and pensions), earned as employees 
worked for the Authority.  However, the arrangements for the teachers’ scheme mean that liabilities for these benefits cannot ordinarily be 
identified specifically to the Authority.  The scheme is therefore accounted for as if it was a defined contribution scheme and no liability for future 

P
age 77



City Fund Statement of Accounts 2016/17 Explanatory Notes Page 20 

  

payments of benefits is recognised in the Balance Sheet.  The Children’s and Education Services line in the Comprehensive Income and 
Expenditure Statement is charged with the employer’s contributions payable to Teachers’ Pensions in the year. 

1.7. Events After the Reporting Period 

Events after the Balance Sheet date are those events, both favourable and unfavourable, that occur between the end of the reporting period and the 
date when the Statement of Accounts is authorised for issue. Two types of events can be identified: 

(a) Adjusting Events 
Those that provide evidence of conditions that existed at the end of the reporting period – the Statement of Accounts is adjusted to reflect such events. 

(b) Non-adjusting Events 
Those that are indicative of conditions that arose after the reporting period – the Statement of Accounts is not adjusted to reflect such events, but, 
where a category of events would have a material effect, disclosure is made in the notes of the nature of the events and their estimated financial effect. 
Events taking place after the date of authorisation for issue are not reflected in the Statement of Accounts. 

1.8. Financial Instruments 

(a) Financial Assets 
Financial assets are recognised when the City Fund becomes party to a financial instrument contract (any contract that gives rise to a financial asset of 
one entity and a financial liability or equity instrument of another) or, in the case of trade receivables, when the goods or services have been delivered.  
Financial assets are derecognised when the contractual rights have expired or the asset has been transferred. 
Financial assets are initially recognised at fair value.  This is defined as the amount for which an asset could be exchanged or a liability settled, assuming 
the transaction was negotiated between parties knowledgeable about the market in which they are dealing and willing to buy/sell at an appropriate 
price, with no other motive in their negotiations other than to secure a fair price.   
All of the City Fund’s financial assets are classified as loans and receivables.  Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or 
determinable payments which are not quoted in an active market.  They are recognised on the Balance Sheet when the City Fund becomes a party to the 
contractual provisions of a financial instrument and are initially measured at fair value.  After initial recognition, they are measured at amortised cost 
using the effective interest method, less any impairment.  Interest is recognised using the effective interest method. 
The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts through the expected life of the financial asset, to the initial 
fair value of the financial asset. 
At the end of the reporting period, the City Corporation assesses whether any of the City Fund financial assets are impaired.  Financial assets are 
impaired and impairment losses recognised if there is objective evidence of impairment as a result of one or more events which occurred after the initial 
recognition of the asset and which has an impact on the estimated future cash flows of the asset.  The impairment of receivables is based on the age and 
type of each debt with the percentages applied reflecting an assessment of the recoverability. The loss is recognised in expenditure and the carrying 
amount of the asset is reduced through a provision for impairment of receivables.  
If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss decreases and the decrease can be related objectively to an event occurring after the 
impairment was recognised, the previously recognised impairment loss is reversed through expenditure to the extent that the carrying amount of the 

P
age 78



City Fund Statement of Accounts 2016/17 Explanatory Notes Page 21 

  

receivable at the date of the impairment is reversed does not exceed what the amortised cost would have been had the impairment not been 
recognised. 

(b) Financial Liabilities   
Financial liabilities are recognised when the City Fund becomes party to the contractual provisions of the financial instrument or, in the case of trade 
payables, when the goods or services have been received.  Financial liabilities are de-recognised when the liability has been discharged, that is, the 
liability has been paid or has expired.  

1.9. Interest Income 

Interest is credited to the City Fund and Housing Revenue Account based upon average balances held by the Chamberlain of London, and invested by 
him in the London Money Markets. 

1.10. Government Grants and Other Contributions 

Whether paid on account, by instalments or in arrears, government grants and third party contributions and donations are recognised as income at the 
date that the authority satisfies the conditions of entitlement to the grant/contribution, there is reasonable assurance that the monies will be received.   
Where a grant or contribution has been received but the conditions of entitlement have not been satisfied, the grant or contribution is treated as a 
receipt in advance. 

(a) Revenue 
Specific, ring-fenced, revenue grants are credited to the appropriate service revenue accounts. Non ring-fenced grants to finance the general activities of 
a local authority (e.g. Revenue Support Grant) are disclosed in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Account within taxation and non-specific 
grant income. 

(b) Capital 
Where a capital grant or contribution has been received but conditions remain outstanding at the balance sheet date, the grant or contribution is 
recognised as part of Capital Grants Receipts in Advance.  Once the conditions have been met, the grant or contribution will be transferred from Capital 
Grants Receipts in Advance and recognised as income in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement. 

Where a capital grant or contribution has been recognised as income in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement, and the expenditure to 
be financed from the grant or contribution has been incurred at the Balance Sheet date, the grant or contribution is transferred from revenue to the 
Capital Adjustment Account, reflecting the application of capital resources to finance expenditure.  This transfer is reported in the Movement in 
Reserves Statement. 
Where a capital grant or contribution has been recognised as income in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement, but the expenditure to 
be financed from that grant or contribution has not been incurred at the Balance Sheet date, the grant or contribution is transferred to the Capital 
Grants Unapplied Account within the usable reserves section of the balance sheet reflecting its status as a capital resource available to finance 
expenditure.  This transfer is reported in the Movement in Reserves Statement.   

P
age 79



City Fund Statement of Accounts 2016/17 Explanatory Notes Page 22 

  

When, at a future date, the expenditure to be financed from the grant or contribution is incurred, the grant or contribution is transferred from the 
Capital Grants Unapplied Account to the Capital Adjustment Account, reflecting the application of capital resources to finance expenditure. This transfer 
is reported in the Movement in Reserves Statement. 

1.11. Business Improvement Districts  

A Business Improvement District (BID) scheme applies across an area of the City (Cheapside).  The scheme is funded by a BID levy paid by non-domestic 
ratepayers. The Authority acts as principal under the scheme, and accounts for income received and expenditure incurred (including contributions to the 
BID project) within the relevant services within the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement. 

1.12. Community Infrastructure Levy 

The City Corporation has elected to charge a Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL). The levy is charged on new builds (chargeable developments for the 
Authority) with appropriate planning consent. The City Corporation charges for and collects the levy, which is a planning charge. The income from the 
levy will be used to fund a number of infrastructure projects to support the development of the area.  CIL is received without outstanding conditions; it 
is therefore recognised at the commencement date of the chargeable development in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement in 
accordance with the accounting policy for government grants and contributions set out above. CIL charges will be largely used to fund capital 
expenditure.  However, a small proportion of the charges may be used to fund revenue expenditure. 

1.13. Heritage Assets 

Heritage assets are those assets intended to be preserved in trust for future generations because of their cultural, environmental or historical 
associations.  The Code provides that where the cost or value of heritage assets cannot be obtained at a cost which is commensurate with the benefits 
to the users of the financial statements, such assets will not be recognised in the Balance Sheet.  The City Corporation does not consider the expense of 
obtaining information on cost or values to be justified and therefore recognises on the City Fund balance sheet only those heritage assets for which 
information on costs is readily available.  The City Corporation considers that heritage assets will have indeterminate lives and high residual values; 
hence the City Corporation does not consider it appropriate to charge the City Fund depreciation for these assets (see note 17 for details of these 
assets).   

1.14. Investment Property 

Investment properties are those that are used solely to earn rentals and/or for capital appreciation. The definition is not met if the property is used in 
any way to facilitate the delivery of services or production of goods or is held for sale.  
Investment properties are measured initially at cost and subsequently at fair value, being the price that would be received to sell such an asset in an 
orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date. As a non-financial asset, investment properties are measured at highest and 
best use. Properties are not depreciated but are revalued annually according to market conditions at the year-end. Gains and losses on revaluation are 
posted to the Financing and Investment Income and Expenditure line in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement. The same treatment is 
applied to gains and losses on disposal.  
 

P
age 80



City Fund Statement of Accounts 2016/17 Explanatory Notes Page 23 

  

Rentals received in relation to investment properties are credited to the Financing and Investment Income line and result in a gain for the Unallocated 
Reserve. However, revaluation and disposal gains and losses are not permitted by statutory arrangements to have an impact on the Unallocated 
Reserve. The gains and losses are therefore reversed out of the Unallocated Reserve in the Movement in Reserves Statement and posted to the Capital 
Adjustment Account. 

1.15. Contingent Assets  

A contingent asset is a possible asset that arises from past events and whose existence will be confirmed by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or 
more uncertain future events not wholly within the control of the City Fund. Contingent assets are assessed continually to ensure that developments are 
appropriately reflected in the financial statements. If it has become virtually certain that an inflow of economic benefits or service potential will arise 
and the asset’s value can be measured reliably, the debtor (or cash where consideration has been received) and the related revenue are recognised in 
the financial statements of the period in which the change in circumstances occurs.  Where an inflow of economic benefits or service potential is 
probable (rather than virtually certain) and can be reliably measured, contingent assets are disclosed as notes to the accounts. 

1.16. Contingent Liabilities 

A contingent liability is a possible obligation that arises from past events and whose existence will be confirmed only by the occurrence or non-
occurrence of one or more uncertain future events not wholly within the control of the City Fund.  Contingent liabilities are assessed continually to 
determine whether an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits or service potential has become probable. If it becomes probable that an 
outflow of future economic benefits or service potential will be required for an item previously dealt with as a note to the accounts, a provision is 
recognised in the financial statements for the period in which the change in probability occurs (except in circumstances where no reliable estimate can 
be made).  Where a contingent liability exists, but a reliable estimate cannot be made, a note is disclosed in the accounts unless the possibility of an 
outflow of resources embodying economic benefits or service potential is remote. 

1.17. Provisions  

Provisions are made where an event has taken place that gives the City Fund a legal or constructive obligation that probably requires settlement by a 
transfer of economic benefits or service potential, and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation. For instance, the City Fund may 
be involved in a court case that could eventually result in the making of a settlement or the payment of compensation from the City Fund. Provisions are 
charged as an expense to the appropriate service line in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement in the year that the City Fund becomes 
aware of the obligation, and are measured at the best estimate at the balance sheet date of the expenditure required to settle the obligation, taking into 
account relevant risks and uncertainties. When payments are eventually made, they are charged to the provision carried in the Balance Sheet. Estimated 
settlements are reviewed at the end of each financial year – where it becomes less than probable that a transfer of economic benefits will now be 
required (or a lower settlement than anticipated is made), the provision is reversed and credited back to the relevant service. Where some or all of the 
payment required to settle a provision is expected to be recovered from another party (e.g. from an insurance claim), this is only recognised as income 
for the relevant service if it is virtually certain that reimbursement will be received if the City Fund settles the obligation. 

  

P
age 81



City Fund Statement of Accounts 2016/17 Explanatory Notes Page 24 

  

1.18. Leases 

Leases are classified as finance leases when substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership are transferred to the lessee.  All other leases are 
classified as operating leases. Where a lease covers both land and buildings, the land and buildings elements are considered separately for classification. 
Freehold land has an indefinite life and the land within the lease is recorded as an operating lease unless it is an immaterial part of the lease.   

(a) Finance Leases 
(i) City Fund as Lessee   

The City of London recognises property, plant and equipment held under finance leases as assets at the commencement of the lease at amounts 
equal to its fair value and, where material, liabilities at the lower of the present value of the minimum lease payments or the fair value of the 
property.  The asset recognised is matched by a liability for the obligation to pay the lessor.  Minimum lease payments are apportioned between a 
finance charge (interest) and a reduction of the outstanding liability. The finance charge element is allocated to revenue and is calculated so as to 
produce a constant periodic rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability.  Where liabilities are immaterial, a liability is not recognised 
and the full rental is charged to revenue over the term of the lease. 

(ii) City Fund as Lessor 
Amounts due from lessees under finance leases are recorded in the Balance Sheet as a debtor at the amount of the net investment in the lease.  
The lease payments receivable are apportioned between repayment of the debtor and finance income.  The finance income is credited to revenue 
and calculated so as to give a constant periodic rate of return from the net investment. The asset is written out of the balance sheet as a disposal. 
A gain, representing the net investment in the lease is credited to income and the difference shown as a gain or loss on disposal. Where the lessee 
acquires the asset through payment of a premium at the commencement of the lease, this is included as a capital receipt and there is no 
remaining finance lease asset. 

(b) Operating Leases 
(iii) City Fund as Lessee 

Rentals payable, net of benefits received or receivable (e.g. cash incentives for a lessee to sign a lease), are charged to revenue on a straight-line 
basis over the term of the lease, even if the payments are not made on such a basis, unless another systematic and rational basis is more 
representative of the benefits received. 

(iv) City Fund as Lessor 
Assets subject to operating leases are included in the Balance Sheet according to the nature of the assets. Rental income from operating leases, 
excluding charges for services such as insurance and maintenance, are recognised on a straight-line basis over the period of the lease, even if the 
payments are not received on this basis (e.g. due to lease incentives), unless another systematic and rational basis is more representative of the 
time pattern in which the benefits derived from the leased asset are diminished. Where the lessee pays an upfront premium for land that is 
classified as an operating lease, this is included as a deferred credit and released to rental income on a straight line over the lease term. 

P
age 82



City Fund Statement of Accounts 2016/17 Explanatory Notes Page 25 

  

1.19. Overheads  

The costs of support service overheads, with the exception of expenditure on corporate and democratic activities, are generally apportioned between all 
services on the basis of employee time spent or other resources consumed on behalf of user services.  Similarly, with the exception of vacant properties, 
the costs of support service buildings (including capital charges) are apportioned on the basis of the office area utilised by each service. 

1.20. Property, Plant and Equipment 

Property, plant and equipment comprises the following classes of tangible long-term assets; council dwellings, other land and buildings, leasehold 
improvements, vehicles plant and equipment, infrastructure assets, community assets and assets under construction. 

(a) Recognition 
Expenditure on the acquisition, creation or enhancement of property, plant and equipment is capitalised provided that the expenditure is material 
(generally in excess of £50,000) and the asset yields benefits to the City Fund, and the services it provides, for a period of more than one year.  This 
excludes expenditure on routine repairs and maintenance of property, plant and equipment which is charged directly within service costs.  

(b) Valuation 
Property, plant and equipment are measured initially at cost, representing the cost directly attributable to acquiring or constructing the asset so that it is 
capable of operating in the manner intended.  Assets are then carried in the Balance Sheet using the following measurement bases:   

• Properties regarded as operational - current value, determined as the amount that would be paid for the asset in its existing use (existing use 
value – EUV), or where this cannot be assessed because there is no market for the subject asset, the depreciated replacement cost, based on 
modern equivalent assets, as an estimate of current value.  In some cases, specialist properties have required specialist valuation assumptions or 
alternative use valuations have been carried out. 

• Council dwellings – current value, determined using the basis of existing use value for social housing. 
• Non-operational assets under construction – historic cost. 
• Infrastructure, community and heritage assets - historic cost, net of depreciation, where appropriate. 
• Vehicles, plant and equipment - cost, net of depreciation, as a proxy for current value. 
• Surplus assets – fair value, estimating highest and best use. 

All properties included on the balance sheet at current or fair value are revalued at least once within a five year period as part of a rolling programme 
with subsequent additions being included in the accounts at their cost of acquisition until the asset is next revalued.  Revaluations are carried out 
sufficiently regularly to ensure that their carrying value is not materially different from their value at the year end. 

(c) Revaluations 
An increase arising on revaluation is taken to the revaluation reserve unless the increase is reversing a previous impairment loss charged to Surplus or 
Deficit on the Provision of Services on the same asset or reversing a previous revaluation decrease charged to Surplus or Deficit on the Provision of 
Services on the same asset, in which case it is credited to expenditure to the extent of the loss or decrease previously charged there.   

P
age 83



City Fund Statement of Accounts 2016/17 Explanatory Notes Page 26 

  

Where the carrying amount of an item of property, plant and equipment is decreased as a result of a revaluation, i.e. a significant decline in an asset’s 
carrying amount during the period that is not specific to the asset (as opposed to impairment – see below), the decrease is recognised in the Revaluation 
Reserve to the extent that there is a balance on the reserve for the asset and, thereafter, against the Surplus or Deficit on the Provision of Services. 
Legislation prescribes that revaluation gains or losses charged to Surplus or Deficit on the Provision of Services are not proper charges to the City Fund.  
Such amounts are transferred to the Capital Adjustment Account and reported in the Movement in Reserves Statement. 
The Revaluation Reserve contains revaluation gains recognised since 1 April 2007 only, the date of its formal inception following implementation from 
the 2007 Statement of Recommended Practice.  Gains arising before that date have been consolidated in the Capital Adjustment Account.  

(d) Impairments 
An impairment loss arises if the carrying amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount.  This could be caused by such factors as a significant 
decline in an asset’s value during the period (i.e. more than expected as a result of the passage of time, normal use or general revaluation), evidence of 
obsolescence or physical damage of an asset, a commitment by the authority to undertake a significant reorganisation, or a significant adverse change in 
the statutory or other regulatory environment in which the authority operates. 
An annual assessment takes place as to whether there is any indication that an asset may be impaired.  An impairment loss is recognised in the 
Revaluation Reserve to the extent that there is a balance on that reserve relating to the specific asset and thereafter to the Surplus or Deficit on the 
Provision of Services.  
The reversal of an impairment loss previously recognised in Surplus or Deficit on the Provision of Services will not exceed the carrying amount that 
would have been determined had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior years.  Any excess above this carrying amount is treated as a 
revaluation gain and charged to the Revaluation Reserve. 
Legislation prescribes that impairment losses and reversal of impairment losses charged to Surplus or Deficit on the Provision of Services are not proper 
charges to the City Fund.  Such amounts are transferred to the Capital Adjustment Account and reported in the Movement of Reserves Statement.  

(e) De-recognition  
The carrying amount of an item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised: 

• on disposal, or 
• when no future economic benefits or service potential are expected from its use or disposal. 

The gain or loss arising from de-recognition of an asset is the difference between the net disposal proceeds, if any, and the carrying amount of the asset.  
The gain or loss arising from de-recognition of an asset is included in Surplus or Deficit on the Provision of Services under other operating expenditure. 
Legislation prescribes that the gain or loss is not a proper charge to the City Fund or Housing Revenue Account.  As a result, the City Fund or Housing 
Revenue Account is debited (in the case of a gain) or credited (in the case of a loss) with an amount equal to the gain or loss on disposal with the 
consequent entry being: 

• an increase in the Capital Receipts Reserve of an amount equal to the disposal proceeds; and 
• a charge to the Capital Adjustment Account of an amount equal to the carrying amount of the asset. 

P
age 84



City Fund Statement of Accounts 2016/17 Explanatory Notes Page 27 

  

If the asset derecognised was carried at a re-valued amount, an additional entry is required; the balance on the Revaluation Reserve is written off to the 
Capital Adjustment Account and reported in the Movement in Reserves Statement. 
The Capital Receipts Reserve can only be used for new capital investment or set aside to reduce any underlying need to borrow (the capital financing 
requirement).  A proportion of receipts relating to Housing Revenue Account disposals (75% for dwellings, 50% for land and other assets, net of 
statutory deductions and allowances) is payable to the Government. 

(f) Depreciation 
Depreciation is provided for on all property, plant and equipment with a finite useful life, other than freehold land.  The depreciation charge is calculated 
by allocating the Balance Sheet value of the asset, less its residual value, to the periods expected to benefit from its use; generally the straight-line 
method has been adopted. 
The costs of services include charges for depreciation for all property, plant and equipment used in the delivery of services based on the value of assets 
at the start of the year.  Where the effects of major additions or disposals occurring during the year are material, these are also reflected in capital 
charges to service revenue accounts.  Freehold land, certain community assets and assets under construction are not directly used in the delivery of 
services and therefore do not attract a charge for capital.  

(g) Components 
Assets other than HRA Dwellings 
Large assets, for example a building, are reviewed to ascertain whether differences in the useful lives of components would have a material 
impact on the level of depreciation and/or carrying value of the overall assets. These reviews are undertaken: 

• when an asset is acquired; 
• when an asset is enhanced; and 
• when an asset is revalued. 

Where there is a material impact on depreciation and/or the carrying value, the components are treated as separate assets and depreciated over 
their own useful economic lives. 

HRA Dwellings 
The components of HRA dwellings are reviewed at the same stages as indicated above.  However, upon review, all the main components in HRA 
dwellings (e.g. roofs, windows, central heating, lifts and electrics) are treated as separate assets and depreciated over their own useful economic 
lives. This facilitates the use of the Major Repairs Reserve which is classified by Government as ‘capital’ funding.  

  

P
age 85



City Fund Statement of Accounts 2016/17 Explanatory Notes Page 28 

  

1.21. Fair value measurement 

The authority measures some of its non-financial assets such as surplus assets and investment properties and some of its financial instruments such as 
equity shareholdings at fair value at each reporting date. Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an 
orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date. The fair value measurement assumes that the transaction to sell the asset or 
transfer the liability takes place either: 

a)  in the principal market for the asset or liability, or 
b) in the absence of a principal market, in the most advantageous market for the asset or liability. 

The authority measures the fair value of an asset or liability using the assumptions that market participants would use when pricing the asset or liability, 
assuming that market participants act in their economic best interest. 
When measuring the fair value of a non-financial asset, the authority takes into account a market participant’s ability to generate economic benefits by 
using the asset in its highest and best use or by selling it to another market participant that would use the asset in its highest and best use. 
The authority uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in the circumstances and for which sufficient data is available, maximising the use of 
relevant observable inputs and minimising the use of unobservable inputs. 
Inputs to the valuation techniques in respect of assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed in the authority’s financial statements 
are categorised within the fair value hierarchy, as follows: 

• Level 1 – quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that the authority can access at the measurement date 
• Level 2 – inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly or indirectly 
• Level 3 – unobservable inputs for the asset or liability. 

1.22. Reserves 

Specific amounts have been set aside as reserves for future policy purposes or to cover contingencies.  Details of the City Fund’s earmarked reserves are 
set out in 11.  Certain reserves are required by the Code to manage the accounting process for long-term assets and retirement benefits and do not 
represent usable resources.  Details of these reserves are set out in note 29.   

1.23. Revenue expenditure funded from capital under statute 

Legislation allows some expenditure to be classified as capital for funding purposes when it does not result in the expenditure being carried on the 
Balance Sheet as a long-term asset. The purpose of this is to enable it to be funded from capital resources rather than be charged to revenue and impact 
on that year’s council tax. These items are generally grants and expenditure on property not owned by the authority and amounts directed under 
statute. 
Such expenditure is charged to Surplus or Deficit on the Provision of Services in accordance with the general provisions of the Code. Any statutory 
provision that allows capital resources to meet the expenditure is accounted for by debiting the Capital Adjustment Account and crediting the City Fund 
unallocated reserve and inclusion as a reconciling item in the Movement in Reserves Statement.  

P
age 86



City Fund Statement of Accounts 2016/17 Explanatory Notes Page 29 

  

1.24. Value Added Tax 

Income and expenditure excludes any amounts related to VAT as all VAT collected is payable to HM Revenue & Customs and all VAT paid is recoverable 
from it. 

1.25. Schools 

The Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the United Kingdom confirms that the balance of control for local authority maintained schools 
(i.e. those categories of school identified in the School Standards and Framework Act 1998, as amended) lies with the local authority. The Code also 
stipulates that those schools’ assets, liabilities, reserves and cash flows are recognised in the local authority financial statements. Therefore schools’ 
transactions, cash flows and balances are recognised in each of the financial statements of the authority as if they were the transactions, cash flows and 
balances of the authority.  

2. Prior Year Restatement 

Prior to the 1 April 2016 all local authorities were required to analyse the net cost of services in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement on the basis 
of a standard service analysis.  The 2016/17 Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting introduced a new requirement for local authorities to report services 
based on the way in which the authority operates and manages services.  The Court of Common Council is the City Corporation’s primary decision-making body and 
it works through committees.    The 2015/16 CIES has therefore been restated to reflect the City’s committee structure.  As a result of the restatement requirement 
£0.4m of internal recharges were identified which had been included in gross expenditure and income.  These amounts have been eliminated  in the restated 
2015/16 comparators.   

P
age 87



City Fund Statement of Accounts 2016/17 Explanatory Notes Page 30 

  

3. Expenditure and Funding Analysis 

Net Expenditure 
Chargeable to City 

Fund and HRA 
Balances

Adjustments 
between the 
Funding and 

Accounting Basis

Net Expenditure in 
the CIES

Net Expenditure 
Chargeable to City 

Fund and HRA 
Balances

Adjustments 
between the 
Funding and 

Accounting Basis

Net Expenditure in 
the CIES

£'m £'m £'m £'m £'m £'m
Committees

68.5 (6.2) 62.3 Police 68.4 (9.6) 58.8
23.4 1.4 24.8 Barbican Centre 26.1 1.1 27.2
12.0 1.1 13.1 Community and Children's Services 13.0 0.7 13.7
(1.9) (3.3) (5.2) HRA 2.1 1.5 3.6
8.9 0.0 8.9 Planning and Transport 9.3 (0.3) 9.0

13.4 (1.0) 12.4 Port Health and Environmental Services 12.3 (1.3) 11.0
20.2 0.5 20.7 Culture, Heritage and Libraries 20.7 0.2 20.9

(11.3) 20.1 8.8 Finance 234.3 (224.2) 10.1
3.0 (4.7) (1.7) Barbican Residential 2.6 (4.6) (2.0)
4.2 0.2 4.4 Policy and Resources 4.9 0.2 5.1
1.5 0.1 1.6 Open Spaces and City Gardens 1.7 0.1 1.8

(39.0) 39.8 0.8 Property Investment (39.0) 39.8 0.8
0.1 0.0 0.1 Licensing 0.0 0.0 0.0

(0.7) 0.7 0.0 Markets (1.9) 1.9 0.0
0.0 0.0 0.0 Crossrail 0.0 200.0 200.0

102.3 48.7 151.0 Net Cost of Services 354.5 5.5 360.0
(88.4) (260.8) (349.2) Other Income and Expenditure (332.5) 118.7 (213.8)

13.9 (212.1) (198.2)
(Surplus) or Deficit on the Provision of Services

22.0 124.2 146.2

(132.4) Opening City Fund and HRA Balances (118.5)

13.9
Add (Surplus) or Deficit on City Fund and HRA 
Balance in Year

22.0

(118.5)
Closing City Fund and HRA Balances at 31 
March*

(96.5)

2015/16 2016/17

 
* For a split of this balance between the City Fund and the HRA – see the Movement in Reserves Statement (page 13)  

P
age 88



City Fund Statement of Accounts 2016/17 Explanatory Notes Page 31 

  

4. Note to the Expenditure and Funding Analysis 

This note provides a reconciliation of the main adjustments to Net Expenditure Chargeable to the City Fund and HRA Balances to arrive at the amounts in the 
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement. 

 

Adjustments 
for Capital 
Purposes

Net Changes for 
Pension 

Adjustments

Collection Fund 
Adjustment 

Account
Other 

Adjustments
Total 

Adjustments
£'m £'m £'m £'m £'m

Committees
Police 2.9 (12.4) 0.0 (0.1) (9.6)
Barbican Centre 0.0 0.8 0.0 0.3 1.1
Community and Children's Services 0.0 0.2 0.0 0.5 0.7
HRA 1.4 0.2 0.0 (0.1) 1.5
Planning and Transport 0.0 0.4 0.0 (0.7) (0.3)
Port Health and Environmental Services 0.0 0.5 0.0 (1.8) (1.3)
Culture, Heritage and Libraries 0.0 0.4 0.0 (0.2) 0.2
Finance (37.5) 0.7 0.0 (187.4) (224.2)
Barbican Residential 0.0 0.2 0.0 (4.8) (4.6)
Policy and Resources 0.0 0.2 0.0 0.0 0.2
Open Spaces and City Gardens 0.0 0.1 0.0 0.0 0.1
Property Investment 0.0 0.0 0.0 39.8 39.8
Licensing 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0
Markets 0.0 0.0 0.0 1.9 1.9
Crossrail 0.0 0.0 0.0 200.0 200.0
Net Cost of Services (33.2) (8.7) 0.0 47.4 5.5
Other Income and Expenditure 104.6 36.5 25.1 (47.5) 118.7
Difference between the City Fund and HRA surplus or 
deficit and the Comprehensive Income and 
Expenditure Statement Surplus or Deficit on the 
Provision of Services

71.4 27.8 25.1 (0.1) 124.2

2016/17

 
 

 

P
age 89



City Fund Statement of Accounts 2016/17 Explanatory Notes Page 32 

  

 

Adjustments 
for Capital 
Purposes

Net Changes for 
Pension 

Adjustments

Collection Fund 
Adjustment 

Account
Other 

Adjustments
Total 

Adjustments
£'m £'m £'m

Committees
Police 3.7 (9.8) 0.0 (0.1) (6.2)
Barbican Centre 0.0 1.1 0.0 0.3 1.4
Community and Children's Services 0.0 0.6 0.0 0.5 1.1
HRA (3.2) (0.1) 0.0 0.0 (3.3)
Planning and Transport 0.0 0.6 0.0 (0.6) 0.0
Port Health and Environmental Services 0.0 0.8 0.0 (1.8) (1.0)
Culture, Heritage and Libraries 0.0 0.6 0.0 (0.1) 0.5
Finance 6.1 1.0 0.0 13.0 20.1
Barbican Residential 0.0 0.2 0.0 (4.9) (4.7)
Policy and Resources 0.0 0.1 0.0 0.1 0.2
Open Spaces and City Gardens 0.0 0.1 0.0 0.0 0.1
Property Investment 0.1 0.0 0.0 39.7 39.8
Licensing 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0
Markets 0.0 0.1 0.0 0.6 0.7
Crossrail 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0
Net Cost of Services 6.7 (4.7) 0.0 46.7 48.7
Other Income and Expenditure (217.9) 35.1 (31.5) (46.5) (260.8)
Difference between the City Fund and HRA surplus or 
deficit and the Comprehensive Income and 
Expenditure Statement Surplus or Deficit on the 
Provision of Services

(211.2) 30.4 (31.5) 0.2 (212.1)

2015/16

 
 

  

P
age 90



City Fund Statement of Accounts 2016/17 Explanatory Notes Page 33 

  

Adjustments for Capital Purposes 

This column adjusts for capital items which need to be included in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement such as: 

• the net gain on the disposal of fixed assets 
• revaluation gains or losses on investment properties 
• income from capital grants 

Net Changes for Pensions Adjustments 

This column removes the employer pension contributions charges to services during the year and replaces them with pension related expenditure and income 
calculated in accordance with International Accounting Standard (IAS) 19 Employee Benefits. 

Collection Fund Adjustment Account 

This is a timing difference between what is chargeable under statutory regulations for business rates and council tax, which is largely based on estimates at 
the start of the year, and the income recognised under generally accepted accounting practices.   

Other Adjustments 

This column includes: 

• the re-mapping of items reported to service committees to financing and investment income and expenditure in the Comprehensive Income and 
Expenditure Statement.  Such items include income and expenditure relating to investment properties reported to the Property Investment Board, 
trading activities reported to the Markets Committee and interest on cash balances reported to Finance Committee 

• the elimination of recharges between committees which would otherwise result in gross expenditure and income being overstated in the 
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement 

The above adjustments net to nil overall.  The net difference remaining relates to accruals for the cost of annual leave entitlement earned but not taken in the 
year. 

  

P
age 91



City Fund Statement of Accounts 2016/17 Explanatory Notes Page 34 

  

5. Expenditure and Income Analysed by Nature  

City Fund income and expenditure included in the net cost of services is analysed as follows: 

2015/16 2016/17
£'m £'m

Expenditure
156.3 Employee expenses 156.0
144.6 Other service expenses 154.1

0.0 Crossrail 200.0
31.8 Support service recharges 33.6
18.7 Depreciation, amortisation and impairments 26.6
34.8 Interest payments 36.2

0.5 Precepts and levies 0.5
223.9 Business rates tariff and levy payments to Governement 213.3

0.5 Payments to Government's housing capital receipts pool 0.3
(16.6) Gain on the disposal of assets (9.5)

594.5 Total expenditure 811.1

Income
(156.7) Fees, charges and other service income (161.4)

(5.2) Interest and investment income (5.1)
(278.8) Business rates and council tax income (257.4)
(171.6) Government grants and other grants, contributions and reimbursements (186.1)
(180.4) Unrealised gains on revaluation of investment properties (54.9)
(792.7) Total Income (664.9)
(198.2) (Surplus) or Deficit on the Provision of Services 146.2  

6. Accounting Standards That Have Been Issued but Not Yet Adopted  

Under the Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the United Kingdom 2016/17 (the Code), the Council is required to disclose information setting out the 
impact of an accounting change required by a new accounting standard that has been issued but not yet adopted by the Code.   
It is not anticipated that the standards introduced in the 2017/18 Code that are relevant to this requirement will have a material impact on the information 
provided in the financial statements. 

P
age 92



City Fund Statement of Accounts 2016/17 Explanatory Notes Page 35 

  

7. Critical Judgements in Applying Accounting Policies 

In applying accounting policies authorities may have to make certain judgements about complex transactions or those involving uncertainty about future events.  
The critical judgement that management considers will have a material effect on the amounts recognised in the financial statements are:- 

• The net deficit on the City of London Pension Fund is the responsibility of the City of London Corporation as a whole rather than the specific responsibility 
of any of its three funds.   Therefore, the City Fund does not have an exclusive relationship with the Pension Fund and the portion of the Pension Fund net 
deficit relating to City Corporation employees engaged on City Fund activities is not separately identifiable.   Therefore, an apportionment is made based on 
employer’s pension contributions paid by each of the three funds into the Pension Fund. 

8. Assumptions Made About the Future and Other Major Sources of Estimation Uncertainty 

The Statement of Accounts contains estimated figures that are based on assumptions made by the City Fund about the future or that are otherwise uncertain.  The 
estimates and associated assumptions are continually reviewed and are based on historical experience and other factors including expectations of future events 
that are considered to be reasonable under the circumstances.  However, because balances cannot be determined with certainty, actual results could be materially 
different from those estimates.  Changes in accounting estimates may be necessary if there are changes in circumstances on which the estimate was based, or as a 
result of new information or more experience.  The estimates and assumptions that have the most significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying 
amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are: 

(a) Business Rates 
Since the introduction of the Business Rates Retention Scheme effective from 1 April 2013, Local Authorities are liable for successful appeals against business 
rates in their proportionate share. Therefore, a provision has been recognised for the best estimate of successful appeals up to 31 March 2017. The estimate 
has been calculated using the Valuation Office (VOA) ratings list of appeals and the analysis of successful appeals.   

(b) Pension Benefits  
Estimation of the net liability to pay pensions depends on a number of complex adjustments relating to the discount rate used, the rate at which salaries are 
projected to increase, changes in retirement ages, mortality rates and expected returns on pension fund assets.  A firm of consulting actuaries is engaged to 
provide the City Fund with expert advice about the assumptions to be applied.   
The effect of changes in individual assumptions on the net pension liability can be measured, but are complex and interact in a complex manner.  For example 
the actuary determines the appropriate discount rate at the end of each year after taking account of the yield from a high quality bond of appropriate 
duration, a 0.1% decrease in the discount rate assumption would result in an increase in the pension liabilities of City Fund of some £30.8m.  Other key 
assumptions for pension obligations are based in part on current market conditions and demographic data.  Additional information on pension schemes is 
given in notes 46 to 50. 

  

P
age 93



City Fund Statement of Accounts 2016/17 Explanatory Notes Page 36 

  

(c) Property Valuations 
The carrying values of property, plant and equipment and investment properties are primarily dependent on judgements of such variables as the state of the 
property market, location, asset lives, condition of the property, indices etc.  Valuation is an inexact science with assessments provided by different surveyors 
rarely agreeing and with prices subsequently realised diverging from valuations.  A reduction in estimated valuations would result in reductions to the 
Revaluation Reserve and/or a loss recorded as appropriate in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement.  For example a 1% reduction in the 
value of investment properties would result in a £14.4m debit to “Financing and Investment Income and Expenditure” in the Comprehensive Income and 
Expenditure Statement.  Conversely, an increase in value would result in increases to the Revaluation Reserve and/or reversals of previous negative 
revaluations to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement and/or gains being recorded as appropriate in the Comprehensive Income and 
Expenditure Statement. 
However, the risk of material adjustments is mitigated by using the experience and knowledge of professional chartered surveyors, both in-house staff and 
external firms.  In addition, tests are undertaken to ensure that variations between the valuations of different surveyors, and between valuations and actual 
prices, are within reasonable tolerances.  Additional information on property asset valuation is provided in note 18. 

(d) Arrears 
At 31 March 2017, the City Fund had a balance for rents and sundry debtors of £33.5m.  A review of the length of time past due and progress on recovery 
action suggested that an impairment allowance for doubtful debts of £3.2m was appropriate.  If collection rates were to deteriorate an increase in the 
amount of the impairment of the doubtful debts would be required.  

9. Events after the Balance Sheet Date 

The Statement of Accounts was authorised for issue by the Chamberlain on 13 July 2017.  Events after the balance sheet date and up to 13 July 2017 have been 
considered in respect of material impact on the financial statements.  Events taking place after this date are not reflected in the financial statements or notes.   

  

P
age 94



City Fund Statement of Accounts 2016/17 Explanatory Notes Page 37 

  

10. Adjustments between Accounting Basis and Funding Basis under Regulations 

This note details the adjustments that are made to the total comprehensive income and expenditure recognised in the year in accordance with proper accounting 
practice to the resources that are specified by statutory provisions as being available to meet future capital and revenue expenditure. 
The following sets out a description of the reserves that the adjustments are made against. 
City Fund Balance 
This is the statutory fund into which all receipts are required to be paid and out of which all liabilities are to be met in respect of the City Fund’s activities as a local 
authority, police authority and port health authority, except to the extent that statutory rules might provide otherwise.  These rules can also specify the financial 
year in which liabilities and payments should impact on the City Fund unallocated reserve, which is not necessarily in accordance with proper accounting practice.  
The City Fund Balance is not available to fund Housing Revenue Account (HRA) services.  With this exception, the City Fund Balance therefore summarises the 
resources that the City Fund is statutorily empowered to spend on its services or on capital investment (or the deficit of resources that the City Fund is required to 
recover) at the end of the financial year. 
Housing Revenue Account (HRA) Balance 
The HRA Balance reflects the statutory obligation to maintain a revenue account for local authority council housing provision in accordance with Part VI of the Local 
Government and Housing Act 1989.  It contains the balance of income and expenditure as defined by the 1989 Act that is available to fund the City Fund’s HRA 
landlord function or (where in deficit) that is required to be recovered from tenants in future years. 
Capital Receipts Reserve 
This reserve holds the proceeds from the disposal of land or other assets, which are restricted by statute from being used other than to fund new capital 
expenditure or to be set aside to finance historical capital expenditure.  The balance on the reserve shows the resources that have yet to be applied for these 
purposes at the year-end. 
Capital Grants Unapplied 
This reserve holds the grants and contributions received towards capital projects which have yet to be applied to meet expenditure.  The balance is restricted by 
grant terms as to the capital expenditure against which it can be applied and/or the financial year in which this can take place. 
Major Repairs Reserve 
The City Fund is required to maintain this reserve, which controls an element of resources limited to being used on capital expenditure on HRA assets or the 
financing of historic capital expenditure by the HRA.  The balance shows the resources that have yet to be applied at the year-end. 

  

P
age 95



City Fund Statement of Accounts 2016/17 Explanatory Notes Page 38 

  

 
2016/17

City Fund 
Balance

Housing 
Revenue 
Account

Capital 
Receipts 
Reserve

Capital 
Grants 

Unapplied

Major 
Repairs 
Reserve

£m £m £m £m £m £m

Adjustments to the Revenue Resources
Amounts by which income and expenditure included in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement 
are different from revenue for the year calculated in accordance with statutory requirements

Pensions costs (transfers to or from the Pensions Reserve) (27.6) (0.2) 27.8

Council Tax and Non-Domestic Rates (transfers to or from the Collection Fund Adjustment Account) (25.1) 25.1

Holiday pay (transfers to or from the Accumulated Absences Reserve) 0.1 (0.1)
Reversal of entries included in the Surplus or Deficit on the Provision of Services in relation to capital 
expenditure (transfers to or from the Capital Adjustment Account)

(175.2) (7.2) 182.4

Transfer of capital grants & contributions from revenue to the Capital Grants Unapplied Account 19.9 (19.9) 0.0
Transfer of deferred non-current asset sale proceeds from revenue to the Deferred Capital Receipts 
Reserve

0.0

Other adjustments (0.1) 0.1 0.0

Total Adjustments to Revenue Resources (208.0) (7.3) 0.0 (19.9) 0.0 235.2

Adjustments between Revenue and Capital Resources

Transfer of non-current asset sale proceeds from revenue to the Capital Receipts Reserve 27.8 3.5 (31.3) 0.0
Administrative costs of non-current asset disposals (funded by a contribution from the Capital Receipts 
Reserve)

(0.1) 0.1 0.0

Payments to the government housing receipts pool (funded by a transfer from the Capital Receipts Reserve) (0.3) 0.3 0.0

Capital expenditure financed from revenue balances (transfer to the Capital Adjustment Account) 55.2 (55.2)

Posting of HRA resources from revenue to the Major Repairs Reserve 5.0 (5.0) 0.0

Total Adjustments between Revenue and Capital Resources 82.6 8.5 (30.9) 0.0 (5.0) (55.2)

Adjustments to Capital Resources

Use of the Capital Receipts Reserve to finance capital expenditure 144.5 (144.5)

Use of the Major Repairs Reserve to finance capital expenditure 4.7 (4.7)

Application of capital grants to finance capital expenditure (transferred to the Capital Adjustment Account) 0.1 (0.1)

Cash payments in relation to deferred capital receipts (17.4) 17.4

Total Adjustments to Capital Resources 0.0 0.0 127.1 0.1 4.7 (131.9)

Total Adjustments (125.4) 1.2 96.2 (19.8) (0.3) 48.1

Usable Reserves
Movement     
in Unusable 

Reserves

 
 

P
age 96



City Fund Statement of Accounts 2016/17 Explanatory Notes Page 39 

  

 
2015/16
Comparative Figures

City Fund 
Balance

Housing 
Revenue 
Account

Capital 
Receipts 
Reserve

Capital 
Grants 

Unapplied

Major 
Repairs 
Reserve

£m £m £m £m £m £m

Adjustments to the Revenue Resources
Amounts by which income and expenditure included in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement 
are different from revenue for the year calculated in accordance with statutory requirements

Pensions costs (transfers to or from the Pensions Reserve) (30.5) 0.1 30.4

Council Tax and Non-Domestic Rates (transfers to or from the Collection Fund Adjustment Account) 31.5 (31.5)

Holiday pay (transfers to or from the Accumulated Absences Reserve) (0.2) 0.0 0.2
Reversal of entries included in the Surplus or Deficit on the Provision of Services in relation to capital 
expenditure (transfers to or from the Capital Adjustment Account)

146.4 1.0 (147.4)

Transfer of capital grants & contributions from revenue to the Capital Grants Unapplied Account 6.9 (6.9) 0.0
Transfer of deferred non-current asset sale proceeds from revenue to the Deferred Capital Receipts 
Reserve

2.7 (2.7)

Other adjustments (0.1) 0.1 0.0

Total Adjustments to Revenue Resources 156.7 1.2 0.0 (6.9) 0.0 (151.0)

Adjustments between Revenue and Capital Resources

Transfer of non-current asset sale proceeds from revenue to the Capital Receipts Reserve 41.1 1.0 (42.1) 0.0
Administrative costs of non-current asset disposals (funded by a contribution from the Capital Receipts 
Reserve)

0.0 0.0 0.0

Administrative costs of non-current asset disposals (funded by a contribution from the Capital Receipts 
Reserve)

(0.1) 0.1 0.0

Payments to the government housing receipts pool (funded by a transfer from the Capital Receipts Reserve) (0.4) 0.4 0.0

Capital expenditure financed from revenue balances (transfer to the Capital Adjustment Account) 10.0 (10.0)

Posting of HRA resources from revenue to the Major Repairs Reserve 2.6 (2.6) 0.0

Total Adjustments between Revenue and Capital Resources 50.6 3.6 (41.6) 0.0 (2.6) (10.0)

Adjustments to Capital Resources

Use of the Capital Receipts Reserve to finance capital expenditure 8.3 (8.3)

Use of the Major Repairs Reserve to finance capital expenditure 3.5 (3.5)

Application of capital grants to finance capital expenditure (transferred to the Capital Adjustment Account) 4.0 (4.0)

Cash payments in relation to deferred capital receipts (0.6) 0.6

Total Adjustments to Capital Resources 0.0 0.0 7.7 4.0 3.5 (15.2)

Total Adjustments 207.3 4.8 (33.9) (2.9) 0.9 (176.2)

Usable Reserves
Movement     
in Unusable 

Reserves

 
 

P
age 97



City Fund Statement of Accounts 2016/17 Explanatory Notes Page 40 

  

11. Transfers (to)/from Earmarked Revenue Reserves 

This note sets out the amounts set aside within the City Fund Balance in earmarked revenue reserves to provide financing for future expenditure plans and the 
amounts posted back from earmarked reserves to meet City Fund expenditure in 2016/17. 

Balance at 
31 March 

2015

Transfers 
Out 

2015/16

Transfers      
In      

2015/16

Balance at 
31 March 

2016

Transfers 
Out 

2016/17

Transfers      
In      

2016/17

Balance at 
31 March 

2017
£m £m £m £m £m £m £m

Highway Improvements (i) (15.0) 3.4 (5.6) (17.2) 3.4 (6.3) (20.1)

Police Future Expenditure (ii) (9.0) 4.9 0.0 (4.1) 0.6 0.0 (3.5)

Crime Reduction Initiatives (iii) (4.2) 0.6 0.0 (3.6) 0.0 (0.1) (3.7)

Crossrail (iv) (22.9) 0.0 (2.6) (25.5) 25.5 0.0 0.0

Other Earmarked Reserves (v) (19.7) 16.5 (1.1) (4.3) 2.1 (8.0) (10.2)

Total (70.8) 25.4 (9.3) (54.7) 31.6 (14.4) (37.5)

Notes

 
(i) Highway Improvements - Created from on-street car parking surpluses to finance future highways related expenditure and projects as provided by section 55 of 

the Road Traffic Regulation Act 1984, as amended by the Road Traffic Act 1991. 
(ii) Police Future Expenditure - Revenue expenditure for the City Police service is cash limited.  Underspendings against this limit may be carried forward as a reserve 

to the following financial year and overspendings are required to be met from this reserve.   
(iii) Under the guidelines of the Proceeds of Crime scheme funds received by the City Police must be ring fenced for “crime reduction initiatives”. 
(iv) Crossrail - Funds set aside to contribute towards the City Fund’s £200m commitment towards the Crossrail project were  fully spent in 2016/17 when the 

payment was made. 
(v) Other Earmarked Reserves –  The total for a number of relatively small reserves including service projects, VAT, the School’s reserve, renewals and repairs and 

business rates equalisation.   

P
age 98



City Fund Statement of Accounts 2016/17 Explanatory Notes Page 41 

  

12. Crossrail 

In recognition of Crossrail’s huge strategic importance to the City, the City Corporation agreed to make a £200m contribution from the City Fund towards the 
costs of the Crossrail project provided certain conditions were met.   All the conditions were fulfilled by the end of 2016/17 and the payment was duly made 
in March 2017.  The contribution is classed as revenue expenditure in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement as it does not result in the 
creation of a City Fund asset.  However, under statutory provisions the City is able to capitalise this expenditure and this is included as one of the adjustments 
between the accounting basis and funding basis in the Movement in Reserves Statement.     

13. Other Operating Income and Expenditure 

2015/16 2016/17
Net 

Expenditure/      
(Income)

Net 
Expenditure/     

(Income)
£m £m
(16.6) Net Gain on Disposal of Fixed Assets (9.5)

0.3 Inner and Middle Temple Precepts 0.3
0.1 Local levies 0.2

0.4
Payment to Government Housing Capital                                     
Receipts Pool

0.3

0.3 Pension Fund Administration Expenses 0.3
(15.5) Total (8.4)  

14. Financing and Investment Income and Expenditure 

2015/16 2016/17
Net 

Expenditure/    
(Income)

Net 
Expenditure/     

(Income)
£m £m

Investment Properties
(39.5) Operational (39.8)

(180.3) Gain on revaluation (54.9)
(5.2) Interest receivable and similar income (5.1)

34.8 Pension Interest Cost 36.2
(0.7) Contribution from Trading Services (1.8)

(190.9) Total (65.4)  

P
age 99



City Fund Statement of Accounts 2016/17 Explanatory Notes Page 42 

  

15. Taxation and Non-Specific Grant Income 

2015/16 2016/17
 Income  Income

£m £m
(30.5) Retained National Business Rates (18.6)

(6.9) City Fund Non Domestic Rates Premium (8.0)
(10.9) City Fund Offset (11.0)

(6.6) Council Tax Income (6.5)
Non Ringfenced Government Revenue Grants

(12.1) Revenue Support Grant (10.6)
(52.4) Police Core Grant (52.1)

(2.7) Other (2.3)
(20.7) Capital Grants & Contributions (30.9)

(142.8) Total (140.0)  

P
age 100



City Fund Statement of Accounts 2016/17 Explanatory Notes Page 43 

  

16. Property, Plant and Equipment 

Co
un

cil
 

Dw
el

lin
gs

Ot
he

r L
an

d 
&

 
Bu

ild
in

gs
 

Le
as

eh
ol

d 
Im

pr
ov

em
en

ts

Ve
hi

cle
s, 

Pl
an

t 
&

 Eq
ui

pm
en

t

In
fra

st
ru

ct
ur

e

Co
m

m
un

ity
 

As
se

ts
 

As
se

ts
 U

nd
er

 
Co

ns
tru

ct
io

n

Su
rp

lu
s A

ss
et

s

To
ta

l

£m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m
Cost or valuation
at 1 April 2016 338.1 440.0 60.5 38.4 79.5 0.7 18.9 0.9 977.0
Additions 3.9 4.2 0.7 1.6 7.0 0.2 6.5 0.0 24.1
Transfers 7.0 2.7 0.0 0.0 0.9 0.4 (14.2) 3.2 0.0
Revaluation increases/(decreases) recognised in the 
Revaluation Reserve

9.4 (5.8) 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 2.3 5.9

Revaluation increases/(decreases) recognised in the 
Surplus/Deficit on the Provision of Services

(3.4) 0.2 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 (3.2)

Derecognition - disposals (11.1) (0.6) 0.0 (0.3) 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 (12.0)
at 31 March 2017 343.9 440.7 61.2 39.7 87.4 1.3 11.2 6.4 991.8
Accumulated Depreciation and Impairment
at 1 April 2016 (0.1) (4.1) (18.4) (29.1) (38.7) 0.0 0.0 (0.7) (91.1)
Depreciation Charge (2.7) (9.4) (2.8) (2.8) (6.6) 0.0 0.0 0.0 (24.3)
Depreciation written out to the Revaluation Reserve 2.7 7.8 0.0 0.1 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 10.6
Depreciation written out to the Surplus/Deficit on the 
Provision of Services

0.0 0.9 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.9

Derecognition - disposals 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.3 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.3
at 31 March 2017 (0.1) (4.8) (21.2) (31.5) (45.3) 0.0 0.0 (0.7) (103.6)
Net Book Value
at 31 March 2016 338.0 435.9 42.1 9.3 40.8 0.7 18.9 0.2 885.9
at 31 March 2017 343.8 435.9 40.0 8.2 42.1 1.3 11.2 5.7 888.2

Movements on Balances 2016/17

 
 
 
  

P
age 101



City Fund Statement of Accounts 2016/17 Explanatory Notes Page 44 

  

Property, Plant and Equipment (continued) 
 

Co
un

cil
 

Dw
el

lin
gs

Ot
he

r L
an

d 
&

 
Bu

ild
in

gs
 

Le
as

eh
ol

d 
Im

pr
ov

em
en

ts

Ve
hi

cle
s, 

Pl
an

t 
&

  E
qu

ip
m

en
t

In
fra

st
ru

ct
ur

e

Co
m

m
un

ity
 

As
se

ts
 

As
se

ts
 U

nd
er

 
Co

ns
tru

ct
io

n

Su
rp

lu
s A

ss
et

s

To
ta

l

£m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m
Cost or valuation
at 1 April 2015 318.2 390.7 60.4 36.2 70.9 0.7 5.0 7.2 889.3
Revaluation 1 April 2015* 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 23.2 23.2
Additions 0.5 0.2 0.1 2.4 8.6 0.0 13.9 0.0 25.7
Transfers 0.0 (1.6) 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 (28.8) (30.4)
Revaluation increases/(decreases) recognised in the 
Revaluation Reserve

18.8 49.2 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 (0.7) 67.3

Revaluation increases/(decreases) recognised in the 
Surplus/Deficit on the Provision of Services

3.2 1.5 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 4.7

Derecognition - disposals (2.6) 0.0 0.0 (0.2) 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 (2.8)
at 31 March 2016 338.1 440.0 60.5 38.4 79.5 0.7 18.9 0.9 977.0
Accumulated Depreciation and Impairment
at 1 April 2015 (0.1) (3.6) (15.5) (25.8) (32.6) 0.0 0.0 0.0 (77.6)
Depreciation Charge (2.5) (8.6) (2.9) (3.5) (6.1) 0.0 0.0 0.0 (23.6)
Depreciation written out to the Revaluation Reserve 2.4 7.2 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 9.6
Depreciation written out to the Surplus/Deficit on the 
Provision of Services

0.1 0.8 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.9

Impairment losses recognised in the Surplus/Deficit on the 
Provision of Services 

0.0 0.1 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 (0.7) (0.6)

Derecognition - disposals 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.2 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.2
at 31 March 2016 (0.1) (4.1) (18.4) (29.1) (38.7) 0.0 0.0 (0.7) (91.1)
Net Book Value
at 31 March 2015 318.1 387.1 44.9 10.4 38.3 0.7 5.0 7.2 811.7
at 31 March 2016 338.0 435.9 42.1 9.3 40.8 0.7 18.9 0.2 885.9

Movements on Balances Comparative for 2015/2016                                       

 
 
* Revaluations at 1 April 2015 for surplus assets reflects the adoption of IFRS 13 valuation at highest and best use. This measure is recognised in the revaluation reserve.

P
age 102



City Fund Statement of Accounts 2016/17 Explanatory Notes Page 45 

  

Depreciation 

The following useful lives and depreciation rates have generally been used in the calculation of depreciation 

• General operational buildings 50 years 

• Council Dwellings 125 years 

• Leasehold improvements 10 – 30 years 

• Certain “listed” operational buildings 75 – 125 years 

• Infrastructure 10 – 25 years 

• Heavy vehicles and plant 7 years 

• Equipment 5 -12 years 

• Cars and light vans 5 years 

• Assets under construction None 

• Community Assets None. 

Where there is a material impact on depreciation and/or the carrying value, components are treated as separate assets and depreciated over their own useful 
economic lives.  Indicative economic lives of typical asset components include: 

• Internal fit-out 10-25 years 

• Plant and Machinery 15-25 years. 

Commitments 
Significant capital commitments of some £9.2m were outstanding at 31 March 2017, detailed as follows 

• £2.6m outstanding in respect of the replacement of windows and cladding on a block of dwellings at the Golden Lane Estate 
• £1.6m relating to the construction of a new pavilion in Aldgate Square  
• £5m for Phase 2 of a scheme to replace the mechanical infrastructure of the Central Criminal Court. 

  

P
age 103



City Fund Statement of Accounts 2016/17 Explanatory Notes Page 46 

  

Revaluations 
The following have been revalued at 31 March 2017 in accordance with the Rolling Five Year Programme of Revaluation or to reflect material changes in value: 

• Barbican Estate residential properties, baggage stores, and car bays  
• Housing Dwellings (including guest flats) 
• Islington Arts Factory and the service station on the Holloway Estate 
• Other Housing Commercial Properties (shops, garages and parking spaces etc) 
• Properties at the City of London Cemetery and Crematorium 
• Animal Reception Centre, Heathrow 
• Barbican Centre, including the Barbican lending library 
• Central Criminal Court 
• Cleansing Depot and Offices at Walbrook Wharf 
• Police Stations 
• New Estate Office and Community Centre on the Avondale Square Housing Estate 
• Spitalfields Market  
• Surplus Properties 

- public conveniences 
- various properties on the Woodredon and Warlies Park Estate 
- disused areas identified for development on the Barbican Residential Estate  

• Investment Properties 
• Assets Held for Sale - land adjacent to the City of London Cemetery. 

The City Fund is not aware of any material change in value of any other assets and therefore the valuations have not been updated.  The current asset values used in 
the accounts for the Barbican Centre, Central Criminal Court, Walbrook Wharf (depot and offices), Golden Lane Recreation Centre, Woodredon and Warlies Park, 
Cemetery and Crematorium, Police Stations and Section House, Barbican Hostel, Animal Reception Centre and the investment properties are based on assessments by 
external valuers.  The firms of chartered surveyors who have prepared valuations for the City Fund are Jones Lang Lasalle Ltd, Cushman and Wakefield LLP, Gerald Eve 
and Savills. 
All other asset values have been prepared by registered RICS valuers employed in the City of London Corporation’s City Surveyor’s Department.  

P
age 104



City Fund Statement of Accounts 2016/17 Explanatory Notes Page 47 

  

17. Heritage Assets 

The carrying value of heritage assets currently held in the Balance Sheet at historic cost is £8.9m (2015/16 £8.9m) which relates almost exclusively to one asset – the 
capital’s only Roman Amphitheatre.  The amphitheatre was discovered in Guildhall Yard during an archaeological dig taking place in preparation for a building project.  
In 2002, the doors to the amphitheatre opened for the first time in nearly 2,000 years.   
The London Metropolitan Archives look after 105km of books, maps, films and photographs about London and Londoners dating from as far back as 1067.  Guildhall 
Library also specialises in the history of London with a printing books collection from the 15th century onwards and many special collections including those devoted to 
Samuel Pepys, John Wilkes and Thomas More.  Reliable valuations are not available for these assets and the cost of obtaining such valuations in order to recognise 
them on the balance sheet would outweigh the benefit of such recognition to the users of the financial statements.   
Further information on the Roman Amphitheatre and the London Metropolitan Archives, including opening times and details of the collections held by the LMA, can be 
found on the City’s website (www.cityoflondon.gov.uk). 

18. Investment Properties 

The following items of income and expense have been accounted for in the Financing and Investment Income and Expenditure line in the Comprehensive Income and 
Expenditure Statement: 

2015/16 2016/17

£m £m
(53.1) Income from investment properties (54.5)
13.6 Operating expenses arising from investment property 14.7

(39.5) Net gain (39.8)  
 

There are no restrictions on the City Fund’s ability to realise the value inherent in its investment property or on the City Fund’s right to the remittance of income and 
the proceeds of disposal.    

P
age 105



City Fund Statement of Accounts 2016/17 Explanatory Notes Page 48 

  

The following table summarises the movement in the fair value of investment properties over the year: 
 

2015/16 2016/17
£m £m
1,165.3 Balance at start of the year 1,366.7

30.4 Transfers
Additions:

11.5 Purchases 33.2
1.1 Construction 0.0
3.4 Subsequent expenditure 0.1

(25.3) Disposals (10.1)
Revaluations:

180.3 Net gains from fair value adjustments 54.9
1,366.7 Balance at end of the year 1,444.8  

The fair values of investment properties have been based on a combination of: 

• The market approach having regard to current market conditions, recent sales prices and lettings and other relevant information for similar properties in the 
area   

• The income approach, by means of the discounted cash flow method, where the expected cash flows are discounted at a market rate to establish the present 
value of the net income stream. 

This is in the context of the active property market that exists in the City of London. 

All of the investment property fair values as at 31 March 2016 and 31 March 2017 have been categorised within Level 2 of the fair value hierarchy by external valuers. 

  

P
age 106



City Fund Statement of Accounts 2016/17 Explanatory Notes Page 49 

  

19. Capital Expenditure and Capital Financing  

The total amount of capital expenditure incurred in the year is shown, in the table below, together with the resources that have been used to finance it.  Where assets 
are acquired under finance leases (see note 44) the transactions are considered to be the same as if the City Fund had purchased the assets and financed this by taking 
out a loan.  Liabilities are therefore recognised for the same amount as the assets acquired under finance leases. 
A nil or negative Capital Financing Requirement (CFR) indicates that the City Fund’s provision for debt is equal to or greater than the debt incurred.  Where capital 
expenditure is to be financed in future years by charges to revenue the expenditure results in a positive CFR, a measure of the capital expenditure incurred historically 
that has yet to be financed.   
The increase in the underlying need to borrow shown in the second part of the detail relates to the proportion of the £200m payment to Crossrail not funded in year 
from capital receipts or revenue contributions.   

2015/16 2016/17
£m £m

(1.9) Opening Capital Financing Requirement (1.3)
Capital Investment

25.7 Property, Plant and Equipment 24.1
14.4 Investment Properties 33.3

0.2 Non-property Investments 0.0
0.0 Intangible Assets
1.3 Revenue Expenditure Funded from Capital Under Statute 203.7

Sources of Finance
(8.4) Capital Receipts (144.5)

(19.1) Capital grants, contributions and donations (14.8)
(13.5) Direct revenue contributions (59.9)

(1.3) Closing Capital Financing Requirement 40.6

Explanation of movement in year
0.6 Assets acquired under finance leases 1.7
0.0 Increase in underlying need to borrow 40.2
0.6 Increase/(decrease) in Capital Financing Requirement 41.9   

P
age 107



City Fund Statement of Accounts 2016/17 Explanatory Notes Page 50 

  

20. Financial Instruments 

The financial instruments recognised in the City Fund financial statements include trade debtors and creditors, bank deposits and investments.   
Categories of Financial Instruments 
The financial instruments disclosed in the Balance Sheet are made up of the following categories: 

Long Term Current Long Term Current 
31 March 2016 31 March 2016 31 March 2017 31 March 2017

£m £m £m £m
Investments

0.2 0.0 Unquoted equity investment at cost 0.2 0.0
0.0 712.4 Loans and receivables 0.0 697.9
0.2 712.4 Total Investments 0.2 697.9

Debtors
36.6 30.2 Loans and receivables 16.1 31.5
36.6 30.2 Total Debtors 16.1 31.5

Creditors
0.0 (39.3) Financial liabilities at amortised cost 0.0 (40.3)
0.0 (39.3) Total Creditors 0.0 (40.3)

Long Term Liabilities
(2.4) 0.0 Finance Leases (4.1) 0.0
(2.4) 0.0 Total Long Term Liabilities (4.1) 0.0  

Investments 
The City Fund’s investments comprise cash that is not required for day to day purposes invested in deposits of varying fixed lengths and fixed interest rates in the 
London money markets. 

  

P
age 108



City Fund Statement of Accounts 2016/17 Explanatory Notes Page 51 

  

Income, Expense, Gains and Losses  
The gains and losses recognised in the Income and Expenditure account in relation to financial instruments are made up as follows:  

2015/16 2016/17
Financial Assets Financial Assets

Loans and 
Receivables

Loans and 
Receivables

£m £m
0.2 Impairment (gains)/losses 0.1
0.2 Total (Gains)/Losses in Surplus or Deficit on the Provision of Services 0.1

(5.2) Interest Income (5.1)
(5.2) Total Income in Surplus or Deficit on the Provision of Services (5.1)
(5.0) Net gain for year (5.0)  

Fair Value of Assets and Liabilities 
Financial liabilities, financial assets represented by investments (loans and receivables) and long term debtors are carried in the Balance Sheet at amortised cost.  The 
fair value of trade and other receivables is taken to be the invoiced or billed amount.   Short term debtors and creditors are carried at cost as this is a fair approximation 
of their value.   
The City Fund’s investments in the London money markets are predominately fixed rate and fixed length deposits.  The carrying amount of the investments is assumed 
to be a reasonable approximation of fair value taking into account the period to maturity. 
The fair value of long term debtors in relation to investment properties (comprising finance lease debtors and the final instalment of an operating lease premium) have 
been assessed based on the investment property fair values categorised within Level 2 of the fair value hierarchy (see accounting policy 1.21).  Other long term debtors 
consist mainly of a loan to and finance lease debtor with the Museum of London.  As there is no active market for these items the fair value is assumed to be the same 
as the carrying value (level 3 of the fair value hierarchy).  

Carrying 
Amount

Fair Value Carrying 
Amount

Fair Value

£m £m £m £m
712.4 712.4 Investments 697.9 697.9

23.8 25.1 Long Term Debtors - investment properties 7.1 8.0
12.8 12.8 Long Term Debtors - other 9.0 9.0

749.0 750.3 714.0 714.9

31 March 201731 March 2016

 
  

P
age 109



City Fund Statement of Accounts 2016/17 Explanatory Notes Page 52 

  

21. Nature and Extent of Risks arising from Financial Instruments  

The City Fund’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: 

• Credit risk – the possibility that other parties might fail to pay amounts due  
• Liquidity risk – the possibility that the City Fund might not have enough funds available to meet its commitments to make payments 
• Market risk – the possibility that financial loss might arise as a result of factors that affect the overall performance of the financial markets in which it has 

exposure. 
• Interest rate risk – the possibility that changes in the interest rate may reduce the fair value of City Fund’s fixed term investments. 

The City of London Corporation has adopted CIPFA’s Treasury Management in the Public Services: Code of Practice and sets treasury management indicators to control 
key financial instrument risks in accordance with CIPFA’s Prudential Code.  The City Fund’s overall risk management programme focuses on the unpredictability of 
financial markets and seeks to minimise potential adverse effects on the resources available to fund services.  Risk management is carried out by a central treasury 
team, under policies approved by the Court of Common Council in the annual treasury management strategy statement.   

Credit Risk 
Credit risk arises from deposits with banks and financial institutions, as well as credit exposures to the City Fund’s customers.  Deposits are not made with banks and 
financial institutions unless they are rated independently with a minimum Fitch “score” of Long term A and Short term F1 or are building societies with assets over £9bn 
(or which have a minimum credit rating “score” similar to that set for the banks) .  The City Fund also invests in Money Market Funds, which are subject to a minimum 
credit rating of AAA/mmf.  The lending list is reviewed on a regular basis using advice from credit rating agencies and in-house judgements based partially on credit 
default swap rates. 

The creditworthiness of the counterparties on the City Fund’s lending list is carefully monitored.  Security of the investments is the prime criteria when selecting 
investments with liquidity and yield being secondary considerations. By the end of the year, the City Fund effectively had ten potential borrowers in the form of UK 
banks and building societies and it has been necessary to maintain relatively high levels of individual maximum lending limits to accommodate lending requirements.  
The lending limits attributable to HSBC, Barclays, Royal Bank of Scotland and Santander UK were maintained at maximum lending limits of £100m each, and Lloyds Bank 
was fixed at £150m (this organisation being the City Fund’s banker).  The lending limit for the Nationwide Building Society was maintained at £120m.  The maximum 
duration for such loans was fixed at three years.  The lending limits for the Yorkshire, Coventry, Skipton and Leeds Building Societies were maintained at £20m each and 
the duration for such loans was fixed at 1 year.  The list also contains three foreign banks with individual limits of £25m, being National Australia Bank, Australia and 
New Zealand Banking Group and Svenska Handelsbanken. The lending list also includes seven top rated Money Market Funds; Aberdeen Sterling Liquidity Fund, CCLA, 
Deutsche Liquidity Fund, Federated Liquidity Fund, Standard Life Liquidity Funds (formerly Ignis Liquidity Funds), Invesco, and Payden Sterling Reserve Fund. These 
funds effectively offer very short term liquidity for deposits.   

The City Fund’s maximum exposure to credit risk in relation to its investments in banks and money market funds cannot be assessed generally, as the risk of any 
institution failing to make interest payments or failing to repay the principal sum would be mainly specific to each individual institution.  No credit limits were exceeded 
during the reporting period and the City Fund does not expect any losses from non-performance by any counterparty in relation to outstanding deposits.   As at 31 
March 2017 the City Fund had some £730m in cash, cash equivalents and investments. 

P
age 110



City Fund Statement of Accounts 2016/17 Explanatory Notes Page 53 

  

The City Fund does not generally allow credit for customers.  Therefore the potential maximum exposure to credit risk is with customers for which prudent provision for 
bad debts has been included within the accounts based on the length of time past due and progress on recovery action.  The past due but not impaired amount is 
summarised below. 
 

Amount as at Amount as at 
31 March 2016 31 March 2017

£m £m
15.7 Less than three months 14.8

1.9 Three to six months 1.2
0.7 Six months to one year 0.7
1.0 More than one year 1.5

19.3 Total 18.2  
Liquidity risk 
As the authority has ready access to borrowings from the Public Works Loans Board, there is no significant risk that it will be unable to raise finance to meet its 
commitments under financial instruments.  At present, the City Fund has no borrowing exposure and has no plans to borrow to finance future capital expenditure.  All 
trade creditors and other payables are due to be paid in less than one year. 

Market risk 
Interest rate risk 
The authority is exposed to significant risk in terms of its exposure to interest rate movements on its investments.  Movements in interest rates have a complex impact 
on the authority.  For instance, a rise in interest rates would have the following effects: 

• investments at variable rates – the interest income credited to the Income and Expenditure Account will rise 
• investments at fixed rates – the fair value of the assets will fall. 

The reduced interest rates for 2016/17 continue to have an adverse impact on the income earnings of the City Fund and HRA, which is anticipated to continue in 
2016/17, although longer term deals are entered into wherever possible to earn higher rates when available.   

  

P
age 111



City Fund Statement of Accounts 2016/17 Explanatory Notes Page 54 

  

Changes in interest receivable on variable rate investments are posted to the Surplus or Deficit on the Provision of Services and affect the City Fund unallocated reserve. 
The Treasury Management Team has an active strategy for assessing interest rate exposure that feeds into the setting of the annual budget and which is used to update 
the budget quarterly during the year.   According to this assessment strategy, if interest rates had been 1% higher with all other variables held constant, the financial 
effect at 31 March on investments with variable rates would be: 

 
2015/16 2016/17

£m £m
Increase in interest receivable on investments held at  variable rates

2.9 City Fund 2.9
0.1 HRA 0.0
3.0 Total 2.9  

 
The impact of a 1% fall in interest rates would be as above but with the movements being reversed. 

Price risk 
The authority does not invest in equity shares within the City Fund. 

Foreign exchange risk 
The authority has no financial assets or liabilities denominated in foreign currencies and therefore has no exposure to loss arising from movements in exchange rates. 

22. Long Term Debtors 

31 March 2016 31 March 2017
£m £m

31.2 Net Investment in Finance Leases 13.8
2.1 Loans to Museum of London (repayable by 2032) 2.0
3.0 Rent 0.0
0.2 Museum in Docklands Loan 0.2
0.1 Service Charge Loans 0.1

36.6 16.1  

P
age 112



City Fund Statement of Accounts 2016/17 Explanatory Notes Page 55 

  

23. Debtors and Payments in Advance falling due within a year 

31 March 2016

£m £m £m
20.0 Central Government Bodies 27.5

5.1 Greater London Authority 5.6
13.9 Rents 14.6

(1.0)
less impairment allowance for bad and 
doubtful debts (0.8)

12.9 13.8
18.5 Sundry 18.9

(2.1)
less impairment allowance for bad and 
doubtful debts (2.4)

16.4 16.5

6.8
City Fund's share of national business rates 
arrears 5.4

(3.2)
less impairment allowance for bad and 
doubtful debts (3.0)

3.6 2.4
0.0 Investment property sale proceeds 13.5
0.6 Net Investment in Finance Leases 0.6
0.7 Season Ticket and Loans to Employees 0.7
8.7 Prepayments 8.8

68.0 89.4

31 March 2017

 
The Code specifies that, except where information is not material, debtors should be analysed between the following categories; central government bodies, other 
local authorities, NHS bodies, public corporations and trading funds, and bodies external to general government (i.e. all other bodies).  With the exception of central 
government bodies and the Greater London Authority, there are no material amounts due from other general government bodies.  

  

P
age 113



City Fund Statement of Accounts 2016/17 Explanatory Notes Page 56 

  

24. Cash and Cash Equivalents 

The balance of Cash and Cash Equivalents is made up of the following elements: 

31 March 2016 31 March 2017
£m £m
57.7 Cash at bank 52.3
57.7 52.3  

25. Creditors and Receipts in Advance 

31 March 2016 31 March 2017
£m £m
(143.7) Central Government Bodies (170.1)

(50.5) Greater London Authority and Transport for London (78.3)

(9.0)
City Fund's share of national business rates creditors and 
receipts in advance (20.8)

(7.7) Deposits (8.4)
(36.3) Sundry (62.6)
(23.9) Receipts in advance (35.5)

(0.8) Spitalfields Market Tenants Fund (0.7)
(271.9) (376.4)  

The Code specifies that, except where information is not material, creditors should be analysed between the following categories; central government bodies, other 
local authorities, NHS bodies, public corporations and trading funds, and bodies external to general government (i.e. all other bodies).   With the exception of central 
government bodies, the Greater London Authority and Transport for London there are no material amounts due to other general government bodies.   The City Fund 
acts as an agent; on behalf of central government and the Greater London Authority in collecting sums due from business rates; and on behalf of Transport for London 
by collecting Mayoral Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) and Section 106 agreements planning obligations.  Sums collected, but not yet paid over, by the City Fund as 
an agent for theses bodies are included as creditors. 

  

P
age 114



City Fund Statement of Accounts 2016/17 Explanatory Notes Page 57 

  

26. Provisions 

National Business 
Rates

City Fund Premium 
on Business Rates

£m £m
Balance at 1 April 2016 (45.0) (1.3) (46.3)
Appeals settled in 2016/17 13.7 0.5 14.2
Provisions made in 2016/17 (48.8) (1.6) (50.4)
Balance at 31 March 2017 (80.1) (2.4) (82.5)

Total

 

With the introduction of the Business Rates Retention Scheme from 1 April 2013, Local Authorities are liable for successful appeals against business rates in their 
proportionate share.  The City Fund’s proportionate share is 30%.   A provision is recognised for the best estimate of the City Fund’s liability at the year-end for known 
appeals.  The estimate has been calculated using the Valuation Office (VAO) ratings list of appeals outstanding as at 31 March 2017 and an analysis of successful 
appeals in 2016/17. 

27. Contingent Liabilities 

There is a disagreement with a contractor as to whether or not certain work is inside or outside the scope of a contract.  It is not known what the outcome of this 
dispute will be, but costs could be in the region of £2.6m. 

28. Usable Reserves 

Movements in the City Fund’s usable reserves are detailed in the Movement in Reserves Statement on page 13 and Notes 10 and 11.  

29. Unusable Reserves 

31 March 2016 Note 31 March 2017

£m £m
(301.9) Revaluation Reserve A (305.6)

(1,959.7) Capital Adjustment Account B (1,994.5)
1,018.9 Pensions Reserve C 1,220.3

(25.9) Collection Fund Adjustment Account D (0.7)
3.0 Accumulated Absences Account E 2.9

(31.6) Deferred Capital Receipts Reserve F (14.3)
(1,297.2) Total Unusable Reserves (1,091.9)  

  

P
age 115



City Fund Statement of Accounts 2016/17 Explanatory Notes Page 58 

  

 
A. Revaluation Reserve  

The Revaluation Reserve contains the gains arising from increases in the value of Property, Plant and Equipment.  The balance is reduced when assets with 
accumulated gains are: 
 

• revalued downwards or impaired and the gains are lost 
• used in the provision of services and the gains are consumed through depreciation, or 
• disposed of and the gains are realised. 

 
The Reserve contains only revaluation gains accumulated since 1 April 2007, the date that the Reserve was created.  Accumulated gains arising before that date are 
consolidated into the balance on the Capital Adjustment Account (see note B). 
 

2015/16
£m £m £m

(232.3) Balance at 1 April (301.9)
(107.3) Upward revaluation of assets (26.8)

7.0
Downward revaluation of assets and impairment losses not charged to the Surplus/Deficit 
on the Provision of Services

10.3

(100.3)
Surplus on revaluation of non-current assets not posted to the Surplus or Deficit on the 
Provision of Services

(16.5)

3.2 Difference between fair value depreciation and historical cost depreciation 4.2
25.7 Assets reclassified as investments 8.6

1.8 Accumulated gains on assets sold or scrapped 0.0
30.7 Amount written off to the Capital Adjustment Account 12.8

(301.9) Balance at 31 March (305.6)

2016/17

 
 

  

P
age 116



City Fund Statement of Accounts 2016/17 Explanatory Notes Page 59 

  

B. Capital Adjustment Account 
The Capital Adjustment Account includes entries for the financing of capital expenditure and other capital transactions.  The account contains the amount of capital 
expenditure financed from revenue, capital receipts and other sources.  It is reduced by the amounts provided for depreciation and for the write-down of revenue 
expenditure funded from capital under statute and adjustments for disposals of long-term assets.  The account contains accumulated gains and losses on 
Investment Properties.  It also contains revaluation gains accumulated on Property, Plant and Equipment before 1 April 2007, the date that the Revaluation 
Reserve was created to hold such gains. 

2015/16
£m £m £m

(1,764.2) Balance at 1 April (1,959.7)
8.5 Reclassification to Deferred Capital Receipts Reserve 0.0

(1,755.7) Restated Balance at 1 April (1,959.7)
Reversal of items relating to capital expenditure debited or credited to the CIES:

24.3 Charges for depreciation and impairment of non-current assets 28.0
(5.6) Revaluation gains on Property, Plant and Equipment (1.4)
0.0 Amortisation of intangible assets 0.1
1.3 Revenue expenditure funded from capital under statute 203.7

28.0 Amounts of non-current assets written off on disposal or sale as part of the gain/loss on disposal to the CIES 21.7
48.0 252.1

(30.7) Adjusting amounts written out of the Revaluation Reserve (12.8)
17.3 Net written out amount of the cost of non-current assets consumed in the year 239.3

Capital financing applied in the year:
(8.4) Use of the Capital Receipts Reserve to finance new capital expenditure (144.5)
(3.5) Use of the Major Repairs Reserve to finance new capital expenditure (4.7)

(15.1) Capital grants,contributions & donations credited to the CIES that have been applied to capital financing (14.7)
(4.0) Application of grants to capital financing from the Capital Grants Unapplied Account (0.1)

(10.0) Capital expenditure charged against the City Fund & HRA balances (55.2)
(41.0) (219.2)

(180.3) Movements in the market value of Investment Properties debited or credited to the CIES (54.9)
(1,959.7) Balance at 31 March (1,994.5)

2016/17

 
  

P
age 117



City Fund Statement of Accounts 2016/17 Explanatory Notes Page 60 

  

 
C. Pension Reserve 

The Pensions Reserve absorbs the timing differences arising from the different arrangements for accounting for post-employment benefits and for funding benefits 
in accordance with statutory provisions.  Post-employment benefits in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement are recognised as the benefits are 
earned by employees accruing years of service, updating the liabilities recognised to reflect inflation, changing assumptions and investment returns on any 
resources set aside to meet the costs. However, statutory arrangements require benefits earned to be financed as employer’s contributions are paid to pension 
funds. The debit balance on the Pensions Reserve therefore shows a substantial shortfall between the benefits earned by past and current employees and the 
resources set aside to meet them. The statutory arrangements will ensure that funding will have been set aside by the time the benefits come to be paid. The 
negative pension reserve matches the estimated liabilities on the City of London (City Fund share), Police and Judges Pension Schemes as determined by 
independent actuaries using the projected unit method and in accordance with IAS19 (see notes 45 to 48). 

2015/16 2016/17
£m £m

1,064.3 Balance at 1 April 1,018.9
(75.9) Remeasurements of the net defined benefit liability 173.7

69.1
Reversal of items relating to retirement benefits debited or credited to the 
Surplus or Deficit on the Provision of Services in the Comprehensive Income 
and Expenditure Statement

64.8

(38.6)
Employer's pension contributions less direct payments to pensioners 
payable in the year

(37.1)

1,018.9 Balance at 31 March 1,220.3  
  

P
age 118



City Fund Statement of Accounts 2016/17 Explanatory Notes Page 61 

  

D. Collection Fund Adjustment Account 
The Collection Fund Adjustment Account manages the differences arising from the recognition of national business rates and council tax income in the 
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement as it falls due from business rate and council tax payers compared with the statutory arrangements for paying 
across amounts to the City Fund from the Collection Fund. 

2015/16 2016/17
£m £m

5.6 Balance at 1 April (25.9)

(31.5)

Amount by which national business rates and council tax income credited 
to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement is different from 
national business rates and council tax income calculated for the year in 
accordance with statutory requirements

25.2

(25.9) Balance at 31 March (0.7)  
E. Accumulated Absences Account 

The Accumulated Absences Account absorbs the differences that would otherwise arise on the City Fund unallocated reserve from accruing for compensated 
absences earned but not taken in the year, e.g. annual leave entitlement carried forward at 31 March.  Statutory arrangements require that the impact on the City 
Fund unallocated reserve is neutralised by transfers to or from the Account. 

2015/16
£m £m £m

2.8 Balance at 1 April 3.0

(2.8)
Settlement or cancellation of accrual made at the end of the preceding 
year

(3.0)

3.0 Amounts accrued at the end of the current year 2.9

0.2
Amount by which officer remuneration charged to the CIES on an 
accruals basis is different from the remuneration chargeable in the 
year in accordance with statutory requirements

(0.1)

3.0 Balance at 31 March 2.9

2016/17

  

P
age 119



City Fund Statement of Accounts 2016/17 Explanatory Notes Page 62 

  

F. Deferred Capital Receipts Reserve 

The Deferred Capital Receipts Reserve holds the gains recognised on the disposal of non-current assets but for which cash settlement has yet to take place. Under 
statutory arrangements, these gains are not treated as usable for financing new capital expenditure until they are backed by cash receipts. When the deferred cash 
settlement eventually takes place, amounts are transferred to the Capital Receipts Reserve. 

2015/16 2016/17
£m £m
(21.0) Balance at 1 April (31.6)

(8.5) Reclassification from Capital Adjustment Account 0.0
(29.5) Restated Balance at 1 April (31.6)

0.6 Cash payments in relation to deferred capital receipts 17.3

(2.7)
Transfer of deferred sale proceeds credited as part of the gain/loss on disposal to 
the CIES

0.0

(31.6) Balance at 31 March (14.3)  
  P

age 120



City Fund Statement of Accounts 2016/17 Explanatory Notes Page 63 

  

30. Cash Flow Statement – Operating Activities  

The cash flows for operating activities include the following item:  

 

2015/16 2016/17
£m £m

(5.2) Interest received            (5.1)  
 
The surplus on the provision of services has been adjusted for the following non-cash movements:  

2015/16 2016/17
£m £m
(18.7) Depreciation, impairments and impairment reversal (26.6)

0.0 Amortisation (0.1)
(0.7) (Increase)/decrease in creditors (37.4)
2.0 Increase/(decrease) in debtors 6.4
0.2 Increase/(decrease) in inventories 0.1

(30.5) Movement in pension liability (27.8)
(28.0) Carrying amount of non-current assets sold (21.7)

126.8
Other non-cash items charged to the net surplus or deficit on the provision of 
services

18.0

51.1 (89.1)  
 
The surplus on the provision of services has been adjusted for the following items that are investing and financing activities: 
 

2015/16 2016/17
£m £m

44.8
Proceeds from the sale of property, plant and equipment, investment property 
and intangible assets

41.2

22.0
Capital grants credited to the net surplus or deficit on the provision of services

34.6

66.8 75.8  

P
age 121



City Fund Statement of Accounts 2016/17 Explanatory Notes Page 64 

  

31. Cash Flow Statement – Investing Activities 

2015/16 2016/17
£m £m

38.1
Purchase of property, plant and equipment, investment property 
and intangible assets

56.3

197.3 Movement in short-term and long-term investments (24.5)

(43.0)
Proceeds from the sale of property, plant and equipment, 
investment property and intangible assets

(34.4)

(0.6) Income from finance lease 0.0
(47.5) Other receipts from investing activities (57.0)

144.3 Net cash outflows/(inflows) from investing activities (59.6)  

32. Cash Flow Statement – Financing Activities 

2015/16 2016/17
£m £m
(55.4) Billing Authorities - Council Tax and NNDR Adjustments (55.9)

0.7
Difference between cash collected on behalf of the Mayor of London 
under the Community Infrastructure Levy and the amount paid to 
the Greater London Authority

(12.0)

0.1
Difference between cash collected on behalf of the Mayor of London 
under Crossrail planning obligations (Section 106 Agreements) and 
the amount paid to Transport for London

0.0

(54.6) Net cash inflows from financing activities (67.9)  
  

P
age 122



City Fund Statement of Accounts 2016/17 Explanatory Notes Page 65 

  

33. Trading Operations 

2015/16 2016/17
£m £m

Spitalfields Market
(6.3) Turnover (7.5)
5.6 Expenditure 5.7

(0.7) Surplus (1.8)  
 

Spitalfields Market is a horticultural market serving wholesalers, retailers and caterers from London and a wide area in the Home Counties.   

34. Agency Services 

The City Fund carries out certain work on an agency basis for which it is fully reimbursed.  Revenue and capital work costing £1.5m (2015/16: £1.7m) and £1.3m 
(2015/16: £2.7m) respectively was undertaken on behalf of Transport for London.  These sums were fully reimbursed. 

35. Members’ Allowances 

Members do not receive any remuneration from the City of London for undertaking their duties.  However, Members may claim travelling expenses in respect of 
activities outside the City and receive allowances in accordance with a scale when attending a conference or activity on behalf of the City of London Corporation.  These 
costs, totalling £3,874 (2015/16: £9,348) across all of the City’s activities, were met from the endowment funds of the City of London Corporation and not charged to 
the City Fund. 

36. Remuneration of Senior Employees 

Tables 1 to 3 set out the information required in accordance with the Accounts and Audit Regulations 2015 for 2016/17 and 2015/16 respectively. 

The number of officers whose remuneration, excluding employer’s pension contributions, were £50,000 or more grouped in rising bands of £5,000 is set out in Table 1.  
Officers have been classified between those employees charged wholly to the City Fund, including Police officers, and those employees charged partly to the City Fund 
and partly to other funds of the City Corporation.  The numbers include those officers required to be separately disclosed and set out in Tables 2 and 3.  

The information in table 1 relates to those officers’ full salary and not just the part charged to the City Fund. 

  

P
age 123



City Fund Statement of Accounts 2016/17 Explanatory Notes Page 66 

  

Table 1 – Remuneration in bands - Where there are no officers in a band, that band has not been included in the table. 

Salary Range 2015/16 2016/17 2015/16 2016/17 2015/16 2016/17
£

50 - 54,999 116 127 83 51 68 99
55 - 59,999 60 55 39 34 41 44
60 - 64,999 52 60 24 18 36 50
65 - 69,999 21 30 13 10 16 25
70 - 74,999 8 7 7 5 10 10
75 - 79,999 7 2 5 6 8 9
80 - 84,999 3 7 2 2 6 7
85 - 89,999 1 2 3 3 1 1
90 - 94,999 2 3 1 1 0 3
95 - 99,999 2 1 3 3 3 1

100 - 104,999 0 0 3 1 3 1
105 - 109,999 0 0 2 1 4 6
110 - 114,999 0 1 1 0 6 3
115 - 119,999 0 0 0 1 0 1
120 - 124,999 1 0 0 0 1 3
125 - 129,999 0 1 0 0 1 1
130 - 134,999 0 0 1 0 2 2
135 - 139,999 0 0 0 0 0 1
140 - 144,999 0 1 1 2 0 0
150 - 154,999 1 0 0 0 1 0
155 - 159,999 0 0 0 0 0 1
160 - 164,999 0 0 0 0 1 0
165 - 169,999 0 0 0 0 0 1
185 - 189,999 0 1 0 0 0 0
190 - 194,999 1 0 0 0 0 0
195 - 199,999 0 0 1 0 0 0
200 - 204,999 0 0 0 1 0 0
205 - 209,999 0 0 0 0 0 1
235 - 239,999 0 0 0 0 1 0
255 - 259,999 0 0 0 0 0 1

Total 275 298 189 139 209 271

Police Officers Other

Wholly charged to City Fund Partially Charged to City Fund

Other

 

P
age 124



City Fund Statement of Accounts 2016/17 Explanatory Notes Page 67 

  

 
Table 2 - 2016/17 remuneration for those senior employees and relevant police officers required to be disclosed individually 

Pr
op

or
tio

n 
ch

ar
ge

d 
to

 Lo
ca

l o
r 

Po
lic

e 
Au

th
or

ity
 A

ct
iv

iti
es

 
w

he
re

 le
ss

 th
an

 1
00

%
 

Sa
la

ry
 (i

nc
lu

di
ng

 fe
es

 &
 

al
lo

w
an

ce
s)

Bo
nu

s

Ex
pe

ns
es

Be
ne

fit
s i

n 
Ki

nd

Co
m

pe
ns

at
io

n 
fo

r L
os

s o
f 

O
ffi

ce

O
th

er
 P

ay
m

en
ts

 (P
ol

ice
 

O
ffi

ce
rs

 o
nl

y)

To
ta

l R
em

un
er

at
io

n 
ex

clu
di

ng
 

pe
ns

io
n 

co
nt

rib
ut

io
ns

Pe
ns

io
n 

Co
nt

rib
ut

io
ns

To
ta

l R
em

un
er

at
io

n 
in

clu
di

ng
 

Pe
ns

io
n 

Co
nt

rib
ut

io
ns

(see note i)
% £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Salary is £150,000 or more a year
Town Clerk & Chief Executive - J. Barradell 55% 134      7      0      0      0      0      141      25      166      
Chamberlain - P. Kane 60% 101      0      0      0      0      0      101      18      119      
Police Commissioner - I. Dyson 179      0      0      0      0      8      187      0      187      
Managing Director Barbican Centre - N. Kenyon 189      7      0      0      0      0      196      34      230      
Salary is between £50,000 and £150,000
Director of Built Environment 144      0      0      0      0      0      144      25      169      
Director of Community & Children's Services (Left 30th 
Nov 2016)

92      6      0      0      0      0      98      16      114      

Director of Community & Children's Services (Acting up 
from 1st Dec 2016)

35      0      0      0      0      0      35      6      41      

Director of Culture, Heritage & Libraries (Retired 31st 
Jan 2017)

65% 61      1      0      0      15      0      77      11      88      

Deputy Town Clerk (Retired 30th Sep 2016) 55% 38      0      0      0      38      0      76      6      82      
Director of Markets & Consumer Protection 55% 63      0      0      0      0      0      63      11      74      
Director of Open Spaces (Retired 28th Feb 2017) 30% 27      1      0      0      0      0      28      5      33      
Director of Open Spaces (Started 1st March 2017) 30% 3      0      0      0      0      0      3      0      3      
Comptroller & City Solicitor 65% 98      5      0      0      0      0      103      18      121      
City Surveyor (Retired 31st Oct 2016) 40% 20      0      0      0      0      0      20      0      20      
City Surveyor (Started 3rd Oct 2016) 40% 29      0      0      0      0      0      29      5      34       

 

P
age 125



City Fund Statement of Accounts 2016/17 Explanatory Notes Page 68 

  

Table 3 - 2015/16 remuneration for those senior employees and relevant police officers required to be disclosed individually 
 

Pr
op

or
tio

n 
ch

ar
ge

d 
to

 Lo
ca

l o
r 

Po
lic

e 
Au

th
or

ity
 A

ct
iv

iti
es

 
w

he
re

 le
ss

 th
an

 1
00

%

Sa
la

ry
 (i

nc
lu

di
ng

 fe
es

 &
 

al
lo

w
an

ce
s)

Bo
nu

s

Ex
pe

ns
es

Be
ne

fit
s i

n 
Ki

nd

Co
m

pe
ns

at
io

n 
fo

r L
os

s o
f 

O
ffi

ce

O
th

er
 P

ay
m

en
ts

 (P
ol

ice
 

O
ffi

ce
rs

 o
nl

y)

To
ta

l R
em

un
er

at
io

n 
ex

clu
di

ng
 

pe
ns

io
n 

co
nt

rib
ut

io
ns

Pe
ns

io
n 

Co
nt

rib
ut

io
ns

To
ta

l R
em

un
er

at
io

n 
in

clu
di

ng
 

Pe
ns

io
n 

Co
nt

rib
ut

io
ns

(see note i)
% £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Salary is £150,000 or more a year
Town Clerk & Chief Executive - J. Barradell 55% 129      0      0      0      0      0      129      23      152      
Chamberlain 60% 98      0      7      0      0      0      105      17      122      
Police Commissioner - A. Leppard (retired 02 January 
2016)

167      0      0      0      0      27      194      0      194      

Police Commissioner - I. Dyson (started 03 January 
2016)

43      0      0      0      0      0      43      0      43      

Managing Director Barbican Centre - N. Kenyon 186      5      6      0      0      0      197      33      230      
Salary is between £50,000 and £150,000
Director of Built Environment (started 19 August 2015) 87      0      0      0      0      0      87      15      102      

Director of Community & Children's Services 128      5      0      0      0      0      133      23      156      
Director of Culture, Heritage & Libraries 65% 70      1      0      0      0      0      71      13      84      
Deputy Town Clerk 55% 70      2      0      0      0      0      72      13      85      
Director of Markets & Consumer Protection 55% 60      0      0      0      0      0      60      10      70      
Director of Open Spaces 30% 29      1      0      1      0      0      31      6      37      
Comptroller & City Solicitor 65% 95      3      0      0      0      0      98      17      115      
City Surveyor (0.6 full time equivalent) 40% 44      2      0      0      0      0      46      0      46       
 
  

P
age 126



City Fund Statement of Accounts 2016/17 Explanatory Notes Page 69 

  

Notes to Senior Officers and Relevant Police Officers Remuneration Disclosures 
(i) These officers provide services for the City of London Corporation's local authority and non-local authority activities.  The remuneration included in tables 2 

and 3 relates to the proportion charged to local authority and police activities.  The total salary for each of these officers is as follows: 

 

2015/16 2016/17
 Total Salary  Total Salary 

£000 £000
235 Town Clerk and Chief Executive 244
163 Chamberlain 168
108 Director of Culture, Heritage & Libraries (Retired 31 Jan 2017) 94
127 Deputy Town Clerk (Retired 30 Sep 2016) 69
109 Director of Markets & Consumer Protection 115

97 Director of Open Spaces (Retired 28 Feb 2017) 90
0 Director of Open Spaces (Started 01 March 2017) 10

146 Comptroller & City Solicitor 151
110 City Surveyor (Retired 31 Oct 2016) 50

0 City Surveyor (Started 03 Oct 2016) 73  
 

 
 

 

P
age 127



City Fund Statement of Accounts 2016/17 Explanatory Notes Page 70 

  

37. Exit Packages 

2016/17

2016/17
 £0 -        

£20,000 
 £20,001 - 
£40,000 

 £40,001 - 
£60,000 

 £60,001 - 
£80,000 

 £80,001 - 
£100,000 

 £100,001 - 
£150,000 

 £150,001 - 
£200,000  Total 

Number of compulsory redundancies (FTE No.) 6.0 2.0 2.0 0.0 0.0 1.0 0.0 11.0
Number of Other Departures Agreed (FTE No.) 1.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 1.0 2.0
Total Number of Exit Packages by Cost Band (FTE No.) 7.0 2.0 2.0 0.0 0.0 1.0 1.0 13.0
Total Cost of Exit Packages in Each Band (£'000) 96.4 47.4 110.0 0.0 0.0 100.6 175.6 530.0

2015/16

 £0 -       
£20,000 

 £20,001 - 
£40,000 

 £40,001 - 
£60,000 

 £60,001 - 
£80,000 

 £80,001 - 
£100,000 

 £100,001 - 
£150,000 

 £150,001 - 
£200,000  Total 

Number of compulsory redundancies (FTE No.) 2.0 0.0 2.0 1.0 3.0 1.0 0.0 9.0
Number of Other Departures Agreed (FTE No.) 1.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 1.0 0.0 2.0
Total Number of Exit Packages by Cost Band (FTE No.) 3.0 0.0 2.0 1.0 3.0 2.0 0.0 11.0
Total Cost of Exit Packages in Each Band (£'000) 35.5 0.0 95.0 67.1 281.9 279.5 0.0 759.0

Exit Package Cost Band

Exit Package Cost Band

 

38. Audit and Inspection Fees 

Costs incurred in relation to the audit of the Statement of Accounts, certification of grant claims and statutory inspections provided by the City Fund’s external auditor, 
BDO LLP are set out below.  Audit Fees of £21,000 (2015/16: £21,000) in respect of the City of London Pension Fund are met by the Pension Fund and are not included 
in the table. 

2015/16 2016/17
£'000 £'000

86.4
External audit services carried out by the appointed auditor under the National 
Audit Office Code of Audit Practice in accordance with the Local Audit and 
Accountability Act 2014.

86.4

22.7 Certification of grant claims and returns by the appointed auditor 22.5
0.0 Fees payable in respect of other services provided during the year 0.0

109.1 108.9  

P
age 128



City Fund Statement of Accounts 2016/17 Explanatory Notes Page 71 

  

39. Dedicated Schools Grant 

In 2016/17, the City Fund received a specific grant from the Department for Education, the Dedicated Schools Grant (DSG), of £2.41m (2015/16: £2.41m).  DSG is ring-
fenced and can only be applied to meet expenditure properly included in the Schools Budget as defined in the School Finance (England) Regulations 2011. The Schools 
Budget includes elements for a range of education services provided on an authority-wide basis and for the Individual School Budget for maintained schools.   

Details of the deployment of DSG receivable for 2016/17 are as follows: 

2016/17
Central 

Expenditure
Individual School 

Budget
Total

£m £m £m
Final DSG for 2016/17 before Academy recoupment 0.71 1.70 2.41
Academy Figure recouped for 2016/17 0.00 0.00 0.00
Total DSG after Academy recoupment for 2016/17 0.71 1.70 2.41
Plus:Brought forward from 2015/16 0.73 0.00 0.73
Less: Carry forward to 2017/18 agreed in advance 0.00 0.00 0.00
Agreed initial budgeted distribution in 2016/17                    1.44 1.70 3.14
In year adjustments 0.00 0.00 0.00
Final budgeted distribution for 2016/17 1.44 1.70 3.14
Less: Actual central expenditure (1.05) 0.00 (1.05)
Less: Actual ISB deployed to schools 0.00 (1.70) (1.70)
Plus:Local authority contribution for 2016/17 0.00 0.00 0.00
Carry forward to 2017/18 0.39 0.00 0.39

Schools Budget Funded by DSG

 
  

P
age 129

file://chbdata/data_chb/fincon/excel/PR/CITY%20FUND/2012-13/Master%20File/MASTER_IFRS%20STATEMENT%20OF%20ACCOUNT%20SUMMARY%20WORKBOOKS.xlsx#DSG!A1
file://chbdata/data_chb/fincon/excel/PR/CITY%20FUND/2012-13/Master%20File/MASTER_IFRS%20STATEMENT%20OF%20ACCOUNT%20SUMMARY%20WORKBOOKS.xlsx#DSG!A1


City Fund Statement of Accounts 2016/17 Explanatory Notes Page 72 

  

Details of the deployment of DSG receivable for 2015/16 are as follows: 
 
2015/16

Central 
Expenditure

Individual School 
Budget

Total

£m £m £m
Final DSG for 2015/16 before Academy recoupment 0.60 1.81 2.41
Academy Figure recouped for 2015/16 0.00 0.00 0.00
Total DSG after Academy recoupment for 2015/16 0.60 1.81 2.41
Plus: Brought forward from 2014/15 0.96 0.00 0.96
Less: Carry forward to 2016/17 agreed in advance 0.00 0.00 0.00
Agreed initial budgeted distribution in 2015/16 1.56 1.81 3.37
In year adjustments (0.03) 0.00 (0.03)
Final budgeted distribution in 2015/16 1.53 1.81 3.34
Less :Actual central expenditure (0.80) 0.00 (0.80)
Less :Actual ISB deployed to schools 0.00 (1.81) (1.81)
Plus:Local authority contribution for 2015/16 0.00 0.00 0.00
Carry forward to 2016/17 0.73 0.00 0.73

Schools Budget Funded by DSG

 
  

P
age 130



City Fund Statement of Accounts 2016/17 Explanatory Notes Page 73 

  

40. Grant Income credited to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement 

The following grants, contributions and donations have been credited to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement.   
 

2015/16 2016/17
£m £m

Credited to Taxation and Non Specific Grant Income
Revenue Grants

(10.9) City Fund Offset (11.0)
(12.1) Revenue Support Grant (10.6)
(52.4) Police Grant (52.1)

(2.7) Other Non-Specific Grants (2.3)
Capital Grants and contributions

(4.0) Home Office (1.2)
(1.8) Transport for London (1.3)
(1.0) Ministry of Justice (1.0)
(8.9) Section 106/278 Contributions (7.9)
(2.7) Community Infrastructure Levy (18.6)
(2.2) Bridge House Estates (0.4)
(0.1) Other capital grants and contributions (0.5)

(98.8) Total (106.9)  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 131



City Fund Statement of Accounts 2016/17 Explanatory Notes Page 74 

  

 
2015/16 2016/17 2015/16 2016/17

£m £m £m £m

Credited to Services Credited to Services continued
Revenue Grants (Government) Department for Health
Home Office (1.7) Public Health (1.7)

(19.6) Police Pensions (19.0) (0.3) Other (0.4)
(5.3) Counter Terrorism (5.1) (0.5) Department of Culture, Media and Sport 0.0
(7.0) National Cyber Security Programme (3.2) (3.6) Transport for London (3.8)
(2.8) National and International Capital City Grant (4.5) (1.4) Intellectual Property Office (1.5)
(2.7) National Fraud Intelligence Bureau (7.4) (0.8) Greater London Authority (0.9)
(2.6) National Lead Force for Fraud (2.6) (0.6) Department for International Development (0.4)

Regional Capability on Economic Crime (0.5) Arts Council England (1.5)
(0.1) Innovation Fund (0.2) (2.6) Other revenue grants (Government) (1.6)
(0.6) Other (1.1) Non Government revenue grants and contributions
(0.2) Cabinet Office 0.0 (2.2) S106/S278 and other developer contributions (2.3)
(0.3) Ministry of Justice (0.3) (2.4) UK Payments Adminstration Ltd (2.5)

Department for Work and Pensions (3.6) Association of British Insurers (4.0)
(6.1) Housing and Council Tax Benefit (5.5) (0.2) European Commission (0.1)
(5.0) HM Courts and Tribunals Service (5.0) (4.5) Other (5.9)

Department for Education
Capital Grants and contributions (funding revenue expenditure 
under statute)

(2.6) Dedicated Schools Grant (2.7) (0.1) Section 106 contributions (1.8)
(0.2) Other (0.2) (1.2) Other (1.9)

Department for Communities and Local Government (83.3) Total (89.6)
(1.7) Cost of Collection Allowance (1.7)
(0.3) Other (0.8)

  

P
age 132



City Fund Statement of Accounts 2016/17 Explanatory Notes Page 75 

  

41. Grants and Contributions Received in Advance 

A number of grants and contributions have yet to be recognised as income as they have conditions attached to them which if they are not met will require the monies 
to be returned to the provider.   The balances at the year-end are as follows: 

Long Term 

31 March 2016 31 March 2017
£m £m

Capital Grants and Contributions Receipts in Advance
89.3 S106/S278 Capital Contributions 108.2

1.3 Department for Education 2.8
0.2 Other 0.3

90.8 Total 111.3  

42. Deferred Credits 

Premiums received at the commencement of operating leases for investment properties are effectively rents received in advance and are released to revenue on a 
straight line basis over the lease term. 

31 March 2016 31 March 2017
£m £m

Deferred Credits
(151.7) Rents Received in Advance (152.4)
(151.7) Total (152.4)  

  

P
age 133



City Fund Statement of Accounts 2016/17 Explanatory Notes Page 76 

  

43. Related Party Transactions 

The City Fund is required to disclose information on material “related party transactions” with bodies or individuals that have the potential to control or influence the 
authority or be controlled or influenced by the authority.  

Disclosure 

Members are required to disclose their interests and these can be viewed online at www.cityoflondon.gov.uk.  

Members and Chief Officers have been requested to disclose related party transactions of £10,000 or more in 2016/17 including instances where their close family has 
made transactions with the City of London. 

During 2016/17 the following transactions were disclosed; 

• the City Corporation nominates six Members to the various committees of London Councils and another Member declared that he has an independent place 
on a number of Committees.   London Councils was paid  £218,000 for various subscriptions and services; 

• the City Corporation nominates a Member to the Local Government Association which was paid £20,000 for subscriptions, conference fees and services; 
• five Members and one Chief Officer are Directors of the ‘Lord Mayors Show Ltd’.  The company paid the City Fund £12,000 for the provision of services. The 

City Fund paid the company £16,000 for artwork and participation fees; 
• two Members declared interests in PwC LLP which was paid £933,000 for consultancy services.  £33,000 was received from the company for the hire of an 

event space; 
• a Member is a Director/Shareholder of Keepmoat Regeneration Ltd which provided services to the City Fund at a cost of £4,352,000; 
• a Member is a Board Member of London and Partners which was paid £80,000 for participation in exhibitions and partnership fees; 
• a Member declared that a member of their family worked for Knight Frank which was paid £81,000 for services; 
• a Member declared that his accountants are RSM UK Group LLP who were paid £33,000 from the City Fund for consultancy services;  
• two Members are Trustees of Guildhall School Trust which paid £13,000 to the City Fund for catering services; 
• a Member is a Trustee of East London NHS Foundation Trust which received £58,000 from the City Fund for mental health reablement and Looked After 

Children services; 
• a Member is a Governor of Prior Western Primary School which was paid £21,000 for children’s centre and administration services and received £42,000 for 

unused childcare places; 
• a Member a Board Member of the International Dispute Resolution Centre Ltd which  paid £343,000 in lease charges to the City Fund; 
• a Member is a trustee of the Museum of London which received a grant of £5,292,000 and which paid £1,318,000 to the City Fund in finance lease and loan 

payments; 
• a Member is CEO of AON UK Ltd which made a  £30,000 contribution to Sculpture in the City; 
• a Member declared that a member of their family is a partner in Simmons & Simmons LLP which paid £24,000 for a Barbican Corporate Membership. 

  

P
age 134



City Fund Statement of Accounts 2016/17 Explanatory Notes Page 77 

  

During 2015/16 the following transactions were disclosed; 

• the City Corporation nominates six Members to the various committees of London Councils and another Member declared that he has an independent place 
on a number of Committees.   London Councils was paid  £241,000 for various subscriptions and services; 

• Five Members and one Chief Officer are Trustees of the City Arts Trust Limited.  This charitable company received grants of £383,000 from the City Fund and 
paid £32,000 to the City Fund for event related services; 

• two Members declared interests in PWC LLP which was paid £324,000 for consultancy services.  £10,000 was received from the company for the hire of an 
event space; 

• a Member is a Director/Shareholder of Keepmoat Regeneration Ltd which provided services to the City Fund at a cost of £1,193,000; 
• six Members and one Chief Officer are Directors of the ‘Lord Mayors Show Ltd’.  The company paid the City Fund £11,000 for the provision of services; 
• a Member is a Board Member of London and Partners which was paid £48,000 for participation in exhibitions and partnership fees; 
• one Member declared that a member of their family worked for Knight Frank which was paid £29,000 for services; 
• the City Corporation nominates a Member to the Local Government Association which was paid £19,000 for subscriptions, conference fees and services; 
• a Member is a Trustee of Guildhall School Trust which paid £19,000 to the City Fund for catering services; 
• a Member is a Trustee of East London NHS Foundation Trust which received £24,000 from the City Fund for mental health reablement services; 
• a Member is a Governor of Prior Western Primary School which was paid £94,000 for childcare places and children’s’ services; 
• a Chief officer declared that his wife was a partner of Charles Russell Speechlys LLP for part of the year.  The City Fund paid the company £67,000 for legal 

services in relation to property transactions. 
All transactions complied with the City of London’s procedures and there were no outstanding balances at year end. 

Related Party Transactions with the Museum of London 

The Museum of London is financed by the City of London and the Greater London Authority with the latter being the major funder and is subject to common control by 
central government. The City of London’s contribution in 2016/17 was £5.3m (2015/16: £5.3m).   Half of the appointments to the Board are made by the City of 
London.  However, the City of London does not exercise control of the Museum.  Amounts due from the Museum of London at 31 March 2017 are shown in notes 22 
and 23. 

  

P
age 135



City Fund Statement of Accounts 2016/17 Explanatory Notes Page 78 

  

Related Party Transactions with City’s Cash and Bridge House Estates 

During 2016/17 there were no significant transactions between the City Fund and the other main funds of the City Corporation.  

During 2015/16, the City Fund received £2.2m from Bridge House Estates for the construction of a replacement staircase at London Bridge.  The project is included 
within the City Fund Riverside Walk Enhancement Strategy but was assessed as falling within the objects of the Bridge House Estates Trust.  There were no significant 
transactions between the City Fund and the other main funds of the City Corporation.   

There were no outstanding balances at year end. 

Entities Controlled or Significantly Influenced  

Barbican Theatre Productions Limited is a company limited by guarantee engaged with the production of theatre events on behalf of the Barbican Centre.  All directors 
of the company are officers of the City Corporation based at the Barbican Centre.  The company falls within the group boundary of the City Fund on the grounds of 
control and significant influence.  However, group accounts are not necessary as, due to the elimination of group transactions on consolidation,  the interest is not 
deemed sufficiently material.   

For 2016/17 the City Corporation paid £1.7m to the company and received £1.7m reimbursement from the company. 

Related Party Transactions Disclosed Elsewhere in the Accounts 
The UK government has significant influence over the general operations of the City Fund. It is responsible for providing the statutory framework within which the City 
Fund operates, provides the majority of its funding in the form of grants and prescribes the terms of many of the transactions that the City Fund has with other parties 
(e.g. council tax bills, housing benefits).  Grants from government departments are shown in Note 40.  Amounts due to and from central government departments at 31 
March 2017 are shown in notes 23 and 25 respectively. 

Disclosures are made in respect of other public bodies which are subject to common control by central government in other parts of the accounts as follows: 

 Precepts from other Authorities  

 Pension Fund  

Amounts paid to HM Revenues and Customs in respect of employer’s national insurance contributions of £11.1m (2016: £9.0m). 

Amounts paid to Kent County Council for the procurement of goods and services (primarily energy of £7.8m (2016: £6.1m). 
  

P
age 136



City Fund Statement of Accounts 2016/17 Explanatory Notes Page 79 

  

44. Leases 

Finance Leases 

City Fund as Lessee 

Nine property agreements have been classified as finance leases – five relating to operational properties and four in respect of investment properties.  In addition, as 
part of the City of London contract for its cleansing services, the vehicles owned by the contractor but which are used exclusively on the City of London contract have 
been classified as finance leases.   

The assets acquired under these leases are carried as Property, Plant and Equipment and Investment Properties in the City Fund’s Balance Sheet at the following net 
amounts: 

31 March 2016 31 March 2017
£m £m

Property, Plant and Equipment
2.6      Other Land and Buildings 2.5      
0.6      Vehicles, Plant and Equipment 0.4      

20.2      Investment Properties 48.7      
23.4      51.6       

The rental payments for most of the property leases are immaterial, the highest being £600 per annum.  Consequently, no liabilities are recognised in the balance sheet 
for these leases and the rental payments are met in full from revenue over the terms of the leases rather than being apportioned between finance charges (interest) 
and reductions in the outstanding liabilities. 

For two investment property leases and the vehicles the City Fund will make payments over the term of the leases to meet the costs of the long term liabilities and the 
finance costs payable.   

The leases are carried under other long term liabilities on the balance sheet:   
 

31 March 2016 31 March 2017
£m £m

1.5      Investment Property 3.2      
0.9      Cleansing Vehicles 0.9      
2.4      Long Term Liabilities 4.1       

 
  

P
age 137



City Fund Statement of Accounts 2016/17 Explanatory Notes Page 80 

  

The minimum lease payments in relation to the investment property are: 

Total Future 
Minimum Lease 

Payments

Present Value of 
Future Lease 

Payments

Total Future 
Minimum Lease 

Payments

Present Value of 
Future Lease 

Payments
31 March 2016 31 March 2016 31 March 2017 31 March 2017

£m £m £m £m
0.1      0.0      Not later than one year 0.1      0.0      

0.2      0.0      
Later than one year and not later 
than five years

0.5      0.0      

6.0      1.5      Later than five years 13.9      3.7      
6.3      1.5      14.5      3.7       

There are no commitments in respect of finance leases entered into before the year end but whose term has yet to commence. 

City Fund as Lessor 
The City Fund has a gross investment in finance leases relating to the minimum lease payments expected to be received over the remaining terms. There is no residual 
value anticipated for the properties when the leases come to an end.  The minimum lease payments comprise settlement of the long-term debtor for the interest in the 
properties acquired by the lessees and finance income that will be earned by the City Fund in future years whilst the debt remains outstanding.  The gross investment is 
made up of the following amounts: 
 

31 March 2016 31 March 2017
£m £m

Finance lease debtor (net present value of 
minimum lease payments)

0.6      current 0.6      
31.2      non-current 13.7      
31.7      Unearned finance income 31.3      

0.0      Unguaranteed residual value of property 0.0      
63.5      Gross investment in the lease 45.6       

  

P
age 138



City Fund Statement of Accounts 2016/17 Explanatory Notes Page 81 

  

 
The gross investment in the leases and the minimum lease payments receivable will be received over the following periods: 

Gross Investment in 
Lease

Net Present Value of 
Minimum Lease 

Payments
Gross Investment in 

Lease

Net Present Value of 
Minimum Lease 

Payments
31 March 2016 31 March 2016 31 March 2017 31 March 2017

£m £m £m £m
1.0      0.6      Not later than one year 1.0 0.6

20.4      19.0      
Later than one year and not later 
than five years 3.5 2.0

42.1      12.1      Later than five years 41.2 11.8
63.5      31.7      45.7 14.4  

The minimum lease payments receivable are not contingent on events taking place after the lease was entered into, such as adjustments following rent reviews.  
Income from investment properties is set out in note 18. 

Operating Leases  
City Fund as Lessee 
The future minimum lease payments due under non-cancellable leases in future years are: 

31 March 2016 31 March 2017
Restated

£m £m

1.2 Not later than one year 2.3

3.0
Later than one year and not later than 
five years 8.0

11.6 Later than five years 11.3
15.8 21.6  

 
The expenditure charged to the provision of services in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement during the year in relation to these leases was £1.6m 
(2015/16: £1.2m).   

  

P
age 139



City Fund Statement of Accounts 2016/17 Explanatory Notes Page 82 

  

City Fund as Lessor 
The City of London has granted leases in respect of a number of City Fund properties, principally Investment Properties, which are treated as operating leases.  The 
future minimum lease payments receivable under non-cancellable leases in future years are: 

31 March 2016 31 March 2017
£m £m

48                   Not later than one year 53                   

170                 
Later than one year and not later than 
five years 183                 

2,838              Later than five years 3,026              
3,056              3,262              

The minimum lease payments receivable do not include rents that are contingent on events taking place after the lease was entered into, such as adjustments following 
rent reviews.   

  

P
age 140



City Fund Statement of Accounts 2016/17 Explanatory Notes Page 83 

  

45. Pension Schemes 

As part of the terms and conditions of employment of its employees, the City Fund makes contributions towards the cost of post-employment benefits.  Employees are 
members of the following pension schemes: 

• The City of London Pension Scheme 
• The Police Pension Schemes (1987, 2006 and 2015) 
• The Judges Pension Scheme 
• The Teachers’ Pension Scheme. 

These schemes provide defined benefits to members (retirement lump sums and pensions), earned as employees working for the City of London Corporation.  Notes 46 
to 50 provide further information on each of the above schemes. 

46. City of London Pension Scheme  

The City of London Pension Scheme (the “Scheme”) is operated under the regulatory framework for the Local Government Pension Scheme with policy determined in 
accordance with the Pension Fund Regulations.  It is a funded defined benefit final salary scheme, meaning that the employers and employees pay contributions into a 
fund calculated at a level intended to balance the pension liabilities with investment assets.   

The City of London Corporation administers the Scheme on behalf of its participating employers.  The Corporation’s Establishment Committee is responsible for 
personnel and administration matters, whilst its Financial Investment Board is responsible for appointing fund managers and monitoring performance.   The principal 
risks to the authority of the scheme are the mortality rate assumptions, statutory changes to the scheme, structural changes to the scheme (i.e. large scale withdrawals 
from the scheme), changes to inflation, bond yields and the performance of the equity investments held by the scheme. 

The estimated net deficit on the Scheme is the responsibility of the City of London Corporation as a whole, and therefore cannot be attributed precisely between its 
three funds (City Fund, City’s Cash and Bridge House Estates).  However, an apportionment of the deficit and inclusion in the respective balance sheets presents a fairer 
view of each of the funds’ financial positions than if the net deficit were to be excluded.  Accordingly an apportionment has been made which is based on employer’s 
annual contributions to the funds.  

Disclosures in relation to City of London Corporation and the City Fund’s share of the overall scheme which satisfy the requirements of a defined benefit pension 
scheme are set out in this note.  This information is not used to determine the employer’s pension contribution rate.  This is calculated at the triennial valuation and 
updated by any subsequent interim valuations.  The most recent triennial valuation was as at 31 March 2016 and informed consideration of the level of employer’s 
pension contribution to be charged from 1 April 2017 to 31 March 2020.   

  

P
age 141



City Fund Statement of Accounts 2016/17 Explanatory Notes Page 84 

  

Assets and Liabilities in Relation to Retirement Benefits 
a. Reconciliation of present value of the scheme liabilities   

CITY OF LONDON 
CORPORATION

CITY FUND SHARE                      
50%  

CITY OF LONDON 
CORPORATION

CITY FUND SHARE                    
51%          

31 March 2016 31 March 2016 31 March 2017 31 March 2017
£m £m £m £m
(1,250.5) (625.2) 1 April (1,211.2) (605.6)

(33.0) (16.5) Current Service Cost (28.3) (14.4)
(40.9) (20.4) Interest Cost (43.2) (22.0)

Remeasurement gains/losses:

0.0 0.0
Actuarials Gains/losses arising from demographic 
assumptions

33.8 17.2

88.0 44.0
Actuarials gains/losses arising from changes in financial 
assumptions

(276.0) (140.8)

0.5 0.2 Other Actuarial Gains/Losses 24.3 0.3
(1.8) (0.9) Past Service Cost, including curtailments (0.8) (0.4)
(0.6) (0.3) Liabilities extinguished on settlements 0.0 0.0

35.6 17.8 Benefits paid 33.0 16.8
(9.1) (4.6) Contributions from scheme participants (8.9) (4.5)
0.6 0.3 Unfunded Pension Payments 0.5 0.3

(1,211.2) (605.6) 31 March (1,476.8) (753.1)  
Liabilities are discounted to their value at current prices, using a discount rate of 2.7% (based on the annualised yield at the 19 year point on the Merrill Lynch AA 
rated corporate bond yield curve).  

P
age 142



City Fund Statement of Accounts 2016/17 Explanatory Notes Page 85 

  

b. Reconciliation of fair value of the scheme assets 

CITY OF LONDON 
CORPORATION

CITY FUND SHARE                      
50%  

CITY OF LONDON 
CORPORATION

CITY FUND SHARE              
51%           

31 March 2016 31 March 2016 31 March 2017 31 March 2017
£m £m £m £m

752.3 376.1 1 April 730.2 365.0
24.2 12.1 Interest on Assets 26.2 13.4

Remeasurement gains/losses:
(41.4) (20.8) Return on Assets less interest 122.3 69.7

0.0 0.0 Other actuarial gains/losses 5.1 2.6
(0.5) (0.2) Administration expenses (0.5) (0.3)

22.3 11.1 Contributions by Employer 20.3 10.4
9.1 4.6 Contributions by Scheme Participants 8.9 4.5

(36.2) (18.1) Benefits Paid (33.6) (17.1)
0.4 0.2 Settlement Prices Received/(Paid) 0.0 0.0

730.2 365.0 31 March 878.9 448.2  
 

Scheme assets consist of the following categories, by proportion of the total assets held: 

31 March 2016 31 March 2017
% %

63 Equity Investments 65
n/a Gilts n/a

0 Cash 0
n/a Bonds n/a

4 Infrastructure 5
33 Absolute return portfolio 30

100 100  
The analysis of investments held and valuations are included in the accompanying Pension Fund accounts. 

  

P
age 143



City Fund Statement of Accounts 2016/17 Explanatory Notes Page 86 

  

 
c. Overall net deficit 

CITY OF LONDON 
CORPORATION

CITY FUND SHARE                      
50%  

CITY OF LONDON 
CORPORATION

CITY FUND SHARE              
51%

31 March 2016 31 March 2016 31 March 2017 31 March 2017
£m £m £m £m

(498.2) (249.1) 1 April (481.0) (240.6)
39.3 19.6 change in liabilities (265.6) (147.5)

(22.1) (11.1) change in assets 148.7 83.2
(481.0) (240.6) 31 March (597.9) (304.9)  

Basis for Estimating Assets and Liabilities 

The liabilities have been valued by the City of London’s independent consulting actuaries (Barnett Waddingham) using the projected unit method, based upon the 
latest full valuation of the scheme  as at 31 March 2016 and updated to the balance sheet date.  The main assumptions used in the calculations are as follows: 

2015/16 2016/17
Mortality assumptions:

  Life expectancy in years from age 65
    Retiring today

23.0       Men 23.8
25.4       Women 25.2

    Retiring in 20 years
24.8       Men 25.2
27.3       Women 26.7
3.2% Rate of Inflation - RPI 3.6%
2.3% Rate of Inflation - CPI 2.6%
3.8% Salary Increases 4.1%
2.3% Pension Increases 2.6%
3.6% Discount Rate 2.7%

75.0% Take-up of option to convert annual pension into retirement lump sum 50.0%  
 

  

P
age 144



City Fund Statement of Accounts 2016/17 Explanatory Notes Page 87 

  

 
Impact on defined benefit obligation from changes to actuarial assumptions 
The estimation of the defined benefit obligations is sensitive to the actuarial assumptions set out above.  The following table, prepared on an actuarial projected unit 
basis, shows the impact on the defined benefit obligation from changes to various actuarial assumptions.   The sensitivity analyses have been determined based on 
reasonably possible changes of the assumptions occurring at the end of the reporting period and assumes for each change that the assumption analysed changes while 
all the other assumptions remain constant.  In practice, this is unlikely to occur, and changes in some of the assumptions may be interrelated.   

Change in Assumptions at 31 March 2017 

 Increase  Decrease   Increase   Decrease 
£m £m £m £m

0.1% change in rate for discounting scheme liabilities (26.6) 27.1 (13.6) 13.8
0.1% change in rate of increase in salaries 4.0 (3.9) 2.0 (2.0)
0.1% change in rate of increase in pensions 23.1 (22.7) 11.8 (11.6)
One year change in rate of mortality assumption 55.8 (53.7) 28.5 (27.4)

 CITY OF LONDON CITY FUND

 
 
Impact on the City Fund’s Cash Flows 
The objectives of the scheme are to keep employers’ contributions at as constant a rate as possible. The Corporation has agreed a deficit recovery period of 20 years 
from 2015/16 with the scheme’s actuary.  Funding levels are monitored on an annual basis.  

The liabilities show the estimated underlying commitments that the City Fund has in the long run to pay post-employment (retirement) benefits. The net liability of 
£304.9m has a substantial impact on the net worth of the City Fund as recorded in the Balance Sheet.  However, statutory arrangements for funding the deficit mean 
that the financial position of the City Fund remains sound.  The deficit will be made good by increased contributions over the remaining working life of employees, as 
assessed by the scheme actuary. 

The total employer contributions expected to be made to the scheme for the City of London Corporation across all its funds in the year to 31 March 2018 are £25.0m 
(estimated City Fund Share £12.75m). 

The scheme actuary has estimated that the weighted average duration of the defined benefit obligation for scheme members is 18 years.  

P
age 145



City Fund Statement of Accounts 2016/17 Explanatory Notes Page 88 

  

47. The Police Pension Scheme 

There are three Police Pension Schemes - the 1987 Scheme, the 2006 Scheme and the 2015 Scheme.  Except where otherwise stated, the “Police Pension Scheme” is 
used generically to cover all the schemes.   The Police Pension Scheme is defined benefit and unfunded.  It is administered by the City of London in accordance with 
Home Office regulations and is not a multi-employer scheme.  The Scheme is funded on a pay as you go basis, with the employer contributing a percentage of police 
pay into the Pension Fund and the Home Office meeting the balance.  At the year end the Police Pension Fund Account is balanced to nil by either receiving a 
contribution from the City Fund equal to the amount by which the amounts payable from the Pension Fund for the year exceed the amounts receivable or, by paying to 
the City Fund the amount by which sums receivable by the Fund for the year exceed the amounts payable.  Where the City Fund makes a transfer in to the Pension 
Fund, the Home Office will pay an equivalent top-up grant to the City Fund.  Where the City Fund receives a transfer from the Pension Fund, the City Fund must pay the 
amount to the Home Office.  The Police Pension Scheme 2015 came into effect from 1 April 2015 and any benefits accrued from that date will be based on career 
average revalued salaries, with exceptions for those members that have transitional protection in their existing scheme.   The last full valuation of the Police Pension 
Scheme was at 31 March 2012 by the Government Actuary’s Department and set contributions for the period 1 April 2015 to 31 March 2019.  The next combined 
actuarial valuation will be carried out as at 31 March 2016. 

 
  P

age 146



City Fund Statement of Accounts 2016/17 Explanatory Notes Page 89 

  

 
Liabilities in Relation to Retirement Benefits 
As the scheme is unfunded, it has no assets.   
 
Reconciliation of present value of the scheme liabilities   
 

31 March 2016 31 March 2017

£m £m
(813.2) 1April (776.3)

(16.4) Current Service Cost (13.3)
(26.4) Interest Cost (27.5)

Remeasurement gains/losses:

0.0
Actuarials Gains/losses arising from demographic 
assumptions

40.4

57.3
Actuarials gains/losses arising from changes in 
financial assumptions

(162.8)

(5.0) Other Actuarial Gains/Losses 0.0
30.9 Benefits paid 29.9
(4.0) Contributions from scheme participants (3.8)
0.5 Injury Benefits Paid 0.5

(776.3) 31 March (912.9)  
  

P
age 147



City Fund Statement of Accounts 2016/17 Explanatory Notes Page 90 

  

 
Basis for Estimating Liabilities 
The liabilities have been valued by the City of London’s independent consulting actuaries (Barnett Waddingham) using the projected unit method, based upon the last 
full valuation of the scheme updated to the balance sheet date.  The main assumptions used in the calculations are as follows: 
 
2015/16 Mortality assumptions: 2016/17

  Life expectancy in years from age 65
    Retiring today

23.1       Men 21.7
25.5       Women 24.0

    Retiring in 20 years
25.4       Men 23.1
27.8       Women 25.5
3.2% Rate of Inflation - RPI 3.6%
2.3% Rate of Inflation - CPI 2.6%
4.1% Salary Increases 4.1%
2.3% Pension Increases 2.6%
3.6% Discount Rate 2.7%  

Impact on defined benefit obligation from changes to actuarial assumptions 

The estimation of the defined benefit obligations is sensitive to the actuarial assumptions set out above.  The following table, prepared on an actuarial projected unit 
basis, shows the impact on the City Fund’s defined benefit obligation from changes to various actuarial assumptions.   The sensitivity analyses have been determined 
based on reasonably possible changes of the assumptions occurring at the end of the reporting period and assumes for each change that the assumption analysed 
changes while all the other assumptions remain constant.  In practice, this is unlikely to occur, and changes in some of the assumptions may be interrelated.   

  

P
age 148



City Fund Statement of Accounts 2016/17 Explanatory Notes Page 91 

  

 
Change in Assumptions at 31 March 2017 

Impact on the Defined Benefit Obligation in the Scheme
 Increase  Decrease 

£m £m
0.1% change in rate for discounting scheme 
liabilities

(16.6) 17.0

0.1% change in rate of increase in salaries 1.6 (1.6)
0.1% change in rate of increase in pensions 15.4 (15.1)
One year change in rate of mortality 
assumption

37.1 (35.6)
 

Impact on the City Fund’s Cash Flows 

The liabilities show the estimated underlying commitments that the City Fund has in the long run to pay post-employment (retirement) benefits. The net liability of 
£912.8m has a substantial impact on the net worth of the City Fund as recorded in the Balance Sheet.  However, statutory arrangements for funding the deficit mean 
that the financial position of the City Fund remains sound.  Future contributions are expected to be met by an annually assessed grant from the Home Office. 

The total employer contributions for the combined position of the Police Pension Schemes 1987, 2006 and 2015 for the year to 31 March 2018 are expected to be 
£5.9m and the expected top up grant from the Government is £20.2m. 

The scheme actuary has estimated that the weighted average combined duration of the defined benefit obligation for the schemes is 18 years. 

  

P
age 149



City Fund Statement of Accounts 2016/17 Explanatory Notes Page 92 

  

 
48. Judges Pension Scheme 

The Judges Pension Scheme is defined benefit and unfunded. The scheme is subject to the provisions of the Judicial Pensions and Retirement Act 1993. The Treasury is 
responsible for payment of Judges’ pensions and the City of London reimburses them in accordance with regulations made under the Act.   

Liabilities in Relation to Retirement Benefits 

As the scheme is unfunded, it has no assets.   

Reconciliation of present value of the scheme liabilities   

31 March 2016 31 March 2017
£m £m

(2.0) 1 April (2.0)
(0.2) Current Service Cost (0.2)
(0.1) Interest Cost (0.1)

Actuarials Gains/losses arising from demographic 
assumptions
Remeasurement gains/losses:

0.2
Actuarials gains/losses arising from changes in financial 
assumptions

(0.3)

0.1 Benefits paid 0.1
(2.0) 31 March (2.5)  

  

P
age 150



City Fund Statement of Accounts 2016/17 Explanatory Notes Page 93 

  

Impact on defined benefit obligation from changes to actuarial assumptions 

The estimation of the defined benefit obligations is sensitive to the actuarial assumptions set out on the previous page.  The following table, prepared on an actuarial 
projected unit basis, shows the impact on the City Fund’s defined benefit obligation from changes to various actuarial assumptions.   The sensitivity analyses have been 
determined based on reasonably possible changes of the assumptions occurring at the end of the reporting period and assumes for each change that the assumption 
analysed changes while all the other assumptions remain constant.  In practice, this is unlikely to occur, and changes in some of the assumptions may be interrelated.   

Change in Assumptions at 31 March 2017 
 

 Increase  Decrease 
£m £m

0.1% change in rate for discounting scheme liabilities (0.03) 0.03
0.1% change in rate of increase in salaries 0.00 0.00
0.1% change in rate of increase in pensions 0.03 (0.03)
One year change in rate of mortality assumption 0.10 (0.10)  

Impact on the City Fund’s Cash Flows 
The liabilities show the estimated underlying commitments that the City Fund has in the long run to pay post-employment (retirement) benefits. The net liability of 
£2.5m has an impact on the net worth of the City Fund as recorded in the Balance Sheet.  However, the City Fund has set aside funds in an earmarked reserve to assist 
with meeting its share of liabilities. 

The scheme actuary has estimated that the weighted average combined duration of the defined benefit obligation for the scheme is 13 years. 

49. The Teachers’ Pension Scheme 

Teachers employed by the City of London Corporation are members of the Teachers’ Pension Scheme administered by Capita Teachers’ Pensions on behalf of the 
Department for Education (DfE) as a multi-employer defined benefit scheme. As it is not possible to identify the assets and liabilities at individual employer level, the 
pension arrangements are treated as a defined contribution scheme.   

In 2016/17 the City Fund contribution to the Teachers’ Pension Scheme was £0.1m (2015/16:£0.1m) and the employer’s contribution rate set by the DfE was 16.4%, 
increased from 14.1% from 1 September 2016 following the last valuation of the Scheme as at 31 March 2015 by the Government Actuary’s Department .   

In addition, the Corporation is responsible for all pension payments relating to added years that it has awarded, together with the related increases.  In 2016/17 and 
2015/16 no material payments were made.  

P
age 151



City Fund Statement of Accounts 2016/17 Explanatory Notes Page 94 

  

50. Transactions Relating to Post-employment Benefits within the Financial Statements 

The Teachers’ Pension Scheme is accounted for as if it is a defined contribution scheme and no liability for future payments of benefits is recognised in the Balance 
Sheet. The Children’s and Education Services line in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement is charged with the employer’s contributions payable to 
Teachers’ Pension Scheme in the year. 

Retirement benefits from schemes accounted for on a defined benefit basis (City of London, Police and Judges) are recognised in the Net Cost of Services when they are 
earned by employees, rather than when the benefits are eventually paid as pensions.  However, the charge against council tax is based on cash payable in the year, so 
the real cost of retirement benefits is reversed out of the City Fund and Housing Revenue Account via the Movement in Reserves Statement.    

The cumulative amount of actuarial gains and losses recognised in Other Comprehensive Income and Expenditure in the actuarial gains or losses on pensions assets and 
liabilities line was at 31 March 2017 a loss of £173.7m and at 31 March 2016 was a gain of £75.9m. 

The tables on the following pages summarise the entries in the financial statements for the City of London, Police and Judges Schemes. 

 
 
 
  

P
age 152



City Fund Statement of Accounts 2016/17 Explanatory Notes Page 95 

  

 

2016/17 Transactions 

Police Judges City of London Total
£m £m £m £m

Comprehensive Income & Expenditure Statement (CIES)
Cost of Services:

Current service cost 13.3 0.2 14.4 27.9
Past service costs 0.0 0.0 0.4 0.4
(gain)/loss from settlements 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

Other Operating Income
adminstration expenses 0.0 0.0 0.3 0.3

Financing & Investment Income & Expenditure
Interest cost 27.5 0.1 8.6 36.2

Total Retirement Benefit Charged to the Surplus or Deficit on the Provision 
of Services

40.8 0.3 23.7 64.8

Other Comprehensive Income & Expenditure 
Remeasurement of the net defined benefit liability:

Return on plan assets 0.0 0.0 (69.7) (69.7)
Actuarial (gains) & losses - changes in demographic assumptions (40.4) 0.0 (17.2) (57.6)
Actuarial (gains) & losses - changes in financial assumptions 162.8 0.3 140.8 303.9
Actuarial (gains) & losses - Other 0.0 0.0 (2.9) (2.9)

Total Other Comprehensive Income & Expenditure 122.4 0.3 51.0 173.7
Total Retirement Benefit Charged/(Credited) to the CIES 163.2 0.6 74.7 238.5
Movement in Reserves Statement

Reversal of net charges/credits for retirement benefits in accordance with 
the Code

(163.2) (0.6) (74.7) (238.5)

Actual amount charged against the City Fund  and HRA Balances 26.6 0.1 10.4 37.1  
 

  

P
age 153



City Fund Statement of Accounts 2016/17 Explanatory Notes Page 96 

  

2015/16 Transactions 

Police Judges City of London Total
£m £m £m £m

Comprehensive Income & Expenditure Statement (CIES)
Cost of Services:

Current service cost 16.4 0.2 16.5 33.1
Past service costs 0.0 0.0 0.9 0.9
(gain)/loss from settlements 0.0 0.0 0.1 0.1
Other Operating Income
adminstration expenses 0.0 0.0 0.2 0.2

Financing & Investment Income & Expenditure
Interest cost 26.4 0.1 8.3 34.8

Total Retirement Benefit Charged to the Surplus or Deficit on the Provision 
of Services

42.8 0.3 26.0 69.1

Other Comprehensive Income & Expenditure 52
Remeasurement of the net defined benefit liability:

Return on plan assets 0.0 0.0 20.8 20.8
Actuarial (gains) & losses - changes in financial assumptions (57.3) (0.2) (44.0) (101.5)
Actuarial (gains) & losses - Other 5.0 0.0 (0.2) 4.8

Total Other Comprehensive Income & Expenditure (52.3) (0.2) (23.4) (75.9)
Total Retirement Benefit Charged/(Credited) to the CIES (9.5) 0.1 2.6 (6.8)
Movement in Reserves Statement
Reversal of net charges/credits for retirement benefits in accordance with 
the Code

9.5 (0.1) (2.6) 6.8

Actual amount charged against the City Fund and HRA Balances 27.4 0.1 11.1 38.6   

P
age 154



City Fund Statement of Accounts 2016/17 Explanatory Notes Page 97 

  

 
The amount included in the Balance Sheet arising from the City Fund’s estimated obligation in respect of the defined benefit plans is as follows: 
 

31 March 2016 31 March 2017
£m £m

Present Value of the defined benefit obligation
(602.6) City of London Pension Scheme (750.0)
(772.8) Police Pension Schemes (909.5)

(2.0) Judges Pension Scheme (2.5)
Fair Value of plan assets

365.0 City of London Pension Scheme 448.2 
Present value of unfunded obligation

(3.0) City of London Pension Scheme (3.1)
(3.5) Police Pension Schemes (3.4)

(1,018.9) Net liability on balance sheet (1,220.3)  
There are no outstanding or pre-paid employee contributions at the balance sheet date. 

  

P
age 155



City Fund Statement of Accounts 2016/17 Explanatory Notes Page 98 

  

51. Trust Funds 

In its capacity as a local authority, the City of London acts as a custodian trustee for two trust funds; the City of London Corporation Combined Education Charity and 
Keats House.  In neither case do the funds represent assets to the City Fund and therefore they have not been included in the Balance Sheet.  

Keats House (charity registration number 1053381) 

Established in 1996, the objective of the Trust is "to preserve and maintain and restore for the education and benefit of the public Keats House as a museum and live 
memorial to John Keats and as a literary meeting place and centre".  As at 31 March 2017 the Trust’s net assets were £0.2m (2016: £0.3m). 

The City of London Corporation Combined Education Charity (charity registration number 312836) 

Established in 2011 through the amalgamation of the Higher Education Research and Special Expenses Fund, the Archibald Dawnay Scholarships, the Robert Blair 
Fellowship and the Alan Partridge Smith Bequest, the objective of the Trust is to further the education of persons attending or proposing to attend secondary, further 
or higher educational institutions by the provision of grants or financial assistance. Also to provide grants for staff at maintained schools & Academies in the boroughs 
of London to undertake studies to further their development as teachers.  As at 31 March 2017 the Trust’s net assets were £1.1m (2016: £1.0m). 

P
age 156



City Fund Statement of Accounts 2016/17 Housing Revenue Account Page 99 

  

 The HRA Income and Expenditure Statement shows the economic cost in the year of providing housing services in accordance with generally accepted accounting 
practices, rather than the amount to be funded from rents and government grants. Authorities charge rents to cover expenditure in accordance with regulations; 
this may be different from the accounting cost. The increase or decrease in the year, on the basis on which rents are raised, is shown in the Movement on the HRA 
Statement. 

Income and Expenditure Statement
2015/16 Notes

£m £m £m
Expenditure

4.7 Repairs and maintenance 5.3 
6.5 Supervision and management 7.1 
2.7 Depreciation of non-current assets 3.0 

(3.3) Revaluation (gain)/loss on HRA dwellings 3.3 
(0.1) Movement in the allowance for bad debts 1 0.0 
10.5 Total Expenditure 18.7 

Income
(10.6) Dwelling rents (10.5)

(1.5) Non-dwelling rents (1.5)
(3.4) Charges for services and facilities (2.6)
(0.2) Contributions towards expenditure (0.5)

(15.7) Total Income (15.1)
(5.2) Net Expenditure/(Income) of HRA Services as included in the City Fund CIES cost of services 3.6 

HRA share of other income and expenditure included in the City Fund CIES
(0.5) Net Gain on Disposal of Fixed Assets (2.3)
(0.1) Interest and investment income (0.1)
(1.0) Investment property gain on revaluation (0.4)

(6.8) Surplus for the year on HRA Services 0.8 
Movement on the HRA Statement

2015/16 Notes
£m £m £m
(8.1) Balance on the HRA at the end of the previous year (10.1)
(6.8) Surplus for the year on the HRA Income and Expenditure Statement 0.8 

4.8 Adjustments between accounting basis and funding basis under statute 2 1.2 
(2.0) Increase in year on the HRA 2.0 

(10.1) Balance on the HRA at the end of the current year (8.1)

2016/17

2016/17

P
age 157



City Fund Statement of Accounts 2016/17 Notes to the Housing Revenue Account Page 100 

  

1. Provision for Bad and Doubtful Debts 

2015/16 2016/17
£m £m
0.50 Provision at 1 April 0.31

(0.01) Bad Debts written off (0.01)
(0.18) Increase/(Decrease) in Provision (0.09)
0.31 Provision at 31 March 0.21  

2. Adjustments between Accounting Basis and Funding Basis under Statute 

Note 10 to the City Fund Financial Statements (page 37) provides further analysis of the adjustments between the accounting basis and funding basis under statute.    

3. Housing Stock 

As at 31 March 2017 the City Corporation’s HRA rental stock was 1,937 dwellings. The HRA also includes costs and service charge income relating to properties sold on 
long leases of which there were 910 as at 31 March 2017 (2016: 900).   

31 March 2016 31 March 2017 31 March 2016 31 March 2017
No. No. No. No.

27 Houses and Bungalows 27 1,891 Stock at 1 April 1,930
1,903 Flats 1,910 0 Demolished Property (1)
1,930 Total 1,937 (6) Sales (10)

1 Buy Back 0
44 New Build 18

1,930 Stock at 31 March 1,937  
 

Housing stock figures as at 31 March 2017 include 18 newly built flats at Avondale Square Estate (Twelve Acres House).  

The demolished flat on the Avondale Square Estate was located in a building that housed the estate office and community centre. The building was demolished to make 
way for a new block of flats, estate office and Community Centre.  

P
age 158



City Fund Statement of Accounts 2016/17 Notes to the Housing Revenue Account Page 101 

  

4. Arrears of Rent, Service and Other Charges 

As at 31 March 2017 the total arrears for rent, service charges and other charges were £3.16m (31 March 2016: £1.38m) as follows: 
 

31 March 2016 31 March 2017
£m £m

0.12 Former residential tenants 0.13
0.23 Current residential tenants 0.20
0.11 Commercial tenants 0.28
0.84 Service charges 2.46
0.08 Other charges 0.08
1.38 Total arrears 3.15  

 
 
 
 P

age 159



City Fund Statement of Accounts 2016/17 Notes to the Housing Revenue Account Page 102 

  

 
5. HRA Property, Plant and Equipment 

Council Dwellings
Other Land & 

Buildings
Vehicles, Plant & 

Equipment
Assets under 
construction Total

£m £m £m £m £m
Cost or valuation
at 1 April 2016 242.6 37.6 0.2 9.5 289.9
Additions 3.9 0.0 0.0 2.9 6.8
Transfers 7.0 0.7 0.0 (7.7) 0.0
Revaluation increases recognised in the Revaluation Reserve 4.7 1.6 0.0 0.0 6.3
Revaluation decreases recognised in the Surplus/Deficit on the 
Provision of Services

(3.4) 0.0 0.0 0.0 (3.4)

Derecognition - disposals (1.2) 0.0 0.0 0.0 (1.2)
at 31 March 2017 253.6 39.9 0.2 4.7 298.4
Accumulated Depreciation and Impairment
at 1 April 2016 (0.1) (0.1) 0.2 0.0 (0.0)
Depreciation Charge (2.7) (0.3) 0.0 0.0 (3.0)
Depreciation written out to the Revaluation Reserve 2.6 0.3 0.0 0.0 2.9
Depreciation written out to the Surplus/Deficit on the Provision of 
Services 0.1 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.1
at 31 March 2017 (0.1) (0.1) 0.2 0.0 (0.0)
Net Book Value
at 1 April 2016 242.5 37.5 0.4 9.5 289.9
at 31 March 2017 253.5 39.8 0.4 4.7 298.4

Movements on Balances 2016/17

 
 
 
The value of council dwellings within the HRA does not include all council dwellings owned by the City Fund (see note 16) as some council dwellings are held 
outside of the HRA.  

P
age 160



City Fund Statement of Accounts 2016/17 Notes to the Housing Revenue Account Page 103 

  

 
HRA Property, Plant and Equipment - continued 

Council Dwellings
Other Land & 

Buildings 
Vehicles, Plant & 

Equipment
Assets under 
construction Total

£m £m £m £m £m
Cost or valuation
at 1 April 2015 216.6 23.2 0.2 1.5 241.5
Additions 0.5 0.0 0.0 8.0 8.5
Revaluation increases recognised in the Revaluation Reserve 22.7 14.4 0.0 0.0 37.1
Revaluation increases recognised in the Surplus/Deficit on the 
Provision of Services

3.3 0.0 0.0 0.0 3.3

Derecognition - disposals (0.5) 0.0 0.0 0.0 (0.5)
at 31 March 2016 242.6 37.6 0.2 9.5 289.9
Accumulated Depreciation and Impairment
at 1 April 2015 (0.1) (0.6) (0.2) 0.0 (0.9)
Depreciation Charge (2.5) (0.2) 0.0 0.0 (2.7)
Depreciation written out to the Revaluation Reserve 2.4 0.7 0.0 0.0 3.1
Depreciation written out to the Surplus/Deficit on the Provision of 
Services 0.1 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.1
at 31 March 2016 (0.1) (0.1) 0.2 0.0 (0.4)
Net Book Value
at 1 April 2015 216.5 22.6 0.0 1.5 240.6
at 31 March 2016 242.5 37.5 0.4 9.5 289.5

Movements on Balances 2015/16

 
 
 
6. Housing Asset Valuation 

Dwellings are valued at their ‘existing use with vacant possession’ and then reduced to reflect ‘existing use for social housing’.  The reduction is a measure of the 
economic cost of providing council housing at less than open market rents.  Under Government guidance issued in 2010/11, the applicable social housing ‘adjustment 
factor’ is 75% +/- 5%.  The estimated vacant possession value of HRA dwellings is £845m (prior year: £808.2m) which has been reduced by 70% to £253.5m (prior year: 
£242.5m) to reflect social housing use.  Other land and buildings are assessed at existing use value. 

P
age 161



City Fund Statement of Accounts 2016/17 Notes to the Housing Revenue Account Page 104 

  

7. Investment Property 

2015/16 2016/17

£m £m
4.2 Balance at start of the year 5.2
0.0 Transfers 0.0
0.0 Additions 0.0
0.0 Purchases
0.0 Construction
0.0 Subsequent expenditure
0.0 Disposals 0.0

Revaluations:
1.0 Net gains from fair value adjustments 0.4
5.2 Balance at end of the year 5.6  

8. Major Repairs Reserve 

2015/16 2016/17
£m £m

(7.1) Balance 1 April (6.2)
Transfer from HRA equal to depreciation

(2.4) dwellings (2.7)
(0.2) non dwellings (0.3)
0.0 Additional contribution from HRA (2.0)
3.5 Capital expenditure (dwellings) 4.7

(6.2) Balance 31 March (6.5)  
The reserve is used to finance capital expenditure and the balance is included with other capital reserves in the City Fund Balance Sheet. 

 

  

P
age 162



City Fund Statement of Accounts 2016/17 Notes to the Housing Revenue Account Page 105 

  

9. HRA Capital Expenditure 

Expenditure for capital purposes and methods of financing are set out below. 
 

2015/16 2016/17
£m £m

Expenditure in year
Fixed assets 

8.0 Assets under construction 3.0
0.5 Dwellings 3.9
0.5 Revenue expenditure funded from capital under statute 1.9
9.0 8.8

Methods of  financing
1.2 Capital Receipts 1.2
3.4 Major Repairs Reserve 4.7
4.4 Reimbursements and Donations 2.9
9.0 8.8  

 

P
age 163



City Fund Statement of Accounts 2016/17 Collection Fund Page 106 

  

 
REVENUE ACCOUNT 

 

Council Tax
Business 

Rates Total Council Tax
Business 

Rates Total
£m £m £m £m £m £m

INCOME
(7.0) (7.0) Council Tax Receivable (6.9) (6.9)
(0.2) (0.2) Transfer from City Fund (Reliefs) (0.2) (0.2)

(871.2) (871.2) National Business Rates 1 (902.8) (902.8)
(32.5) (32.5) GLA Business Rate Supplement (33.2) (33.2)

(7.0) (7.0) City Fund Business Rate Premium (9.1) (9.1)
(7.2) (910.7) (917.9) TOTAL INCOME (7.1) (945.1) (952.2)

EXPENDITURE
Council Tax Precepts and Demands

5.4 5.4 City Fund 2 6.0 6.0 
0.5 0.5 GLA 0.5 0.5 

National Business Rates Precepts and Demands
223.5 223.5 City Fund 235.9 235.9 
149.0 149.0 GLA 157.2 157.2 
372.6 372.6 Central Government 393.1 393.1 

1.4 1.4 National Business Rates transitional protection payments 0.0 0.0 
32.3 32.3 Business Rate Supplement collected on behalf of GLA 33.1 33.1 

2015/16

Notes

2016/17

 
 

 
Continued on next page 
  

P
age 164



City Fund Statement of Accounts 2016/17 Collection Fund Page 107 

  

 
Collection Fund Revenue Account Continued

Council Tax
Business 

Rates Total Council Tax
Business 

Rates Total
£m £m £m £m £m £m

6.9 6.9 City Fund Business Rate Premium 8.0 8.0 
10.9 10.9 City Fund Offset 4 11.0 11.0 

Impairment of debts for Business Rates
1.7 1.7 National 0.4 0.4 
0.1 0.1 GLA 0.0 0.0 

Impairment of appeals for Business Rates
7.5 7.5 National 117.1 117.1 
0.1 0.1 Premium 1.1 1.1 

Cost of Collection Allowance 
1.7 1.7 National Business Rates 1.7 1.7 
0.1 0.1 GLA Business Rate Supplement 0.0 0.0 

Contributions towards previous year's estimated Collection Fund 
Surplus 

0.7 (0.1) 0.6 City Fund 1.4 20.2 21.6 
0.1 (0.1) 0.0 GLA 0.2 13.5 13.7 

(0.2) (0.2) Central Government 33.7 33.7 
6.7 807.4 814.1 Total Expenditure 8.1 1,026.0 1,034.1 

(0.5) (103.3) (103.8) (Surplus)/Deficit for Year 5 1.0 80.9 81.9 
(1.4) 22.9 21.5 Balance 1 April (1.9) (80.4) (82.3)
(1.9) (80.4) (82.3) Balance 31 March (0.9) 0.5 (0.4)

2015/16

Notes

2016/17

P
age 165



City Fund Statement of Accounts 2016/17 Notes to the Collection Fund Page 108 

  

 
1. Income from Business Rates 

The Local Government Finance Act 1988 replaced the Locally Determined Non-Domestic Rate with a National Non-Domestic Rate (NNDR) set by the Government.  In 
addition to the NNDR, there is a discounted rate for small businesses known as the Small Business Non-Domestic Rate (SBNDR).  In 2016/17 the City of London set a 
non-domestic rating multiplier of 0.502(50.2p in the £) and a small business non-domestic rating multiplier of 0.489 (48.9p in the £).  This comprises the NNDR and 
SBNDR multipliers of 0.497 and 0.484 respectively, plus a premium of 0.5p in the £ to provide additional funding to enable the City Corporation to continue to support 
Police, security, resilience and contingency planning at an enhanced level. 

In addition, for those business premises which have a rateable value of more than £55,000, the Greater London Authority (GLA) is levying a business rate supplement 
(BRS) multiplier of 2p in the £ for the 2016/17 financial year to finance the Crossrail project. The City Corporation collects the BRS on an agency basis on behalf of the 
GLA.   

2015/16 2016/17
£m £m
(928.6) National Business Rates (960.7)

(1.4) Government transition scheme 0.0
(930.0) Non-domestic rates income after transition scheme (960.7)

40.3 Less:   Voids 42.8
13.7 Mandatory and discretionary relief 13.4

4.8 Partly occupied allowance 1.7
(871.2) Net income from national business rates (902.8)  

The total rateable value of the City at 31 March 2017 was £2,004m (31 March 2016: £1,947m). 
  

P
age 166



City Fund Statement of Accounts 2016/17 Notes to the Collection Fund Page 109 

  

 
2. Calculation of Council Tax 

The Local Government Finance Act 1992 introduced the Council Tax from 1 April 1993, replacing the Community Charge.  The Act prescribes the detailed calculations 
that the City of London, as a billing authority, has to make to determine the Council Tax amounts. The City of London set a basic amount of £857.31 for a Band D 
property. 
 
To this £857.31 is added £73.89 in respect of the precept from the Greater London Authority to arrive at the total Council Tax of £931.20 for a Band D property in 
2016/17.  Prescribed proportions are applied to this basic amount to determine the Council Tax amounts for each of the bands as follows: 
 

BAND Proportion Council Tax
£

A 6/9 620.80
B 7/9 724.27
C 8/9 827.73
D 9/9 931.20
E 11/9 1,138.13
F 13/9 1,345.07
G 15/9 1,552.00
H 18/9 1,862.40  

  

P
age 167



City Fund Statement of Accounts 2016/17 Notes to the Collection Fund Page 110 

  

 
3. Tax Bases 2016/17 

The table below shows the number of chargeable dwellings in each valuation band converted to an equivalent number of Band D dwellings.  The totals for each area 
are described as "aggregate relevant amounts".  These amounts, multiplied by the collection rate of 95%, produce the tax base for each of the areas shown. 

BAND MIDDLE INNER CITY AREA TOTAL
TEMPLE TEMPLE EXCLUDING CITY

TEMPLES AREA

A 0.00 0.00 3.57 3.57
B 0.00 0.00 127.72 127.72
C 0.00 0.00 406.35 406.35
D 0.00 0.00 739.23 739.23
E 8.25 3.67 2,718.06 2,729.98
F 37.92 22.39 1,420.78 1,481.09
G 24.17 56.25 1,536.23 1,616.65
H 0.00 4.00 304.00 308.00

AGGREGATE RELEVANT 
AMOUNTS

70.34 86.31 7,255.94 7,412.59

COLLECTION RATE 95% 95% 95% 95%
TAX BASES 66.82 81.99 6,893.14 7,041.95  

4. City Fund Offset 

To reflect the unique characteristics of the square mile, the Government allows the City Fund to retain an amount from the NNDR paid by City businesses.   

5. Surplus for the Year 

The deficit for the year on Business Rates of £80.9m (2015/16: surplus of £103.3m) relates solely to National Business Rates. 

P
age 168



City Fund Statement of Accounts 2016/17 Police Pension Fund Page 111 

  

Police Pension Fund Account for the year ended 31 March 2017 

2015/16
£m £m £m

Contributions receivable
- from employer

(6.1) normal (5.9)
(0.4) early retirements (0.1)
(4.0) - from members (3.8)

(10.5) (9.8)

(0.2) Transfers in from other Police Authorities (0.2)

Benefits payable
21.8 - pensions 23.2

9.0 - commutations and lump sums 6.6
30.8 29.8

Payments to and on account of leavers
0.3 - Transfers out to other Police Authorities 0.0

20.4
Sub-total: Net amount payable for the year before transfer from Police 
Authority

19.8

(20.4) Additional contribution from Police Authority (19.8)
0.0 Net amount payable/receivable for the year 0.0

2015/16 2016/17
£m £m

0.1 Current assets 0.0
(0.1) Current liabilities 0.0
0.0 0.0

2016/17

Net Assets Statement as at 31 March

 

P
age 169



City Fund Statement of Accounts 2016/17 Notes to the Police Pension Fund Page 112  

  

 
i. The Police Pension Fund was established under the Police Pension Fund Regulations 2007 (SI 2007 No. 1932).   

ii. It is a defined benefits scheme, administered internally by the City of London and all City of London police officers are eligible for membership of the pension 
scheme. 

iii. The fund’s financial statements have been prepared using the accounting policies adopted for the City Fund financial statements set out on pages 16 to 29.  The 
fund’s financial statements do not take account of liabilities to pay pensions and other benefits after the period end.  Information on the long-term pension 
obligations can be found in the City Fund financial statements (see notes 45 to 50). 

iv. Under the rules of the scheme, members may elect to commute a proportion of their pension in favour of a lump sum. Where a member has taken a 
commutation option, these lump sums are accounted for on an accruals basis from the date the option is exercised. 

v. Transfer values represent the capital sums in respect of members’ pension rights either received from or paid to other pension schemes in respect of members 
who have joined or left the service.  

vi. The scheme is unfunded and consequently has no investment assets.  Benefits payable are funded by contributions from employers and employees and any 
difference between benefits payable and contributions receivable is met by a top-up grant from the Home Office. 

vii. Employees’ and employer’s contribution levels are based on percentages of pensionable pay set nationally by the Home Office and are subject to triennial 
revaluation by the Government Actuary’s Department. 

viii. The account is prepared on an accruals basis and normal contributions, both from the members and the employer, are accounted for in the payroll month to 
which they relate. 

P
age 170



City of London Pension Fund Accounts and Explanatory Notes  Page 113 

  

2015/16 2016/17
£m £m

(30.9) Contributions receivable 5 (32.3)
(3.7) Transfers in (8.7)
(1.5) Augmentation contributions (0.9)

(36.1) (41.9)
39.9 Benefits Payable 7 40.2

1.8 Payments to and on account of leavers 8 1.8
0.6 Administrative Expenses 9 0.7

42.3 42.7
6.2 Net deductions 0.8

Returns on investments
(0.4) Income from Investments 10 (0.6)
9.3 Change in market value of investment (realised and unrealised) 12 (170.8)
6.4 Investment  Expenses 11 6.1

15.3 Net (Gain)/Loss on Investment (165.3)
21.5 Net (increase)/decrease in the fund during the year (164.5)

(823.7) Opening net assets of the scheme (802.2)
(802.2) Closing net assets of the scheme (966.7)

2015/16 2016/17
£m £m

(801.0) Investment assets 12-15 (965.0)
(0.2) Long Term Investments (0.2)

Current Assets 16
0.0      Debtors (0.3)

(1.9)      Cash and cash equivalents (2.3)
Current liabilities 17

0.9 Creditors 1.1
(802.2) Net assets (966.7)

Fund Account for the year ended 31 March 2017

Notes

Net Assets Statement as at 31 March 2017

Notes

Contributions and benefits

 

P
age 171



City of London Pension Fund Accounts and Explanatory Notes  Page 114 

  

 
1. Description of the City of London Pension Fund 

This is an extract from a more detailed published statement, a copy of which is available on the City Corporation’s website (www.cityoflondon.gov.uk/about-the-
city/budgets-and-spending) or on request from the Chamberlain. 

The City of London Pension Fund is a funded defined benefits scheme.  With the exception of serving police officers, teachers and judges who have their own schemes, 
all City of London staff are eligible for membership of the Local Government Pension Scheme (LGPS).   

The Fund is administered internally by the City of London.  The Fund’s investments are managed externally by several fund managers with differing mandates 
determined by the City of London.   

2. Accounting Policies 

i. The pension fund statements have been prepared in accordance with the following Regulations: the LGPS  Regulations 2013 (as amended), the LGPS 
(Transactional Provisions, Savings and Amendments) Regulations 2014 (as amended), the LGPS (Management and Investment of Funds) Regulations 2016; and 
with the guidelines set out in the Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the United Kingdom 2016/17 having regard to the Statement of 
Recommended Practice, Financial Reports of Pension Schemes (2015).   

ii. The pension fund accounts are accounted for on an accruals basis for income and expenditure, with the exception of transfer values in and out, which are 
accounted for on a cash basis. 

iii. The fund’s financial statements do not take account of liabilities to pay pensions and other benefits after the period end. 

iv. Financial assets are included in the net assets statement on a fair value basis as at the reporting date. A financial asset is recognised in the net assets statement 
on the date the fund becomes party to the contractual acquisition of the asset. From this date any gains or losses arising from changes in the fair value of the 
asset are recognised in the fund account.  

v. The values of investments as shown in the net assets statement have been determined at fair value in accordance with the requirements of the Code and 
IFRS13 (see Note 13). For the purposes of disclosing levels of fair value hierarchy, the fund has adopted the classification guidelines recommended in Practical 
Guidance on Investment Disclosures (PRAG/Investment Association, 2016).  

vi. Acquisition costs are included in the purchase costs of investments. 

vii. Assets and liabilities in overseas currencies are translated into sterling at the exchange rates ruling at the balance sheet date.  Transactions during the year are 
translated at rates applying at the transaction dates. Surpluses and deficits arising on conversion are dealt with as part of the change in market values of the 
investments.  

viii. The cost of administration is charged directly to the fund. 

ix. Income due from equities is accounted for on the date stocks are quoted ex-dividend. 

P
age 172



City of London Pension Fund Accounts and Explanatory Notes  Page 115 

  

x. Income from overseas investments is recorded net of any withholding tax where this cannot be recovered. 

xi. Income from bonds and index-linked securities, cash and short-term deposits is accounted for on an accruals basis. 

xii. Income from other investments is accounted for on an accruals basis. 

xiii. The change in market value of investments during the year comprises all increases and decreases in the market value of investments held at any time during 
the year, including profit and losses realised on sales of investments and unrealised changes in market value.  

xiv. Normal contributions, both from members and employers, are accounted for in the payroll month to which they relate at rates as specified in the rates and 
adjustments certificate.  Additional contributions from employers are accounted for in accordance with the agreement under which they are paid, or in the 
absence of such agreement, when received.    

xv. Under the rules of the Scheme, members may receive a lump sum retirement grant in addition to their annual pension.  Lump sum retirement grants are 
accounted for from the date of retirement.  Where a member can choose to take a greater retirement grant in return for a reduced pension these lump sums 
are accounted for on an accruals basis from the date the option is exercised.  

xvi. Transfer values represent the amounts received and paid during the year for members who have either joined or left the fund during the financial year and are 
calculated in accordance with the Local Government Pension Scheme Regulations 2013. Individual transfers in/out are accounted for when received/paid, 
which is normally when the member liability is accepted or discharged.  

xvii. Administration and investment management expenses are accounted for on an accruals basis. Expenses are recognised net of any recoverable VAT. 

3. Critical Judgements in Applying Accounting Policies 

The net pension fund liability is recalculated every three years by the appointed actuary, with annual updates in the intervening years. The methodology used is in line 
with accepted guidelines.  
This estimate is subject to significant variances based on changes to the underlying assumptions which are agreed with the actuary and have been summarised in Note 
22. 
These actuarial revaluations are used to set future contribution rates and underpin the fund’s most significant investment management policies, for example in terms 
of the balance struck between longer term investment growth and short-term yield/return. 

P
age 173



City of London Pension Fund Accounts and Explanatory Notes  Page 116 

  

4. Membership of the Fund 

2015/16
Current

Contributors
Beneficiaries 

In Receipt
of Pension

Deferred 
Benefits

Total Total

No. No. No. No. No.

CITY OF LONDON 4,008 3,638 3,854 11,500 11,229

SCHEDULED BODIES:
Museum of London 226 224 584 1,034 1,026
Magistrates Court 0 20 17 37 37

226 244 601 1,071 1,063
ADMITTED BODIES:

Irish Society 4 11 2 17 17
City Arts Trust 0 1 0 1 1
Parking Committee for London 0 4 8 12 12
Guildhall Club 0 5 5 10 10
City Academy - Southwark 74 5 103 182 165
Sir John Cass (Brookwood) 1 0 1 2 2
AMEY (Enterprise) 7 4 3 14 15
Eville and Jones 0 0 1 1 1
London CIV 11 0 0 11 5
Westminster Drugs Project 3 0 0 3 3
Agilysis 15 0 10 25 26
Agilysis (police) 0 1 2 3 3
Bouygues (EDTE) 0 0 2 2 2
Cook & Butler 2 0 0 2 2
1SC Guarding Limited 0 0 1 1 1

117 31 138 286 265
GRAND TOTAL 4,351 3,913 4,593 12,857 12,557

2016/17

 
 

  

P
age 174



City of London Pension Fund Accounts and Explanatory Notes  Page 117 

  

5. Contributions  

2015/16 2016/17

£m £m
Employers:

(20.0) Administering Authority City of London (20.8)

(1.0) Scheduled bodies Museum of London (1.1)

(0.2) Admitted bodies Agilysis (0.1)

(0.3)
City Academy - 
Southwark

(0.3)

(0.1) Other (0.2)
(21.6) (22.5)

Employees of:
(8.6) Administering Authority City of London (9.0)

(0.5) Scheduled bodies Museum of London (0.5)

(0.1) Admitted bodies Agilysis (0.1)

(0.1)
City Academy - 
Southwark

(0.1)

0.0 Other (0.1)
(9.3) (9.8)

(30.9) (32.3)Total Contributions  
 

6. Additional Voluntary Contributions 

AVC’s are Additional Voluntary Contributions and are managed externally and independently from the rest of the Pension Fund.  They are paid by members to the 
Corporation and are then paid directly to the Fund Managers – Prudential, Equitable Life and Standard Life Investments. AVC’s of £0.54m were paid in 2016/17 
(2015/16: £0.67m). 
 
In accordance with Regulation 4(1)(b) of the Pension Scheme (Management and Investment of Funds) Regulations 2016, the contributions paid and the assets of 
these investments are not included in the Fund’s Accounts. 

P
age 175



City of London Pension Fund Accounts and Explanatory Notes  Page 118 

  

7. Benefits 

2015/16 2016/17 2015/16 2016/17
£m Total Benefits Paid £m £m £m

Retired Employees Benefits Paid Comprises
29.5           pensions 30.6 39.6 Administering Authority 40.0

6.7           lump sums 5.6 0.2 Scheduled Bodies 0.1
0.6 Lump sum on death 0.8 0.1 Admitted Bodies 0.1
3.0 Widows’ or Widowers’ pensions 3.1 39.9 40.2
0.1 Children’s pensions 0.1

39.9 40.2  
8. Payments to and on account of leavers 

2015/16 2016/17
£m £m

1.8      Individual Transfers Out 1.8  
9. Management expenses 

2015/16 2016/17
£m £m

0.5 Central administration* 0.5
0.1 ICT costs 0.1
0.0 Other expenses** 0.1
0.6 0.7  

 
*Includes audit fees of £21,000 that have been charged to the Pension Fund (2015/16: £21,000).   
** Other expenses of £0.1m are for tax liability annual allowances (2015/16: £nil). 
 
  

P
age 176



City of London Pension Fund Accounts and Explanatory Notes  Page 119 

  

 
10. Income from investments 

2015/16 2016/17
£m £m

(0.2) Overseas equities (0.3)
0.0 Private Equity (0.1)

(0.1) Infrastructure (0.2)
(0.1) Interest on Cash Instruments 0.0
(0.4) (0.6)  

 
Investment income of £0.6m (2015/16: £0.4m) represents legacy income associated with investments the Pension Fund had in principally segregated equity and 
bond funds, as well as income from Private Equities and Infrastructure funds. 

The revised investment policies of the Pension Fund are focussed on capital accumulation in pooled vehicles and private equity investments. Dividends and 
interest are typically retained at pool level. Where any shortfall of the Net Deductions on Contributions and Benefits Paid was previously covered by investment 
income, it is intended that the Fund will sell holdings in the pooled vehicles, as necessary, to cover any shortfalls. There are no limitations imposed by the fund 
managers on the selling of these pooled vehicle funds. 

11. Investment Expenses 

In 2016/17, the City of London Pension Fund incurred investment management expenses of £6.1m (2015/16: £6.4m). 
 
  

P
age 177



City of London Pension Fund Accounts and Explanatory Notes  Page 120 

  

12. Investment Assets 

The table below shows the movement in Market Values by asset type between 1 April 2016 and 31 March 2017. 
Market 
Value at 

01/04/2016

Purchases at 
Cost

Sales 
Proceeds

Net 
(gain)/loss

Market 
Value at 

31/03/2017
£m £m £m £m £m

Managed Investments
Pooled Units   

UK (146.6) (64.3) 70.2 (27.6) (168.3)
Global (605.3) 0.0 2.8 (124.4) (726.9)

Long Term Investments (0.2) 0.0 0.0 0.0 (0.2)
Private Equity (15.3) (5.2) 4.5 (4.9) (20.9)
Infrastructure (32.6) (8.3) 1.4 (8.9) (48.4)
Total Managed Investments (800.0) (77.8) 78.9 (165.8) (964.7)
Fund Managers Cash (0.0) (64.3) 69.3 (5.0) 0.0
Accrued Income (1.2) (0.5)
Investment Receivable (0.2) 0.0
Investment Liability 0.2 0.0
Total Investment assets (801.2) (965.2)  

A comparison is provided in the table below for the Market Values between 1 April 2015 and 31 March 2016.

Market 
Value at 

01/04/2015

Purchases at 
Cost

Sales 
Proceeds

Net 
(gain)/loss

Market 
Value at 

31/03/2016
£m £m £m £m £m

Managed Investments
Pooled Units   

UK (162.7) 0.0 10.1 6.0 (146.6)
Global (641.3) (145.7) 172.3 9.4 (605.3)

Long Term Investments (0.2) 0.0 0.0 0.0 (0.2)
Private Equity (11.5) (5.7) 3.4 (1.5) (15.3)
Infrastructure 0.0 (29.6) 0.9 (3.9) (32.6)
Total Managed Investments (815.7) (181.0) 186.7 10.0 (800.0)
Fund Managers Cash (0.3) 145.6 (144.6) (0.7) (0.0)
Accrued Income (1.2) (1.2)
Interest Receivable 0.0 (0.2)
Investment Liability 0.2 0.2
Total Investment assets (817.0) (801.2)  

P
age 178



City of London Pension Fund Accounts and Explanatory Notes  Page 121 

  

 

13. Fair Value of Financial Instruments 

a. Classification of Financial Instruments 

Fair Value 
through profit 

and loss
Loans and 
receivables

Financial 
liabilities at 

amortised cost

Fair Value 
through profit 

and loss
Loans and 
receivables

Financial 
liabilities at 

amortised cost
Financial Assets
Managed Investments 

(751.9) Pooled Investments (895.2)
(0.2) Long Term Investments (0.2)

(15.3) Private Equity (20.9)
(32.6) Infrastructure (48.4)

(1.9) Cash (2.3)
(1.4) Other Investment (0.5)

Balances
Debtors (0.3)

(799.8) (3.5) 0.0 (964.5) (3.3) 0.0
Financial Liabilities

0.2 Other Investment 0.0
Balances

0.9 Creditors 1.1
0.0 0.0 1.1 0.0 0.0 1.1

(799.8) (3.5) 1.1 Total (964.5) (3.3) 1.1
Grand Total

31 March 2016
£m

31 March 2017
£m

(802.2) (966.7)  
 

b. Net (Gains) and Losses on Financial Instruments 

31 March 2016 31 March 2017
£m £m

Financial Assets
9.3 Fair value through profit and loss (170.8)

Financial Liabilities
0.0 Fair value through profit and loss 0.0
9.3 (170.8)  

P
age 179



City of London Pension Fund Accounts and Explanatory Notes  Page 122 

  

 
Valuation of Financial Instruments Carried at Fair Value 
The valuation of financial instruments has been classified into three levels, according to the quality and reliability of information used to determine fair values. 
There has been no change in the valuation techniques used during the year. All assets have been valued using fair value techniques which represent the highest 
and best price available at the reporting date. 

Level 1 

Financial instruments at level 1 are those where the fair values are derived from unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.  
Products classified as level 1 must be traded in active markets, this includes quoted equities, quoted fixed securities, quoted index linked securities and exchange 
traded unit trusts. 

Level 2 

Financial instruments at level 2 are those where quoted market prices are not available for example, where an instrument is traded in a market that is not 
considered to be active, or where valuation techniques are used to determine fair value. 

Products classified as level 2 comprise open ended pooled investment vehicles which are not exchange traded, unquoted bonds and repurchase agreements.  

Level 3 

Financial instruments at level 3 are those where at least one input that could have a significant effect on the instrument’s valuation is not based on observable 
market data. 

Such instruments would include unquoted equity investments and hedge funds which are valued using various valuation techniques that require significant 
judgement in determining appropriate assumptions. 

The values of the investment in private equity and infrastructure funds are based on valuations provided by the general partners to the private equity funds in 
which City of London Pension Fund has invested. 

These valuations are prepared in accordance with the International Private Equity and Venture Capital Valuation Guidelines, which follow the valuation principles 
of IFRS and US GAAP.  Valuations are usually undertaken annually at the end of December.  Cash flow adjustments are used to roll forward the valuations to 31 
March as appropriate.   

The next table provides an analysis of the financial assets and liabilities of the pension fund grouped into Levels 1 to 3, based on the level at which the fair value is 
observable. 
Subsequent to Guidance released by the Pensions Research Accountants Group (PRAG) in May 2016 provides further distinction on the classification on Pooled 
Investment Vehicles within the fair value hierarchy. Any pooled funds that are not quoted on an exchange should be classed as level two, as this would not meet 
the refined definition of level 1 investments: The unadjusted quoted price in an active market for identical assets or liabilities that the entity can access at the 
measurement date. 
 
  

P
age 180



City of London Pension Fund Accounts and Explanatory Notes  Page 123 

  

Values as at 31 March 2017 

Quoted Market 
Price

Using Observable 
Inputs

With Significant 
Unobservable 

Inputs Total
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3

£m £m £m £m
Financial Assets

Fair value through profit and loss 0.0 (895.4) (69.3) (964.7)
Loans and receivables (0.5) 0.0 0.0 (0.5)

Net Financial Assets (0.5) (895.4) (69.3) (965.2)  
 
To provide a comparable fair valuation for the period ending 31 March 2016, pooled investment vehicles which were previously valued at level 1 have been 
restated to fall under level 2. 
Values as at 31 March 2016 

Quoted Market 
Price

Using Observable 
Inputs

With Significant 
Unobservable 

Inputs Total
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3

£m £m £m £m
Financial Assets

Fair value through profit and loss 0.0 (752.1) (47.9) (800.0)
Loans and receivables (1.4) 0.0 0.0 (1.4)

(1.4) (752.1) (47.9) (801.4)
Financial Liabilities

Payables 0.2 0.0 0.0 0.2
0.2 0.0 0.0 0.2

Net Financial Assets (1.2) (752.1) (47.9) (801.2)  
  

P
age 181



City of London Pension Fund Accounts and Explanatory Notes  Page 124 

  

 
The table below shows the movements in Level 3 disclosures for 2016/17 

Disclosures for Level 3
Market Value at    

01/04/2016
Transfers into      

Level 3
Transfers out of 

Level 3
Purchases at 

Cost
Sales

Unrealised 
(Gains)/Losses

Realised 
(Gains)/Losses

Market Value at 
31/03/2017

£m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m
Private Equity (15.3) 0.0 0.0 (5.2) 4.5 (4.2) (0.7) (20.9)
Infrastructure (32.6) 0.0 0.0 (8.3) 1.4 (8.9) 0.0 (48.4)
Total Level 3 (47.9) 0.0 0.0 (13.5) 5.9 (13.1) (0.7) (69.3)  

  

P
age 182



City of London Pension Fund Accounts and Explanatory Notes  Page 125 

  

 
Movements in Investment Assets 

Value at 01/04/2016 Purchases at Cost Sales Proceeds Net (gain)/loss Value at 31/03/2017
£m £m £m £m £m

Managed Investments
Equity Pooled Vehicles :
Artemis Pooled (75.8) 0.0 0.6 (12.6) (87.8)
C Worldwide Pooled* (93.3) 0.0 0.1 (23.3) (116.5)
GMO Pooled (70.8) 0.0 69.4 1.4 0.0
Harris Pooled (70.1) 0.0 0.6 (28.2) (97.7)
Lindsell Train 0.0 (32.1) 0.2 (7.5) (39.4)
Majedie 0.0 (32.2) 0.0 (8.9) (41.1)
Veritas Pooled (93.1) 0.0 0.6 (27.4) (119.9)
Wellington Pooled (81.9) 0.0 0.5 (26.7) (108.1)
Multi-Asset Pooled Vehicles :
Pyrford (125.0) 0.0 5.5 (12.0) (131.5)
Ruffer (76.1) 0.0 0.5 (10.4) (86.0)
Standard Life (65.8) 0.0 0.0 (1.4) (67.2)
Long Term Investments
London CIV (0.2) 0.0 0.0 0.0 (0.2)
Private Equity Funds : 
Ares (0.6) (0.1) 0.2 (0.5) (1.0)
Coller (0.3) 0.0 0.0 (0.3) (0.6)
Crestview (1.0) (0.3) 0.1 (0.2) (1.4)
Environmental Technologies (0.8) 0.0 0.3 0.0 (0.5)
Exponent (1.0) (1.1) 0.4 (0.1) (1.8)
Frontier (1.3) (0.6) 1.3 (1.4) (2.0)
New Mountain (1.8) (1.1) 0.2 (0.9) (3.6)
Standard Life (6.7) (0.7) 1.7 (1.4) (7.1)
Warburg Pincus (0.2) (1.3) 0.1 (0.1) (1.5)
Yorkshire Fund Managers (1.6) 0.0 0.2 0.0 (1.4)
Infrastructure Funds: 0.0
DIF (2.4) (8.3) 0.5 (0.7) (10.9)
IFM (30.2) 0.0 0.9 (8.2) (37.5)
Total Investments (800.0) (77.8) 83.9 (170.8) (964.7)
Accrued Income (1.2) (0.5)
Investment Receivable (0.2) 0.0
Investment Liability 0.2 0.0
Closing Balance (801.2) (965.2)  
*On 8 March 2017 Carnegie Asset Management was renamed C WorldWide Asset Management. 

P
age 183



City of London Pension Fund Accounts and Explanatory Notes  Page 126 

  

 
14. Risk and Risk Management 

The Pension Fund’s primary long-term risk is that its assets will fall short of its liabilities (i.e. promised benefits payable to members). Therefore the aim of investment 
risk management is to minimise the risk of an overall reduction in the value of the Fund and to maximise the opportunity for gains across the whole Fund portfolio. 

The fund’s investments are actively managed by ten main external fund managers who are charged with the responsibility to increase asset values, whilst maintaining 
market risk to acceptable levels.  They achieve this mainly through diversification of stock portfolios across several geographical locations and various industrial sectors 
and asset classes.  The managers’ investing practices are controlled by pre-defined levels of tolerance. 

Concentration risk is also controlled and monitored with a maximum proportion cap over the levels held in individual stocks as a set percentage of each manager’s 
overall portfolio of stocks. 

As part of each of the external fund managers’ investing there is also a strict adherence to the principles of liquidity risk management in order to ensure cash flow 
requirements are met as and when they fall due. 

All of the investing policies and practices are reviewed regularly after thorough consideration of economic and market conditions, and overall care is taken to identify, 
manage and control exposure to the price movements of several categories of investments. 

15. Sensitivity Analysis 

Following analysis of historical data and expected investment return movement during the financial year, in consultation with the fund’s investment advisors, Mercer 
Ltd, the City of London Corporation has determined that the movements in market price risk set out in the table below are reasonably possible for the 2016/17 
reporting period. The potential price changes disclosed below are broadly consistent with a one-standard deviation movement in the value of the assets. The 
sensitivities are consistent with the assumptions contained in the investment advisor’s most recent review. This analysis assumes that all other variables, in particular 
foreign currency exchange rates and interest rates, remain the same. 

This service was previously provided by State Street Analytics, who provided the City of London Corporation with performance measurement data. From June 2016, the 
City of London’s custodian BNY Mellon took on the role of providing performance measurement data and BNY Mellon now provide the currency exposure data 
included under this Sensitivity Analysis section. 

The potential percentage allowance for changes in asset values is within a one-standard deviation tolerance.  The potential increase/decrease in the market prices of 
the fund’s assets are derived from the above, and provides a range of possible net asset values available to meet the fund’s liabilities.  

  

P
age 184



City of London Pension Fund Accounts and Explanatory Notes  Page 127 

  

 
Potential Market Movements (% Change) 

Asset Type 31 March 2017 31 March 2016
Developed market global equities 17.05% 17.30%
Emerging market global equities 29.00% 29.40%
Hedge funds ( proxy for Multi-asset funds) 7.60% 8.00%
Private Equity 24.30% 24.10%
Unlisted infrastructure 15.00% 15.50%  

Price Risk (as at 31 March 2017) 

Asset Type
  Value                   

£m
 Change                    

%  
Value on Increase            

£m
Value on Decrease                   

£m
Developed market global equities 606.5 17.05% 709.9 503.1
Emerging market global equities 4.1 29.00% 5.3 2.9
Hedge funds (proxy for Multi-asset funds) 284.8 7.60% 306.4 263.2
Private equity 20.9 24.30% 26.0 15.8
Unlisted infrastructure 48.4 15.00% 55.7 41.1
Total Assets 964.7 1,103.3 826.1  

Price Risk (as at 31 March 2016) 

Asset Type
  Value                   

£m
Change                    

%  
Value on Increase           

£m
Value on Decrease                   

£m
Developed market global equities 442.2 17.30% 518.7 365.7
Emerging market global equities 43.0 29.40% 55.6 30.4
Hedge funds (proxy for Multi-asset funds) 266.9 8.00% 288.3 245.5
Private equity 15.3 24.10% 19.0 11.6
Unlisted infrastructure 32.6 15.50% 37.7 27.5
Total Assets 800.0 919.3 680.7  

  

P
age 185



City of London Pension Fund Accounts and Explanatory Notes  Page 128 

  

 

Currency Risk 

Currency risk represents the risk that the fair value of future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in foreign exchange rates. The fund is 
exposed to currency risk on financial instruments that are denominated in any currency other than the functional currency of the fund (UK sterling). The following table 
summarises the position as at 31 March 2017. 

Currency
 Value                   

£m

                   
Change                    

%  

Value on 
Increase        

£m

Value on 
Decrease                   

£m
Australian Dollars 12.1 3.34 12.5 11.7
Canadian Dollars 7.3 2.74 7.5 7.1
Danish Krona 0.1 2.66 0.1 0.1
Euros 35.1 2.65 36.0 34.2
Hong Kong Dollars 2.4 2.66 2.5 2.3
Israeli Shekels 0.4 2.49 0.4 0.4
Japanese Yen 6.7 4.46 7.0 6.4
Malaysian Ringgits 1.3 3.74 1.3 1.3
Norwegian Krona 1.2 3.17 1.2 1.2
Singapore Dollars 2.6 2.69 2.7 2.5
South Korean Won 1.2 3.18 1.2 1.2
Swedish Krona 3.0 2.62 3.1 2.9
Swiss Francs 16.1 3.60 16.7 15.5
Taiwanese Dollars 1.2 2.63 1.2 1.2
United States Dollars 220.3 2.67 226.2 214.4
Overseas Total 311.0 319.6 302.4
UK Investments & Cash 653.7   
Overall 964.7    

  

P
age 186



City of London Pension Fund Accounts and Explanatory Notes  Page 129 

  

 
The following analyses show a comparison of the sensitivities as at 31 March 2016. The data was provided by State Street Analytics, who withdrew provision of 
performance statistics to the local authority Pension Funds in 2016 and was based on a currency basket grouping methodology. A precise breakdown by single currency 
using BNY approach was not achievable for 2015/16. 

Currency
 Value                   

£m

                   
Change                    

%  

Value on 
Increase        

£m

Value on 
Decrease                   

£m
North America Investments 277.5               7.43 298.1 256.9
Europe Ex UK Investments 108.8               6.46 115.8 101.8
Asia Pacific Investments 57.8               8.06 62.5 53.1
Emerging Investments 21.5               6.79 23.0 20.0
Overseas Total 465.6 499.4 431.8
UK Investments & Cash 334.4   
Overall 800.0    

Liquidity Risk 

Liquidity risk represents the risk that the Fund will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they fall due. Officers monitor cash flows and takes steps to ensure 
that there are adequate cash resources to meet the fund’s commitments. The fund has immediate access to its cash holdings. 

Liquid assets are those that can be converted to cash within three months, subject to normal market conditions. As at 31 March 2017, liquid assets were £895m 
representing 93% of total fund assets (£752m at 31 March 2016 representing 94% of the Fund at that date). These investments can in fact be liquidated within a matter 
of days. 

16. Current assets  

Current assets include cash balances of £2.3m at 31 March 2017 (£1.9m at 31 March 2016), £0.2m lump sum benefits paid in advance and which relate to 2017/18 
(2015/16 : £nil), and £0.1m year-end debtor for VAT (2015/16 : £nil). 

17. Current liabilities  

Current liabilities represent accruals for investment management expenses, custodian fees and pension payroll transactions.   

P
age 187



City of London Pension Fund Accounts and Explanatory Notes  Page 130 

  

 
18. Funded Obligation of the Overall Pension Fund 

31 March 2016 31 March 2017
£m £m

1,311.3 Present Value of the defined benefit obligation* 1,606.0
(800.8) Fair Value of Fund Assets (bid value) (963.5)
510.5 Net Liability 642.5  

 
*The present value of the funded obligation consists of £1,546.2m in respect of vested obligations and £59.8m in respect of non-vested obligations (2015/16: 
£1,273.7m and £37.6m respectively). 

The above figures show the total net liability of the Fund as at 31 March 2017 and have been prepared by the fund actuary (Barnett Waddingham LLP) in accordance 
with IAS26. In calculating the disclosed numbers, the actuary has adopted methods and assumptions that are consistent with IAS19. The figures presented are prepared 
only for the purposes of IAS19 and will therefore differ from the results of the 2016 triennial funding valuation. 

Assumptions
% pa Real % pa % pa Real % pa

3.2 0.9 RPI increase 3.6 1.3 
2.3 0.0 CPI increase 2.6 0.0 
3.8 1.5 Salary increase 4.1 1.5 
2.3 0.0 Pension increase 2.6 0.0 
3.6 1.3 Discount Rate 2.7 0.1 

at 31 March 2016 at 31 March 2017

 
* Consumer Price Inflation has been used as basis to reflect the actuarial assumption in real terms. 

19. Contingent Liabilities and Contractual Commitments 

Outstanding capital commitments (investments) at 31 March 2017 totalled £27.1m (31 March 2016: £40.6m). These commitments relate to outstanding call payments 
due on unquoted limited partnership funds held in the private equity and infrastructure parts of the portfolio. The amounts ‘called’ by these funds are irregular in both 
size and timing over a period of between four and six years from the date of each original commitment. 

  

P
age 188



City of London Pension Fund Accounts and Explanatory Notes  Page 131 

  

 
20. Related Party Transactions 

The City of London Pension Fund is administered by the City of London Corporation. Consequently there is a strong relationship between the local authority and the 
pension fund. 

The City of London Corporation is also the single largest employer of members of the pension fund and the employer contributions paid by it was £20.8m in 2016-17 
(2015-16: £20.0m).  

21. Post Balance Sheet Events 

There are no major post balance sheet events. 

22. Funding Arrangements 

In accordance with statutory regulations a triennial valuation of the Pension Fund was completed by the City’s independent consulting actuaries, Barnett Waddingham 
LLP, as at 31 March 2013 using the projected unit method.  

A further triennial valuation as at 31 March 2016 has been completed by the independent consulting actuaries and the resulting employers’ contribution will be 
effective for the next three financial years commencing 1 April 2017. 

The main funding assumptions which follow were incorporated into the funding model used in the 2013 and 2016 valuations (Consumer Price Inflation has been used 
as basis to reflect the actuarial assumption in real terms): 

March 2013 % 
p.a. Real % p.a.

March 2016    % 
p.a. Real % p.a.

Financial Assumptions
Discount Rate 6.0 3.3 5.7 3.3
Retail Price Inflation 3.5 0.8 3.3 0.9
Consumer Price Inflation 2.7 0.0 2.4 0.0
Pension Increases 2.7 0.0 2.4 0.0
Pay Increases (Short Term) 1.0 (1.7) *
Pay Increases (Long Term) 4.2 1.5 3.9 1.5  

 
*CPI for the period 31/03/2016 to 31/03/2020.  The discount rate reflects the asset allocation embedded in the fund’s long-term strategy, the table overleaf outlines 
how these assumptions translate into an overall discount rate assumption. 

  

P
age 189



City of London Pension Fund Accounts and Explanatory Notes  Page 132 

  

 

Future assumed returns at 2016 Percentage 
of Fund

Return 
Assumption

Real 
(relative to 

CPI)
% % %

Gilts 0 2.4 0.0 
Cash 0 1.8 (0.6)
Bonds 0 3.3 0.9 
Equities 55 7.4 5.0 
Property 10 5.9 3.5 
Absolute return find - inflation plus 3.7% 15 6.1 3.7 
Absolute return find - LIBOR plus 4.5% 20 6.3 3.9 
Expenses (deduction) (0.2)
Neutral estimate of discount rate based on long-term 
investment strategy 6.7 4.3 
Prudence Allowance (1.0)
Discount Rate 5.7 3.3  

 
Demographic assumptions 

The demographic assumptions used are consistent with those used for the most recent Fund valuation, which was carried out as at 31 March 2016, hence they are 
different from those used for the 2015/16 statement of accounts. The post retirement mortality tables adopted are the S2PA tables with a multiplier of 80%, for males 
and 85% for females. These base tables are then projected using the CMI 2015 Model, allowing for a long-term rate of improvement of 1.5% p.a.: 

The valuations at 31 March 2013 and 31 March 2016 revealed that the relationship between the values placed on the assets held by the fund and the liabilities accrued 
in respect of pensionable service at that date were as follows: 

Life expectancy from age 65 31 March 2016 31 March 2013
Retiring today Males 24.3 23

Females 25.8 25.4
Retiring in 20 years Males 26.5 24.8

Females 28.1 27.3  
  

P
age 190



City of London Pension Fund Accounts and Explanatory Notes  Page 133 

  

 
Commutation assumption 

As part of the 2016 valuation the actuary performed an analysis of retirement patterns using the new universal data extract. This analysis revealed that members on 
average exchanged pension to get approximately 50% of the maximum available cash on retirement. 

50:50 membership 

The actuary has assumed that existing members will continue to participate in their current section. 

Funding Position at Valuation date 

The valuations at 31 March 2013 and 31 March 2016 revealed that the relationship between the values placed on the assets held by the fund and the liabilities accrued 
in respect of pensionable service at that date were as follows: 

March 2013 March 2016
Past Service Liabilities £m £m
Active Members 278.8 308.9
Deferred pensioners 158.1 185.1
Pensioners 392.7 451.6
Total 829.6 945.6
Assets (701.8) (796.3)
Deficit 127.8 149.3
Funding Level 85% 84%  

Based on the above data the derivation of the basic rate of employer’s contribution is set out below: 

March 2013 March 2016
Contribution rate 

%
Contribution rate 

%
Future service funding rate 11.5 12.8
Past service adjustment 5.5 8.2
Total contribution rate 17.0 21.0  

 
The past service adjustment assumes that the deficit is recovered over a 20 year period in the March 2013 valuation and a 17 year  period in the March 2016 valuation.  

Having considered the basic rate of employer’s contributions above, the City of London Corporation set contribution rates applicable to its employees of 21.0% for each 
of the financial years 2017/18 to 2019/20. Exceptions are City Academy who pay 17.1% p.a. and Museum of London which has certified stepped contributions of 15.1% 
in 2017/18, 15.6% in 2018/19 and 16.1% in 2019/20. 

  

P
age 191



City of London Pension Fund Accounts and Explanatory Notes  Page 134 

  

 
Of the employers’ contributions receivable in 2016/17 amounting to £22.52m, the amounts attributable to “deficit funding” are as follows: 

Future           
Funding

Past-service 
Deficit Funding

Total 
Contributions

£m £m £m
Administering Authority
City of London 12.70 8.14 20.84

Scheduled Bodies 0.64 0.41 1.05
Museum of London

Admitted Bodies
Irish Society 0.01 0.01 0.02
Agilisys 0.08 0.05 0.13
City Academy -Southwark 0.17 0.11 0.28
Other 0.13 0.07 0.20

13.73 8.79 22.52  
 

P
age 192



 Annual Governance Statement Page 135 

  

 
Scope of Responsibility 
1. The City of London Corporation is a diverse organisation with three main aims: to support and promote the City as the world leader in international finance and 

business services; to provide modern, efficient and high quality local services, including policing, within the Square Mile for workers, residents and visitors; and to 
provide valued services, such as education, employment, culture and leisure to London and the nation. Its unique franchise arrangements support the achievement 
of these aims. 

2. Although this statement has been prepared to reflect the City of London Corporation in its capacity as a local authority and police authority, the governance 
arrangements are applied equally to its other funds – City’s Cash and Bridge House Estates. 

3. The City of London Corporation (“the City”) is responsible for ensuring that its business is conducted in accordance with the law and proper standards; that public 
money is safeguarded and properly accounted for, and used economically, efficiently and effectively; and that arrangements are made to secure continuous 
improvement in the way its functions are operated.  

4. In discharging this overall responsibility, the City is responsible for putting in place proper arrangements for the governance of its affairs and facilitating the 
effective exercise of its functions, which includes arrangements for the management of risk. 

5. The City has approved and adopted a code of corporate governance which is consistent with the principles of the CIPFA/SOLACE 6Framework Delivering Good 
Governance in Local Government.  A copy of the code is on the City’s website at www.cityoflondon.gov.uk.  This statement explains how the City has complied with 
the code and also meets the requirements of regulation 6(1) of the Accounts and Audit (England) Regulations 2015 which requires all relevant bodies to prepare an 
annual governance statement. 

The Purpose of the Governance Framework 
6. The governance framework comprises the systems and processes by which the City is directed and controlled and its activities through which it accounts to, 

engages with and leads its communities.  It enables the City to monitor the achievement of its strategic objectives and to consider whether those objectives have 
led to the delivery of appropriate, cost-effective services. 

7. The system of internal control is a significant part of that framework and is designed to manage all risk to a reasonable level.  It cannot eliminate all risk of failure to 
achieve policies, aims and objectives and can therefore only provide reasonable rather than absolute assurance of effectiveness.  The City’s system of internal 
control is based on an ongoing process designed to identify and prioritise the risks to the achievement of the City’s policies, aims and objectives, to evaluate the 
likelihood of those risks being realised and the impact should they be realised, and to manage them efficiently, effectively and economically. 

8. The governance framework has been in place at the City for the year ended 31 March 2017 and up to the date of approval of the statement of accounts. 

                     
6 CIPFA is the Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy 
  SOLACE is the Society of Local Authority Chief Executives 

 

P
age 193



 Annual Governance Statement Page 136 

  

Key Elements of the Governance Framework 
Code of Corporate Governance  
9. The principles of good governance are embedded within a comprehensive published Code of Corporate Governance. This code covers both the local authority and 

police authority roles, and links together a framework of policies and procedures, including: 

• Standing Orders, which govern the conduct of the City’s affairs, particularly the operation of Committees and the relationship between Members and officers; 
• Financial Regulations, which lay down rules that aim to ensure the proper management and safeguarding of the City’s financial and other resources; 
• Terms of reference for each Committee; 
• A Scheme of Delegations, which defines the responsibility for decision-making and the exercise of authority; 
• A Members’ Code of Conduct, which defines standards of personal behaviour; 
• A Standards Committee whose role is to promote high standards of member behaviour and to deal with complaints made against Members, and register of 

interests, gifts and hospitality; 
• A Code of Conduct for employees; 
• A corporate complaints procedure, operated through the Town Clerk’s Department, with a separate procedure in Community and Children’s Services, to 

comply with the relevant regulations; 
• A corporate Project Toolkit and other detailed guidance for officers, including procedures and manuals for business critical systems; 
• An anti-fraud and corruption strategy, including: anti-bribery arrangements; a social housing tenancy fraud, anti-fraud and prosecution policy; and a 

whistleblowing policy; 
• A Risk Management Strategy; 
• Job and person specifications for senior elected Members and the Court of Aldermen; and 
• A protocol for Member/officer relations. 

10. The City’s main decision making body is the Court of Common Council, which brings together all of the City’s elected members. Members sit on a variety of 
committees which manage the organisation’s different functions, and report to the Court of Common Council on progress and issues as appropriate. The Town 
Clerk and Chief Executive is the City’s statutory head of paid service, and chairs the Chief Officers’ Group, and the Summit Group, which is the primary officer 
decision-making body. In 2015/16 a new officer governance framework was introduced, now comprising four Chief Officer Strategic Steering Groups, reporting to 
the Summit Group. The Comptroller and City Solicitor discharges the role of monitoring officer under the Local Government and Housing Act 1989. 

11. The Court of Common Council is defined as the police authority for the City of London Police area in accordance with the provisions of the City of London Police Act 
1839 and the Police Act 1996.  

  

P
age 194



 Annual Governance Statement Page 137 

  

 
12. The role of police authority is to ensure that the City of London Police runs an effective and efficient service by holding the Commissioner to account; to ensure 

value for money in the way the police is run; and set policing priorities taking into account the views of the community. These, and other key duties, are specifically 
delegated to the Police Committee. The Police Committee has the following Sub Committees and Boards to provide enhanced oversight in specific areas of police 
work: 

• The Professional Standards and Integrity Sub Committee has responsibility for providing detailed oversight over professional standards and integrity within the 
Force, and examines the casework of every single complaint recorded by the Force; 

• The Performance and Resource Management Sub Committee monitors performance against the Policing Plan and oversees management of risk, human and 
financial resources; and 

• The Economic Crime Board considers matters relating to the Force’s national responsibilities for economic crime and fraud investigation. 
• The Police Pensions Board assists the City of London Police in securing compliance with pension scheme regulations and other legislation relating to the 

governance and administration of the scheme. 

13. Under the Localism Act 2011, the City is under a duty to promote and maintain high standards of conduct by Members and co-opted Members. In particular, the 
Court of Common Council must adopt and publicise a code dealing with the conduct that is expected of Members when they are acting in that capacity, and have in 
place a mechanism for the making and investigation of complaints. The Court approved the current Code of Conduct in October 2014, following a review by the 
Standards Committee. 

14. The City has appropriate arrangements in place under which written allegations of a breach of the Member Code of Conduct can be investigated and decisions on 
those allegations taken. The Standards Committee has approved a Complaints Procedure. A Dispensations Sub Committee exists for the purposes of considering 
requests from Members for a dispensation to speak or vote on certain matters (where they have a disclosable pecuniary interest and are otherwise prevented from 
participation) being considered at Committee meetings. Elected and co-opted Members are invited to review and update their Member Declarations on an annual 
basis (although there is no statutory requirement to do so).  

15. Under section 28 of the Localism Act, the City is required to appoint at least one Independent Person to support the new standards arrangements. In June 2012, the 
Court of Common Council gave support to three appointments to the position of Independent Person, and also agreed a revised constitution and terms of 
reference for the Standards Committee, to be adopted under section 28 of the Act. 

16. The Localism Act also requires the City to prepare and publish a Pay Policy Statement each year, setting out its approach to pay for the most senior and junior 
members of staff. The Pay Policy Statement for 2016/17 was agreed by the Court of Common Council in March 2016 and published on the City’s website. 

17. To assist in meeting the City’s obligations under the Bribery Act 2010, officers with decision-making powers in relation to higher risk activities are required to make 
an annual declaration to confirm that they have met the requirements relating to potential conflicts of interest, as set out in the Employee Code of Conduct, and to 
confirm that they have not engaged in any conduct which might give rise to an offence under the Act. 

  

P
age 195



 Annual Governance Statement Page 138 

  

 
18. As a result of the Protection of Freedoms Act 2011-12, revisions were agreed to the City’s policy and procedures in respect of the Regulation of Investigatory 

Powers Act 2000 (RIPA), which regulates surveillance carried out by public authorities in the conduct of their business. A report is made six monthly to the Policy 
and Resources Committee on the City’s use of RIPA powers. In September 2015, the Office of the Surveillance Commissioners conducted an inspection of the City’s 
arrangements. The inspector concluded that the City is keen to set and maintain standards and has a sound RIPA structure, with good policies and procedures. 

Standards Committee 
19. The Standards Committee oversees the conduct of Members in all areas of the City of London Corporation's activities be it local authority, police authority or non-

local authority functions. Its main responsibility is to promote and maintain high standards of conduct by elected Members and Members co-opted on to City of 
London Committees. 

20. Its functions include: 

• monitoring and regularly reviewing the operation of the Code of Conduct for Members and related procedures; 
• considering any alleged breaches of the Code; 
• monitoring Members’ declarations to ensure compliance with both the statutory and local registration requirements; 
• regularly reviewing the complaints procedure and dispensations arrangements, and 
• submitting an annual report to the Court of Common Council. 

21. During 2016/17 the Standards Committee commissioned an independent, broadly-based review of the arrangements in place for addressing matters connected 
with the conduct of Members (including co-opted Members) under the Localism Act 2011, with particular focus on the Complaints Procedure (relating to alleged 
breaches of the Members’ Code of Conduct). A Member Working Party has been formed to review the resulting report and how the recommendations in the 
report might be progressed and implemented. In October 2016, the Committee undertook its annual review of the Protocol on Member/Officer Relations, and 
approved changes including the inclusion of specific reference to equality, diversity and inclusion, and appending the Protocol to both the Employee Code of 
Conduct and the guidance to Members on the Members’ Code of Conduct. No allegations of breaches of the Members’ Code of Conduct were made to the 
Committee during 2016/17. 

  

P
age 196



 Annual Governance Statement Page 139 

  

Business Strategy and Planning Process 

 
 
22. The City has a clear hierarchy of plans, setting out its ambitions and priorities: 

• The Corporate Plan shows how the City Corporation will fulfil its role as a provider of services both inside and outside of the City boundaries. The current 
Corporate Plan (2015-19) includes a statement of the City’s Vision, Strategic Aims, Key Policy Priorities, Core Values and Behaviours. 

• The City of London Policing Plan details the policing priorities and shows how these will be delivered over the coming year. It also contains all the measures and 
targets against which the Police Committee hold the City of London Police to account. 

• Other corporate plans and strategies are mentioned elsewhere in this document.  
23. Plans and strategies are informed by a range of consultation arrangements, such as City-wide residents’ meetings, representative user groups and surveys of 

stakeholders. The City has a unique franchise, giving businesses (our key constituency) a direct say in the running of the City, and a range of engagement activities, 

P
age 197



 Annual Governance Statement Page 140 

  

including through the Lord Mayor, Chairman of Policy and Resources Committee and the Economic Development Office. An annual consultation meeting is held for 
business rates and council tax payers.  

24. The Health and Social Care Act 2012 transferred responsibility for health improvement of local populations to local authorities in England, with effect from 1st April 
2013. The new duties included the establishment of a Health and Wellbeing Board, which provides collective leadership to improve health and wellbeing for the 
local area.   

Information Management Strategy 
25. The Information Management Strategy (approved October 2009) sets out the headline approach to information management in the City. It summarises the current 

position, gives a vision of where we want to be and proposes a set of actions to start us on the path to that vision. The Strategy defines our approach to the other 
key elements for information management, in particular data security and data sharing.  

26. Overall responsibility for Information Management Governance is vested in the Information Technology (IT) Sub Committee. The Information Management 
Governance Steering Group reports to the Strategic Resources Group and the IT Steering Group, both chaired by the Chamberlain. Both groups report to the 
Summit Group and the IT Sub Committee. The Comptroller and City Solicitor is now the Senior Information Risk Owner (SIRO) and work continues to identify 
Information Asset Owners (IAO) within departments and build an information asset register. 

Financial Management Arrangements 
27. The Chamberlain of London is the officer with statutory responsibility for the proper administration of the City’s financial affairs. In 2010 CIPFA issued a “Statement 

on the Role of the Chief Financial Officer in Local Government”7 which codifies the key responsibilities of this role and sets out how the requirements of legislation 
and professional standards should be met. The City’s financial management arrangements conform to the governance requirements of the Statement. The 
Chamberlain also fulfils the role of Treasurer of the Police Authority. 

28. The system of internal control is based on a framework of regular management information, financial regulations, administrative procedures (including segregation 
of duties), management supervision, a system of delegation and accountability, and independent scrutiny. In particular the system includes: 

• a rolling in depth survey of the City’s forecast position over a five year period; 
• comprehensive budget setting processes; 
• monthly, quarterly and annual financial reports which indicate performance against budgets and forecasts; 
• access by all departmental and central finance staff to systems providing a suite of enquiries and reports to facilitate effective financial management on an 

ongoing basis; 
• ongoing contact and communication between central finance officers and departmental finance officers; 
• clearly defined capital expenditure guidelines; 
• formal project management disciplines; 

                     
7 Updated in 2016 

P
age 198



 Annual Governance Statement Page 141 

  

• the provision of high quality advice across the organisation; 
• an internal audit service combining in-house staff with external knowledge and expertise; 
• insuring against specific risks;  
• scrutiny by Members, OFSTED, CQC, HMIC, other inspectorates, External Audit and other stakeholders, and 
• requests for Members and Chief Officers to disclose related party transactions including instances where their close family have completed transactions with 

the City of London Corporation. 

29. The City has a long-standing and in-built culture of maximising returns from its resources and seeking value for money. It assesses the scope for improvements in 
efficiency /value for money at a corporate and service level by a variety of means, including improvement priorities set by the Policy and Resources Committee 
through the annual resource allocation process, and internal examination and review by the Efficiency and Performance Sub Committee. 

30. For non-Police services, the local government settlement in autumn 2016 was challenging but fell within the prudent assumptions included with the City’s financial 
forecast. Agreed actions from a service based review will deliver efficiencies, savings and opportunities for additional income totalling some £11m a year by 
2018/19. Subject to there being no significant adverse changes in financial planning assumptions across the period, forecasts indicate a surplus across the period to 
2020/21. However, the economic outlook and public finances remain uncertain following ‘Brexit’ and the national election and there is no guarantee that 
government funding will be not be revised further downwards in future years. The position is being monitored on an ongoing basis.  

31. Following approval by the Court of Common Council in October 2016, an Efficiency and Sustainability Plan for the City was submitted to and accepted by the 
Department for Communities and Local Government. This establishes a framework for continuous efficiency improvement beyond 2017/18 when the current 
service based review programme will be substantially complete, including a 2% per annum budget reduction target that will deliver sufficient efficiencies across the 
City’s funds from 2018/19 to sustain these budgets over the medium term and allow for planned investment in services. In addition, further corporate efficiency 
and effectiveness reviews are planned for when the current cross-cutting programmes are completed. 

32. The Efficiency and Performance Sub Committee has responsibility for monitoring and oversight of the delivery of the service based review savings and increased 
income, and the cross-cutting efficiency reviews, and continues to challenge the achievement of value for money, helping to embed further a value for money 
culture within the City’s business and planning processes. 

33. The City of London Police manages its budget on a ring-fenced basis. The Court of Common Council agreed to increase the Business Rates Premium from April 2016 
with the additional income, estimated at £1.6m a year, being allocated to the Police to cover emerging cost pressures relating to security. Nevertheless, the 
underlying financial position remains challenging with deficits forecast across the period and reserves exhausted during 2017/18. This is despite implementing a 
challenging savings plan and previous budget reductions. 

34. The Force has a robust financial strategy in place to balance the budget over the period to 2018/19, which includes provision for a minimum general reserve 
balance for unforeseen or exceptional operational requirements. The Force and the City Corporation are also investigating areas for greater collaboration, including 
the development of a Joint Contact and Control Room as part of the Secure City programme.  

35. The Police Performance and Resource Management Sub Committee’s responsibilities include overseeing the Force’s resource management in order to maximise 
the efficient and effective use of resources to deliver its strategic priorities; monitoring government and other external agencies’ policies and actions relating to 

P
age 199



 Annual Governance Statement Page 142 

  

police performance; overseeing the Force’s risk management arrangements, and ensuring that the Force delivers value for money. The Sub Committee also 
receives regular updates on the work of internal audit in relation to the Force. 

36. The Policy and Resources Committee determines the level of the City's own resources to be made available to finance capital projects on the basis of a 
recommendation from the Resource Allocation Sub Committee. Ordinarily, such projects are financed from capital rather than revenue resources, and major 
projects from provisions set aside in financial forecasts. 

37. The City has a number of procedures in place to ensure that its policies and the principles that underpin them are implemented economically, efficiently and 
effectively. This framework includes: 

• Financial Strategy. This provides a common base for guiding the City’s approach to managing financial resources and includes the pursuit of budget policies that 
seek to achieve a sustainable level of revenue spending and create headroom for capital investment and policy initiatives;  

• Budget policy. The key policy is to balance current expenditure and current income over the medium term. Both blanket pressure and targeted reviews are 
applied to encourage Chief Officers to continuously seek improved efficiency; 

• Annual resource allocation process. This is the framework within which the City makes judgements on adjustments to resource levels and ensures that these 
are properly implemented;  

• Corporate Property Asset Management Strategy. This aims to ensure that the City’s operational assets are managed effectively, efficiently and sustainably, in 
support of the organisation’s strategic priorities and business needs;  

• Capital project evaluation, management and monitoring. The City has a comprehensive system of controls covering the entire life cycle of capital and major 
revenue projects; and 

• Treasury Management and Investment Strategies.  Setting out the arrangements for the management of the City’s investments, cash flows, banking and money 
market transactions; the effective control of risks associated with those activities; and the pursuit of optimum performance consistent with those risks. 

38. Consideration is given to efficiency during the development and approval stages of all major projects, with expected efficiency gains quantified within reports to 
Members. 

39. The performance of the City’s financial and property investments are monitored and benchmarked regularly, both in-house and independently, through experts in 
the field. 

40. The City’s project management and procurement arrangements provide a consistent approach to project management and co-ordination of the portfolio of 
projects across the organisation. The Projects Sub Committee meets monthly to ensure that projects align with corporate objectives and strategy, and provide 
value for money.  

  

P
age 200



 Annual Governance Statement Page 143 

  

Risk Management  
41. In May 2014, the Audit and Risk Management Committee approved a new Risk Management Strategy which set out a new policy statement and a revised 

framework, which aligns with the key principles of ISO 31000: Risk Management Principles and Guidelines, and BS 31100: Risk Management Code of Practice, and 
defines clearly the roles and responsibilities of officers, senior management and Members. The Strategy emphasises risk management as a key element within the 
City’s systems of corporate governance and establishes a clear system for the evaluation of risk and escalation of emerging issues to the appropriate scrutiny level. 
The Strategy assists in ensuring that risk management continues to be integrated by Chief Officers within their business and service planning and aligned to 
departmental objectives. 

42. The Risk Management Group, consisting of senior managers representing all departments, including the City of London Police, meets twice annually.  The group is a 
considerable driver in promoting the application of consistent, systematic risk management practices across the organisation. Strategic decisions on risk 
management are made by the Summit Group on a quarterly basis. Oversight of corporate risk is provided by the Chief Officers’ Group and the Audit and Risk 
Management Committee. These arrangements have been strengthened with the establishment of a Chief Officer Risk Management Group. This meets quarterly to 
review, in depth, the corporate risk register and report their findings to the Summit Group when they consider the quarterly risk update report. In addition to 
receiving quarterly risk update reports, the Audit and Risk Management Committee has adopted a cycle of regular departmental risk challenge sessions, with Chief 
Officers and their respective Committee Chairmen, which take place prior to their meetings. The Committee has also introduced the regular reporting of top 
departmental risks to every Service Committee. 

43. The corporate risk register contains eleven risks, including two new risks which have been added during the last year. 

44. During 2016/17 an external review was undertaken of the City’s risk management arrangements. The report’s key finding was that systems and processes that 
support the risk management framework had significantly improved over the last two years and six areas that should be considered for improvement were 
suggested. An improvement plan is now being implemented. 

45. The external risk management review also provided evidence to support a risk maturity assessment of the City as a strong “working” (level 3 out of 5) based upon 
the National Performance Model for Risk Management in the Public Services (used by CIPFA/Alarm for benchmarking purposes). 

Health & Safety 
46. T The Health & Safety at Work Act 1974 (the Act) requires the City as an employer to ensure that it implements systems for the protection of its staff and visitors. 

The City’s health and safety management system is aligned to HSG65, the Health and Safety Executive’s guidance document on the essential philosophy of good 
health and safety. The City’s systems will remain aligned with this guidance, to ensure that safety becomes part of normal business by applying a practical, sensible 
and common sense approach.  

47. Corporate Risk 9 concerns the City’s Health and Safety Management System and its application. Effective health and safety management enables innovation, 
growth and enhances productivity, as well as helping the City Corporation to achieve its strategic objectives. 

48. Driving is the one of the most hazardous work activities, contributing to far more accidental deaths and serious injuries than all other work-related tasks. The City 
has introduced a Corporate Transport Policy along with associated procedures and guidance to manage occupational road risk. Embedding of the policy continues, 
with a focus during 2017 on assuring compliance across the organisation.  

P
age 201



 Annual Governance Statement Page 144 

  

49. There is an established annual inspection and audit programme for property and people health and safety - for example audit, inspections and compliance checks 
have focused on water hygiene (legionella), fire safety, asbestos management, workplace transport and lone working/preventing violence. These are currently 
considered to be the City’s areas of higher risk profile. 

50. Like many large organisations the City may become aware of credible risk information through external contact, such as liaison with clients and service users. At 
present the majority of this type of risk information resides at the departmental level. The Personal Safety Visiting Tool (PSVT) is a new initiative being rolled out in 
2017 by Corporate Health and Safety (People). It aims to provide departments’ access to a corporate register of issues they and other visiting officers have 
encountered at various residential properties. The PSVT should enable all necessary departments to appropriately share their data, creating a seamless source of 
information to aid in the safety of all staff, recognising the interconnectedness of risk. 

51. The Covalent Risk Management Information System is used to manage significant health and safety risks. Covalent enables departments to highlight their safety 
risks as a ‘Top X’ risk, emphasising any activities with considerable implications that are un-mitigated, or where there is a lack of clarity. 

52. The City has established key performance indicators for health and safety including accident/incident reporting and investigation. The health and safety 
professionals have supported departments with their more challenging and/or significant health and safety investigations. This has helped to ensure that lessons 
are learned and are fed back into the development of the health and safety management system. 

Business Continuity 
53. The Civil Contingencies Act 2004 requires the City, as a Category 1 responder, to maintain plans to ensure that it can continue to exercise its functions in the event 

of an emergency. The City is required to train its staff responsible for business continuity, to exercise and test its plans, and to review these plans on a regular basis. 

54. The City has an overarching Business Continuity Strategy and Framework and each department has their own business continuity arrangements. Both corporate 
and departmental arrangements are regularly reviewed to ensure they align with the relevant risk registers and business objectives. Officers from the different 
departments share best practice and validate their arrangements through the Emergency Planning and Business Continuity Steering Group, which sits on a 
quarterly basis. New arrangements that seek to increase the resilience of the City’s technology infrastructure have been introduced and technical tests are being 
carried out to ensure their robustness. These arrangements seek to replace the Guildhall as a single point of failure for the City’s IT provision. The move to a more 
resilient backbone should enhance the continuity of service for remote workers, and at other sites, even if the Guildhall is affected. 

55. Programme management of the City’s business continuity management system (BCMS) lies with the Resilience Planning Team, and all departments play a role in it. 
In 2014, the City’s resilience arrangements (including its BCMS) were reviewed by peers from other Central London local authorities. This review was part of a 
regular assurance process linked to the Minimum Standards for London (which set out London’s core resilience capabilities). The Team continues its on-going work 
with the IT service provider Agilisys to ensure robust business continuity plans dovetail between IT functions and critical services.  

56. The City continues to experience an array of protest and demonstration, as it is a desirable location for protest groups to maximise publicity both nationally and 
globally. However, by working with business and emergency service partners to ensure robust Business Continuity and emergency response plans are in place, the 
City maintains ‘business as usual’, and thus its reputation of working with and supporting local communities. 

  

P
age 202



 Annual Governance Statement Page 145 

  

Role of Internal Audit  
57. Internal Audit plays a central role in providing the required assurance on internal controls through its comprehensive risk-based audit programme, with key risk 

areas being reviewed annually. This is reinforced by consultation with Chief Officers and departmental heads on perceived risk and by a rigorous follow-up audit 
and spot checks regime. 

58. The internal audit process is supported, monitored and managed by the Audit and Risk Management Committee in accordance with the Public Sector Internal Audit 
Standards. An Audit Charter established in 2013 was updated and agreed by the Audit and Risk Management Committee in May 2017. This defines the role of 
internal audit, and codifies accountability, reporting lines and relationships that internal audit has with the Audit and Risk Management Committee, Town Clerk and 
Chief Executive, Chamberlain and Chief Officers. 

59. The Internal Audit Section operates under the requirements of the Public Sector Internal Audit Standards (PSIAS). The City of London’s internal audit function was 
subject to an External Quality Assessment by Mazars LLP in February 2017, and assessed as “generally conforms” to the new standard. A number of 
recommendations identified during the review are currently being addressed to ensure that the Internal Audit Section fully conforms to the new Standards. 

60. The anti-fraud and investigation function continues to be effective in identifying and investigating allegations of fraud and corruption, with mature processes in 
place to tackle fraud across the City’s social housing estates; along with conducting a wide range of risk based anti-fraud and awareness activities. The Audit and 
Risk Management Committee is provided with six-monthly anti-fraud and investigation up-date reports which detail the anti-fraud and investigation activity 
undertaken by the Anti-Fraud Team and provides progress against the strategic pro-active anti-fraud plan. 

Performance Management 
61. The corporate business planning framework sets out the planning cycle with clear linkages between the different levels of policy, strategy, target setting, planning 

and action (the “Golden Thread”). 

• All departments are required to produce annual departmental business plans for approval by the relevant service committee(s). These are all clearly linked to 
the overall Corporate Plan and show key objectives aligned with financial and staffing resources. 

• All departmental business plans are reviewed for compliance with the corporate business planning framework, and regular meetings are held between the 
Corporate Strategy and Performance Team and business planners. 

• All departments are required to report regularly to their service committees with progress against their business plan objectives and with financial monitoring 
information. 

• Performance and Development Appraisals are carried out for all staff, using a standard set of core behaviours. The appraisals are used to set individual 
objectives and targets and to identify learning and development needs that are linked to business needs. Pay progression is linked to performance assessments 
under the appraisal process. 

62. Performance is communicated to Council Tax and Business Rate payers through the City-wide residents’ meetings, the annual business ratepayers’ consultation 
meeting and regular electronic and written publications, including an annual overview of the accounts. 

63. During 2016/17 a review of the existing business planning process was undertaken, as a precursor to a broader review of corporate and departmental planning and 
performance management, to be completed during 2017/18. 

P
age 203



 Annual Governance Statement Page 146 

  

Audit and Risk Management Committee 
64. The Audit and Risk Management Committee is an enhanced source of scrutiny and assurance over the City’s governance arrangements. It considers and approves 

internal and external audit plans, receives reports from the Head of Audit and Risk Management, external audit and other relevant external inspectorates, including 
HMIC, as to the extent that the City can rely on its system of internal control. The Committee reviews the financial statements of the City prior to recommending 
approval by the Finance Committee and considers the formal reports, letters and recommendations of the City’s external auditors. The Committee also monitors 
and oversees the City’s Risk Management Strategy. The Committee undertakes a systematic programme of detailed reviews of each of the risks on the City’s 
Strategic Risk Register. 

65. During 2016/17, the Committee continued its schedule of departmental risk challenge sessions. The Committee reviews the risks and risk management process for 
each department, on a rota basis, with one or two departments being invited to each meeting. These reviews are attended by the relevant Chairman and Chief 
Officer, with support and challenge applied so that risks are fully understood, and clear mitigation plans are in place. The Committee has also actively promoted a 
process for the regular reporting of top departmental risks to Service Committees, to encourage all Members to engage with the management of risk. 

66. The Committee has strongly supported the internal audit function by setting clear performance expectations for Chief Officers in the timely implementation of 
audit recommendations, as well as ensuring internal audit’s independence is fully recognised. It has reviewed the outcome of the Service Based Review of the 
internal audit function, and is overseeing the adoption of a more efficient approach to the targeting of internal audit resources. 

67. The Committee has supported the management of the Information Security corporate risk, highlighting the mandatory awareness training for all staff, resulting in a 
significant increase in the percentage of staff fully completing this training. 

68. The Committee has taken a keen interest in cyber-security risks and remains committed to supporting the continuous development of cyber security across the City 
of London Corporation.   

Review of Effectiveness 
69. The City has responsibility for conducting, at least annually, a review of the effectiveness of its governance framework including the system of internal control. The 

review of effectiveness is informed by the work of the internal auditors and managers within the authority who have responsibility for the development and 
maintenance of the governance environment and also by comments made by the external auditors and other review agencies and inspectorates. 

70. Processes that have applied in maintaining and reviewing the effectiveness of the governance framework include scrutiny primarily by the Policy and Resources, 
Finance, Police, Audit and Risk Management, Investment, and Standards Committees; and the Resource Allocation, Police Performance and Resource 
Management, and Efficiency and Performance Sub Committees. 

71. This review of the main elements of the City’s governance framework has not identified any significant issues for reporting to senior management. 

Head of Internal Audit’s Opinion 
72. The Public Sector Internal Audit Standards require the Head of Internal Audit to deliver an annual internal audit opinion and report that can be used by the City of 

London Corporation to inform its Annual Governance Statement. The Head of Internal Audit is satisfied that sufficient quantity and coverage of internal audit work 
and other independent assurance work has been undertaken to allow him to draw a reasonable conclusion as to the adequacy and effectiveness of the City’s risk 
management, control and governance processes. In his opinion, the City has adequate and effective systems of internal control in place to manage the 

P
age 204



 Annual Governance Statement Page 147 

  

achievement of its objectives. In giving this opinion he has noted that assurance can never be absolute and, therefore, only reasonable assurance can be provided 
that there are no major weaknesses in these processes. 

73. Notwithstanding this overall opinion, internal audit’s work identified a number of opportunities for improving controls and procedures, which management has 
accepted and are documented in each individual audit report. Four areas reviewed in 2016/17 resulted in ‘red’ (limited) assurance opinions. These relate to internal 
audit reviews undertaken of: the City of London Police use of fuel cards; IT asset management; IT network infrastructure; and IT Wi-fi security and operations. All 
reports and recommendations have been accepted and are being addressed by management. 

Future Developments 
74. The governance framework is constantly evolving due to service and regulatory developments and assessments. Improvement plans have been compiled in 

response to the reports and assessments summarised above. Controls to manage principal risks are constantly monitored, in particular for services with statutory 
responsibilities for the safety of vulnerable people. The City proposes over the coming year to take the following steps to maintain, develop and strengthen the 
existing governance framework:  

• Review the City Corporation’s governance arrangements against the requirements of the CIPFA/Solace framework Delivering Good Governance in Local 
Government. 

• Develop a refreshed Corporate Plan, for the period 2018-23, setting out a set of overarching goals for the organisation which will prioritise activity over the 
medium term and thereby achieve more in the context of reducing budgets. 

• Review the framework for departmental business planning and performance management to ensure that all work carried out contributes to delivery of the 
outcomes in the refreshed Corporate Plan. 

• Introduce a programme of Chief Officer peer reviews, to assist in developing a culture of innovation, agility, collaboration and continuous improvement. 
• Undertake an annual update for the registration and publication of declarations of interest by the City’s Members and Co-opted Members following the March 

2017 Ward elections. 
• Deliver the benefits from the programme of cross-cutting efficiency and effectiveness reviews resulting from the service based review. 
• Complete the review of information security and management, leading to: the identification of Information Asset Owners; the production of an information 

asset register; the development of an Information Management Policy, and the implementation of an appropriate Data Classification Scheme. 
• Develop a risk appetite for the City Corporation, linked to the City’s objectives and the external environment, which reflects the City’s capacity to manage risk 

and willingness to take risk in order to meet the strategic objectives. 
• Review project and programme governance arrangements, to improve the handling of corporate and departmental projects, including reviewing the terms of 

reference of relevant governance groups and a process for escalating risks to the appropriate levels. 

This annual governance statement will be presented to the City’s Audit and Risk Management Committee on 24 July 2017. 

 

 

P
age 205



 Glossary Page 148 

  

Accruals The accounting treatment, where income and expenditure is recorded when it is earned or incurred, not when money is paid 
or received. 

Actuarial gains and losses For a defined benefit pension, changes in actuarial deficits or surpluses that arise because: 
• events have not coincided with the actuarial assumptions made for the last valuation (known as experience gains 

and losses) or 
• the actuarial assumptions have changed. 

Accruals The accounting treatment, where income and expenditure is recorded when it is earned or incurred, not when money is paid 
or received. 

Actuary A person who assesses risks and costs, in particular those relating to life assurance and investment policies, using a 
combination of statistical and mathematical techniques. 

Bid Price The price a buyer is willing to pay. 

Bridge House Estates A charitable trust relating to the maintenance and support of five City of London owned bridges and the making of grants for 
the benefit of Greater London, particularly for the provision of transport, and access to it, for the elderly and disabled.  The 
trust is accounted for separately and does not form part of the City Fund statements although references are made to Bridge 
House Estates in certain parts of the statements. 

Capital adjustment account Records the resources set aside to finance capital expenditure partly offset by the consumption of long-term assets based on 
historic costs (e.g. historic cost depreciation, historic cost impairment losses caused by consumption of economic benefits 
and revenue expenditure funded from capital under statute over the period that the City benefits from the expenditure). 

Capital charge A charge to service revenue accounts to reflect the cost of property, plant and equipment used in the provision of services. 

Capital expenditure Expenditure on the acquisition of a long-term asset or expenditure that adds to and not merely maintains the value of an 
existing long-term asset. 

Capital receipts The proceeds from the sale of a long-term asset such as land or council houses.  Capital receipts can only be used for capital 
purposes e.g. funding capital expenditure or repaying debt. 

 
  

P
age 206



 Glossary Page 149 

  

City’s Cash The existence of City’s Cash can be traced back to the fifteenth century and it has built up from a combination of properties, 
lands, bequests and transfers under statute since that time.  It is accounted for separately and does not form part of the City 
Fund statements, although references are made to City's Cash in certain parts of the statements. The fund is now used to 
finance activities mainly for the benefit of London as a whole but also of relevance nationwide. These services include the 
work of the Lord Mayor in promoting UK trade overseas, numerous green spaces and work in surrounding boroughs 
supporting education, training and employment opportunities. 

Creditors Individuals or organisations to which the City Fund owes money at the end of the financial year. 

Collection Fund Statutory account showing transactions in relation to the collection of Council Tax, payments to the Greater London 
Authority and the administration of the National Non-Domestic Rate. 

Community assets Assets that the City of London intends to hold in perpetuity, that have no determinable useful life, and that may have 
restrictions on their disposal.  Examples of community assets are parks and gardens or historic buildings. 

Current asset An asset which will be consumed or cease to have value within the next accounting period; examples are stock and debtors. 

Current liability An amount which will become payable or could be called in within the next accounting period; examples are creditors and 
cash overdrawn. 

Current service cost 
(pensions) 

The increase in the present value of a defined benefit scheme’s liabilities expected to arise from employee service in 
the current period. 

Curtailment (pensions) For a defined benefit scheme, an event that reduces the expected years of future service of present employees or 
reduces for a number of employees the accrual of defined benefits for some or all of their future service.  
Curtailments include: 

• termination of employees’ services earlier than expected, for example as a result of discontinuing an activity, and 
• termination of, or amendment to, the terms of a defined benefit scheme so that some or all future service by current 

employees will no longer qualify for benefits or will qualify only for reduced benefits. 

Debtors Individuals or organisations that owe the City Fund money at the end of the financial year. 

  

P
age 207



 Glossary Page 150 

  

Deferred capital receipts These result mainly from loans to the Museum of London plus outstanding loans in respect of past sales of council 
dwellings to tenants who were unable to obtain a building society loan or other external means of financing.  Their 
indebtedness is reflected in the balance sheet under long term debtors.  This account shows the amount to be paid 
on deferred terms and is reduced each year by repayments made. 

Defined benefit scheme A pension or other retirement benefit scheme other than a defined contribution scheme.  Usually, the scheme 
rules define the benefits independently of the contributions payable, and the benefits are not directly related to 
the investments of the scheme.  The scheme may be funded or unfunded. 

Defined contribution 
scheme 

A pension or other retirement benefit scheme into which an employer pays regular contributions fixed as an 
amount or as a percentage of pay and has no legal or constructive obligation to pay further contributions if the 
scheme does not have sufficient assets to pay all employee benefits relating to employee service in the current and 
prior periods. 

Depreciation The loss in value of an asset due to age, wear and tear, deterioration or obsolescence. 

Direct revenue financing Expenditure on the provision or improvement of capital assets met directly from revenue account. 

Donated assets Assets transferred at nil value or acquired at less than fair value. 

Expected rate of return 
on pensions assets 

For a funded defined benefit scheme, the average rate of return, including both income and changes in fair value 
but net of scheme expenses, expected over the remaining life of the related obligation on the actual assets held by 
the scheme. 

Experience gains or losses In pensions accounting, the element of actuarial gains and losses that relates to differences between the actual 
events as they have turned out and the assumptions that were made as at the date of the earlier actuarial 
valuation. 

Fair value Fair value is generally defined as the amount for which an asset could be exchanged, or a liability settled, between 
knowledgeable, willing parties in an arm’s-length transaction.  

Heritage assets A tangible asset with historical, artistic, scientific, technological, geophysical or environmental qualities that is held 
and maintained principally for its contribution to knowledge and culture. 

Impairment A reduction in the value of an asset below its carrying amount on the balance sheet. 
 

Infrastructure assets Long-term assets that are inalienable, expenditure on which is recoverable only by continued use of the asset 
created.  Examples are highways, footpaths, bridges and sewers. 

P
age 208



 Glossary Page 151 

  

Intangible assets A non-physical item where access to future economic benefits is controlled by the local authority.   An example is 
computer software. 

Pensions interest cost For a defined benefit scheme, the expected increase during the period in the present value of the scheme liabilities 
because the benefits are one period closer to settlement. 

Investment properties Interest in land or buildings that are held for investment potential. 

Levies  These are charges incurred by the City of London to meet London-wide services.  They include payments to the 
London Boroughs Grants Committee, the Environment Agency and the London Planning Advisory Committee. 

National Non-Domestic 
Rate (NNDR) 

A flat rate in the pound set by the Government and levied on businesses who occupy offices and buildings within 
the City.  The income is collected by the City of London and is passed on to Central Government. 

Net current replacement 
cost 

The cost of replacing a particular asset in its existing condition and in its existing use. 

Net realisable value The open market value of an asset in its existing use (or open market value in the case of non-operational assets) 
less the expenses to be incurred in realising the asset. 

Non-operational assets Long-term assets held but not directly occupied, used or consumed in the delivery of service.  Examples are 
investment properties. 

Past service cost 
(pensions) 

For a defined benefit scheme, the increase in the present value of the scheme liabilities related to employee 
service in prior periods arising in the current period as a result of the introduction of, or improvement to, 
retirement benefits. 

 

Projected unit method An accrued benefits valuation method in which the scheme liabilities make allowance for projected earnings.  An 
accrued benefits valuation method is a valuation method in which the scheme liabilities at the valuation date relate to: 

• the benefits for pensioners and deferred pensioners (i.e. individuals who have ceased to be active members but 
are entitled to benefits payable at a later date) and their dependants, allowing where appropriate for future 
increases; and 

• the accrued benefits for members in service on the valuation date.  The accrued benefits are the benefits for 
service up to a given point in time, whether vested rights or not.  Guidance on the projected unit method is given in 
the Guidance Note GN26 issued by the Faculty and Institute of Actuaries. 

 

P
age 209



 Glossary Page 152 

  

Provision An amount set aside in the accounts for liabilities of uncertain timing or amount that have been incurred.  Provisions 
are made when: 

• the City of London has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past event; 
• it is probable that a transfer of economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation; and 
• a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation. 

Reserves Reserves are reported in two categories in the Balance Sheet of local authorities: 

• Usable reserves - surpluses of income over expenditure and amounts set aside outside the definition of a provision 
and which can be applied to the provision of services.  Certain reserves are allocated for specific purposes and are 
described as earmarked reserves. 

• Unusable reserves - those that cannot be used to provide services. This category of reserves include adjustment 
accounts which deal with situations where statutory requirements result in income and expenditure being 
recognised against the City Fund or HRA balance on a different basis from that expected by accounting 
standards. 

Revaluation Reserve Represents increases in valuations of assets since 1 April less amounts written off due to the ‘additional depreciation’ 
(including impairment due to consumption of economic benefit) arising because property, plant and equipment are 
carried at a revalued amount rather than historic cost.  It can also include reductions in values to investment 
properties where the reductions are not considered to be permanent.   

Revenue expenditure The day to day running costs relating to the accounting period irrespective of whether or not the amounts due have 
been paid.  Examples are salaries, wages, repairs, maintenance and supplies. 

Revenue expenditure funded 
from capital under statute 

Legislation allows some expenditure to be classified as capital for funding purposes when it does not result in the 
expenditure being carried on the Balance Sheet as a long-term asset. The purpose of this is to enable it to be funded 
from capital resources rather than be charged to revenue and impact on council tax. These items are generally grant 
payments and expenditure on property not owned by the authority. 

Scheme liabilities The liabilities of a defined benefits pension scheme for outgoings due after the valuation date.  Scheme liabilities 
measured using the projected unit method reflect the benefits that the employer is committed to provide for service 
up to the valuation date. 

 

P
age 210



 Acronyms Page 153 

  

AVC  .................................................................. Additional Voluntary Contributions 
BCMS  ............................................................... Business Continuity Management System 
BRS  .................................................................. Business Rate Supplement 
CIPFA ................................................................ Chartered Institute of Public Finance & Accounting 
CIL  .................................................................... Community Infrastructure Levy 
CPI  ................................................................... Consumer Price Index 
DSG  .................................................................. Dedicated Schools Grant 
DfE   .................................................................. Department for Education 
FTE   .................................................................. Full Term Equivalent 
GAAP   .............................................................. Generally Accepted Accounting Practice 
GLA  .................................................................. Greater London Authority 
HRA  ................................................................. Housing Revenue Account 
IAS   .................................................................. International Accounting Standards 
IFRS .................................................................. International Financial Reporting Standards 
LASAAC  ............................................................ Local Authority (Scotland) Accounts Advisory Committee 
LIBOR  ............................................................... London Interbank Offered Rate 
LGPS ................................................................. Local Government Pension Scheme 
MRP  ................................................................. Minimum Revenue Provision 
NNDR  ............................................................... National Non-Domestic Rate 
OFSTED  ............................................................ Office for Standards in Education, Children’s Services and Skills 
RPI .................................................................... Retail Price Index 
SeRCOP  ............................................................ Service Reporting Code of Practice 
SOLACE  ............................................................ Society of Local Authority Chief Executives 
SBNDR  ............................................................. Small Business Non-Domestic Rate 
SI ...................................................................... Statutory Instruments 
SETS  ................................................................. Stock Exchange Electronic Trading Service 
VAO  ................................................................. Valuation Office 
VAT  .................................................................. Value-Added Tax 

P
age 211



 Index to Explanatory Notes Page 154 

  

NOTES TO THE CITY FUND CORE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
1. Accounting Policies ................................................................................................................................................................................................... 16 

1.1. General Principles ........................................................................................................................................................................... 16 
1.2. Accruals of Expenditure and Income .............................................................................................................................................. 16 
1.3. Cash and Cash Equivalents ............................................................................................................................................................. 16 
1.4. Prior Period Adjustments, Changes in Accounting Policies and Estimates and Errors ................................................................... 17 
1.5. Charges to Revenue for Non-current Assets .................................................................................................................................. 17 
1.6. Employee Benefits .......................................................................................................................................................................... 17 
1.7. Events After the Reporting Period .................................................................................................................................................. 20 
1.8. Financial Instruments ..................................................................................................................................................................... 20 
1.9. Interest Income .............................................................................................................................................................................. 21 
1.10. Government Grants and Other Contributions ................................................................................................................................ 21 
1.11. Business Improvement Districts ..................................................................................................................................................... 22 
1.12. Community Infrastructure Levy ...................................................................................................................................................... 22 
1.13. Heritage Assets ............................................................................................................................................................................... 22 
1.14. Investment Property ....................................................................................................................................................................... 22 
1.15. Contingent Assets ........................................................................................................................................................................... 23 
1.16. Contingent Liabilities ...................................................................................................................................................................... 23 
1.17. Provisions ........................................................................................................................................................................................ 23 
1.18. Leases  ........................................................................................................................................................................................... 24 
1.19. Overheads ....................................................................................................................................................................................... 25 
1.20. Property, Plant and Equipment ...................................................................................................................................................... 25 
1.21. Fair value measurement ................................................................................................................................................................. 28 
1.22. Reserves .......................................................................................................................................................................................... 28 
1.23. Revenue expenditure funded from capital under statute.............................................................................................................. 28 
1.24. Value Added Tax ............................................................................................................................................................................. 29 
1.25. Schools  ........................................................................................................................................................................................... 29 

2. Prior Year Restatement ............................................................................................................................................................................................ 29 
3. Expenditure and Funding Analysis ............................................................................................................................................................................ 30 
4. Note to the Expenditure and Funding Analysis ........................................................................................................................................................ 31 

5. Expenditure and Income Analysed by Nature .......................................................................................................................................................... 34 
6. Accounting Standards That Have Been Issued but Not Yet Adopted ....................................................................................................................... 34 
7. Critical Judgements in Applying Accounting Policies ................................................................................................................................................ 35 

P
age 212



 Index to Explanatory Notes Page 155 

  

8. Assumptions Made About the Future and Other Major Sources of Estimation Uncertainty .................................................................................. 35 
9. Events after the Balance Sheet Date ........................................................................................................................................................................ 36 
10. Adjustments between Accounting Basis and Funding Basis under Regulations ...................................................................................................... 37 
11. Transfers (to)/from Earmarked Revenue Reserves .................................................................................................................................................. 40 
12. Crossrail .................................................................................................................................................................................................................... 41 
13. Other Operating Income and Expenditure ............................................................................................................................................................... 41 
14. Financing and Investment Income and Expenditure ................................................................................................................................................ 41 
15. Taxation and Non-Specific Grant Income ................................................................................................................................................................. 42 
16. Property, Plant and Equipment ................................................................................................................................................................................ 43 
17. Heritage Assets ......................................................................................................................................................................................................... 47 
18. Investment Properties .............................................................................................................................................................................................. 47 
19. Capital Expenditure and Capital Financing ............................................................................................................................................................... 49 
20. Financial Instruments ............................................................................................................................................................................................... 50 
21. Nature and Extent of Risks arising from Financial Instruments ............................................................................................................................... 52 
22. Long Term Debtors ................................................................................................................................................................................................... 54 
23. Debtors and Payments in Advance falling due within a year ................................................................................................................................... 55 
24. Cash and Cash Equivalents ....................................................................................................................................................................................... 56 
25. Creditors and Receipts in Advance ........................................................................................................................................................................... 56 
26. Provisions .................................................................................................................................................................................................................. 57 
27. Contingent Liabilities ................................................................................................................................................................................................ 57 
28. Usable Reserves ........................................................................................................................................................................................................ 57 
29. Unusable Reserves .................................................................................................................................................................................................... 57 
30. Cash Flow Statement – Operating Activities ............................................................................................................................................................ 63 
31. Cash Flow Statement – Investing Activities .............................................................................................................................................................. 64 
32. Cash Flow Statement – Financing Activities ............................................................................................................................................................. 64 
33. Trading Operations ................................................................................................................................................................................................... 65 
34. Agency Services ........................................................................................................................................................................................................ 65 
35. Members’ Allowances .............................................................................................................................................................................................. 65 
36. Remuneration of Senior Employees ......................................................................................................................................................................... 65 
37. Exit Packages ............................................................................................................................................................................................................. 70 
38. Audit and Inspection Fees ........................................................................................................................................................................................ 70 
39. Dedicated Schools Grant .......................................................................................................................................................................................... 71 
40. Grant Income credited to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement .............................................................................................. 73 
41. Grants and Contributions Received in Advance ....................................................................................................................................................... 75 

P
age 213



 Index to Explanatory Notes Page 156 

  

42. Deferred Credits ....................................................................................................................................................................................................... 75 
43. Related Party Transactions ....................................................................................................................................................................................... 76 
44. Leases  ..................................................................................................................................................................................................................... 79 
45. Pension Schemes ...................................................................................................................................................................................................... 83 
46. City of London Pension Scheme ............................................................................................................................................................................... 83 
47. The Police Pension Scheme ...................................................................................................................................................................................... 88 
48. Judges Pension Scheme ............................................................................................................................................................................................ 92 
49. The Teachers’ Pension Scheme ................................................................................................................................................................................ 93 
50. Transactions Relating to Post-employment Benefits within the Financial Statements ........................................................................................... 94 
51. Trust Funds ............................................................................................................................................................................................................... 98 
 
  

P
age 214



 Index to Explanatory Notes Page 157 

  

 

NOTES TO THE HOUSING REVENUE ACCOUNT 
 
1. Provision for Bad and Doubtful Debts ......................................................................................................................................................... 100 
2. Adjustments between Accounting Basis and Funding Basis under Statute ................................................................................................ 100 
3. Housing Stock .............................................................................................................................................................................................. 100 
4. Arrears of Rent, Service and Other Charges ................................................................................................................................................ 101 
5. HRA Property, Plant and Equipment ........................................................................................................................................................... 102 
6. Housing Asset Valuation .............................................................................................................................................................................. 103 
7. Investment Property .................................................................................................................................................................................... 104 
8. Major Repairs Reserve ................................................................................................................................................................................. 104 
9. HRA Capital Expenditure .............................................................................................................................................................................. 105 
 
NOTES TO THE COLLECTION FUND 
 
1. Income from Business Rates ........................................................................................................................................................................ 108 
2. Calculation of Council Tax ............................................................................................................................................................................ 109 
3. Tax Bases 2016/17 ....................................................................................................................................................................................... 110 
4. City Fund Offset ........................................................................................................................................................................................... 110 
5. Surplus for the Year ..................................................................................................................................................................................... 110 
 
NOTES TO THE POLICE PENSION FUND ................................................................................................................................................................... 111

P
age 215



 Index to Explanatory Notes Page 158 

  

 
NOTES TO THE CITY OF LONDON PENSION FUND 
 
1. Description of the City of London Pension Fund ......................................................................................................................................... 114 
2. Accounting Policies ...................................................................................................................................................................................... 114 
3. Critical Judgements in Applying Accounting Policies ................................................................................................................................... 115 
4. Membership of the Fund ............................................................................................................................................................................. 116 
5. Contributions ............................................................................................................................................................................................... 117 
6. Additional Voluntary Contributions ............................................................................................................................................................. 117 
7. Benefits ........................................................................................................................................................................................................ 118 
8. Payments to and on account of leavers ...................................................................................................................................................... 118 
9. Management expenses ................................................................................................................................................................................ 118 
10. Income from investments ............................................................................................................................................................................ 119 
11. Investment Expenses ................................................................................................................................................................................... 119 
12. Investment Assets ........................................................................................................................................................................................ 120 
13. Fair Value of Financial Instruments ............................................................................................................................................................. 121 
14. Risk and Risk Management .......................................................................................................................................................................... 126 
15. Sensitivity Analysis ....................................................................................................................................................................................... 126 
16. Current assets .............................................................................................................................................................................................. 129 
17. Current liabilities.......................................................................................................................................................................................... 129 
18. Funded Obligation of the Overall Pension Fund .......................................................................................................................................... 130 
19. Contingent Liabilities and Contractual Commitments ................................................................................................................................. 130 
20. Related Party Transactions .......................................................................................................................................................................... 131 
21. Post Balance Sheet Events ........................................................................................................................................................................... 131 
22. Funding Arrangements ................................................................................................................................................................................ 131 
 

P
age 216



1 

 

Committee(s) 
 

Dated: 24 July 2017 
 

Audit and Risk Management Committee 
 

 

Subject: External Risk Management Review: 

 Risk appetite project 

 Risk management training for senior managers 

 

Public 
 

Report of: 
Dr Peter Kane, Chamberlain 

For Information 
 

Report author: 
Paul Dudley, Chamberlain’s department 

 
Summary 

 
The purpose of this report is to update the Committee on the arrangements for 
the implementation of one of the recommendations from the External Risk 
Management Review (autumn 2016) in relation to the setting of the City 
Corporation’s risk appetite. It also contains a brief update on the implementation 
of the risk management training sessions for senior managers. 

Risk appetite is defined as “the amount and type of risk (an organisation) is 
willing to seek out in pursuit of its objectives”.  It is a core consideration in any 
organisation and their approach to the management of risk. Setting a risk appetite 
for the City Corporation will support its approach to corporate governance as well 
as having a number of other benefits including:   

 Ensuring that the City Corporation is only taking a level of risk, and the types 

of risks that it is comfortable with. 

 Exercise appropriate oversight and governance by defining the nature and 

level of risks it considers acceptable. 

 Empowerment – providing managers with the tools to make judgements about 

which risks and opportunities that are acceptable and which are not. 

 Ensure that the City Corporation's response to risk is proportionate, and to 

enable informed risk based decisions. 

 

Zurich Municipal Ltd.’s risk engineering team have been commissioned to assist 
in developing a risk appetite (based upon predetermined risk areas) for the City 
Corporation. The approach includes a mandatory online survey aimed at senior 
managers (using a list supplied by the Town Clerk’s department). Members of the 
Audit and Risk Management Committee and Chairman of Grand Committees will 
be requested to participate in the online survey as well. The results of the survey 
will be analysed and validated which will include a number of meetings with 
individual chief officers and members. The intention is for the final report to be 
produced by early September, presented to the Summit Group later that month 
and then reported to the Committee in October 2017.   

Page 217

Agenda Item 9



2 

 

The external risk management review (2016) recommended that there should be 
a programme of risk management training for senior managers. With the support 
of the Town Clerk, the training has been made mandatory and is regarded as 
essential to improve the level of risk management knowledge in the City 
Corporation as well as develop a more consistent approach in the corporate risk 
management process.  Of the 13 half day sessions organised from 26 May to 7 
July 2017 a total of 94 (out of 124), 76% officers have either already attended or 
due to attend the remaining courses. Feedback from the senior managers who 
have attended so far has been positive.  Discussions are taking place with the 
risk consultant, who is delivering these courses, together with the Corporate Risk 
Advisor, to arrange a number of wash up sessions in September 2017. 

 
Recommendations 

The Committee is asked to note the report.  

Main Report 
 
1.0 Background 

 
1.1 The external risk management review, which was reported and welcomed by 

the Committee in November 2016, contained a number of recommendations 
including the following: 
 
“The organisation should consider providing a clearly articulated statement on its risk 
appetite and tolerance to address the current general misconception that the 
organisation is risk averse and to positively guide and influence the personal 
predispositions to risk which are maintained by key internal stakeholders.”   
 

 What is risk appetite? 
 

1.2 Risk appetite is defined by the international standard on Risk Management (ISO 
31000:2009) as well as the UK Office of Government Commerce  - 
Management of Risk Guidance 2010 as “the amount and type of risk  (an 
organisation) is willing to seek out in pursuit of its objectives”. It is a core 
consideration in any organisation and their approach to the management of 
risk. 
  

1.3 The Cipfa/SOLACE document Delivering Good Corporate Governance in the 
Local Government 2016 highlights the need to recognise that „risk management 
is an integral part of all activities and must be considered in all aspects of 
decision making’. Setting the City Corporation’s risk appetite for specific risk 
areas should therefore assist senior officers in understanding the risks they are 
taking in making those decisions.    
 
Within the private sector The UK Code of Corporate Governance (2016) states 
that “The board is responsible for determining the nature and extent of the 
principal risks it is willing to take in achieving its strategic objectives”. This is 
risk appetite by any other name.  
 

Page 218



3 

 

 What are the key benefits of setting a risk appetite for the City 
Corporation?  

1.4 The key benefits for setting a risk appetite are set out below: 
 

 The City Corporation is only taking a level of risk, and the types of risks 
that it is comfortable with. 

 Exercise appropriate oversight and governance by defining the nature 
and level of risks it considers acceptable. 

 Empowerment – providing managers with the tools to make judgements 
about which risks and opportunities that are acceptable and which are 
not. 

 Ensure that the Corporation's response to risk is proportionate, and to 
enable informed risk based decisions. 

 

2.0 The Risk Appetite project – Progress 
 

2.1 Following research into how public sector organisations set risk appetite levels 
it was agreed that the City Corporation would commission Zurich Municipal 
Ltd.’s risk engineering team to assist in the implementation of the external risk 
management review recommendation on risk appetite Zurich Municipal have 
experience of developing risk appetite processes within a number of London 
Boroughs and for other clients. 
 

2.2 Zurich Municipal have set out a four stage process to complete this work: 
 
Stage 1: An on-line mandatory Risk Appetite Survey for senior managers. 
(Members of the Audit and Risk Management Committee and Chairman of 
Grand Committees will be requested to participate in the on line survey as well.) 
Stage 2: Analysis of results and collation of findings to be undertaken by Zurich 
Risk Consultants. 
Stage 3: Facilitated feedback session/ a number of individual meetings with 
Chief Officers/members of the Audit and Risk Management Committee and 
Chairman of Grand Committees to validate findings. 
Stage 4: Summary presentation to Summit Group, to agree a City Corporation 
wide risk appetite for specific risk areas. 
  

2.3 Work on the development of the mandatory online survey is nearing 
completion. The survey questions will be tested and any amendments made 
prior to it being issued to senior managers. The survey seeks the views of 
senior managers of their perception of the level of risk that the City Corporation 
is currently exposed to as well as the level of risk it would be willing to accept to 
achieve its corporate objectives. Members of the Audit and Risk Management 
Committee and Chairman of Grand Committees will be requested to participate 
in the on-line survey as well. The survey is expected to be ready in early July 
and will then be issued. There will be a two week response period. 
 

2.4 Zurich Municipal Ltd.’s risk engineering team will analyse the responses and 
should have their initial findings ready by the end of July/early august. A 
process of data validation will be begin and include a number of meetings with 

Page 219



4 

 

individual chief officers. A final report, with associated charts and tables, will be 
ready early September. The intention is then to present the report to the 
Summit Group at its September meeting, followed by a report to the Audit and 
Risk Management Committee in October 2017. 
 

3.0 Risk Management Training for Senior Managers 
 

3.1 The external risk management review (2016) recommended that there should 
be a programme of risk management training for senior managers. With the 
support of the Town Clerk the training has been made mandatory and is 
regarded as essential to improve the level of risk management knowledge in 
the City Corporation and develop a more consistent approach in the corporate 
risk management process. A total of 13 half day sessions were organised to 
take place between 26 May and 7 July 2017. Out of a total of the 124 invitations 
sent to senior managers, 49 had attended courses up to 19 June whilst another 
45 are due to attend on the 4 remaining sessions (a total of 94 out of 124 = 
76%). Feedback from senior managers who have attended so far has been 
positive. 
 

3.2 Discussions are taking place with the risk consultant (from Gallagher Bassett 

International), who is delivering these courses, together with the Corporate Risk 

Advisor, to arrange a number of wash up sessions in September. These are in 

the process of being confirmed. 

4.0 Conclusion 
 

4.1 The project being undertaken by Zurich Municipal to help set risk appetite levels 
for the City Corporation is in response to the recommendation made in the 
external risk management review of 2016. The output of the project will be 
presented to the Summit Group in September 2017, reported to the Audit and 
Risk Management Committee in October and subject to agreement, will lead to 
the adoption a risk appetite approach in assessing risks and making effective 
decisions.  
 

4.2 Significant progress has been made in delivering risk management training to 
senior managers. A number of additional training sessions are to be organised 
to complete this task in September 2017. 

 
 
Contact: Paul.Dudley | Paul.Dudley@cityoflondon.gov.uk | 02073321297 

Page 220



 Committee: Date: 

Audit and Risk Management Committee 24 July 2017 

Subject:  

Internal Audit Update Report 
 

Public 

Report of: 

The Head of Internal Audit and Risk Management 

Report author 

Jeremy Mullins – Audit Manager 

For Information 

 

 
Summary 

This report provides an update on internal audit activity since the last Committee 
report to the February 2017 meeting.  
 
The outcomes of the internal audit work finalised since the last Committee are 
summarised in Appendix 1. Since the last report to the Committee 25 audits have 
been finalised. Two audits resulted in Red Assurance (Chamberlain’s IT Cyber 
Security – SekChek and IT Asset Management); ten audits resulted in Amber 
assurance opinions; and 13 in Green opinions. Both Amber and Green opinions 
represent adequate control environments. 
 
As at 23 June 2017, 95% of the 2016-17 internal audit plan had been completed to 
draft report stage, together with three audits at work in progress stage, the profiled 
target was 95% to be completed by 31 March 2017. 
 
Recommendation 

 That this report is noted. 

Main Report 
 

Background 

1. This report sets out internal audit activity since the last report to Committee and the 
opinion of the Head of Audit and Risk Management in relation to the adequacy and 
effectiveness of the control environment. 

 
Current position 
 
2. The outcomes of the internal audit work finalised since the last Committee have been 

reported to Members through our Members Briefings. A summary of the outcome of our 
audit work can be seen in Appendix 1. Two audits resulted in Red Assurance 
(Chamberlain’s IT Cyber Security – SekChek and IT Asset Management); ten audits 
resulted in Amber assurance opinions; and 13 in Green opinions. Both Amber and Green 
opinions represent adequate control environments. 
 

3. Work on the internal audit plan 2017-18 is progressing and a summary of the current 
position can be seen in Appendix 2. Seven reviews have been completed to Draft Report 
stage and the fieldwork for seven further reviews has been progressed to fieldwork stage. 

Page 221

Agenda Item 10



 
IT Cyber Security – SekChek (Red Assurance) 
 
4. Effective use of security updates and hotfix patches helps ensure that Domain Controllers 

are not vulnerable to attacks known security issues and weaknesses. Review of the 
system configuration information identified that while 178 security updates were applied 
when the Domain Controller was installed in 2015; no security updates were applied in 
2016 or 2017. There is an increased risk that the network will remain open to known high 
risk vulnerabilities unless automated patch management settings are enforced and 
appropriate key performance indicators (KPIs) are established and applied to monitor the 
effective delivery of security patch management activities.  
 

5. It was recommended that management should ensure that the Network Domain 
Controllers (DCs) are made subject to an effective security patch management solution 
that is monitored for achievement via appropriate Key Performance Indicators. 
 

6. In response, IT Management stated that: There will be a significant reduction in the 
number of DCs within the environment as the transition to a managed desktop 
environment progresses this year. A Security and Patch Management policy is currently 
being developed as part of the IT Transformation programme. This will set the policy 
intention, and the managed service provider will retain responsibility for adherence to this 
policy.  
 

7. An urgent review would be undertaken to ensure DCs have appropriate security patches 
applied. In addition, Agilisys to provide IT Management with a regular patching report to 
demonstrate compliance with contractual obligations and security compliance.  

 
IT Asset Management (Red Assurance) 
 
8. Audit testing identified a stockpile of non-marked hard-drives being kept in the 

decommissioning room. No satisfactory information was provided on their provenance 
and purpose or on the reason for them to be kept there. Where hard-drives are being 
removed from their corresponding desktops/laptops, there is a risk that sensitive 
information contained within them is not appropriately erased. 
 
9. It was recommended that: Hard drives should be securely disposed of along with the 

desktops/laptops to which they pertain. 
 

10. In response, IT Management stated that: There is a disposal process that is generally 
adhered to. Agilsys will ensure that the Field Engineer team are reminded of the 
process to follow and regular internal checks will be implemented. The hard disks will 
be audited by SC cleared personnel and then decommissioned, re-used or securely 
stored accordingly. 

 
11. There is not a Disposal Policy for IT Assets in place. Where the disposal activity is 

not guided, there is a risk that inappropriate decisions are taken which could result in 
assets not being disposed of as expected and or not being disposed of in accordance 
with the requirements to which the City is subjected. 
 

12. It was recommended that: A Disposal Policy for IT Assets should be introduced. 

 
13. In response, IT Management stated: There is a Disposal Policy in place; however it 

will be reviewed to ensure it meets requirements. 
 

Page 222



Internal Audit Section Performance and Delivery 2016-17  
 

14. Performance levels against KPIs continue to be generally good, and the team has 
achieved the annual target of audits completed to draft report stage for 2016-17. 
Completion of the 2016/17 audit plan to at least draft report stage was 95% in line 
with the profiled target by end March 2017, with three audits (5%) at work in progress 
stage.  

 
15. Details of performance levels against targets for 2016-17 are set out below: 
 

Performance Measures Target Actual 

1 Completion of audit plan 95% of planned audits 
completed to draft report 
stage by end of plan review 
period (31 March 2017) 

95% 

2 Timely production of draft 
report 

Average time taken to issue 
draft reports within 28 days 
of end of fieldwork i.e. exit 
meeting date. 

20 days 

3 Timely response to draft 
report 

Average time taken to obtain 
a full management response 
within 28 days of the draft 
report being issued. 

25 days 

4 Timely issue of final report Average time taken to 
finalise the review within 7 
working days on full 
response from management 

6 days 

5 Customer satisfaction Through key question on 
post audit surveys – target 
90% 

<5 responses received 

6 Percentage (%) of audit 
section staff with relevant 
professional qualification 

Target 75% 78% 

 
I 
Internal Audit Performance and Delivery 2017-18 
 
16. Performance levels against KPIs for 2017-18 indicate that by the end of Quarter 1 9% of 

the plan has been completed to draft report stage. A further 9% of the plan has been 
progressed to fieldwork stage. The audit plan completion profile for Quarter 1 was 14% 
and there has been some delay in starting audit work due to agreeing audit timings with 
Chief Officers. It is anticipated that ground will be made up during Quarter 2 when a 
number of audits currently at fieldwork stage plus those currently at planning stage have 
been progressed. 
 

 
Conclusion 

 
17. Internal Audit’s opinion of the City’s overall internal control environment is that it 

remains adequate and effective although some areas of the financial and 
operational framework do require strengthening by management as identified in 
the Amber reports highlighted to the Committee in Members Briefings. 

 

Page 223



Appendices 
Appendix 1 Internal Audit Plan Schedule of Projects 2016-17 
Appendix 2 Internal Audit Plan Schedule of Projects 2017-18 
 
Pat Stothard, Head of Audit and Risk Management 
T: 020 7332 1299  E:Pat.Stothard@cityoflondon.gov.uk  
Jeremy Mullins, Audit Manager 
T: 020 7332 1279  E:Jeremy.mullins@cityoflondon.gov.uk  

Page 224



APPENDIX 1 
Internal Audit Work 2016-17 (as at 23 June 2017) 
 
This appendix complements the summary outcome of final reports as presented above. 
 
Progress against the plan – Summary 
 

No of 
Reviews 

Fieldwork Draft Report Final Report Completed 

59 3 16 25 15 

 5% 27% 42% 26% 

Progress against the plan – Detail 

     Recommendations Recommendations 

     Made** Agreed** 

No Department Main Audit Review Status * Assurance 
*** 

R A G Total R A G Total 

 Corporate Emergency Planning Deferred - - - - - - - - - 

1 Corporate Project Management Final Report Amber 0 2 0 2 0 2 0 2 

 Corporate IT Data Management Deferred  - - - - - - - - 

2 Corporate IT Cyber Security – High Level Review Draft Report          

3 Corporate IT Cyber Security – SekChek Final Report Red 1 7 3 11 1 7 3 11 

 Corporate Risk Management Deferred  - - - - - - - - 

4 Corporate Safeguarding Draft Report          

5 Corporate DBS Checks Draft Report          

6 Town Clerks Electoral Registration  Draft Report          

7 Town Clerks Bridge Trust Grants Final Report Green 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

8 Town Clerks Pay and Reward Draft Report          

9 Town Clerks Guildhall Club Accounts Completed Green 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

10 Town Clerks EDO – Supporting Businesses Final Report Green 0 0 3 3 0 0 3 0 

11 Chamberlain Budget Management Draft Report          

12 Chamberlain Payroll Draft Report          

13 Chamberlain Accounts Receivable Draft Report          

14 Chamberlain VAT Management Final Report Amber 0 4 7 11 0 4 7 11 

15 Chamberlain Procurement Cards Completed  0 2 4 6 0 2 4 6 

16 Information Systems IT Contract Management Fieldwork          

P
age 225



     
 

        

     Recommendations Recommendations 

     Made** Agreed** 

No Department Main Audit Review Status * Assurance 
*** 

 

R A G Total R A G Total 

 Information Systems Oracle Property Manager Module 
Application Review 

Deferred          

17 Information Systems City Procurement Application Review Draft Report          

18 Information Systems Asset Management Final Report Red 2 8 2 12 2 8 2 12 

19 Open Spaces Repairs and Maintenance Draft Report          

20 Markets and 
Consumer Protection 

Spitalfields Market Forklift Truck Safety 
and Permit Management 

Final Report Green 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

21 Markets and 
Consumer Protection 

Key Performance Monitoring Final Report Green 0 0 2 2 0 0 2 2 

22 Children & 
Community Services 

Housing Asset Management Strategy Final Report Green 0 0 1 1 0 0 1 1 

23 Children & 
Community Services 

Service Charges (Housing and BE) Final Report Amber 0 1 5 6 0 1 5 6 

24 Children & 
Community Services 

Contract Management and 
Commissioning 

Final Report Amber 0 3 4 7 0 3 4 7 

25 Children & 
Community Services 

Rough Sleepers Final Report Green 0 1 2 3 0 1 2 3 

26 Children & 
Community Services 

Education Strategy – position statement Completed n/a 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

27 Children & 
Community Services 

Sir John Cass School – School’s Financial 
Value Standard 

Completed  - - - - - - - - 

28 City Surveyors Geared Ground Rents Draft Report          

29 City Surveyors Asset Disposals and Capital Receipts Draft Report          

30 Built Environment Car Parks Completed Green 0 0 1 1 0 0 1 1 

31 Built Environment Planning Control Final Report Green 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

32 Built Environment Building Control Draft Report          

33 Built Environment Change Control (Cleansing and Waste 
Disposal) 

Completed Green 0 0 1 1 0 0 1 1 

34 Culture, Heritage and 
Libraries 

City Information Centre Completed Amber 
 

- 2 1 3 - 2 1 3 
 

P
age 226



     Recommendations Recommendations 

     Made** Agreed** 

No Department Main Audit Review Status * Assurance 
***  

 

R A G Total R A G Total 

35 Culture, Heritage and 
Libraries 

Library Book and Audio Video Stock Completed Amber - 4 4 8 - 4 4 8 

36 Mansion House Security Contract Management Final Report Green 0 1 1 2 0 1 1 2 

37 Mansion House Annual Plate Review Completed Green - - - - - - - - 

38 City of London Police Standard Operating Procedures Completed Amber - 1 5 6 - 1 5 6 

39 City of London Police Budget Monitoring Fieldwork          

40 City of London Police Economic Crime  Academy Completed Amber - 5 1 6 - 5 1 6 

41 City of London Police Community Consultation Completed Amber - 1 - 1 - 1 - 1 

42 City of London Police Grant Audits Final Report Green 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

 City of London Police Action Awareness Deferred          

43 City of London Police Governance Framework Final Report Amber 0 2 3 5 0 2 3 5 

44 City of London Police Income Streams and Generation Fieldwork          

 City of London 
Freemans School 

 
TBC 

Deleted          

 City of London 
Schools 

 
TBC 

Deleted          

 City of London 
School for Girls 

 
TBC 

Deleted          

 Guildhall School of 
Music and Drama 

Strategic Planning Deferred          

 Guildhall School of 
Music and Drama 

Income Generation Deferred          

45 Guildhall School of 
Music and Drama 

Succession Planning Draft Report          

46 Guildhall School of 
Music and Drama 

Satellite Site Operations Final Report Amber 0 4 0 4 0 4 0 4 

47 Barbican Centre Major Incident, Security and Safety  Final Report Green 0 0 1 1 0 0 1 1 

48 Barbican Centre Catering Final Report Amber 0 3 2 5 0 3 2 5 

 Barbican Centre Customer Experience Deferred          

49 Barbican Centre Car Parking System Final Report Green 0 1 2 3 0 1 2 3 

50 Corporate Procurement Compliance c/fwd Completed Green - - 1 1 - - 1 1 
 

P
age 227



     Recommendations 
Made** 

Recommendations 
Made** 

No Department Main Audit Review Status * Assurance 
*** 

 

R A G Total R A G Total 

51 Corporate DCCS Departmental Review c/fwd Completed  - 1 6 7 - 1 6 7 

52 Children and 
Community Services 

Barbican Estates Car Parks – Strategic 
Review (Consultancy review – no 
assurance rating given) 

Completed n/a 0 1 2 3 0 1 2 3 

53 Open Spaces Epping Forest Deer Sanctuary Draft Report          

54 City Surveyors Directly Managed Property Leases Final Report Amber 0 3 1 4 0 3 1 4 

55 Barbican Centre Consultancy Payments and Exhibition 
Halls 

Final Report Amber 0 4 3 7 0 4 3 7 

56 Culture, Heritage & 
Libraries 

Monument Cash Reconciliation and 
Security 

Final Report Amber 0 5 2 7 0 5 2 7 

57 Markets & Consumer 
Protection 

Spitalfields Market – Code of Conduct Final Report Green 0 0 1 1 0 0 1 1 

58 City of London Police Salary Overpayments Draft Report          

59 Corporate Recommendations Follow-up Final Report n/a         

 
* Status definitions _ Fieldwork + Formal TOR Issued. Draft = Formal draft report issued. Final = Review complete and final report 
issued 
** Only completed once final report has been issued. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 228



Performance Indicators 
 

Performance Measures Target Actual 

1 Completion of audit plan 95% of planned audits completed to draft report stage by end of 
plan review period (31 March 2017) 

95% 

2 Timely production of draft report Average time taken to issue draft reports within 28 days of end 
of fieldwork i.e. exit meeting date. 

20 days 

3 Timely response to draft report Average time taken to obtain a full management response 
within 28 days of the draft report being issued. 

25 days 

4 Timely issue of final report Average time taken to finalise the review within 7 working days 
on full response from management 

6 days 

5 Customer satisfaction Through key question on post audit surveys – target 90% <5 responses  
received 

6 Percentage (%) of audit section staff 
with relevant professional qualification 

Target 75% 78% 

 

P
age 229



T
his page is intentionally left blank

P
age 230



Appendix 2 
Internal Audit Work 2017-18 (as at 23 June 2017) 
 
This appendix complements the summary outcome of final reports as presented above. 
 
Progress against the plan – Summary 
 

No of 
Reviews 

Fieldwork Draft Report Final Report Completed 

81 7 7 - - 

 9% 9% - - 

 
Progress against the plan – Detail 

     Recommendations Recommendations 

     Made** Agreed** 

No Department Main Audit Review Status * Assurance 
*** 

 

R A G Total R A G Total 

1 CORPORATE EMERGENCY PLANNING           

2 CORPORATE RISK MANAGEMENT           

3 CORPORATE USE OF WAIVERS Draft Report          

4 CORPORATE IR 35 - USE CONSULTANTS AND 
SPECIALIST (OFF PAYROLL 
ENGAGEMENT) 

Draft Report          

5 CORPORATE EVALUATION OF SUB £100K TENDERS Fieldwork          

6 CORPORATE PROCUREMENT CONSULTATION 
WITH STAKEHOLDERS 

Fieldwork          

7 CORPORATE INCOME COLLECTION AND BANKING Fieldwork          

8 CORPORATE EXPENSES - PROCUREMENT CARDS - 
PETTY CASH 

Draft Report          

9 CORPORATE CORPORATE-WIDE REVIEW OF 
BUSINESS TRAVEL 

Draft Report          

10 CORPORATE CORPORATE FOLLOW-UP EXCERSISES 
 

Draft Report          

P
age 231



     Recommendations Recommendations 

     Made** Agreed** 

No Department Main Audit Review Status * Assurance 
*** 

 

R A G Total R A G Total 

11 CORPORATE INFORMATION GOVERNANCE/GDPR           

12 TOWN CLERK FREEDOM OF INFORMATION REQUESTS           

13 TOWN CLERK SOCIAL INVESTMENT FUND Planning          

14 TOWN CLERK MEMBERS AND OFFICERS DECLARATIONS 
INTERESTS 

Fieldwork          

15 TOWN CLERK HUMAN RESOURCES – STARTERS AND 
LEAVERS 

Planning          

16 TOWN CLERK STAFF LEARNING & DEVELOPMENT 
(including Central Training)   

          

17 CHAMBERLAIN IT - ORACLE PROPERTY MANAGER 
MODULE APPLICATION REVIEW 

          

18 CHAMBERLAIN IT – INFORMATION MANAGEMENT Fieldwork          

19 CHAMBERLAIN IT - CYBERSECURITY            

20 CHAMBERLAIN IT - CLOUD COMPUTING           

21 CHAMBERLAIN IT - MOBILE DEVICES (HORIZON 
SCANNING) 

Deferred          

22 CHAMBERLAIN IT - SOCIAL MEDIA (HORIZON SCANNING)           

23 CHAMBERLAIN IT - INFORMATION SECURITY           

24 CHAMBERLAIN IT BUSINESS CONTINUITY           

25 CHAMBERLAIN IT ORACLE (CBIS) APPLICATION           

26 CHAMBERLAIN MEDIUM TERM FINANCIAL PLANNING           

27 CHAMBERLAIN CITY PROCUREMENT           

28 CHAMBERLAIN COUNCIL TAX & NNDR Draft Report          

29 DCCS ACADEMIES           

30 DCCS WELFARE REFORM           

 DCCS HOUSING ALLOCATIONS LETTINGS AND 
VOIDS 

          

 DCCS HOUSING AND BE RENTS            

P
age 232



     Recommendations Recommendations 

     Made** Agreed** 

No   Status * Assurance 
*** 

 

R A G Total R A G Total 

 DCCS HEALTH AND SOCIAL CARE INTEGRATION           

31 DCCS FINANCIAL ASSESSMENTS (REFER FRAUD 
WORK) 

          

32 DCCS SIR JOHN CASS SCHOOL INCOME 
GENERATION 

          

33 DCCS FINANCIAL ASSESSMENTS           

34 CITY SURVEYOR INTERNAL CONTROL GOVERNANCE           

35 CITY SURVEYOR SERVICE BASED PROPERTY CONTRACTS           

36 CITY SURVEYOR GUILDHALL COMPLEX - PERFORMANCE           

37 OPEN SPACES FINANCIAL MANAGEMENT INCLUDING 
INTERNAL CONTROL PROCECURES 

          

38 OPEN SPACES CITY COMMONS - VISITORS CENTRE & 
ESTABLISHMENT REVIEW 

          

39 OPEN SPACES CEMETERY & CREMATORIUM - 
ESTABLISHMENT REVIEW 

          

40 BUILT ENVIRONMENT HIGHWAYS           

41 BUILT ENVIRONMENT  TFL LOCAL IMPLMENTATION PLAN           

42 M&CP TRADING STANDARDS - SEIZED GOODS           

43 M&CP CONSUMER PROTECTION ENFORCEMENT           

44 M&CP MARKETS FRAUD RISK           

45 CITY SOLICITOR ORACLE OPN           

46 REMEMBRANCER FUNCTIONS & GUILDHALL LETTINGS - 
INCOME (INC. BANKING, SAFES AND 
SECURITY) 

          

47 MANSION HOUSE HOSPITALITY AND CATERING CONTRACT 
MANAGEMENT 

          

48 POLICE ACTION FRAUD TEAM           

49 POLICE IT NETWORK SECURITY           

P
age 233



     Recommendations 
Made** 

Recommendations 
Agreed**      

No             

52 POLICE IT TECHNOLOGY REFRESH PROJECT           

60 POLICE DEMAND POLICING AND EVENT 
RESOURCING 

Fieldwork          

61 POLICE POLICE BUSINESS CONTINUITY PLANNING           

62 POLICE POLICE BANK ACCOUNTS Planning          

63 POLICE POLICE SEIZED GOODS Fieldwork          

64 BARBICAN CENTRE CUSTOMER EXPERIENCE           

65 BARBICAN CENTRE EQUALITY AND DIVERSITY           

66 BARBICAN CENTRE RETAIL AND BARS           

67 BARBICAN CENTRE CASH HANDLING           

68 GUILDHALL SCHOOL STRATEGIC PLANNING           

69 GUILDHALL SCHOOL INCOME GENERATION           

70 GUILDHALL SCHOOL STUDENT SUPPORT           

71 GUILDHALL SCHOOL DATA QUALITY           

72 CLS FINANCIAL MANAGEMENT           

73 CLS SAFEGUARDING           

74 CLS HEALTH AND SAFETY           

75 CLSG SAFEGUARDING           

76 CLSG HEALTH AND SAFETY           

77 CLFS SAFEGUARDING           

78 CLFS HEALTH AND SAFETY           

79 CLFS INCOME GENERATION           

80 BUILT ENVIRONMENT HIGHWAYS ASSETS REGISTER Fieldwork          

81 POLICE PROJECT MANAGEMENT Draft Report          

 
 
 
* Status definitions _ Fieldwork + Formal TOR Issued. Draft = Formal draft report issued. Final = Review complete and final report 
issued 

P
age 234



** Only completed once final report has been issued. 
 
Performance Indicators 
 

Performance Measures Target Actual 

1 Completion of audit plan 95% of planned audits completed to draft report stage by end of 
plan review period (31 March 2017) 

9% 

2 Timely production of draft report Average time taken to issue draft reports within 28 days of end 
of fieldwork i.e. exit meeting date. 

20 days 

3 Timely response to draft report Average time taken to obtain a full management response 
within 28 days of the draft report being issued. 

27 days 

4 Timely issue of final report Average time taken to finalise the review within 7 working days 
on full response from management 

6 days 

5 Customer satisfaction Through key question on post audit surveys – target 90% 100% 

6 Percentage (%) of audit section staff 
with relevant professional qualification 

Target 75% 78% 

 

P
age 235



T
his page is intentionally left blank

P
age 236



Committee: Date: 

Audit & Risk Management Committee  24th July 2017 

Subject:  

Internal Audit Recommendations Follow-up  

Public 

 

Report of: 

Pat Stothard 
Head of Audit & Risk Management 

For Information 

Summary 

This report provides an update on the outcome of a recent follow-up 
exercise focused on red and amber priority recommendations due for 
implementation by 30/06/17.  

As at the beginning of July 2017 there are no overdue red priority actions 
from reviews previously concluded and reported to this Committee.  
There is one live red priority recommendation which is not yet due for 
implementation. 

Audit testing has confirmed that 27% of high priority recommendations 
were fully implemented or alternative mitigation had been accepted at the 
time of follow up, 20% were partially implemented, and further evidence 
of implementation is awaited in respect of 39% of cases – 
recommendation owners advising that matters have been addressed in 
full, and 14% were confirmed as not implemented with revised target 
dates agreed in most cases.  Appendix 1 summarises the outcomes by 
department. 

Where amber priority recommendations were outstanding in full or in part 
at the time of audit follow-up, further updates have been sought from 
management to confirm timescales for resolution.  Analysis of amber 
priority recommendations not implemented is shown at Appendix 2, 
including a comparison of original dates to revised target dates where 
these have been provided. Internal Audit will continue to liaise with 
recommendation owners to confirm timescales for implementation where 
these are not currently known. 

In addition to the 55 live amber recommendations which were originally 
due for implementation by 30/06/17, there were 338 live green priority 
recommendations at this date i.e. partially implemented, not implemented 
or no status update provided by recommendation owners.  Follow-up 
arrangements do not incorporate green priority recommendations and it is 
expected that management ensure that implementation is progressed 
appropriately.  

 
Members are asked to: 
 

 Note the recommendations follow-up report. 
 

Page 237

Agenda Item 11



 
Main Report 

 
Formal Audit Follow-ups 

1. A corporate follow-up exercise has recently been completed in respect of all live 
red and amber priority recommendations due for implementation by 30/06/17.  
Status updates were sought from recommendation owners and evidence was 
requested where Internal Audit were advised that issues had been addressed in 
full.  

2. A summary of outcomes by department is set out in Appendix 1 and 
demonstrates for the follow-up period that: 

 Implementation or alternative mitigation was confirmed for 27% of amber 
priority recommendations  

 20% of amber priority recommendations have been partially implemented 

 14 % of amber priority recommendations have not been implemented but 
revised target dates have been agreed in most cases 

 Implementation evidence is awaited for 39% of recommendations followed up 
(i.e. recommendation owners have advised that matters have been addressed 
in full but independent verification is outstanding) 

 Revised target dates have been agreed for all but 3 recommendations either 
partially implemented or not implemented. 
 

3. Revised target dates for full implementation of Chamberlain’s IT 
recommendations have been agreed in the case of all recommendations which 
are either partially implemented or not implemented. These extended target 
dates are due to the planned actions to be taken as part of the Transformation 
Programmes. Internal Audit were advised that in addition to replacing outdated 
equipment and services, the organisation will be moving to a fully managed 
technology environment with circa 60 new policies and controls implemented to 
reduce risk, improve the service to the organisation and ensure a return on the 
investment. Additionally it was noted that the IT Division have recently 
employed a Head of IT Business Management and Performance to: improve 
Audit and Risk Management within the Division and ensure resulting actions 
and controls are implemented correctly to agreed target dates.  

 
4. Amber priority recommendations not implemented or only partially implemented 

are summarised at Appendix 2 and a comparison of revised target dates to 
original agreed dates is shown where available.  Recommendation owners are 
subject to challenge by Internal Audit where any slippage in implementation 
occurs; this is intended to ensure that revised timescales are agreed only in 
exceptional circumstances.  Information within Appendix 2 highlights some 
legacy issues where revised target dates have been set for several years after 
the original implementation date provided by management.  There continues to 
be a strong focus on the agreement of realistic implementation dates when audit 
reviews are being finalised to reduce such instances of target date revision.   

 

Page 238



5. As with the last follow up exercise, reported in November 2016, it was noted 
that delays in implementation were largely due to reliance on the progress of 
major projects, resource restrictions or staff turnover.  Revised target dates 
have been agreed for all but three amber priority recommendations which had 
not been implemented by the due date or had been only partially implemented.  
Internal Audit is focused on confirming implementation dates for the remaining 
live issues. 

6. There were no live red priority recommendations due for implementation by 
30/06/17.  There is one live red priority recommendation with a revised target 
date of 31/12/17. This Chamberlain’s IT recommendation arose as part of the 
audit of Wi-Fi arrangements and the implementation action is linked to 
replacement of both the Guest (Open Mediated Wifi) and the Corporate Wi-Fi 
services. It is understood that additional security measures have been 
implemented to improve assurance of this service. 

7. According to Internal Audit records as at 30/06/17 there were 338 live green 
priority recommendations which comprised 318 items either confirmed as not 
implemented or where no updates have been obtained from management, and 
20 recommendations which were partially implemented.  Green priority 
recommendations have not been subject to follow-up in recent years and the 
onus has been on client management to ensure that implementation progressed 
appropriately.  Where Internal Audit have been advised of the implementation of 
green priority recommendations these have been closed down accordingly.   

Conclusion 

8. There continues to be a high level of acceptance of Internal Audit 
recommendations and, in general, good communication with clients in respect 
of the progress of recommendations implementation. The setting of realistic 
target due dates is an area of focus when finalising reports and client 
departments are challenged in respect of the slippage of implementation. There 
were no overdue red priority recommendations as at 30/06/17 and only one live 
red priority recommendation not yet due for implementation.   

9. The recent corporate follow-up exercise has confirmed the implementation of 
27% of amber priority recommendations which were due for implementation by 
30/06/17.  Revised target dates have been agreed with recommendation 
owners for all but three of those recommendations either partially implemented 
or not implemented and Internal Audit will continue to track implementation as 
part of follow-up arrangements.  Internal Audit work is ongoing to obtain 
implementation evidence for those recommendations which Internal Audit has 
been advised are addressed (39%).  An update will be provided to this 
Committee in due course. 

Appendices 

 Appendix 1 – Summary of formal follow up outcomes 

 Appendix 2 – Analysis of recommendations not implemented 

 

Pat Stothard 
Head of Audit & Risk Management   E: Pat.Stothard@cityoflondon.gov.uk 

Page 239



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 240



Appendix 1 
Corporate Follow-Up Exercise Outcomes – Recommendations due by 30/06/17 

 
High Priority Recommendations 
 

Department Implemented 
/ Alternative 
Mitigation  

Partially 
Implemented 

Implementation 
Evidence 
Awaited 

Not 
Implemented 

Total 

Barbican Centre 1 - - 1* 2 

Chamberlain’s (IT Division) 4 4* 9 5* 22 

City of London Freemen’s School - - 2 - 2 

City of London School - - 5 - 5 

City of London School for Girls 2 - 5 1* 8 

City Surveyor 1 - 1 - 2 

Community & Children’s Services 5 4* 2 2 13 

Guildhall School 1 1* - - 2 

Markets & Consumer Protection 3 3* - - 6 

Open Spaces - 1 1 - 2 

      

TOTAL 17 13 25 9 64 

Percentage of total 
recommendations 

27% 20% 39% 14%  

 
‘*’ Revised target dates have been agreed with recommendation owners 

P
age 241



T
his page is intentionally left blank

P
age 242



Appendix 2 
High Priority Recommendations Not Implemented / Partially Implemented 

 
 Amber priority recommendations outstanding at time of June 2017 follow-up exercise 
 

Department Not 
Implemented 

Partially 
Implemented 

Audit Area  
(‘Not implemented’ listed first) 

Original 
Target 
Date 

Revised 
Target 
Date 

Barbican Centre 1 - Catering Contractual Performance 
Requirements 

01/04/17 31/03/19 

Chamberlain’s (IT Division) 5 4 Income Collection & Banking – Test 
System Entries 
Wi-Fi – Logging, Security Information and 
Event Management 
Back Ups – Tape Recovery Tests 
IT Network Infrastructure: 
- Lockout Policy 
- Remote Access Accounts 
ITIL Version Control 
Wi-Fi Management Interfaces 
Wi-Fi Penetration Tests 
PBX Telecoms Monitoring 

26/01/16 
 

13/10/16 
 

31/03/16 
 

05/05/17 
30/06/17 
31/03/17 
13/10/16 
13/10/16 
27/02/15 

31/07/17 
 

31/12/17 
 

31/12/17 
 

31/12/17 
31/12/17 
31/07/17 
31/08/17 
31/08/17 
31/01/18 

City of London School for Girls 1 - Input to Governor Training Oversight  30/06/16 31/12/17 

Community & Children’s 
Services 

2 4 Southwark Door Entry Project – Project 
Progress Reporting 
CDM – Information Transfer on Property 
Disposal 
Beech Gardens Waterproofing Project - 
Reporting of Total Forecasted Expenditure 
Variation Order & Change Control – 
Provisional Sums & General Contingencies 

05/06/15 
 

30/09/12 
 

01/09/15 
 

31/03/15 
 

TBC 
 

TBC 
 

01/09/17 
 

01/09/17 
 

P
age 243



Department Not 
Implemented 

Partially 
Implemented 

Audit Area  
(‘Not implemented’ listed first) 

Original 
Target 
Date 

Revised 
Target 
Date 

Variation Order & Change Control – 
Contract Instructions 

31/03/15 01/09/17 

Guildhall School - 1 Disaster Recovery Capability – Cloud 
Backups 

31/08/15 30/09/17 

Markets & Consumer 
Protection 

- 3 Port Health Income – Invoice Processing 
Port Health Income – Invoice 
Reconciliation 
Licensing – Property Rateable Values 

01/11/15 
 

01/11/15 
31/03/16 

31/10/17 
 

31/10/17 
30/09/17 

Open Spaces - 1 Lodges – Mole Valley contract and 
Financial Regulations 

30/12/16 TBC 

TOTAL 9 13    

Percentage of follow-up 
activity 

14% 20%    

 

P
age 244



Audit and Risk Management 
 Work Programme 2017/18 

 

Date Items 

10 October 2017 Anti Fraud Investigations Update 

Risk Update 

Deep Dive Risk Review: Police Funding and Health and Safety Fire 
Risks 

Actions Arising From the Committee Effectiveness Survey 

Internal Audit Update  

Non-Local Authority Financial Statements (City’s Cash, Bridge House 
Estates, City’s Cash Trust Funds, and the Sundry Trusts)  

Risk Challenge Sessions: CR20 Road Safety and CR 17 
Safeguarding 

28 November 2017 Risk Update 

Deep Dive Risk Review: CR19 IT Provision/ + tbc 

Risk Challenge Sessions: City Surveyors and Mansion House 

16 January 2018 Internal Audit Update 

Internal Audit Recommendations Follow Up 

Risk Update 

Deep Dive Risk Review: tbc 

Risk Challenge Sessions:tbc 

6 March 2018 Internal Audit Charter, Strategy and Plan for 2018/19 

Annual Governance Statement Methodology 

Risk Update 

Deep Dive Risk Review: tbc 

Risk Challenge Sessions:tbc 

 

Page 245

Agenda Item 12



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 246



Document is Restricted

Page 247

Agenda Item 16



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 Minutes of the previous meeting
	4 Outstanding Actions of the Committee
	5 Deep Dive: CR01 Resilience - Event or situation related to terrorism or other serious event/major incident
	6 Fire Safety in the City's Residential Blocks
	Fire Safety in the City's Residential Blocks appendix 1

	7 Annual Governance Statement 2016/17
	Annual Governance Statement  - appx 1
	Annual Governance Statement  - appx 2

	8 City Fund and Pension Funds Financial Statements 2016/17
	City Fund Financial Statements covering report - Appendix
	1. Accounting Policies
	1.1. General Principles
	1.2. Accruals of Expenditure and Income
	1.3. Cash and Cash Equivalents
	1.4. Prior Period Adjustments, Changes in Accounting Policies and Estimates and Errors
	1.5. Charges to Revenue for Non-current Assets
	1.6. Employee Benefits
	1.7. Events After the Reporting Period
	1.8. Financial Instruments
	1.9. Interest Income
	1.10. Government Grants and Other Contributions
	1.11. Business Improvement Districts
	1.12. Community Infrastructure Levy
	1.13. Heritage Assets
	1.14. Investment Property
	1.15. Contingent Assets
	1.16. Contingent Liabilities
	1.17. Provisions
	1.18. Leases
	1.19. Overheads
	1.20. Property, Plant and Equipment
	1.21. Fair value measurement
	1.22. Reserves
	1.23. Revenue expenditure funded from capital under statute
	1.24. Value Added Tax
	1.25. Schools

	2. Prior Year Restatement
	3. Expenditure and Funding Analysis
	4. Note to the Expenditure and Funding Analysis
	5. Expenditure and Income Analysed by Nature
	6. Accounting Standards That Have Been Issued but Not Yet Adopted
	7. Critical Judgements in Applying Accounting Policies
	8. Assumptions Made About the Future and Other Major Sources of Estimation Uncertainty
	9. Events after the Balance Sheet Date
	10. Adjustments between Accounting Basis and Funding Basis under Regulations
	1.
	11. Transfers (to)/from Earmarked Revenue Reserves
	12. Crossrail
	13. Other Operating Income and Expenditure
	14. Financing and Investment Income and Expenditure
	15. Taxation and Non-Specific Grant Income
	16. Property, Plant and Equipment
	17. Heritage Assets
	18. Investment Properties
	19. Capital Expenditure and Capital Financing
	20. Financial Instruments
	21. Nature and Extent of Risks arising from Financial Instruments
	22. Long Term Debtors
	23. Debtors and Payments in Advance falling due within a year
	24. Cash and Cash Equivalents
	25. Creditors and Receipts in Advance
	26. Provisions
	27. Contingent Liabilities
	28. Usable Reserves
	29. Unusable Reserves
	30. Cash Flow Statement – Operating Activities
	31. Cash Flow Statement – Investing Activities
	32. Cash Flow Statement – Financing Activities
	33. Trading Operations
	34. Agency Services
	35. Members’ Allowances
	36. Remuneration of Senior Employees
	Table 2 - 2016/17 remuneration for those senior employees and relevant police officers required to be disclosed individually

	37. Exit Packages
	38. Audit and Inspection Fees
	39. Dedicated Schools Grant
	40. Grant Income credited to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement
	41. Grants and Contributions Received in Advance
	42. Deferred Credits
	43. Related Party Transactions
	44. Leases
	45. Pension Schemes
	46. City of London Pension Scheme
	47. The Police Pension Scheme
	48. Judges Pension Scheme
	49. The Teachers’ Pension Scheme
	50. Transactions Relating to Post-employment Benefits within the Financial Statements
	51. Trust Funds
	1.
	1.
	1.
	1.
	1.
	1. Provision for Bad and Doubtful Debts
	2. Adjustments between Accounting Basis and Funding Basis under Statute
	3. Housing Stock
	1.
	4. Arrears of Rent, Service and Other Charges
	5. HRA Property, Plant and Equipment
	6. Housing Asset Valuation
	1.
	7. Investment Property
	8. Major Repairs Reserve
	9. HRA Capital Expenditure
	1. Income from Business Rates
	2. Calculation of Council Tax
	3. Tax Bases 2016/17
	4. City Fund Offset
	5. Surplus for the Year
	Police Pension Fund Account for the year ended 31 March 2017
	1. Description of the City of London Pension Fund
	2. Accounting Policies
	3. Critical Judgements in Applying Accounting Policies
	4. Membership of the Fund
	5. Contributions
	6. Additional Voluntary Contributions
	7. Benefits
	8. Payments to and on account of leavers
	9. Management expenses
	10. Income from investments
	11. Investment Expenses
	12. Investment Assets
	13. Fair Value of Financial Instruments
	14. Risk and Risk Management
	15. Sensitivity Analysis
	16. Current assets
	17. Current liabilities
	18. Funded Obligation of the Overall Pension Fund
	19. Contingent Liabilities and Contractual Commitments
	20. Related Party Transactions
	21. Post Balance Sheet Events
	22. Funding Arrangements



	9 External Risk Review - Risk Appetite
	10 Internal Audit Update
	Internal Audit Work 2016-17 - Appendix 1
	Internal Audit Work 2016-17 - Appendix 2

	11 Internal Audit Recommendations Follow-up Report
	Internal Audit recommendations - appx 1
	Internal Audit recommendations - appx 2

	12 Committee Work Programme
	16 Non-Public Minutes of the previous meeting

